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The Assessment of the Private Label Effects on the Retail Business 
Performance 
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Extended Abstract 
 
1. Introduction and Literature Review 
 
Nowadays the retail competition is driving the strategy evolution for building a sustainable 
competitive advantage for a chain. While the debate over the differentiation sources continues 
among professionals, the idea of private labels (PLs) has come to occupy a central place in market 
leaders action plans. To illustrate the increasing focus on PLs development in 2010s, the share of own 
brands in Russia reaches a maximum of 15% of turnover, whereas in Western developed markets, 
such as Switzerland and Germany, – 40% (PriceWaterhouseCoopers, 2011). 
 
The academic background of the PLs dates to 1990's, when numerous works began to appear. The 
research of that period is resulting from the practical interest and thus is highly tied with the early 
stage of PLs expansion on the Western markets. The most significant papers cover the issues of 
introduction and performance of PLs (Raju, Sethuraman, & Dhar, 1995; Burton, Lichtenstein, 
Netemeyer, & Garretson, 1998) setting an attractive backlog for the future research. 
 
In 2000's the studies become more management applicable and seek to prove, confirm, refute and 
doubt the existing retail expertise by scientific concepts (Sethuraman, 2006). And the same time the 
research of PL implementation strategies depending on buying behavior and preferences, category 
features, etc. is going on (Glynn & Chen, 2009; Hsu & Lai, 2008). 
 
As the portfolios of PLs extend, the interest of researchers shifts to the results of PL introduction, 
which attracted the retailers’ effort during the recent years. The pioneering papers concerning the 
effects of the already existing PL portfolio were published at the end of the first and beginning of the 
second decade of the 2000’s. The outcomes of PLs introduction were examined in terms of loyalty to 
the store brand name (Ailawadi, Pauwels, & Steenkamp, 2008; Ngobo, 2011), price and brand 
competition within categories(Bontemps, Orozco, R´equillart, & Trevisiol, 2005), as well as business 
processes and coordination within the retail company(Chen, Gilbert, & Xia†, 2011).  
 
Despite the papers overview above, the basis for this study is not provided by a large body of 
literature. Being a relatively new concept, the effects of an already existing PL portfolio are explored 
in a poor and fragmented way, consequently opening up a huge field for further investigations.  
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2. Market Trends and Practical Needs 
 
Considering the contemporary retail industry, it is worth mentioning some trends, which initiated the 
PLs development: 

 The nature of a present day consumer has moved towards a so-called "well educated 
consumer", having a clear idea of the price and quality of goods, trade marketing and 
merchandising instruments (ACNielsen, 2012). It means that the consumer would rather give 
preference to “price-quality” PLs then to brands with huge marketing budgets included in 
retail price. 

 Influenced by financial instability the consumer has a propensity towards rational shopping 
motivation (ACNielsen, 2011). PLs become the ideal solution for a new consumer balancing 
goods from the shelf.  

 Strengthening the market position of the world brands managed by L’Oreal, Rekkitt Benkizer, 
Unilever, etc. allows the manufacturers to dictate their own conditions to the market, 
thereby pocketing retail to be dependent on the interests of the world's global giants. Thus, 
the retailers should introduce PLs to handle the problem of FMCG brands dictates. 

 
Considering the abovementioned environment factors, PLs have rapidly expanded in different areas 
of retail. Being a significant and priority part of the assortment PLs need to be efficiently managed, 
which becomes a new challenge for the retail, covering almost all of the relationships and processes 
of a company. The up-to-date questions for the PL managers are the following: What financial and 
non-financial effects of a retail company are the results of PLs launch? Whether these effects meet 
the original goals of PLs? How to enhance the positive effects and neutralize negative ones? How to 
evaluate PLs portfolio permanently? 
 
 
3. Problem Statement and Scientific Novelty 
 
Aiming at the intersection of theoretical research and the practical necessity, the challenge of this 
study is to identify the overall effects of PL and develop an integrated application model for up-to-
date PL evaluation and further decision making. The outcome model is called up to be a marketing 
tool for both pharmacy chains and PL or brands manufacturers, encouraging further development of 
PLs as a scientific category in the field of retail management.  
 
Taking into account the literature and trends overview, the basic preconditions for scientific value 
creation are the following: 

 the theoretical concentration of expertise in the field of PL introduction strategies, rather 
than assessing the effects of its implementation; 

 the need for expansion of sufficient "narrow" approach to the effects of PLs from the study 
of individual effects to the effects of the entire company and its financial and –non-financial 
results; 

 the attempt to benefit from the best traditions of the management schools and expertise of 
best practices. 

 
 
4. The Design of the Research 
 
As the research is on the early stage now, its structure is formulated on a tentative way supposing to 
be finalized on the next stages.  
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The current design assumes that the final practical model development is built up on a three-step 
research program (Table 1). 
 
Table 1. The design of the research. 
 

Step Contents 
1. The definition and explanation of the retail 

chain performance in the context of the 
research. 

 Content analysis of the previous research and mass 
media. Empirical research of the Russian and overseas 
retail managers and key opinion leaders assumptions. 

2. The identification of inside and outside 
relationships and processes of a retail chain 
affected by the PL introduction. 

 Content analysis of the previous research and mass 
media. Empirical research of the Russian and overseas 
retail managers and key opinion leaders assumptions. 

3. The verification and critical assessment of the 
data collected in order to construct a 
persistent platform, based on both theoretical 
studies and empirical research. 

Synthesis of the previous steps outcomes, 
contradiction analysis and assessments, visualization, 
verification of the results. 

 
 
5. Methodology 
 
Aiming on the identification and evaluation of the private label impacts the research regards to the 
qualitative one. As distinct from quantitative «why» and “to which extent” questions, the key 
question of the research can be formulated as “how do private labels influence the retail business 
performance” which confirms its qualitative nature. 
 
The data collection methods are the ones to be finalized during the research, but the initial approach 
includes the following ones:  

 The content analysis is engaged to explore the theoretical frame and the best practices of the 
industry leading companies responding to the need of cumulative experience analysis and 
generalization; 

 The interview with the industry experts and the most significant authors. These interviews 
should allow collecting the data on how the companies perceive the impact of private label 
introduction on their business performance. Some data may overlap, some could 
supplement the mainstream view. The interviews are intended to have a clear structure as 
the questions could be formulated in advance and the participants are full out with work. 

 
 
6. Conclusion 
 
To conclude, the main ideas of the research are as follows: 

1. Nowadays, the private labels reached a share of 22% of the world retail market 
(PriceWaterhouseCoopers, 2011) and became a “must-have” for any retail chain. Handling 
such a big “piece of cake” attracts more and more retail managers’ efforts. 

2. After the private labels introduction the key problem retail managers face with is the 
estimation of overall positive and negative effects on the company’s performance. 

3. The purpose of the study is to combine the recent theoretical research with best managerial 
practices in order to create a model for critical assessment of the private label introduction 
and further strategy adjustment. 

  
Keywords 
 
Private label, company performance, retail 
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Abstract  
 
Purpose: The study aims to compare two Hungarian regions from a specific health-tourism point of 
view. 
 
Design/methodology/approach: Analyzing settlements with medicinal and/or thermal baths, a micro-
regional ranking is set up using relevant statistical data from the perspectives of health-tourism 
potential and tourism capacity 
 
Findings: This study is part of an ongoing research project, but we offer our basic hypotheses: 

H1: The micro-regions with medicinal and thermal baths of national importance are 
outstanding in terms of tourism performance results in comparison to the others. 
H2: The tourism potential of the settlements with medicinal and/or thermal baths is more 
clearly shown by data on accommodation supply than on visitor arrivals. 
H3: The data for income per capita (visitor) and per visitor night derived from providing 
accommodation reveal smaller regional differences than the data from other indices relating 
solely to accommodation capacity. 

 
Keywords 
 
Medicinal tourism, competitiveness, micro-regional analysis, Regional and settlement development, 
thermal settlement 
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Introduction 
 
Our study aims to reveal the local competitiveness of Hungarian settlements with health tourism 
potential – medicinal and thermal baths - explored in our earlier research projects. Its final aim is to 
create a specific competitiveness index by aggregating all the important factors which contribute to 
the economic potential of settlements with medicinal and/or thermal baths, and which help in 
measurement and comparison. The result should indicate a “best practice” approach to be 
introduced in the light of any dynamic changes in the macro-environment. 
 
Nowadays, it has become increasingly important to optimize the development of the “engine of 
progress”, the economy, especially at regional level, in the increasingly complex macro-economic 
conditions. However, regional economic growth has become ever more of a key issue in recent years 
in Europe, as much serious decision-making and the introduction of new measures were directed to 
the regional level, based on the EU’s subsidiarity principle. 
 
Health tourism involves stimulating effects on both the local and national economy. The topics 
selected are evaluated according to several criteria, even though health tourism alone is a complex 
issue, linked to the economy as a whole, as well as offering a wide range of supply of different 
products. There are many factors involved in the evaluation of health tourism developments, and it is 
not only economic, but also social and environmental sustainability which must be taken into 
account. 
 
The topicality of the subject proves that these past decades have seen significant improvements in 
the health-care system in Hungary, and health tourism has become one of the most important 
domestic tools in regional development (Michalkó & Rátz, 2010). Hungary is fortunate in being very 
rich in thermal waters, with accessible resources lying below more than 70% of the surface area of 
the country. We are convinced that, if we are able to determine what is needed to develop a 
competitive medicinal and thermal spa town - also taking into consideration the spin-off effects for 
the wider region surrounding the particular settlement – then, in the current difficult economic 
situation, productive schemes could be developed by the relevant local authorities for the 
improvement of economic life. 
 
Our current research1 concentrates on two particular regions, West and South Transdanubia, and 
within these we examine settlements with medicinal or thermal baths. The rationale for this is to 
examine the effects of regional location as a factor in the tourist traffic in centrally located and 
peripheral regions. To be able to measure competitiveness during the planned later stages of our 
research, we are also endeavoring to develop an international overview on a comparative basis. We 
plan to complete a survey of the neighboring Austrian Burgenland region, the Eastern areas of 
Slovenia with their developing .medicinal baths, and the historic spas with long traditions in the 
Czech Republic. By examining these important Central European regions of excellence, we hope to 
establish a solid basis for further research. 
 
It is difficult to interpret this complex topic (the competitiveness of a settlement with a medicinal or 
thermal bath, and the competitiveness of the bath company itself) in a way which is clearly both fair 
and realistic - and at the same time to create an index to measure the relevant factors. However, 
should we succeed, Hungarian health tourism could be developed in a much more balanced way in 
territorial (regional) terms. The map below (Figure 1) shows Hungary’s medicinal and thermal bath 
settlements: 
 
 

                                                             
1No.106283 National Scientific Research Basic Programme (OTKA, Hungary) 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

19 
 

Figure 1. Hungarian settlements with medicinal and/or thermal baths 
 

 
 
Source: Constructed by Á. Kovács, 2012 
 
Dark blue indicates a settlement with a medicinal bath, mid-blue with both medicinal and thermal 
baths, whilst light blue denotes settlements with a thermal bath. To set up the competitiveness 
equation of the settlements with medicinal and thermal baths, three groups of factors can be taken 
into account (King and Fei-Lee, 2005): the resources of the tourist destination; its macro-
environmental and the settlement level factors. 
 
All three groups of factors are taken into consideration nationally in our process of participation in 
the National Scientific Research Basic Programme (OTKA, Hungary).but settlements with baths in two 
regions of Hungary - West Transdanubia and South Transdanubia – are more thoroughly examined. 
As a result, we focus on 25+18 settlements for our competitiveness research. The present study, 
however, is devoted only to a small segment of competitiveness: the total of 43 settlements in the 
micro-regions of these two Regions are analyzed in terms of tourism through descriptive methods, 
on the basis of settlement statistical annual data from 2011. 
 
It should be noted that Local Government in Hungary has been based on a relatively modest number 
of cities of any size, a more substantial number of towns and an enormous number of villages. The 
latter settlements, quite often home to spas, baths etc., normally operate as a member of a ‘micro-
region’, which is a voluntary association of several smaller units (villages or small towns) attempting 
to operate more effectively than would be possible individually. In other words a spa-settlement is 
probably one element in a micro-region (usually with a different name). Statistical data is generally 
available for the micro-regions, and so we are forced to look at these units even when focusing on 
one spa on that territory. 
 
Please also note that in the text we use the normal version of Hungarian place-names, whilst our 
charts and maps use the Hungarian geographical/adjectival suffix of ‘i’. The settlements (ranging 
from villages to cities) involved in our research are as follows: 

 West Transdanubia (25): Győr, Csorna, Hegykő, Kapuvár, Lipót, Sopron, Mosonmagyaróvár, 
Bük, Celldömölk, Borgáta, Körmend, Szentgotthárd, Mesteri, Sárvár, Szombathely, Vasvár, 
Bázakerettye, Gelse, Hévíz, Kehidakustány, Lenti, Letenye, Zalaegerszeg, Zalakaros, 
Zalaszentgrót. 

 South Transdanubia (18): Harkány, Magyarhertelend, Mohács, Sellye, Siklós, Szigetvár, 
Babócsa, Barcs, Buzsák, Csokonyavisonta, Igal, Kaposvár, Marcali, Nagyatád, Szulok, 
Dombóvár, Dunaföldvár, Tamási. 
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The medicinal tourism supply shows a strong concentration over the whole of Hungary (Ács and 
Laczkó, 2008) and we selected these two Regions for a more detailed exercise (one located centrally 
and the other peripherally) the better to study tourist-flows. All of the factors needed to create a 
solid basis for our continuing and complex competitiveness research are visible in these Regions, but 
prior to starting our research we set up the following hypotheses: 
 
H1: The micro-regions with medicinal and thermal baths of national importance are outstanding in 
terms of tourism performance results in comparison to the others. 
H2: The tourism potential of the settlements with medicinal and thermal baths is more clearly shown 
by data on accommodation supply than on visitor arrivals. 
H3: The data for income per capita (visitor) and per visitor night derived from providing 
accommodation reveal smaller regional differences than the data from other indices relating solely 
to accommodation capacity. 
 
 
1. Analysis of Tourism at Micro-Regional Level 
 
In this chapter, the most important indicators of tourism destinations are overviewed with the help 
of aggregated data at micro-regional level. To be able to define the regional (territorial) 
concentration of the tourist flows, firstly we have to detect: 

 the total number of visitor arrivals linked to the settlements in the two regions analyzed by 
us in the research, 

 the number of visitor nights in the settlements concerned, 
 total number of all accommodation places offered by public accommodation entities (hotels, 

etc.), 
 the capacity utilization of these accommodation places and 
 other indicators of income related to accommodation places. 

 
On the map below (Figure 2) the proportion of visitor arrivals can be seen in the West Transdanubian 
region: 
 
Figure 2. Differences in visitor arrivals in the micro-regions of West Transdanubia, 2011 

 
 
Source: The Authors’ Own Construction 

Colour codes: (%): 

White: 0.0-1.0 

Light blue: 1.1-5.0 

Mid-blue: 5.1-10.0 

Royal blue: 10.1-15.0 

Dark blue: 15.1-18.0 
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From the above map it can be seen that the largest proportions are represented by the Hévíz and 
Sopron-Fertőd micro-regions (18-18%), which is not surprising since Hévíz is the best known and 
most developed spa town of the entire Region today. The data for the Sopron micro-region comprise 
those of 2 individual settlements – Sopron and Hegykő – primarily the visitor arrivals data for the 
former being very significant. However, in this case these numbers are not due to the attractions of 
Health Tourism but to those of the city itself and its location close to the Austrian border. Health 
Tourism plays a clearly secondary role. By way of conclusion we would contend that the well-known 
spas of the Region essentially define the number of visitors to these settlements. The map below 
(Figure 3) also shows visitor arrivals, but in respect of South Transdanubia. 
 
Figure 3. The proportion of tourist arrivals in the micro-regions of South Transdanubia, 2011 

 
Source: The Authors’ Own Construction  
 
The above map (Figure 3) shows that the concentration within this region is even stronger towards 
those micro-regions with more developed baths. Here this means the spa complexes of the Region 
which can boast both excellent infrastructure and serious capacity Within this Region the Siklós 
micro-region attracted almost half of the visitors (47%) in 2011, followed by the Kaposvár and 
Dombóvár micro-regions. Consequently, the tendency visible in West Transdanubia is valid for this 
Region also, as recognized baths represent the main touristic attraction of the micro-regions. It is 
clear that the tourism indicators analyzed are much higher in relation to settlements with well-
known and approved medicinal and thermal baths. 
 
Besides that for tourist arrivals, the other basic indicator is that of visitor nights - which can clearly 
show the tourism performance of any Region, or any settlement. The next map (Figure 4.) represents 
the number of visitor nights in the West Transdanubian Region. 

Colour codes: (%): 

White: 0.0-1.0 

Light blue: 1.1-5.0 

Mid-blue: 5.1-10.0 

Royal blue: 10.1-20.0 

Dark blue: 20.1-48.0 
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Figure 4. The proportion of tourist nights in the micro-regions of West Transdanubia, 2011 

 
Source: The Authors’ Own Construction 
 
Compared to the ranking based on tourist arrivals, there is no serious difference, although the actual 
proportions have changed. The proportion of the tourist nights in Hévíz has increased to 26% within 
the Region, indicating more visitors arriving there and for a longer stay. To summarize, the number of 
visitor nights is a better indicator of health tourism than that of tourist arrivals, as a significant basic 
characteristic of health tourism is the longer stay of visitors (hence generating higher income). The 
second highest number of tourist nights is found in Bük, a settlement in the Csepreg micro-region, 
underlining the positive correlation between the number of visitor nights and the touristic 
importance of any medicinal and thermal baths operated by the settlement. The same is shown in 
respect of this indicator by the lagging behind of the Sopron-Fertőd micro-region, indicating the 
poorer performance of the larger towns near the border. 
 
In fact, in the case of South Transdanubia, the regional disparity from the point of view of tourist 
nights has even increased (Figure 5). 
 
Figure 5. The proportion of tourist nights in the micro-regions of South Transdanubia, 2011 

 
Source: The Authors’ Own Construction 

Colour codes: (%): 

White: 0.0-1.0 

Light blue: 1.1-10.0 

Mid-blue: 10.1-15.0 

Royal blue: 15.1-30.0 

Dark blue: 30.1-53.0 
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Due mainly to the outstanding performance of Harkány, 54% of tourist nights come from the Siklos 
micro-region. On the basis of the trends seen in West Transdanubia, it was expected that the micro-
regions of Dombovár and Kaposvár, both operating baths of regional importance, would show 
substantially more tourist nights compared to tourist arrivals, but this was not the case – at least in 
proportionate terms. We experienced an essential difference in terms of visitor nights between 
South and West Transdanubia, the reason being that, from the point of view of tourist flows, 
centrally located West Transdanubia has more baths operating at higher price levels, resulting from 
higher demand from more affluent clients. In South Transdanubia, Harkány is the only strong 
performer. 
 
To this point we have discussed the demand side of the business, and so we must now turn to the 
supply side by examining relevant figures such as the total number of bed-places in public 
accommodation in a given settlement – separately for the two Regions. In fact there are 36,011 bed-
places in the West Transdanubian settlements, but only 7,011 in those of South Transdanubia. This 
allows us to conclude that the occupancy rate in the 2 Regions is similar, since, in terms of visitor 
nights, an approximately 5-fold difference is to be seen between the Regions. The map below (Figure 
6) shows the proportion of bed-places offered in public accommodation establishments in West 
Transdanubia. 
 
Figure 6. The proportion of all bed-places offered by public accommodation entities (hotels, etc.) in 
the micro-regions of West Transdanubia, 2011 

 
Source: The Authors’ Own Construction 
 
On the map we can see that, from the point of view of the accommodation supply, the particular 
micro-regions differ greatly. The best result is shown by the Zalakaros micro-region with a proportion 
of 17%, which represents progress since competitiveness can be further increased by developing the 
bath itself, given appropriate accommodation capacity. The biggest change can be detected in the 
lower proportion in the Hévíz micro-region (compared to its huge lead in other categories), as its 
proportion of public accommodation bed-places comprises only 17%.This is the indicator which can 
best reflect the ranking of micro-regions as we hypothesized at the beginning of our paper. The 
proportion of bed-places in South Transdanubia shows a much lower regional disparity (Figure 7). 
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Figure 7. The proportion of all bed-places offered by public accommodation entities (hotels, etc.) in 
the micro-regions of South Transdanubia, 2011 

 
 
 

Source: The Authors’ Own Construction 
 
The leading position of the Siklós micro-region can be considered stable in this category - also with 
this 26% proportion, but the advantage has decreased. The settlements situated alongside the 
Western border have essentially more bed-places to offer to incoming foreign visitors. 
 
On the basis of the above analysis, we would concede that the different proportions are not in 
themselves appropriate for drawing far-reaching conclusions. Therefore, the next table (Table 1) 
offersa ranking of micro-regions which is based on definitive figures, in contrast to the earlier 
analyses showing only proportions within a particular micro-region. 

 
Table 1. The ranking of micro-regions based on the analysed tourism indicators 
 

Rank Visitor arrivals Visitor nights Number of bed-
places 

1 Hévízi Hévízi Zalakarosi 
2 Sopron-Fertődi Csepregi Hévízi 
3 Sárvári Sopron-Fertődi Csepregi 
4 Csepregi Sárvári Sopron-Fertődi 
5 Győri Zalakarosi Győri 
6 Zalakarosi Győri Sárvári 
7 Mosonmagyaróvári Siklósi Szombathelyi 
8 Siklósi Mosonmagyaróvári Siklósi 
9 Szombathelyi Szombathelyi Zalaegerszegi 

10 Szentgotthárdi Szentgotthárdi Kaposvári 
 
Source: The Authors’ Own Construction 
 
In the above table the South Transdanubian micro-regions appear as ‘bold’, and the West 
Transdanubian as ‘regular’. From these data we can see the clear privileged position of the more 
developed, West Transdanubia, centrally located from the point of view of tourist flow. This 
advantage is evidently rooted in the location, meaning easier accessibility. 
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2. A Further Examination of Accommodation Issues 
 
It will be useful to look more closely at the general issue of accommodation. In the charts the first 
figure refers to bed occupancy (visitor nights/bed places), and the considered opinion of experts in 
the field is that a figure of 50% represents - in very general terms - the watershed between profit and 
loss. Bed occupancy was calculated based on the total capacity of accommodation places and the 
number of tourist nights spent in one year. (Tourist nights spent / Capacity of accommodation 
places/365 days). Chart 8 shows the figures for the West and South Transdanubian regions. 
 
Chart 8. Bed occupancy in the micro-regions of the two selected Regions in 2011 (%) 
 
 WEST TRANSDANUBIA SOUTH TRANSDANUBIA  

 
 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
As we can see from the figures for bed occupancy, in West Transdanubia, the micro-regions of Sárvár 
and Hévíz dominate, whilst the Zalakaros micro-region is not as strong as expected, showing only 
18% utilisation in spite of their leading position in terms of the actual number of accommodation 
places available. (In fact, this area has more accommodation places available than the best-known 
spa, Hévíz). We can also see a strong positive relationship between the nearness of spas to the 
national borders and bed occupancy. In South Transdanubia there are two micro-regions which are 
performing well: Siklós and Lengyeltóti. The former is not a surprise since Siklós has the highest rates 
in every category – due to Harkány (the Region’s largest spa) lying within the borders of the micro-
region. There is also an important difference between the two Regions, in that the two charts are 
quite different in their range, since the highest value in South Transdanubia is only 25%. This shows 
that South Transdanubia needs complex and attractive programmes - and serious marketing efforts - 
to compensate for its perceived limitations. 
 
We can complement this analysis with data relating to the accommodation places which better 
reflect the real situation. The chart below (Chart 9) shows the accommodation cost per tourist night 
in the micro-regions of the two selected Regions, West and South Transdanubia. 
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Chart 9. Accommodation cost per tourist night in the micro-regions of the two selected Regions, 
2011 (HUF)  
 

 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
The next step in our analysis is to examine the figures for ‘Total Income from accommodation in 
public accommodation establishments’, and the next chart (Chart10) shows the data from the micro-
regions of the two Regions examined, West and South Transdanubia. 
 
Chart 10. Total income from accomodation in public accommodation establishments in the micro-
regions of the two selected Regions in 2011 (’000 HUF)  
 

 
 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
Héviz clearly dominates, but this is not surprising as the figure for total income for accommodation in 
public accommodation establishments strongly suggests a significant number of returning guests. On 
this basis, we were not surprised at the results: after Hévíz, Sárvár and Csepreg achieved second and 
third places - but with a huge gap of some 60%. This figure is very closely related to the performance 
of health tourism, but it does not signify the ranking of accommodation places since we do not see 
prices. Examining this ratio in South Transdanubia, we note a stronger concentration. There is a huge 
difference between the two charts: the range in West Transdanubia starts at 7,000,000 Forints but at 
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only 700,000 Forints in South Transdanubia. There is an eightfold difference between the two figures. 
In South Transdanubia Siklós leads, thanks to Harkány with its huge superiority. The accommodation 
places of Harkány have more income than the total of all others in the Region.  
 
In South Transdanubia the Micro-region of Siklós leads, thanks to the existence of Harkány, the 
accommodation places of Harkány having more income than the total of all other accommodation 
places in South Transdanubia. This is the product of the trend seen in the West Transdanubian 
Region. The differences at micro-region level are higher, since in South Transdanubia we can see 
many figures for income below 100,000 Forints. This reflects the lower level of services and of 
accommodation places as well as the lower number of guests arriving. This also means that few 
accommodation places can afford to improve their features. 
 
In connection with revenue, it is worth examining how much income the accommodation places 
receive from foreign tourists. In this respect, in West Transdanubia the micro-region of Hévíz, and in 
South Transdanubia that of Siklós are in the best position (Chart 11).  
 
Chart 11. Income from foreign visitors in public accommodation establishments in the micro-regions 
of Westand SouthTransdanubia, 2011 (’000 HUF) 
 

 
 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
This is not surprising, as they are the best-known (internationally also) spas in these two Regions. The 
micro-region of Sárvár and Csepregi can produce one-third of the income from international visitors 
in public accommodation establishments in Hévíz, which is significant compared to the average for 
the region. We expected from this that it would be much higher in the micro-regions of West 
Transdanubia and this expectation was accurate since we found 5 billion Forints of income from 
foreign visitor accommodation in West Transdanubia and only 300 million Forints in South 
Transdanubia. This comparison shows clearly the huge difference between the two Regions. The 
micro-region of Siklós has the highest level of such income In South Transdanubia, due to the high 
reputation of the Harkany spa over many years. Outside the Siklós micro-region, the micro-regions of 
Kaposvár, Barcs and Mohács also managed to achieve good income from accommodating foreign 
visitors in public accommodation establishments (the last two being border settlements). 
 
The next feature of our analysis is the accommodation cost per tourist (Chart 12). 
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Chart 12. Accommodation cost per tourist in the micro-regions of West and South Transdanubia, 
2011 (HUF) 

 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
In the West Transdanubian region Hévíz has the clear first position in this respect, but this is not 
suprising if we think of those hotels which operate with higher room prices and offer better services. 
These hotels influence these figures very considerably. The second place achieved by the Sárvár 
micro-region was again expected, but the third place of the Zalaszentgrót micro-region came as a 
surprise. We expected less difference between the two examined regions in respect of the cost of 
accommodation per tourist. In South Transdanubia these figures are at their highest in the Nagyatád 
micro-region, which was an unexpected result, but, as with Győr and Sopron, the distance from the 
borders could be the main reason for the spatial concentration of this figure. This could also be the 
same situation with the Barcs micro-region. These settlements have hotels and accommodation 
places at relatively high prices. The range shown on the charts for West Transdanubia starts at 
35,000 Forints and for South Transdanubia at 20,000 Forints - which reflects the basic relationship in 
terms of costs precisely examined by the accommodation cost per tourist night of the 
accommodation places.  
 
The next ratio calculated is the REVPAR (accommodation cost per operational day of one room = 
REVenue Per Available Room). We obtained this data for West and South Transdanubia (Chart 13). 
 
Chart 13. Revenue per available room in the micro-regions of the two selected regions in 2011 
(HUF/room) 

 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
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We thought that the REVPAR figures would not show significant differences between the two 
Regions – as with the accommodation cost per tourist and to the cost per tourist night. However, our 
hypothesis was totally false. When we examined the data for West Transdanubia, the highest 
REVPAR figure was circa 11,000 Forints (in the Sárvár micro-region) whilst in South Transdanubia a 
mere 3,300 Ft was the highest - naturally in the Siklós micro-region. There could be two reasons for 
this: the first would be that the hotels in West Transdanubia operate at higher prices as a result of 
the greater role of foreign tourists; alternatively, they operate at higher occupancy rates with their 
rooms not empty for as many days as in South Transdanubia. The bed occupancy rate significantly 
increases REVPAR levels. The Sárvár micro-region has top position in West Transdanubia, which 
shows that the efficiency of room usage is optimal in Sárvár where bed occupancyrates were 
outstanding. It is somewhat surprising that in Hévíz this ratio is lower (by 3,500 Forints) than Sárvár. 
In South Transdanubia the Siklós micro-region heads the list. It is interesting to note that the range 
on the South Transdanubia chart ends at 3,500 Forints, and so the REVPAR value of the Siklós micro-
region is around or below the regional average for West Transdanubia. The Dombóvár micro-region 
holds second position - which is the result of an investment in a new hotel directly at the spa - and 
shows similar values to those in the micro-regions of Kaposvár and Tamási. 
 
 
3. Moderating the Effect of the Size of Settlement in the Analysis 
 
We continue the analysis with an attempt to decrease the influence of the size of settlements, since 
we found that this had a significant, distortive effect on the ratios. We dealt with three ratios in the 
first chapter (the number of guests, the number of tourist nights and the accommodation capacity) 
but we now weighted them with the number of inhabitants, to produce the following results (Table 
2). 
 
Table 2. The number of tourist arrivals and tourist nights spent and capacity of accommodation 
places per 1000 inhabitants in the micro-regions of West Transdanubia, 2011 

Micro-regions Tourist 
arrivals Tourist nights Accommodation 

places 
Csornai 99.8 171.4 1.5 
Győri 1,060.9 2,251.8 22.7 
Sopron-Fertődi 3,418.5 8,890.5 69.3 
Kapuvár-Beledi 164.3 315.9 7.3 
Mosonmagyaróvári 1,586.8 3,496.8 33.5 
Celldömölki 237.1 816.2 32.3 
Csepregi 45,194.6 191,923.0 1,567.2 
Körmendi 374.7 564.1 8.9 
Sárvári 10,493.6 29,267.8 174.8 
Szentgotthárdi 2,716.7 7,614.8 81.5 
Szombathelyi 528.4 1,048.7 30.4 
Vasvári 205.6 1,068.6 44.8 
Letenyei 220.5 468.9 55.8 
Zalakarosi 57,661 191,679.4 2,736.9 
Hévízi 41,877.4 200,481.5 1,246.2 
Zalaszentgróti 17,45.2 4,707.3 117.6 
Lenti 999.5 3,321.6 118.9 
Zalaegerszegi 303,8 745,6 23,9 
Regional average 2,512,2 8,111,1 78,0 

 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
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Weighting with the number of inhabitants produced a totally different ranking among the micro-
regions. We can see that the Zalakaros micro-region is in first place in the category of number of 
tourist arrivals, and that of Csepreg is in second place (thanks to the town of Bük) whilst Hévíz is only 
in third place. These three micro-regions are far above the regional average and this same tendency 
will also apply to the other ratios. The bigger towns in the region (Győr, Sopron, Szombathely) lie 
much lower as a result of weighting with the number of inhabitants. In terms of the capacity of 
accommodation places, the micro-region of Zalakaros is the leader by a significant margin – ahead of 
the two well-known spas of Hévíz and Bük. It is interesting to note that there are two smaller micro-
regions (Lenti and Zalaszentgrót) which show better values than the regional average - showing the 
importance of health tourism in the economic life of these settlements. 
 
The next table (Table 3) shows the same data from South Transdanubia. 
 
Table 3. The number of tourist arrivals and tourist nights spent and capacity of accommodation 
places per 1000 inhabitants in the micro-regions of South Transdanubia, 2011 
 

Micro-regions Tourist 
arrivals Tourist nights Accommodation 

places 
Siklósi 3,555.5 11,362.3 137.6 
Komlói 751.1 1,330.8 327.9 
Mohácsi 248.4 453.6 11.9 
Sellyei 140.6 511.7 98.2 
Szigetvári 567.1 1271.4 61.3 
Barcsi 195.6 773.8 47.7 
Lengyeltóti 971.5 3,886.0 51.8 
Kaposvári 228.6 616.3 17.3 
Marcali 57.7 77.4 5.0 
Nagyatádi 268.8 898.7 42.6 
Dombóvári 791.2 1,782.5 48.0 
Paksi 230.2 406.1 32.5 
Tamási 272.1 954.7 38.0 
Regional average 551.8 1,581.3 38.6 

 
Source: Hungarian Statistical Office, Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
If we look at the number of tourist arrivals, we can see that the Siklós micro-region leads as a result 
of Harkány’s performance, but the situation of the other micro-regions is much more interesting. 
After weighting with the number of inhabitants, the Lengyeltóti micro-region is in second place 
thanks to the performance of Csisztafürdő in Buzsák, which is a remarkable and surprising result. It is 
clearly due to the importance of spa tourism in the economic life of the settlement. The Komlói 
micro-region also performs well due to the Magyarhertelend Thermal Spa, but it is not so significant 
a result, since we had to divide the values with a low number (the number of inhabitants). In 
percentage terms the micro-regions of Kaposvár and Dombóvár were in second and third place, but 
here only Dombóvár had good numbers compared to the number of inhabitants. Kaposvár had 
figures below the average in respect of the number of tourist arrivals. The number of tourist nights 
spent in the accommodation places showed similar trends, as we expected. What is remarkable, 
however, is that the Lengyeltóti micro-region shows better figures - as in the number of tourist 
arrivals. The micro-regions of Dombóvár and Szigetvár have better figures, as they had without 
weighting. In terms of accommodation capacity the Komlói micro-region leads as a result of its low 
number of inhabitants and the number of accommodation places in Magyarhertelend. 
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Summary 
 
We feel that it would be useful at this point to offer a brief summary of West and South 
Transdanubia from the perspective of the heath tourism potential of their settlements which 
currently operate medicinal or thermal spas. After this we shall concentrate on an analysis of 
accommodation places. The table below (Table 4) summarizes the ratios: 
 
Table 4. A comparison of ratios and Regional averages in the two Regions, 2011 
 

Ratio Feature 
Regional Total or 

Average West 
Transdanubia 

Regional Totalor 
Average South 
Transdanubia 

Number of tourist arrivals  significant influence of spatial 
situation  1,159,695 106,344 

Number of tourist nights 
spent  

Strong positive correlation with no. 
of tourist arrivals; better indicator 
for health tourism  

3,744,361 304,768 

Accommodation capacity Nearer to border: higher capacities  36,011 7,433 

Bed occupancy (%) 
Better indicator of health tourism; 
strong relationship with spa’s 
reputation  

28.49 11.23 

Average accommodation 
cost per tourist (HUF) 

Lower regional difference, higher 
values near borders  12,681 10,452 

Average accommodation 
cost per tourist night 
(HUF) 

Strong positive correlation with 
accommodation cost per tourist  5,496 3,896 

REVPAR (HUF) 
International accommodation 
income and bed occupancy 
increase this figure  

3,492 1,743 

Total accommodation 
revenue (’000 HUF) 

The best indicator of tourism 
potential  20,862,445 1,306,885 

Accommodation revenue 
(’000 HUF) from foreign 
visitors (of total) 

Significant influence of spatial 
situation 11,724,188 414,994 

 
Source: Own collation. Edited by András Bozóti 2013 
 
Clearly we experienced a huge difference between the two Regions. By the number of tourist arrivals 
and the number of tourist nights spent, the difference is more than tenfold; by the capacity of 
accommodation places the relation is some fivefold. The difference is significant, since, from the 
aspect of tourist arrivals and tourist nights, Hévíz alone has a better performance than the whole 
South Transdanubian Region. In connection with those figures which measure the level of 
accommodation places, we chose to weight with the number of inhabitants as the methodology for 
measuring the Regional average and we can conclude that West Transdanubia dominates in every 
respect, but not to the same extent. In respect of accommodation places, the differences are not as 
huge as the accommodation cost per tourist and the cost per tourist night. This could be due to the 
nature of these figures. The rates are much more calculable and predictable, and so our third 
hypothesis is true. 
 
Our analysis fully supports our first hypothesis, which was that those settlements which are home to 
a nationally famous medicinal or thermal spa are well above the average values of their Region, 
which will embellish the image of the whole destination (Beerli and Martin, 2004), and so the first 
hypothesis is true. Our opinion is that the second hypothesis is partly true, since the capacity of 
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accommodation places was a better indicator than the number of tourist arrivals and the number of 
tourist nights spent. This, however, was only when we used weighting with the number of 
inhabitants. The analysis of regional differences is not adequate for any future planning to improve 
the competitiveness of these Hungarian micro-regions, and so we are planning a more detailed 
analysis to further the aims of this paper. 
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Abstract 
 
The research within this paper evaluates the impact the euro zone crisis is having on strategic 
decisions corporations today must make, as well as act upon in the future, to survive and profit while 
operating both in the euro zone and the wider twenty-seven country European Union (EU). The euro 
zone is an economic and monetary union comprised of seventeen member states that have adopted 
the euro as their common currency. Monetary policy of the euro zone is the responsibility of the 
European Central Bank (ECB). The euro zone has been, and presently is, confronted with an uncertain 
euro and the question remains whether a fiscal union can be achieved amongst EU countries in order 
to create a monetary (banking) union. A banking union would, in effect, insulate countries in the 
region from their troubled banks and vice versa. However, such a union will not be possible without a 
tighter political union of the euro zone countries. Euro-enthusiasts say that, “Europe only integrates 
in the face of crisis.” This does not appear likely to occur given the track record, thus far, of European 
political leaders. Major corporations such as Vodaphone and GlaxoSmithKline have been moving 
surplus cash out of Euros and out of the euro zone on a daily basis. [It is the fiduciary obligation of 
companies to their owners (shareholders) to not allow their liquid assets to become devalued by 
letting them reside in countries such as Italy and Spain].  
 
Presently there is speculation, by many, that the euro will cease to exist. Should the euro cease to 
exist, or remain but be more regulated, the strategic decisions being made by company executives 
will be of utmost importance for the survival and future profitability of their companies. 
 
Events in Cyprus, Greece, Portugal, Ireland, Italy and Spain have placed the future of the euro in 
jeopardy. During a meeting of the European Parliament in Strasbourg toward the end of 2012 the 
honorable member from the UK, Mr. Nogel Farage, shouted, “the euro breakup is inevitable, it is just 
a question of how and when. The euro is doomed.” An article that appeared in The Independent 
(London) noted it is not the financial markets that are going to break the euro zone but the politics. It 
further noted there is a rising sense of resentment of inequalities in much of the euro zone countries. 
World Bank economists Indermit Gill and Martin Raiser have concluded that Europe’s growth model 
of the last five decades is threatened. The immense debts of the continent are the result of, “public 
spending to protect societies from the rougher facets of private enterprise.” Economists like Kenneth 
Rogoff at Harvard University are skeptical the euro can survive the conflict between economically 
slow growing countries in the south and healthier ones in the north. David Cameron, Britain’s Prime 
Minister, has suggested that he could imagine the single currency breaking up.  
 
Germany is the engine that has been driving the European economy. Germany has benefited from 
the euro (its products being less expensive in world markets) but the country is now balking at 
continuing to put up large amounts of money to bail out countries such as Spain and Italy, Germany 
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has been a major contributor to the ECB which has come to the rescue of troubled banks in the 
region. The question remains, however, as to how much further support the country is willing to give 
its southern neighbors.  
  
Small and Medium Enterprises (SME’s), in particular, have in the past been reluctant to venture 
outside the euro zone but the crisis has sped up their exploration of opportunities in other world 
markets, specifically emerging economies. It is, therefore, not only the Multinational Corporations 
(MNC’s) but also the SMC’s that are adjusting their strategies and, in some cases, reinventing 
themselves to become more flexible and explore new markets. In order to compete more favorably 
in world markets they are forming joint ventures to take advantage of each others core 
competencies to become more efficient and trim costs. For example, they are strengthening their 
supply chains and sharing Research and Development capabilities. 
 
According to Shay Scott, director of the University of Tennessee’s Global Supply Chain Forum which 
was held in Paris during June, 2012 – the challenging European economy today requires that supply 
chain organizations deliver increasing levels of value to their customers and organizations. Mark 
Gregory, a London partner at Ernst and Young, recognizes the vulnerability of supply chains when 
there is a crisis.  
 
Opportunities for Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) by companies outside of the euro zone have 
emerged as many European companies are running short of cash and need assistance in their quest 
to explore new markets. Helping to globalize these cash starved companies would be a strategic 
move benefiting the corporations both within and outside the euro zone. 
 
Daiichi-Sankyo UK Ltd., a company selling pharmaceutical related products, considers Europe to be a 
growth market and intends to carry out a growth strategy in Europe that is forecast to significantly 
increase net sales. Presently growth rates in the pharmaceutical industry are low. The company’s 
mission is, “To create and supply innovative pharmaceutical products to address diversified, unmet 
medical needs.” The company’s vision is to “grow faster than the market.” It maintains a lean but 
effective management structure. The company has strengthened its position as an important 
pharmaceutical enterprise in Europe by investing in internal resources and extending it’s field-force 
capabilities. It has also forged licensing agreements with other pharmaceutical companies in Europe.  
 
At the very core of the issue for European companies both within and outside the euro zone is the 
need for an integrated industrial policy for the region. The European Commission issued a statement 
on October 28, 2010 indicating that industry must be placed center stage if Europe was to remain a 
global leader. The message was straight forward, “Europe needs an integrated industrial policy for 
the globalization era.” This communication by the Commission sets out a strategy to boost growth 
and jobs by supporting a diversified and competitive industrial base offering well paid jobs while, at 
the same time, becoming more resource efficient. The Commission also made the case that in an era 
of intense globalization the concept of national sectors and industries is obsolete. A coordinated 
European industrial policy is needed. European industry, in a coordinated effort, needs to analyze the 
value chain (for strengths as well as weaknesses) and evaluate ways to minimize costs and maximize 
efficiencies. An EU industrial policy needs to emphasize the creation and growth of SME’s. The only 
way to create the critical mass needed for industry to succeed in the euro zone, as well as the rest of 
Europe, is through a well structured and effective industrial policy. 
 
Private companies within most countries of the euro zone need to become more efficient, more 
productive and compete more effectively against imports. The economies of countries within the 
euro zone need to converge in productivity. What happened when the euro zone was formed is that 
countries locked themselves into an initial exchange rate, and promised never to change that 
exchange rate. This was betting that their economies would converge in productivity and the Greeks, 
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for example, would become more like the Germans vis-a-vis productivity. This has not occurred. The 
money that many of the governments borrowed was not put into infrastructure and training, but 
rather was spent in a way that would keep them popular and help them win elections. The present 
emphasis by countries within the euro zone needs to be on “growth” rather than fiscal discipline 
which has equated to austerity measures. There has been talk amongst euro zone leaders of the 
creation of “project bonds” that would provide credit to private companies for infrastructure projects 
that would, in turn, create jobs. Although this has not yet occurred, Italian Prime Minister Monti 
announced, in 2012, that various incentives would be offered to construction companies to 
participate in infrastructure projects and for companies to hire highly educated workers to 
counteract the “brain drain” currently underway in that country.  
 
European companies have excellent resources such as well educated workforces, good access to 
higher education, a strong and mostly reliable public sector and a diversity of people. They need to 
exploit these resources and invest more time and effort into emerging markets which presently offer 
excellent opportunities such as Turkey. They might consider developing new versions of existing 
products that are cheaper and may contain do-it-yourself components. Productivity (most likely by 
means of automation) and energy usage must be made more efficient to lower costs. During this 
critical period they need to make an extra effort at building even stronger relationships with 
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. 
 
The author, Dr. Norm Bedford, will be meeting this summer in Europe, prior to the conference, with 
government, business and banking personnel in order to collect opinions on euro zone crisis 
management, bailout programs, corporate business models in place recognizing the uncertainty of 
the euro as well as other issues impacting the decision making of corporations doing business in the 
EU. This research will be an integral part of the paper to be presented at the conference and will 
conclude with a series of action plans business leaders must take now in preparation of a possible 
euro collapse.  
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Abstract 
 
Developed countries are facing a serious threat of loss of economic competitiveness in global 
context. This is a long term process which has many more or less obvious reasons and the current 
crisis has even accelerated certain unfavorable trends. Emerging countries that even not so long ago 
had reputation of cheap assembly lines have been gradually becoming the engine of the global 
economy. The assumption, that these countries are not able to technologically innovate, neither 
provide highly qualified working labour, seriously lack public infrastructure and are limited by low 
level of institutional environment, is no more valid. The article´s objective is to analyze the factors 
causing this development and outline possible scenarios of future. The key question is whether from 
the perspective of the trans-Atlantic civilization we are facing inevitable decline or there is a chance 
to get back on a long-term-prosperity path. 
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Abstract 
 
Social responsibility which simple implied the continuous commitment by business to behave 
ethnically and contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the work 
forced and their families as well as the local and society at large is required now more than ever. The 
dynamic world implies constant growing disaster (natural or artificial) on both business existence and 
the society. The standardization and ever growing roles by businesses through this newest 
management strategies - Social responsibility business crises (CSR) of recent has not only enhance 
continuous business growth and development of communities/societies but the national economies 
through reduction of daily challenges on the society and business thereby enhancing sustainable 
growth and development.  
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1. Introduction 
 
It is said that there are three types of organizations or people: those that make things happen, those 
that watch things happen, and those that wonder what has happened. The response of an 
organization or people in any of the three options determines how they manage their crises or in 
their environments. 
 
All countries, businesses in the world, households and all living beings face one form of crises or the 
other either daily or from time to time. The word crisis is defined differently by different authors, 
however, for the purpose of this paper, crises is a phenomenon which seems to take place all of a 
sudden for better or worse. Crises are seen or witness everyday in social, political, economic, and 
personal life. Some of the factors common in all crises as noted by Ratnan (1998) are: 

 Speed: Crises seems to happen with absolute suddenness and generally with devastating 
repercussions. 

 Financial: All crises lead to some kind of financial losses to the victims 
 Personal: Crises could result in body injuries and hurts and in some cases loss of human lives 

as well. 
 Emotional: Most crises inflict personal grief and affect the morale of the group, society or 

organization. 
 
 
1.1. Why crisis? 
 
There are some common reasons as to why crisis happen and when they do, why the hit the society 
badly: 

 Early warning signals not read: No crisis is 100% unanticipated, In fact, in social, political, 
economic, business and personal life, the warning signals of impending crisis have always 
been there, only we did not read them. All these do not alter the fact that the warning 
signals were there.  

 Warning signals were read but not understood: This may be due to confusion in 
communication, due to disturbances/ noise in communication channels, lack of intelligence 
in interpretation or failure to perceive or connect the cause and effect relationships. 
Obviously under such circumstances, even signals written on the wall or shouted from roof 
top will have no effect since the receiver is not intelligent to understand them. 

 Signals understood but ignored: This is the height of complacence, inaction, lethargy or 
unalloyed bureaucracy. There is simply no excuse for not acting on signals of impending crisis 
and for staying smug or living in fools’ paradise with a false sense of security. The Joint House 
and Senate Committee on Intelligence report (2003) identified above three among others as 
the main reason for 9/11 crises.  

 Lack of anticipation: If there is no market intelligence and no antenna to receive the signals, 
there will not be any anticipation. These companies/groups will continue to believe that no 
crisis would touch them. How sadly mistaken they are! 

 Lack of preparedness: We might have read signals, understood them and got action plans 
chalked out to safeguard against impending crisis. All these are of no avail if there is no 
implementation in time! In other words, having an implementation plan to ward off a crisis is 
no substitute for actions. Any amount of advance planning is also of no avail until a 
determined effort is made to implement those ideas and physically creating those safeguards 
to minimize the impact of the crisis. 

 No insurance for rainy days: Most of the organizations or households focus on day to day 
issues and are short-term minded in their outlook, that they have no reserves left for any 
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rainy day. This feeling of ‘crossing the bridge when it comes’ does not auger well with 
preparing for a crisis.  

 
 
1.2. Types of crises 
 
It is important to have a good understanding of the different types of crises that could take place, at 
the very outset. This is vital as all crises cannot be handled in the same manner, and would require 
different approaches and various techniques to be applied. Although types of crises can be 
categorized into several kinds, the most common categories are as follows: 

 Financial crises - This would be huge problem for any organization, but is fairly predictable to 
quite an extent when compared with other types of crises. Such a crisis would basically 
involve the organization heading in the direction of bankruptcy. 

 Public relations crisis- This could be inform of pressure group or unwelcome media 
attention, adverse publicity in the media, and/or removal/loss of CEO or other key 
management. 

 Product or service failure- This could occur in situation of product recall of faulty or 
dangerous products as recently by Toyota car manufacturing company, Japan, health care 
related to the product of industry. 

 Business and management Crisis: This is when a business witnessed any of these 
situation(s); hostile takeover, sudden strike by workforce or that of a key supplier, major 
customer withdraws its support, sudden shortfall in demand and /or competitor lunches new 
product.  

 Natural disasters (so called acts of God) - This type of crisis is highly unpredictable and could 
come by at any time. Several examples of such situations could be given today, from 
earthquakes in countries such as China, Turkey, US, Haiti, a few years ago, and other 
environmental disasters such as tsunamis and hurricanes. Business and the society should 
always be ready to face such a situation. 

 Technological crises. This is where a system collapses due to failure in the functioning of 
different equipment and machinery used. IT system failure -computer viruses, attacks by 
hackers or system failures are examples of such crisis. These crises could occur either 
because of human error or a fault in the system used, which has multiple consequences. This 
may also include chemical spills and oil leaks. One famous case is that of the Chernobyl 
nuclear power plant in 1986, which caused much damage. 

 Political & Social crisis - With the current political climate the world over, so too is the spate 
of threats to security and other forms of terrorist activity giving rise to diverts social crisis . 
Example, the Sudan dyestuff in processed food. 

 Ethno-religion crisis: Closely related to political and social crisis. The continuous high level of 
intolerance especially in multi ethnic and religious societies across Africa, Nigeria among 
others has led to recurring crisis with dare humanitarian effects. Example, the ethno-religious 
Jos Crisis of North Central Nigeria of over 10 year from 2001. 

 
Note that the first four types of crisis are common to business organizations and last four to both 
business and society. No organization or society is free from internal politics and disagreement 
between the various levels of the workforce or members. The dynamic nature of society and complex 
nature of running business organizations these days simply implies no matter the level of superior 
intelligence, clever anticipation, thorough home work, external vigilance, crises cannot be totally 
avoided or eradicated. 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) has received increased attention from numerous authors, 
national and international bodies. Different organizations have framed different definitions in order 
to specify the role of business in the society, although there is considerable common ground 
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between them. The Commission of the European Communities defines corporate social responsibility 
as “the responsibility of enterprises for their impacts on society”. To fully meet their social 
responsibility, enterprises “should have in place a process to integrate social, environmental, 
ethical human rights and consumer concerns into their business operations and core strategy in 
close collabouration with their stakeholders”.  
 
 
2. Dynamic Concept of Social Responsibility 
 
Corporate social responsibility (CSR) also called corporate conscience, corporate citizenship, social 
performance, or sustainable responsible business/ Responsible Business is a concept that has 
become quite familiar in the world-of-business today. There are different perceptions of the 
concepts among the private sector, government and civil society organizations.  
 
Charles (2010), reports that the concept of corporate social responsibility has been developing since 
the early1970s.There is no single commonly accepted definition of corporate social responsibility. 
Perspective on CSR in Charles’ view may cover the following areas:  
 

i. A company waning its business responsibly in relation to internal stakeholders 
(shareholders, employees, customers, supplier and community)  

ii. ii. Business performance as a responsible member of the society in which it operate and 
the global community.  

iii. The role of business in relation to the state, locally and nationally as well as to interstate 
institutions or standard.  

 
The first perspective includes corporate governance, product responsibility, employment conditions, 
workers rights, training and education (workplace). The second perspective is multilayered and may 
involve the company’s relations with the people and environment in the communities in which it 
operates, and those to which it exports (marketplace, environment, and communities).The third 
includes corporate compliance with relevant legislation, and the company’s responsibility as a tax 
payer, ensuring that the state can function effectively. Too often, attaining corporate social 
responsibility is understood from the perspective of business generosity to community projects and 
charitable donations, but this fails to capture the most valuable contributions that a company has to 
make. In general sense social responsibility is seen as the deposition of organizations to exhibit a 
‘missionary’ rather than a ‘mercenary’ attitude to the society or environment in which they operate 
which is the centre piece of this paper.  
 
To Wikipedia (2011), CSR is “the continuing commitment by business to behave ethically and 
contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their 
families as well as the local community and society at large; It is one of the newest management 
strategies where companies try to create a positive impact on society while doing business.”  
 
CSR connotes a company humane attitude and social conscience towards its environment. Every 
company has its corporate responsibility and should be able to define them within the context of its 
operations. It is in the light of this that an oil company for example be expected to build roads, 
hospital and apply pollution control measures for the communities in its oil producing zones. Here it 
is believed that the measure of a company social responsibility is the extent to which it undertakes 
such scheme by itself with little or no pressure from the government or the community. Its goal is to 
embrace for the enterprises’ actions and promote efficient impact through activities on the host-
communities, workers, consumers, stakeholders and other members of the public in particular and 
the environment in general. Many companies have impacted to the lives of Nigerians and have 
improved the growth and development of the country. Baker (2004) who opined that CSR is about 
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how companies manage the business processes to produce an overall positive impact on society, 
further simplify that Companies need to pay close attention to two aspects of their operations. 1. The 
quality of their management - both in terms of people and processes (the inner circle). 2. The nature 
of, and quantity of their impact on society in the various areas as illustrated below. 
 

  
 
 
2.1. Principles of social responsibility 
 
Today’s dynamic business scenario has made mandatory to set some fundamental principles of Social 
responsibility as the mission to promote excellence in social responsibility through the development 
of principles and the sharing of tools, information and best practices that will assist in the 
implementation and continuous improvement organizations and professionals. This responsibility 
can be passive, by avoiding engaging in socially harmful acts, or active, by performing activities that 
directly advance social goals. The reasons for the development of principles are is to increase 
management’s awareness and provide tools to management professional for the development of a 
proactive management social responsibility program. It creates a set of principles applicable across 
social, sector, organization (public, private and nonprofit) and countries boundaries. It complements 
existing standards or be used as a starting point from which to develop a set of standards unique to 
the needs of the organization. In most of the organizations ‘principles of social Responsibility frames 
certain programs of measurable corporate policies and procedures to benefit the workplace and, by 
extension, the individual, the organization, and the community-consumers, fair price, and good 
quality, etc, financial responsibility, human rights, environmental safety, diversity. Carnegie (2000) 
classified two broad principles on social responsibility to include Charity and Stewardship Principles 
while Sharma (2011) also added human rights and community as discussed below.  
 
2.1.1. Charity principle 
 
Under this principle the belief is that kindness should be shown to other people at all times. The 
principle requires the more fortunate members of the larger society to help those that are less 
fortunate like those unemployed, the handicapped and the elderly people. The less fortunate people 
can be aided directly or indirectly through churches, mosques, settlement houses and so on. Those 
that are wealthy consider on their own how much assistance to render or gift giving voluntarily. 
Business organizations as well as private individuals that make thousands of naira of profit annually 
are expected contributes its resources to charities or give assistance for the welfare of the 
unfortunate or poor ones.  
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2.1.2. Stewardship principle 
 
It is derived from the Bible that requires business organizations and wealthy individuals to view 
themselves as stewards, or ordinary caretakers of their property in trust for the benefit of the whole 
society, that is, the rich hold their wealth (money and material) in trust for the rest of the society and 
are expected to use it for any purpose that the society deems legitimate. This type of donation can 
only be authenticated to recognized groups and there must be no deviation from the norm. Decision 
made by business organization affects members of the public either positively or negatively. The 
notion of social responsibility permits businesses to choose their social obligations as per their 
conviction but not related to the personal value. Friedman suggested that “There is one and only one 
social responsibility of business: to use its resources and energy in activities designed to increase its 
profits so long as it stays within the rules of the game…[and] engages in open and free competition 
without deception and fraud” 
 
2.1.3. Human Rights Principle 
 
The principle inculcates a good habit of treating people with dignity and respect. It encourages the 
organization and its employees to avoid complicity in human or employment rights abuses. It also 
support and respect the protection of international human rights within the organization’s sphere of 
influence. 
 
2.1.4. Community Principle 
 
The principle of Community provides support and adds value to communities and employees working 
in an organization and also encourages its own members to add value to their community. It also 
demands businesses going beyond their boundaries by encouraging or partnering with other 
organizations to add value to their communities or societies. Many organizations donate to 
community programs and developed written policies encouraging employees to volunteer in 
community service. For instance, Esso Exploration and Production Nigeria Limited (EEPNL), in 
collabouration with joint venture partners, Nigeria National Petroleum Corporation NNPC) and Shell 
Nigeria Exploration and production Company (SNEPCo), provided geosciences equipment that would 
aid practical understanding of oil and gas exploration activities at a cost over $4.5million to three 
Nigerian Universities (The Nation Newspaper: 2011).  
 
Chiejina (2011), describes CSR as an obligation, beyond that required by the law and economics, for a 
firm to pursue long term goals that are good for society. It is also the continuing commitment by 
business to behave ethically and respond positively to emerging societal priorities and expectations 
towards economic development while improving the quality of life of the workforce, their families, 
the local community and society at large.  
 
In the recent times Mobile Telecommunication Network (MTN) through its foundation (MTNF) 
identified the need to assist Nigerian youth to acquire the necessary skills in fast evolving digital 
economy; helped schools (both secondary and tertiary institutions) to equip digital labouratories, 
internet facilities, installation of computer studio as well as boosting power supply. Teachers were 
also given further on-the-job training to improve their service delivery.  
 
 
3. NIS: ISO 26000: Standardizing Corporate Social Responsibility Practices  
 
In order to enshrined honesty, standardize CSR and sustainability practice in mediocrity Nigerian 
society, the Standards Organization of Nigeria, SON in collabouration with other stakeholders in July 
2013 issued a standard guide for social responsibility practices, Ademigbuji (2013). Tagged: NIS: ISO 
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26000, which was domesticated from International Standards Organization, ISO 26000 the new local 
ISO standards will serve as a tool to help businesses in Nigeria streamline CRS initiatives along 
globally-acceptable standards. NIS: ISO 26000 provides organizations with a holistic guide to 
producing sustainability reports in line with global best practices, hence, making it mandatory for all 
corporate organizations to use in their sustainability reporting as the basis for providing better CSR 
for host communities. It is expected to serve as a consensus guidance document that provides 
support or reference for all kinds of organizations in both private and public sectors on how they can 
operate in a socially responsible, ethical and transparent manner and by also contributing to the 
health and welfare of society as against the current practice where communities suffer effects of 
environmental pollution, abject poverty whereas many of the companies declare huge profits 
without giving back to the society.  
 
During the official launching of the new CSR standards in Lagos, the Director General of SON, Dr. 
Joseph Odumodu explained that the new NIS standard is a framework for Nigeria to implement and 
apply daily origination procedures and practices. According to him, “The new standard will ensure 
that businesses have standards that one can look up to in terms of engaging the people that operate 
in their environment and also monitor impact assessment.“The standard is about how you do your 
business, and not about how much money you give; it is about top management’s commitment on 
how business operations are done in a way that prevents negative impact on the environment; it is 
about aligning business strategies in conformity with the ISO standards.” 
 
The lunched of the new CSR is quite timely considering that “corporations in Nigeria spent over #23 
billion ($150 million) in the year 2012 on CSR driving the country ranking to second behind South 
Africa (Ekwajuru & Onyegbula 2013)  
 
 
4. Nature and Areas of Corporate Social Responsibility  
 
To Dugguh (2004), “organizations whether they are for profit or not for profit, exist to serve the 
society and satisfy needs and wants. People are most likely to withdraw their ‘votes’ of patronage 
from organizations, the same way politician withdraw votes from elected members who do not 
satisfy them by not fulfilling campaign promises. Corporate or organizational leaders are faced with 
many responsibilities, which engage them in a wide range of activities.”  
 
 The goal of CSR is to “embrace responsibility for company’s actions and encourage a positive impact 
through its activities on the environment, consumers, employees, communities, shareholders and all 
other members of the public sphere. Furthermore, it focused on business would proactively promote 
public interest by encouraging community growth and development”-Wikipedia (2011). Corporate 
Social Responsibility is manifested in organizing the following functions: Social audit, Philanthropy, 
Cause Related Marketing, Recycling Program, Humanitarian aid, Charity, Education, Medical 
Research, Worthy Causes, Responsibility to Society and Environment, Natural Resources and 
Pollution, Environmental Activism. Activism consists of intentional action to bring about social, 
political, economic, or environmental change (Bhushanam, 2011) 
 
 
5. CSR and Community 
 
Kreitner (2009) opines that “Corporate Social Responsibility should form a fundamental and integral 
part of any organization’s corporate governance strategy. They should ensure an even and clearly 
neutral and unbiased implementation of corporate social responsibility. There should not be any 
discrimination when performing social activities. Also they should bring more companies and 
employment into local area of their operation in order to encourage other companies and 
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mobilization of people to the rural development”. In other words, organizational strategies and 
action in CSR should include: 

 To maximize profits for stockholders. 
 To avoid causing harm and to compensate for harm caused.  
 To consider the interests of all stakeholders, including stockholders, employees, customers, 

suppliers, creditors, and local community. 
 To do good and solve social problems.        

 
The term CSR was coined in 1953 in Bowen’s publication, where he asked ‘what responsibility to 
society can business people be reasonably expected to assume?’ (Egbas: 2013). Prior to the advent of 
this millennium, oil companies operating in the Niger-Delta region of Nigeria did not take the issue of 
CSR as serious which eventually among other reasons led to youth restiveness in that region. But 
with the coming of the Global System for Mobile communications (GSM) companies in Nigeria, CSR is 
gaining currency in business operations; hence they lead in CSR activities. MTN is the first 
telecommunications company in Nigeria to dedicate up to one percent of its profit after tax to 
corporate social investment. Today, its foundation has over 160 project sites in 33 states, which are 
making valuable contributions to communities across the country in the areas of education, health 
and economic empowerment”.  
 
Other telecommunication giants like GLO, AIRTEL, ETISALAT and MICROSFT as well as banks in the 
country are also playing vital social responsibility roles especially in sport, health, agriculture and 
education based sponsorships (Sunday Punch Newspaper, 2010). 
 
The Central Bank of Nigeria (2011) in its Annual Report-2010 claimed to perform its corporate social 
responsibility function by promoting the acquisition of relevant knowledge, through the provision of 
financial and other forms of assistance to organizations and activity groups for the hosting of 
conferences, seminars, workshops, etc, which were of strategic national interest. Also its 
contribution to the Alms Collection Scheme for year 2010 stood at #13.8 million.  
 
Another well-known example in recent memory of a CSR project in Nigeria was the one handed down 
to banks via bankers’ committee by government’s subtle tactics, namely, to set aside 10 percent of 
their annual Profit Before Tax (PBT) in support of the Small and Medium Industries Equity Investment 
Scheme (SMIEIS) (Business day, 2012). 
 
The focus areas include Economic Development, Education, Health, Gender, Environmental, Human 
rights, Technology, youth development, sports development, welfare, arts and culture, 
entrepreneurial, environmental and social issues, with education, health and entrepreneurial 
development being the top priority focus areas, First Bank of Nigeria (2009 ). CSR lends helping hands 
to the governments in provision of essential needs in infrastructure and services that will positively 
affect the lives of people and their businesses to the public through selected methods to create 
desired impact and drive sustainability in the right direction.  
 
Firms are generally expected to be responsible in the areas such as environmental pollution 
abatement-water and air; education-scholarship; employment for both able bodied an the physically 
challenged; cultural revival and are activities; ethic behavior in paying taxes, producing quality and 
‘safe’ products; paying reasonable wages to commensurate to workers effort etcetera”. All these are 
to let organizations share in the problems of the society while as the same time solving the societal 
problems to making their impacts felt reasonably.  
 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

45 
 

Other things which CRS aims to achieve as propounded by Chiejina (2011) include “how a company 
manages its business process to produce an overall positive impact on society viz-a-viz contributing 
to sustainable development, poverty reduction, national economy and private enterprise.”  
 
 
6. Challenges of Corporate Social Responsibility 
 
Despite the glaring deficiency in government service provisions some business organizations claimed 
ignorance and do nothing while those doing the right thing are not encouraged by the government as 
to motivate others not to relent. Militating problems on CSR include insecurity resulting from 
persistent violent conflicts, unemployment, religion intolerance, ethnics’ agitation and multiple 
crises; corruption, poor focus on goals attainment, poor governance, especially degrading state of 
infrastructural development and maintenance and of cause natural disasters such as fire outbreak, 
droughts and floods.  
 
Nwachukwu (1992) affirms that many factors account for the apparent neglect of corporate social 
responsibilities by organizations especially in developing economies. They include:  

i. The lack professionalism in management style. Many managers do not perceive social 
responsibility as one of the key functions of management. The managers lack social skills to 
deal with social matters.  

ii. Many enterprises are very small in size and their financial strength precludes the 
consideration of social responsibility as a task that must be seriously considered. Some of the 
other large companies are owned by foreign firms whose main pre-occupation is profit 
maximization. Some of these firms see social responsibility as a patriotic gesture best 
undertaken by indigenous businessmen to help their country.  

iii. Involvement in social activities could adversely affect the economic health of a business 
enterprise. It is contrary to the basic function of the business. For example business 
enterprise may want to maximize profit or maximize market share which is the objective of 
the organization.  

iv. Corruption. Most businesses are insincere in the operation and accountability of social 
responsibility through falsification of figures or sub standard executions. 

 
Many companies involve themselves in social activities because of the tax exemptions or the income 
spent on special purposes. Corporate Social Responsibility process is “routinely being abused 
because of the scramble for maximizing profits. From oil multinationals, telecommunication giants, 
to the banking sector, it has become en vogue to engage in highly publicized charitable and 
philanthropic ventures as an act of CSR to plicate the abused public. And that more often than not, 
many approaches to CSR pit businesses against society, thereby emphasizing the cost and limitations 
of compliance with externally imposed social and environmental standards,” said Chiejina (2011).  
 
 
7. Prospect of Corporate Social Responsibility  
 
CSR creates better awareness and acceptance of company’s products which encourage a vast 
majority of individuals to continuously patronizing concerned organizations’ and contribute 
significantly to facilitate their growth and development in particular and the national economy in 
general. No customers, no business. To justify the arguments for social responsibility, Salawu (2007), 
states that an organization could not exist in isolation from the society in which it is located. No 
management can ignore the environment in which it operates. Moreover, success of organizations 
may depend, to a large extent, upon their public image.  
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Corporate Social Responsibility offers a “two-way stream of benefit to the companies. On the one 
hand, it stimulates innovative business and technological initiatives which would open up new 
market avenues for company operations. Furthermore, it will focus on the prospect of touching new 
market zones. On the other hand, it will give a clearer societal reputation and socially responsible 
identity to companies and their employees in the long-run,” said Salawu (2007). CSR enables 
organizations and individuals or group to contribute to the happiness and wellbeing of beneficiaries 
and at large the society.  
 
 
8. CSR and Sustainable Development 
 
The World Commission on Environment and Development define Sustainable Development as the 
development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of the future 
generations to meet their own needs. It involves the simultaneous improvement of the economy, 
environment and the well-being of the people. The goals of economic and social development must 
be defined in terms of sustainability in all countries-developed or developing, market-oriented or 
centrally planned. 
 
For the business enterprise, sustainable development means adopting business strategies and 
activities that meet the needs of the enterprise and its stakeholders today while protecting, 
sustaining and enhancing the human and natural resources in the surroundings that will be needed in 
the future. Surroundings in which an organization operates includes air, water, land, natural 
resources, flora, fauna, humans, and their interrelation. It extends from within an organization to the 
global system.  
 
Long term sustainability demands refocus by organizations from solely profit making to corporate 
citizenship through CSR to enhance brand and company reputation, accountability and transparency, 
human development resulting synergic effect of restoring and maintaining normalcy. The standards 
are Proactive Buildings Blocks for Achieving Sustainable Development. 
 
 
9. Suggestions  
 
i. Government should facilitate efficient corporate social responsibility processes between the 

public and private sectors towards national development. 
ii. Defaulting organizations in CSR should be sanctioned while cooperating ones must be 

encouraged to be more reliably responsible to sustain their support to the society.  
iii. Enabling environment and accompanying laws, especially on certain period of tax-free operation, 

need be provided to individuals and organizations to keep them informed on government areas 
of need and expected obligations as in education, electric power supply, and health and job 
creation to enable them contribute meaningfully to poverty reduction, and sustainable national 
economy/development.  

iv. Organizations and individuals should take CSR as a profit re-invested in the business to ensure 
commitment to business survival, profitability and continuity.  

v. Good corporate citizens should look close at home and ensure that they conduct their core 
businesses in community and environmentally responsible manner. Good corporate 
citizens/enterprises should support education and other activities. They should partner with local 
and state governments in providing infrastructural facilities in local/rural and urban communities 
not only for development but also to support the government.  

vi.  Businesses should sacrifice to restore normalcy in their operating environment and support 
victims of both man made /natural disasters.  
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10. Conclusion 
 
This paper only scratches the surface of several important issues on crises and social responsibility. 
Prevailing global economic instability have contributed to many challenges faced by businesses, 
society and government. The social responsibility movement arose particularly with increased public 
consciousness about the role of business in helping to cultivate and maintain highly ethical practices 
in society and particularly in the natural environment with the view of eradicating lukewarm 
attitudes of business organizations on discharging their social responsibility towards the attainment 
and sustained economic or national development.  
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Abstract 
 
In many countries over the last 15-20 years real estate markets have shown a high degree of 
volatility, with real prices rising over many years up to around 2006 followed by decreasing prices in 
recent years. This pattern has been especially pronounced in countries such as Spain, Ireland, 
Denmark, Italy, the Netherlands, the UK, and the US. Only a few countries, such as Germany and 
Japan, have experienced price movements different from this overall pattern. Understanding the 
underlying causes for these price movements is important, not just for real estate economists and 
analysts, but for economists in general. Housing wealth constitutes an important part of household’s 
total wealth and has a significant effect on household consumption, c.f. Case, Quigley, and Shiller 
(2012). In addition, many of the problems causing the financial crisis and global recession since 2008 
have their origin in the real estate markets, e.g. the US subprime crisis and the overinvestment in 
housing in many European countries. As a consequence, the European Commission’s new early 
warning system for macroeconomic imbalances (the MIP Scoreboard) includes house prices as an 
indicator, c.f. European Commission (2012). 
 
In this paper we undertake a detailed investigation of what moves housing markets in 18 OECD 
countries over the period 1970 to 2011. Using the return variance decomposition methodology from 
Campbell (1991) and Campbell and Ammer (1993) – which has become a standard methodology for 
analyzing financial market returns - we decompose real estate returns into two factors, one capturing 
changing expectations (‘news’) of future rents (proxying for housing service flows), and the other 
capturing changing expectations of future returns. Since returns can be further decomposed into the 
risk-free rate and a risk-premium (return in excess of the risk-free rate), real estate excess returns 
can be decomposed into three components: changing expectations of future rents, changing 
expectations of future risk-free rates, and changing expectations of future risk-premia. 
 
Our aim is to estimate the relative magnitude of these components in explaining the volatility of 
housing market returns, and to identify cross-country similarities and differences in this respect. We 
use vector-autoregressions (VAR’s) containing returns, rent growth, real interest rates, and additional 
predictor variables (including the rent-price ratio and macroeconomic variables), to model 
expectations of future variables, and we pay special attention to the pitfalls and limitations involved 
in such VAR based variance decompositions, c.f. Engsted et al. (2012a). 
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Our paper is related to the recent literature analyzing predictability of real estate returns and rents, 
e.g. Gallin (2008), Plazzi, Torous, and Valkanov (2010), and Engstedand Pedersen (2012) (see Ghysels, 
Plazzi, Torous, and Valkanov (2012) for a survey on forecasting real estate prices). Our study is also 
related to an extensive literature analyzing the role of expectations in house price determination, see 
e.g. Hamilton and Schwab (1985), Meese and Wallace (1994), Geltner and Mei (1995), and Clayton 
(1996) for early analyses based on present value models, and Gelain and Lansing (2013) for a recent 
analysis of the influence of expectations on housing valuation in a model with time-varying risk-
aversion and time-varying expected rent growth. Our paper is most directly related to two recent 
studies (Campbell, Davis, Gallin, andMartin, 2009, and Hiebertand Sydow, 2011) that also conduct 
VAR based variance decompositions of housing market variables. We will relate our results to the 
results in those studies. 
 
Our main findings are as follows. First, the return variance decompositions show that for the majority 
of countries news about future returns is the main determinant of return variability in the 18 OECD 
countries’ housing markets, with news about future rents playing a less important role, although in 
several of these countries the rent news component is not negligible. Only in two countries, Germany 
and Ireland, is the rent news component the dominating factor. These results are in contrast to the 
findings reported by Hiebert and Sydow (2011) where the rent news component explains the bulk of 
return volatility in eight European countries. Second, when we decompose returns into the risk-free 
rate and a risk-premium we find that in the majority of those countries - including the US - where 
return news is the dominating factor, risk-free rate news is either the most important, or equally 
important as news about future risk-premia. For the US this result is in contrast to Campbell et al.’s 
(2009) finding that real interest rate variation has not a¤ected housing valuations. Overall, our 
analysis documents some cross-country differences on what moves housing markets in the OECD 
area, but in the majority of countries real estate returns seem to be driven mainly by discount rate 
news with real interest rate variation playing a dominating role. Finally, bivariate cross-country 
correlations and principal components analyses on the 18 countries’ return series indicate that part 
of the return movements have a common factor among the majority of countries. However, in a 
minority of countries (Germany, Japan, and the Netherlands) return movements have been basically 
unrelated to return movements in other countries. 
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Abstract 
 
Background: Companies compete with each other in order to attract scarce capital resources from 
local and international investors and financial institutions. After the financial crisis of 2008, 
companies are finding it harder to attract new capital due to the tendency of investors and banks to 
hold on to their cash. Management of companies engages in voluntary disclosures to the capital 
market in an effort to reduce information asymmetry and thereby reduce their cost of capital. 
Investors and other stakeholders have put increasing pressure on companies to act more responsibly 
and also to publish information about their activities and its impact on the environment and the 
society. These disclosures were previously classified as voluntary, but are now part of the Integrated 
Report. The King III Code of Governance Principles for South Africa (2009), which recommends the 
publication of an Integrated Report, is effective in South Africa for companies listed on the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) for financial years starting on or after 2010. It was implemented 
on an ‘apply or explain’ basis, which currently means that not every company does produce an IR 
report. 
 
The Internet is ideally suited as a communication channel to reach a wider audience more cost 
effectively and efficiently. Online communication also reduces the company’s carbon footprint. 
Esterhuyse (2013) studied the online investor relations practices of South African companies during 
2012 and found that overall compliance with best practices was weak. Esterhuyse (2013) did find 
that some companies do post their Integrated Reports (IR) as a whole and/or separate Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) Reports on their websites. This study however, did not evaluate the 
quality of IR/CSR reports, but only reported on the presence thereof (amongst other items). South 
Africa is one of the early adopters of the IR. The quality of early IR/CSR reports was evaluated by 
KPMG (2011) who found that 97% of Top 100 listed companies produced a CSR report. However, SA 
was classified as ‘Starting behind’ which means that these companies have ‘gained limited traction so 
far for either implementing or communicating about their CR efforts and achievements’. Nkonki 
(2012) and Ernst & Young (2012) analyzed the IR for the Top 100 companies listed on the JSE. Nkonki 
(2012) reports that although some companies did an excellent job of complying with the spirit and 
requirements of the IR, others are still applying a tick-box mentality. Ernst & Young (2012) study on 
IR also concluded that there was room for improvement for a large section of the companies. 
 
Previous studies that evaluated disclosure practices in SA found wide-ranging scores. This study aims 
to establish what factors are driving companies’ disclosure practices and cultures. Literature 
indicates that size and industry sectors are usually associated with increased voluntary disclosures. 
However, findings are conflicting, as to which sectors are dominant drivers. 
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Objectives: This research aimed to: 
1. Determine if companies that provide online IR and CSR reports do have better online 

investor relations practices in general. The assumption is that companies that do make the 
effort to compile an IR/CSR report would also otherwise take communication with investors 
(and stakeholders) more seriously. Information on the website is equally accessible to 
investors and other stakeholders. 

2. As a subset: from the Nkonki (2012) study on the quality of IR reports, determine if the 
quality score of the IR/CSR report is associated with the online investor relations disclosure 
score. 

3. Investigate whether market capitalization and industry sector are possible determinants of 
online publication of IR and/or CSR reports. It is assumed that companies that do prepare an 
IR/CSR report would publish such report(s) on its website.  

4. As a subset: from the Nkonki (2012) study on the quality of IR reports, determine if market 
capitalization and industry sector are possible determinants of the quality of the IR/CSR 
report. 

 
Method: Online investor relations disclosure scores were extracted from the study conducted in July 
to Sept 2012 by Esterhuyse (2013) on 205 company websites. Companies were identified that 
published an IR and/or CSR report on their website. Quality scores were obtained for the Top 100 
companies whose IR/CSR reports were evaluated by Nkonki (2012). (KPMG and Ernst& Young did not 
disclose ratings per company.) Information about industry sector and market capitalization on 
28 September 2012 was obtained from the McGregor BFA database (containing data about JSE listed 
companies) for all 205 companies. Various means tests and correlation analyses were run on the data 
set in SPSS software. 
 
Results:  
Objective one: 
Of the 205 JSE listed companies whose online investor relations disclosure scores were available, 159 
(77,5%) posted IR and/or CSR reports on their websites. A statistically significant difference in means 
at the 0,01 level (2-tailed) was observed between the overall online investor relations disclosure 
score for those companies that did publish an IR/CSR report(s) on their website (41,2%) and those 
that did not (33,2%). The correlation (0,251) was positive in favor of companies that did publish 
IR/CSR reports on their websites and significant at the 0,01 level (2-tailed).  
 
Objective two: 
An even stronger correlation (0,321) was found between the quality of the IR/CSR report (96 
companies) and their overall online investor relations disclosure score. This was significant at the 
0,01 level (2-tailed). 
 
Objective three: 
The size of companies in terms of the log of the market capitalization was positively correlated 
(0,294) with the publication of an IR/CSR report and significant at the 0,01 level (2-tailed), but 
interestingly no statistically significant relationship was found for industry sector. The Basic Materials 
sector had the lowest level of published IR/CRS reports at 71,4%. The other eight sectors all had 
higher publication rates. This is contrary to the findings of the KPMG (2011) which found that mining 
companies worldwide published the most CSR reports. Literature indicates that mining companies 
have the highest need to communicate CSR issues to stakeholders. Further analyses are required to 
understand why mining companies are reluctant to publish their CSR reports online. One should also 
consider that this analysis is based on the 205 companies in the Esterhuyse (2013) survey and 
encompasses more companies than only the Top 100 as per the KPMG (2011) survey. 
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Objective four: 
An analysis of the 96 companies for which qualitative ratings of their IR/CSR reports were available 
surprisingly indicated no statistically significant correlations with either of market capitalization or 
industry sector. The size factor could be eliminated as a result of all the companies in this subset 
being part of the Top 100 companies.  
 
Conclusions: Disclosure of environmental and social impact information seems to be important to 
companies as 77,5% of companies in the Esterhuyse (2013) study published such reports on their 
websites. Publications of the IR/CSR report also appear to be an indicator of the communication or 
disclosure culture of an organization. This correlation is even stronger for companies that produce 
higher quality IR/CSR reports. In line with other studies, it was found that larger companies are more 
inclined to publish IR/CSR reports, but it does not predict the quality of the report. This might 
indicate that mere lip service is paid to the requirements for what should be published inside the 
report. No support could also be found for industry sector as a driver for publishing a IR/CSR report 
or the quality of such report. This is interesting as the South African economy is largely dependent on 
its mining industries and they are under increasing pressure to be accountable to society. 
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Abstract 
 
Croatia and Macedonia have both identified the clothing industry as a focus for increasing 
manufacturing exports, Croatia as a result of EU accession and Macedonia as the first step in a move 
away from reliance on agricultural exports. The choice seems obvious. Traditional manufactures like 
clothing and footwear historically have been engines of growth for manufacturing in developing and 
transition countries. However, dependence on such low-wage production, increasingly embedded in 
sub-contracting relations with multinational retailing firms, has not been very effective in sustaining 
either output or export growth in the current highly globalized economic context. Dramatic shifts in 
the nature of global value chains across all sectors in the past three decades have profoundly 
restructured relationships between buyers and suppliers. Compounded by effects of the recent 
global economic downturn, these structural changes have undercut the rationale for older 
competitive strategies relying mainly on advantages derived from low labour costs. Successful firms 
tend to have moved toward competitive strategies based on upgrading of processes and products. 
The analysis here tracks upgrading in exports of the clothing sector for groups of countries that 
compete with Macedonia and Croatia. It then links upgrading possibilities to the strengths and 
weaknesses of the industries in these two countries based on interviews with twenty clothing firms. 
The main finding of the paper is that upgrading is not widespread across countries either in 
manufacturing exports as a whole or in clothing exports. Judging from the cross-country evidence, an 
upgrading path will not be sustainable in either Croatia or Macedonia without carefully targeted 
policy support and in any case cannot be expected to change significantly the value-added 
composition of exports. The industry’s role instead is better conceived as part of a program to 
generate employment among lower wage workers.  
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Introduction 
 
Macedonia and Croatia have both identified the clothing industry as a focus for increasing 
manufacturing exports, Croatia as a result of EU accession and Macedonia as the first step in a move 
away from reliance on agricultural exports. The choice seems obvious. Traditional manufactures like 
clothing and footwear historically have been engines of growth for manufacturing in developing 
countries. However, dependence on such low-wage production, increasingly embedded in sub-
contracting relations with multinational retailing firms, has not been very effective in sustaining 
either output or export growth in the current highly globalized economic context. Dramatic shifts in 
the nature of global value chains across all sectors in the past three decades have profoundly 
restructured relationships between buyers and suppliers. Compounded by effects of the recent 
global economic downturn, these structural changes have undercut the rationale for older 
competitive strategies relying mainly on advantages derived from low labour costs. Increasingly, 
suppliers even in the least developed countries must upgrade production processes and products to 
remain competitive in a range of traditional export sectors from food processing to electronics to 
footwear and clothing.  
 
Successful firms tend to have moved toward competitive strategies based on upgrading of both 
processes and products. The specific kind of upgrading, however, depends on the competitive 
advantage of the supplier country and its industry. While it is fairly straightforward to distinguish 
among types of upgrading, determining which type is most likely to succeed for a particular country 
is not as simple. The literature on the topic does not find consistent patterns either across countries 
or over time. Partly the variability of results derives from the application of different methodologies 
in case studies of different countries, regions or firms. A deeper issue is that the requirements for 
comparative advantage are increasingly fluid in the context of the rapidly evolving relationships 
between buyers and suppliers of clothing. The analysis here tracks upgrading in the clothing sector 
for groups of countries that compete with Macedonia and Croatia and links upgrading possibilities to 
the strengths and weaknesses of their respective industries based on the reports of twenty clothing 
firms interviewed. 
 
The main finding of the paper is that upgrading is not widespread across countries either in 
manufacturing exports as a whole or in clothing exports. With the partial exception of China, moving 
to higher value-added products or processes is not a simple trajectory through which developing or 
transition countries can progress along global value chains. Croatia and Macedonia do appear to be 
committed to an upgrading trajectory in the clothing sector. Nonetheless, judging from the cross-
country evidence, this path will not be sustainable without carefully targeted policy support and in 
any case cannot be expected to change the value-added composition of exports. Its role instead is 
better conceived as part of a program to generate employment among lower wage and/or non-urban 
workers.  
 
 
Upgrading Along Manufacturing Export Value Chains 
 
Firms can upgrade in many forms, each consistent with a particular competitive strategy and 
requiring different improvements in capital, labour and capacity to perform multiple steps in the 
value chain. Four types of improve mentsare emphasized in the upgrading literature; process, 
product, functional and chain. Process upgrading involves improving efficiency of the production 
process, typically by automation but also by changes in the organization of production such as team 
work or modular production, while product upgrading means moving to higher value-added 
products, usually by upgrading skills of workers as well as improving machinery. Functional upgrading 
refers to movement to higher value-added components of a value chain for a particular product. This 
is like vertical integration, in that the firm undertakes sourcing of inputs, logistics, transport and 
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design. Additional worker skills rather than improvements in skills for current tasks are required as 
well as more modern capital goods appropriate to the expanded tasks. Chain upgrading is a 
movement to new markets for new products: in effect, the firm breaks out of its industry and into 
more technologically advanced production. (Barrientos, Gereffi & Rossi, 2011)  
 
Upgrading has become a baseline requirement for competitiveness as buyers across industries and 
products impose on suppliers stricter standards of quality, delivery and labour practices. However, 
upgrading even of the most modest type puts demands on firms for higher levels of sophistication of 
both workers and machines. The key question then is whether firms in developing and transition 
countries have the resources and capacity to meet these demands. Theories of competitiveness 
address this issue and specify in more detail the nature of upgrading required in different market 
environments.  
 
A salient result of globalization of production is homogenization of factories, with “more advanced 
production technologies, including sophisticated automation, being applied even in low value-added 
manufacturing”. (Gordon and Kimball, 1998, p. 34) This development brings to the fore theories of 
competitiveness that focus on local competencies as the main source of competitive advantage. 
Firms now must be able to distinguish themselves from increasingly similar rival firms anywhere in 
the world by exploitation of distinct local competencies, particularly those embodied in the labour 
force. (Cammet, 2006; Puga & Trifter, 2005; Saliola & Zanfei, 2009) 
 
Flexible specialization theory highlights volatile markets as the driving force requiring firms to 
become flexible through innovations to upgrade skills and technology. (Piore and Sabel, 1984) New 
machinery easily ‘chopped and changed’ to accommodate new designs or materials is essential. With 
reference to the organization of work, flexibility of response demands workers with multiple skills 
and a large degree of operational autonomy. For firms to implement production processes of this 
type, workers must be seen as capable of operating the new machines and of acting independently 
when necessary. A range of shop-floor practices contribute to flexibility, including just-in-time (JIT) 
inventory management, team-based or modular manufacturing, multi-skilling of workers, 
technological upgrading and improvement in quality control. (Gereffi, 1999; Morris & Barnes, 2008)  
 
Complementing flexible-specialization and local-competency prescriptions for competitiveness, 
evolutionary theory emphasizes that large-scale innovation, while important, is not determinate of 
competitive success. (Nelson and Winter, 2002; Nelson, 2007) Moreover, innovation does not 
necessarily or even predominantly proceed through radical upheavals in technology. More gradual 
and piecemeal processes of adoption and adaptation of new technologies may be closer to the norm 
for most industries, and certainly are more typical of innovation in labour-intensive sectors 
(International Labour Organization, 2000; Pietrobella & Abellotti, 2008; Puga & Trifter, 2005). This 
perspective focuses more heavily on the role of workers in the upgrading process: innovation 
through adaptation of existing processes derives from the use of tacit knowledge of workers directly 
involved in production.  
 
Theories of local-competency, flexible-specialization and evolutionary analyses of competitiveness all 
conclude, with different emphases on capital or labour, that upgrading of both machinery and work 
force are prerequisites for competitiveness. Without such improvements, movement to higher value-
added products or markets is not possible.  
 
A second perspective on upgrading looks at the environment in which the firm is embedded rather 
than solely at intra-firm structures of production. Here two competing theories of upgrading focus on 
different links between the firm and its external conditions. The first, part of the larger body of 
theory of industrial districts or clusters, views the process of upgrading as dependent upon 
cooperative competition within the industrial district. Horizontal networks among firms in a cluster 
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or district are emphasized as the mechanism through which knowledge of new processes and 
products is disseminated. The local and national institutions that in turn support development of 
districts are a critical part of the upgrading story. (Bair & Peters, 2006; Lane & Probert, 2009; Tewari, 
2008) An example of this approach as applied to the clothing industry comes from a comparative 
study of upgrading in the industry in Guatemala and in Colombia, which pursued substantially 
different paths to upgrading. Guatemala upgraded through specialized training and education, the 
flexible specialization approach, while Colombia developed a capacity for design, at the same time 
retaining the traditional assembly line for production. The differences in the two approaches, in turn, 
is attributed to the different local and national institutions. In Guatemala, for example, upgrading 
was part of a national strategy for social and economic development, but in Colombia the industry 
devised its own. Further, the Guatemalan industry was largely foreign-owned and part of the 
industry strategy was to disseminate knowledge of high-performance techniques to lower-
productivity Guatemalan-owned firms. Colombian firms had no such transmission mechanism for 
international benchmarking and instead focused more narrowly on one form of upgrading, design. 
(Pipkin, 2011) 
 
The competing approach, a global value chain analysis, focuses instead on the specific vertical 
position in the global value chain occupied by an individual firm rather than on the horizontal 
network of firms. It is the external links and the relation of the firm to these links that determines the 
possibilities for upgrading. The power relations along the chain are the decisive factor, not local or 
national institutions. Thus, the extent to which export-oriented clusters in industrializing countries 
can achieve industrial upgrading and positive developmental outcomes will depend on the way in 
which firms in these clusters become incorporated into global chains, which has the power in 
particular chains and how that power is exercised. (Bair a&nd Gereffi, 2001) 
 
Neither the theories of competitiveness nor those exploring value chain relations can be seen as 
supporting much optimism about upgrading. Demands of upgrading are increasing as buyers set ever 
higher bars for performance in terms of quality, flexibility, provision of ancillary services and labour 
standards. The institutional or district view of the upgrading process is somewhat more positive 
about possibilities for upgrading in that the institutional context is to a greater degree under the 
control of the country in question. The global value chain analysis, on the other hand, sees the 
external and dominant links, primarily the retailers, as the decisive factor. Despite the gloomy 
prognosis in theory, the case study evidence is mixed. The next section provides some examples of 
success stories, but also move beyond individual cases to examine country-level data to assess the 
extent to which successes have been generalized. 
 
 
Evidence on Upgrading of Manufacturing Exports 
 
Case study evidence finds that the demands of buyers for flexibility, quality, quick delivery and 
expansion of capabilities have been met with upgrading in a variety of firms and countries and 
through a range of methods. Post-war Japan and the Asian Tiger countries are of course the early 
model for upgrading, but more recent exporters have also moved up value chains. Examples from 
Latin America include Guatemala, Colombia and Honduras, whose clothing industries have achieved 
substantial process and functional upgrading. (Bair & Peters, 2006; Pipkin, 2011) Mexico after NAFTA 
also has experienced process, product and functional upgrading in several industries previously 
limited to assembly methods of production and low value-added products including auto parts, 
television and electronics. (Bair & Gereffi, 2001, Sargent & Matthews, 2008)The Dominican Republic, 
like Mexico, has moved significantly into higher value-added products in its exports. (Bair and Peters, 
2006) Morocco and Tunisia too have upgraded, mainly through cluster initiatives (Cammett, 2007), 
while in Asia, China is the main case of upgrading throughout the four stages outlined above, but 
some process and product upgrading is appearing in Vietnam as well. (Tewari, 2005) 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

57 
 

 
Nonetheless, upgrading supporters and skeptics alike note that upgrading in response to buyer 
demands has been concentrated in the small set of firms capable of improving, by virtue of 
advantages of size, foreign ownership, proximity to a main market or trade preference. To move 
beyond the limited case study evidence and provide an overview, we construct below a measure of 
upgrading of manufacturing exports at the national level for a sample of countries that are 
competitors of Croatia and Macedonia.  
 
Definitions of upgrading abound and there is no consensus in the literature on the best method. 
(Morrison, Pietrobelli & Rabellotti, 2008)To measure upgrading for manufacturing exports as a whole 
we use here a simple definition, following Milberg and Winkler (2011): upgrading occurs for a 
country if the ratio of its share of world value-added in manufactures to its share in world 
manufactured exports rises. The key assumption of course is that value-added is itself a good 
measure of upgrading. Clearly, this measure cannot avoid some ambiguity because value-added can 
also rise due to changes in exchange rates or other trade-related factors not related to the actual 
composition of exports. However, it does allow cross-country and multi-sector measurement to 
evaluate the extent of upgrading achieved by the sample countries. 
 
Using this definition, figures 1 – 3 show changes in the upgrading index since 1995 for three sets of 
countries relevant to export competitiveness of Croatia and Macedonia. Figure 1 shows three groups 
of competitors located near Western European markets.1 These countries are likely to compete by 
virtue of their location on quality, flexibility and ability to provide the full range of services now 
favored by retailers. From the figure, we can see that all three groups achieved some upgrading 
between 1995 and 2000 but that since then, only the West European group saw sustained increases 
and those only until the global economic recession in 2008. The Mediterranean group showed an 
uptick from 2009 to 2010, but we would need more recent data to determine if this was sustained. 
Concerning the level of upgrading, East European countries clearly are behind and their flat 
trajectory since 2000 means that the gap is growing. 
 

 
 

                                                             
1The West European group contains the more peripheral and poorer countries of Italy, Spain and Portugal (due to lack of 
data, Greece is not included). Eastern Europe includes Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland and Slovakia. 
The Mediterranean group includes Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, Tunisia, Turkey and the United Arab Emirates. Asia without 
China and India includes Bangladesh, Cambodia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Pakistan, Thailand and Vietnam.  
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The group of cost competitor countries in figure 2 shows the dominance and success of China. 
Although its index fell between 1995 and 2005 (largely due to trade agreement effects that favored 
Latin American countries vis a vis the US market), it has experienced consistent gains since then (also 
partly due to the trade effects of the phasing out of clothing import quotas). This success appears 
from the figure to have come at the expense of both India and the rest of the Asian countries 
included in the group. In terms of the level of the index, China surpassed India beginning in 2008 and 
the two have been very close in the value of the index since then. 
 
The effects of global economic events beginning is 2008 is also clear, though, as all upgrading indexes 
have fallen since 2008. Without more recent data, it is not possible to determine whether economic 
recovery will put China back on the pre - 2008 upgrading trajectory, but case studies do describe 
major innovative changes in the Chinese industry designed to promote vertical integration and 
efficiency.  
 

 
 
Figure 3 presents the upgrading index for three countries of the former Yugoslavia and for lower and 
middle income countries as a comparison group (note that data are only available for these countries 
from 2005 onward). Croatia is the only one of the three countries included to have experienced more 
than one year of a rising index and all three declined after 2008. The effect of the global recession is 
evident also in the comparison group of low and middle income countries, but these have performed 
better in upgrading in the years between 2005 and 2008.  
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Overall, Macedonia, Slovenia and Croatia have not upgraded as successfully as the other groups of 
countries. However, this is not to say that other countries in the data set have upgraded 
substantially. Rather, the main conclusion is that upgrading of manufacturing exports as a whole has 
not been achieved on a broad scale among developing countries in Asia or the transition areas of 
Eastern Europe. These results put into a less positive perspective the case study evidence of 
upgrading and suggest that while pockets of upgrading do exist, they are neither deep nor 
widespread. 
 
 
Upgrading in the Global Clothing Market  
 
Evidence from the previous section shows that general upgrading of manufactured exports has not 
occurred in the sample countries. This suggests that there has not been an extensive movement out 
of traditional products into higher value-added sectors but rather countries seem to have gotten 
stuck in the lower value-added sectors. The question then arises of whether there has been 
movement up value chains within these lower value-added sectors. Even if general upgrading across 
sectors has not been achieved, perhaps there are signs of upgrading within sectors, which may 
indicate that movement up the value chain is indeed occurring but is only visible if we look more 
narrowly at sectors less demanding of skill and modern equipment, such as clothing. 
 
 
Overview of the clothing industry 
 
Expansion of world trade has altered profoundly the context within which developing countries must 
assess the growth potential of traditional sectors like clothing. The industry has experienced rapid 
expansion and also shifts in the location of clothing production, marked mainly by a movement from 
more to less developed countries but with significant movement as well between less developed 
countries. Exports of clothing more than doubled in the period 1999-2010, from $186 to $351 billion. 
Asia’s share in world clothing exports rose from 46.1 percent in 2000 to 57.0 percent in 2010, with 
China’s share rising from 18.3 to 36.9 percent. Europe’s share was essentially constant in the same 
period, rising from 32.7 to 32.8 percent, largely due to expansion of exports from peripheral 
countries including the Commonwealth of Independent States. (World Trade Organization, 
Merchandise Trade by Product,Tables II.1 and II.67) 
 
This fluidity of sourcing patterns reflects three broad industry trends over the past 25 years. First, the 
industry is dominated by a highly concentrated retail sector. Morris and Barnes (2008) found that the 
retail sector had the greatest share of value-added at 57%, while clothing manufacturing captured 
only 23%. Second, retailers increasingly must balance cost against quality, proximity and reliability in 
delivery of garments from the manufacturers. Third, as trade agreements die out or are born, profit 
levels across locations can switch rapidly. For example, quota allotment frequently has been the 
biggest expense in imported clothing. (Zhang & Hathcote, 2008) 
 
These changes have transformed fundamentally the nature of competitiveness, which no longer rests 
uniquely on the assembly model of production based on low skill workers producing long runs of 
standardized products. This model is effective when clothing markets are relatively stable, but the 
industry has experienced accelerating volatility of demand. Several studies have concluded that 
retailers now put a premium on response time, flexibility and quality rather than cost alone. 
(Abernathy, Volpe & Weil, 2005; Kaplinsky, 2007; Pietrobella & Abellotti, 2008; Tewari, 2008) Even 
China currently is turning its focus to quality and flexibility rather than low-cost quantity as its main 
competitive strategy. (Shen, 2008) In addition, market volatility means increased uncertainty for 
retailers, who have responded by shifting ever more of the risk onto supplying manufacturers, 
requiring them to provide a range of ancillary services and functions beyond mere assembly, starting 
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with sourcing inputs and ending with technology to communicate information on inventory and 
shipments. (Bair & Peters, 2006; Cammett, 2006; Gereffi, 1999; Gibbon, 2008) The difficulty for 
manufacturers of providing such services in turn has led to the growth of intermediaries in the 
industry, who provide the necessary design and sourcing, particularly to the fashion market where 
time and quality are the dominant concerns. (Ha-Brookshire & Dyer, 2008) 
 
As a result of the shifts in the industry, retailers demand that suppliers compete not only on the basis 
of price, but also on their ability to meet rapid-replenishment requirements that reduce the amount 
of time between the receipt of a retailer’s order and the delivery of goods to the retail distribution 
center. Not only the median, but the variance of delivery time is now more essential for buyers, who 
in turn add such requirements to contracts with suppliers. Retailers also require that suppliers 
provide associated ancillary services to help move shipments more rapidly through retail distribution 
centers and to individual stores for stocking. In order for suppliers to provide shelf-ready items, they 
must adopt and apply technology for using bar codes, electronic data interchange and meeting 
standards of packaging consistent with automated distribution centers. (Abernathy, Dunlop, 
Hammond & Weil, 2000; Smith & Weil, 2005) 
 
In this new competitive environment, the core and inter-related factors involved in moving up the 
value chain are location, production process and product. Lean retailing and weekly replenishment of 
basic items have shifted demand risk onto the manufacturer of basic apparel. (Abernathy and Volpe, 
2008) This is thought to give basic garments like t-shirts, undergarments and jeans a locational 
advantage near to the main markets in the US and the EU. Fashion garments, on the other hand, are 
less likely to be re-ordered and so are not subject to weekly replenishment pressures. Nonetheless, 
so-called ‘fast fashion’ items are subject to highly variable and short-lived demand, thus also giving a 
locational advantage to countries on the periphery of the major markets. In addition, fashion items 
may incorporate more requirements for skill and flexibility in the production process to adapt to 
changes in style and fabric which implies that this location proximity, through lower transport costs 
and more skilled workers, should have a competitive advantage. The empirical outcome for 
locational advantage of these two forces working in opposite directions, namely lack of repeat 
shipments versus skill and flexibility requirements, is an open question. The demand for garments 
requiring unambiguously higher skills, such as men and women’s constructed suits and coats, is more 
clearly satisfied better in locations with higher skill bases of labour and ability to operate more 
modern equipment. (Abernathy, Volpe & Weil, 2005) 
 
Cost is of course overlaid on and related to the requirements for short deliveries, flexibility in 
production and computerization of ordering, processing and packaging. Here the industry certainly 
has a base line of cost per item that generally has declined with the rising concentration and hence 
market power of retailers. The buyer-driven value chain described byGibbon (2001) captures 
precisely the increasingly lopsided relationship between the buyer and the manufacturer supplier in 
which the manufacturers are forced to accept ever lower margins. However, the volatility of demand 
has expanded the concept of cost such that traditional unit cost of a garment is no longer able to 
incorporate the range of costs associated with the new and intensifying risks in the industry. 
Increasingly, because of the ‘perishability’ of styles, costs are incurred due to delayed orders or 
overstocks that must be sold a discounts at the end of the season. (Abernathy, Volpe and Weil, 2005; 
Kenney, 2003) 
 
 
Evidence on Upgrading in Clothing 
 
Measurement of upgrading in clothing can be based on either the process or the product. Upgrading 
viewed from the perspective of the processes used for design, production and distribution typically 
proceed through stages of increasing diversity and sophistication of methods and tasks. The first and 
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simplest stage is assembly, in which the manufacturer cuts and sews together fabric purchased by 
the buyer and according to designs of the buyer. This stage, know also as CMT (cut, make and trim) is 
the most footloose stage, requiring until recently only minimal investment in capital and training of 
labour. The second stage, original equipment manufacturing (OEM) is a considerable jump up in 
complexity and investment. Also known as ‘full package’ production, this is a stage in which the 
supplier provides all the services, from ordering fabric to packaging and managing logistics, up to the 
stage of distribution. Further stages along the value chain are original design manufacturing (ODM) in 
which the manufacturer develops design capabilities and original brand manufacturing (OBM), in 
which the supplier firm creates it own brands and takes of distribution, marketing and sales activities. 
(Bair & Gereffi, 2003)  
 
Evidence on process upgrading is sparse and based mainly on case studies which are not necessarily 
comparable across countries. Gereffi and Frederick (2010) classify only Turkey, India and China 
outside of EU countries as ODM, which they use synonymously with full package production. Some 
countries in Latin America have also been noted to have larger than average shares of full package 
production, including Mexico, Guatemala, Honduras and the Dominican Republic. China is currently 
moving rapidly to and through full packaging despite its distance from major markets. It is 
establishing vertically integrated firms and also districts with clusters of firms producing all inputs 
into clothing production, including design. (Shen, 2008) As noted above, however, pockets of 
upgrading do not necessarily imply sufficiently widespread upgrading to affect the value-added of 
clothing exports at the national level.  
 
In any case, the data are not available to do a systematic cross-country analysis of determinants of 
process upgrading, so with one exception we will focus here on product upgrading, meaning 
upgrading to higher value-added products. The highest value-added categories are highly 
constructed garments like men’s and women’s suits and coats . These are less time sensitive and 
more demanding of skill and flexibility in the production process. Women’s dresses represent the 
fashion category, the intermediate category of value-added. These are more design and time 
sensitive and commonly require less skill and/or hand work than highly constructed garments. A sub-
set of fashion, called ‘fast fashion’ (Rossi, 2013), has demands for quick delivery similar to those of 
the replenishment garments, discussed next, but not all fashion is ‘fast’, so the average demands on 
turn-around time are intermediate between the first and third categories of garment. The third 
value-added category is t-shirts, which are the lowest value-added item. 
 
A final category allows an approximation, albeit a loose one, to process upgrading. This includes 
replenishment items, which as noted above are typically low value-added but always, by definition, 
in need of frequent replenishment of retailer stock, sometimes weekly restocking. Following the 
classification of Smith and Weil (2005), garments in this category are basic clothing items like t-shirts 
and underwear. This category will serve as the best proxy available in cross-country data for the 
ability of a country’s clothing industry to adapt quickly to changes in demand and thus as a proxy for 
process upgrading. 
 
The tables 1 – 3 give the share of the three value-added categories in total clothing exports for the 
same groups of countries as in the figures above: locational competitors, cost competitors and the 
group of Croatia, Macedonia and Slovenia. In addition, an upgrading index is constructed, calculated 
on the basis of the shares of each of the value-added categories in the top ten garment exports of 
each country. This index will be higher with a greater share of high value-added garments among the 
top ten exports.  
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Table 1. Clothing Export Shares by Value-Added for Locational Competitors 
 

  1995 2000 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 

Men's and Women's Suits and Coats 
   

 
  Western Europe 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.09 0.08 0.09 0.06 0.06 

Eastern Europe 0.10 0.11 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.08 0.09 0.06 
Medit/Middle East 0.03 0.01 0.05 0.02 0.04 0.03 0.02 0.01 

 
     

 
  Women's Dresses 

     
 

  Western Europe 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.06 0.08 0.06 0.10 0.10 
Eastern Europe 0.05 0.05 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.07 
Medit/Middle East 0.13 0.02 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.04 

 
     

 
  T-shirts 

     
 

  Western Europe 0.16 0.20 0.28 0.30 0.29 0.29 0.33 0.33 
Eastern Europe 0.06 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.14 0.12 0.16 
Medit/Middle East 0.21 0.29 0.29 0.27 0.37 0.43 0.39 0.32 

         Upgrading Index 
        Western Europe 2.65 2.64 2.64 2.63 2.60 2.62 2.65 2.65 

Eastern Europe 2.55 2.60 2.67 2.66 2.67 2.71 2.64 2.73 
Medit/Middle East 2.79 2.92 2.74 2.86 2.81 2.82 2.86 2.86 
  

        Notes:  
1. Men's suits and coats include SITC categories 84111, 84112, 84121 and 84122. Women's suits and coats include SITC 

categories 84211, 84221 and 84421. Dresses include SITC category 8424. T-shirts include SITC category 8454. 
       

2. The index is calculated by assigning a value of 1 - 5 (5 is the highest value-added) to each of a country's top 10 exports, 
then taking an average value-added weighted by its share in the top ten. A higher index indicates a higher average 
value-added. 

Source: COMTRADE Manufacturing Trade Data, United Nations.     
 
No general trend toward upgrading in value-added appears in table 1. Indeed, the shares of the 
highest value-added garments have fallen for all three groups of countries, while shares of t-shirts 
have risen. For the Western European group, there does seem to be some locational advantage at 
play in that they were able to increase their shares of the fashion item, women’s dresses (while this 
share declined in Eastern Europe since 1995, there was an uptick in 2010). The upgrading index, the 
more general measure of upgrading based on the top ten exports, also shows little change over time. 
Thus, even for countries located in proximity to the Western European markets have not been able 
to achieve widespread upgrading as measured by value-added. 
 
From table 5, which gives the results of regressions with time for each of the value-added categories, 
we see that the decline in the share of suits and coats was statistically significant for Western and 
Eastern Europe and the increase in t-shirts significant for all country groups. Otherwise, no patterns 
emerge but two interesting results are that 
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Table 2. Clothing Export Shares by Value-Added for Cost Competitors 
 

  1995 2000 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 
Men's and Women's Suits and Coats 

       Asia (w/o China or India) 0.04 0.05 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 
China 0.05 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.04 0.04 

India 0.02 0.05 0.04 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.02 0.02 

         Women's Dresses 
        Asia (w/o China or India) 0.09 0.04 0.02 0.04 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.04 

China 0.04 0.04 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.04 0.06 0.06 

India 0.39 0.27 0.11 0.12 0.14 0.16 0.17 0.20 

         T-shirts 
        Asia (w/o China or India) 0.25 0.23 0.29 0.29 0.31 0.27 0.29 0.29 

China 0.18 0.18 0.21 0.22 0.21 0.18 0.15 0.16 

India 0.12 0.25 0.36 0.39 0.39 0.35 0.37 0.36 

         Upgrading Index 
        Asia (w/o China or India) 2.77 2.77 2.83 2.83 2.87 2.90 2.90 2.89 

China 2.76 2.75 2.80 2.81 2.80 2.79 2.77 2.78 

India 2.48 2.59 2.71 2.69 2.68 2.62 2.67 2.64 

  
        Notes: As in Figure 1.  

Source: COMTRADE Manufacturing Trade Data, United Nations.      
 
Eastern Europe upgraded significantly when measured by the upgrading index and Western Europe 
downgraded in replenishment garments. The latter result says that the poorer countries of Western 
Europe included in this group did not move to take advantage of location by increasing 
replenishment share. If they were upgrading overall this might mean only that they chose to upgrade 
in value-added rather than to use locational advantage to switch to a category with a likely lower 
value-added, but the results in table 5 to not support that explanation. Thus, the result does not 
bode well for the ability of these countries to produce with quick delivery times if replenishment can 
be used as a proxy for this kind of flexibility. 
 
Table 2 also shows little upgrading since 1995 in the cost competitor countries. Indeed, some 
downgrading is more evident. Note that in all countries the share of men’s’ and women’s suits and 
coats has fallen and in the Asian group and India the share of t-shirts has risen. This indicates a shift 
toward lower value added production. In women’s dresses, China alone has experienced a slight 
increase. 
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Table 3. Clothing Export Shares by Value-Added in Croatia, Slovenia and Macedonia 
 

  1995 2000 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 
Men's and Women's Suits and Coats 

      Croatia 0.11 0.12 0.15 0.14 0.13 0.13 0.12 0.10 

Slovenia 0.14 0.20 0.22 0.20 0.20 0.19 0.14 0.13 

Macedonia 0.15 0.18 0.13 0.05 0.04 0.04 0.03 0.03 

         Women's Dresses 
        Croatia 0.04 0.03 0.01 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.01 0.01 

Slovenia 0.04 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 

Macedonia 0.07 0.06 0.03 0.04 0.07 0.75 0.10 0.11 

         T-shirts 
        Croatia 0.06 0.11 0.14 0.16 0.15 0.11 0.10 0.09 

Slovenia 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.07 0.08 0.08 0.15 0.14 

Macedonia 0.10 0.13 0.19 0.17 0.18 0.17 0.16 0.17 

         Upgrading Index 
        Croatia 2.55 2.62 2.61 2.65 2.69 2.67 2.72 2.74 

Slovenia 2.31 2.33 2.35 2.40 2.38 2.40 2.53 2.63 

Macedonia 2.45 2.49 2.61 2.66 2.65 2.68 2.73 2.69 

                  
Notes: As in Figure 1. 
Source: COMTRADE Manufacturing Trade Data, United Nations. 
 
Table 4. Clothing Export Shares of Replenishment Garments 
 
  1995 2000 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 
Locational Competitors 

       Western Europe 0.65 0.60 0.52 0.49 0.47 0.49 0.45 0.45 
Eastern Europe 0.69 0.64 0.69 0.68 0.68 0.69 0.68 0.67 
Medit/Middle East 0.62 0.66 0.55 0.63 0.50 0.45 0.59 0.59 

         Cost Competitors 
        Western Europe 0.65 0.60 0.52 0.49 0.47 0.49 0.45 0.45 

Eastern Europe 0.69 0.64 0.69 0.68 0.68 0.69 0.68 0.67 
Medit/Middle East 0.62 0.66 0.55 0.63 0.50 0.45 0.59 0.59 

         Former Yugoslav Competitors 
       Croatia 0.70 0.69 0.66 0.66 0.69 0.71 0.75 0.77 

Slovenia 0.60 0.61 0.61 0.61 0.58 0.59 0.59 0.65 

Macedonia 0.60 0.58 0.59 0.64 0.61 0.63 0.66 0.62 

                  
Source: COMTRADE Manufacturing Trade Data, United Nations. 
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From table 5, there is little consistency in the statistically significant results for the cost competitors, 
except for the significant decline in the Asian countries (without China and India) and China in the 
highest value-added category of suits and coats. However, the change in the upgrading index is 
significant and positive for the Asian countries, implying that there is some movement toward higher 
value-added exports. This is likely the result of changes in the Vietnamese and Cambodian clothing 
industries, for Bangladesh and others in the group have not performed well in this index. 
 
For Croatia, Slovenia and Macedonia tables 3 and 5 show consistent group upgrading of clothing 
exports when measured by the index, although results for individual garment types do not. 
Individually, from tables 4 and 5, Croatia has upgraded significantly in replenishment goods, again 
suggesting improved ability to satisfy quick delivery times. The results for coats and suits is not 
favorable, however, since exports in this category are the main garments using textiles of Croatian 
origin (Croatian Chamber of Economy, May 13, 2013), hence decline in this category undercuts the 
textile industry with associated costs for garment manufacturers. Slovenia has upgraded in two very 
different clothing categories, both the low value-added t-shirts and the higher value-added and 
flexibility-demanding category of women’s dresses. The Slovenian industry appears therefore to be 
more diversified and able to expand exports across a range of levels of value-added.  
 
Overall, it is difficult to find much upgrading whether measured by individual value-added categories 
of garments, by the upgrading index also based on value-added of garment categories or by the 
replenishment data, which are agued to serve as a proxy for process upgrading to more flexible and 
comprehensive methods of production and preparation. Moreover, there is little evidence of a broad 
and consistent shift among categories based on location or type of garment. The one exception is 
that there certainly seems to have been a loss of the highest value-added category across the board. 
This result lends some support to the notion that the most developed countries are skimming off the 
top of the clothing value chain, since if all the countries in the sample are losing this category 
(although not all to a statistically significant degree), the remaining large exporters in the US and 
richer Western European countries must be taking up the slack. 2 
 
Table 5. Significance of Upgrading or Downgrading 
 

Country/Group Regression coefficients (t-statistics) 

Locational Competitors Western Europe Eastern Europe Medit/Middle East 
 Suits and coats -147.79 (5.40)* -135.23 (3.02)* -46.81 (0.62) 
 Dresses 98.17 (5.59)* 69.36 (0.78) -38.35 (1.39) 
 T-shirts 35.30 (4.74)* 56.75 (2.36)* 25.22 (2.67)* 
 Upgrading index -23.24 (0.38) 34.65 (3.37)* 9.26 (0.53) 
 Replenishment -30.06 (5.16)* 4.49 (0.07) -14.77 (1.13) 

    Cost Competitors Asia China India 
 Suits and coats -145.33 (2.96)* -265.71 (3.86)* -118.81 (1.33) 
 Dresses -53.77 (1.58) 156.24 (2.67)* -13.18 (1.46) 
 T-shirts 60.78 (1.94) -43.40 (1.16) 18.60 (2.46)* 
 Upgrading index 44.18 (6.68)* 36.56 (0.82) 16.84 (1.43) 
 Replenishment 24.59 (1.72) 32.08 (1.49) 23.56 (1.15) 

    
                                                             
2World exports of suits and coats have been growing consistently (and during the 2002 – 2007 period at high rates relative 
to other garment types), so a decline in overall exports in these categories cannot explain the decline in the sample 
countries. 
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Former Yugoslav 
Competitors Croatia Slovenia Macedonia 
 Suits and coats -46.16 (0.79) -25.74 (0.96) -35.64 (4.46)* 
 Dresses -139.72 (1.70)  139.43 (3.58)* 3.28 (0.83) 
 T-shirts 4.95 (0.16) 56.48 (5.99)* 47.78 (1.88) 
 Upgrading index 38.73 (9.73)* 20.09 (4.88)* 22.42 (5.35)* 
 Replenishment 44.82 (2.75)* 32.21 (0.68) 65.10 (2.16) 
        

Note: Asterisk indicates significance to the .05 level or greater. 
Source: Author's calculations.  
 
 
Lessons for the Croatian and Macedonian Clothing Industry 
 
From the above cross-country results, we are left with no determinate competitive strategy that can 
serve as a model for the upgrading of the industry in these countries. We do know that upgrading is 
not easy, since we find so little of it in competitor country groups. Case-study evidence of individual 
firms and countries also provides little specific guidance, since the context and conditions vary so 
widely. In this section, we move to consideration of the opinions of the firms themselves as the best 
way to identify specific issues in the Croatian and Macedonian. Putting these findings in the context 
of the cross-country groups can however provide a ‘reality check’ on the possibilities for upgrading 
that the firms themselves see as feasible. 
 
The data in this section come from firm-level interviews with ten firms in each country and are the 
preliminary interviews for a larger study to be conducted starting in September, 2013.3The firms in 
Macedonia are the most advanced exporting clothing firms in the industry; those in the Croatia 
sample are more varied, although all are exporting a majority of their output. With such a small 
sample size, what follows can only be suggestive. However, in both countries, the main strategy for 
competitiveness in the interview firms is based on upgrading to full package production and higher 
value-added products, almost exclusively in the ‘fast fashion’ or replenishment categories. 
 
Within the upgrading framework described above, from table 6 we see that own design (ODM) and 
own brand (OBM), the highest stages of upgrading, accounted for at least half of the output in a large 
proportion of firms. This is a very ambitious undertaking, given the additional costs of ODM and 
OBM. ODM requires training and equipment specialized for design, both of which are both expensive 
in up-front costs and vulnerable to loss of key workers and technicians. The OBM strategy adds to 
ODM the costs of marketing the branded exports.  
 
Looking first at Macedonia, there is a disconnect between the ODM and OBM strategies and the 
technologies and capacities of the firms. Only 20 percent of the firms employed cadcam techniques, 
which are critical for achieving minimum costs when upgrading to ODM and only 20 percent 
practiced JIT (just in time) inventory control, which also is necessary for reducing costs when engaged 
in production of fast fashion and replenishment garments. The extent of the commitment of the 
Macedonian firms to these higher stages of upgrading is clear from the relatively low share of OEM 
(full-package) production. The OEM firm typically is linked into the global clothing value chain 
through relationships with large retailers like the Gap (US) H&M (Sweden) and Zara (Spain)As noted 

                                                             
3Additional interviews were conducted in Macedonia with European buyers of Macedonian garments, with providers of 
ancillary services like labeling and preparation for shipping/exporting and with the Macedonian Textile and Trade 
Association. Additional interviews were conducted in Croatia with the Croatian Chamber of Economy and the Chamber’s 
textile and garment research group.  
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above, even this stage of upgrading requires computerization of processes involved in quick response 
to short-term and small orders and ability to provide shelf-ready garments.  
 
The advantage of the Macedonian industry from the table appears to lie in a flexible work force, 
given that 70 percent of firms had multiskilled workers (defined as workers able to perform three or 
more tasks). This would give the industry an advantage in OEM, particularly given that the low 
presence of cadcam suggests that receiving designs from retailers could be cost-reducing. The 
performance of the two foreign-owned firms in the sample supports this notion. Both of these firms 
have very sophisticated production machinery and computerization of processes for ordering, 
inventory control and delivery, but no design capacity. Their competitive advantage lies in their 
ability to absorb very efficiently the high technology in production and provide both low cost and 
high reliability as full package producers.  
 
The firms with own design and with own brands were not able to fully use the new design capacity or 
to market brands successfully. As is usual in the upgrading trajectory in clothing, these firms started 
own brands by selling in the domestic market. However, Macedonia is too small to use the domestic 
market as a springboard to lowering costs through higher production, and three of the five 
companies with own brands had been forced to cut back the presence of their own shops selling 
their brands. The own design firms were more creative in that they were attempting to jump to the 
ODM stage by providing designs to established European retailers. While the designers were 
European trained and very sophisticated, the buyers from European retailers who were interviewed 
were concerned about the risk of unfulfilled orders given the small size of the Macedonian firms and 
their high costs deriving from less than full capacity utilization of expensive equipment. 
 
The main advantage of the industry as a whole is its ability to develop an embryonic cluster or district 
network. Firms have sprung up that provide the services needed for full package, like shipping and 
preparing shelf-ready garments, consolidating small orders from several manufacturersto reduce 
average cost. Delivery firms specializing in expediting trans-border shipments add to the streamlining 
of the industry as a whole, despite the underutilization of capacity in individual firms. 
 
Table 6. Characteristics of Sample Firms (Percent of firms) 
 
  Macedonia Croatia 

Own design 90 50 
Own brand 50 50 
Cadcam 20 60 
Full package 40 60 
Multiskilled 70 50 
JIT inventory control 20 30 
Foreign owned 20 0 
      
Note: A firm is counted in a category if at least 50% of its  output is in the category. 
Source: Author's calculations from firm interviews 
 
The Croatian firms as a group show in table 6 a different pattern. While their levels of upgrading in 
terms of cadcam, full package capacity and inventory control are higher, they show less enthusiasm 
for own design and (not shown in the table), the shares of output dedicated to own brand and own 
design are lower than in Macedonia. This suggests a more conventional path to upgrading, through 
rather than jumping over the OEM stage. However, Croatia also is notable for its large firms 
producing replenishment goods with Croatian designs and brands, so the sample firms are actually 
rather bi-modal in this respect. Still, the firms with own designs and brands have more internally 
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coherent structures than those in Macedonia, since they are the firms with cadcam and multi-skilled 
workers. 
 
Overall, this small and preliminary sample of firms reveals an industry in both countries firmly 
established on a path of upgrading. The question is whether the conditions exist to sustain the 
trajectory. The competitor country clothing industries have not been able to do this on a large 
enough scale to be discernible in the country-level data, despite the presence in even poor countries 
like Morocco and Tunisia of successful high value-added exporters. The interviewed firms are well 
aware of the barriers, as table 7 indicates. The main problems identified in Macedonia were lack of 
full package orders, availability of high level employees (managers and technicians) and financing of 
new equipment. The full package constraint as described in interviews derived from the 
underutilization of capacity mentioned above. Macedonia firms saw more full package production as 
the best way to increase utilization and reduce average costs while in the early stages of transition to 
ODM and OBM. In effect, they saw full package (OEM) as a source of cross-subsidization for 
upgrading to higher stages. This is a weak peg on which to hang an upgrading strategy, given the 
reluctance of buyers to give orders to firms that may not have the capacity to deliver large enough 
orders, but note that in table 7 Macedonian firms don’t appear to have received this message: only 
40 percent of firms recognized a capacity constraint as an important issue. 
 
Table 7. Barriers to Competitiveness (Percent of firms identifying problem) 
 
  Macedonia Croatia 

Insufficient full package 70 50 
Availability of managers 50 70 
Availability of technicians 50 50 
Financing 50 60 
Interest rates 40 60 
Capacity constraint 40 40 
Skill levels of workers 30 40 
Quality 30 20 
Price 20 50 
Wages 20 60 
      
Source: Author's calculations from firm interviews 
 
Croatian firms ranked availability of managers, financing (and interest rates) and wages as the main 
issues, with price and availability of technicians the next most pressing problems. The staffing 
constraints are very typical of countries at Croatia’s level of income and development, because in 
such countries the clothing industry is not seen as an attractive form of employment and other 
possibilities exist. All similar countries that try to expand the clothing industry as a way to absorb the 
unemployed (and raise incomes to women) face the same unpopularity of clothing jobs. Simply put, 
it is seen as a dying industry in more developed countries.4 Once an industry is placed in this position, 
and the Croatian industry has indeed shrunk considerably.5 Compounding the problem, table 7 

                                                             
4For example, the South African government placed heavy emphasis on clothing production in rural areas to reduce the 
very high unemployment there, but found it difficult to attract a stable work force despite wages higher than other local 
opportunities.  
5The number of employees in the industry in the 1990s was 83,200, which by 2011 had dropped to 21,111. (Croatian 
Chamber of Economy) 
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indicates that even if clothing jobs are unpopular among workers, wages are seen by employers to be 
too high for competitiveness, translating into prices that 50 percent of firms see as non-competitive. 
 
 
Policy Implications 
 
Given the lack of upgrading in the cross-country data, it seems clear that the clothing industry in 
countries like Croatia and Macedonia will not find it easy to be a significant driver of exports to 
capture more value-added. However, this does not preclude a positive role of the industry in 
targeting employment for specific types of workers and specific regions. From this perspective, case 
study evidence can provide useful policy implications if Croatia plans to use EU funds to grow the 
industry and Macedonia continues to focus on it as an alternative to expanding agricultural exports. 
 
There are two dominant patterns of upgrading appearing in case studies, each associated with a 
different overall industrial structure. The first is a cluster or network structure. This structure can 
arise from government policy, like in Honduras, the Dominican Republic and Turkey, in which case 
the clustering is a conscious attempt to achieve economies of agglomeration. A second type of 
clustering arises from the industry itself, either from an industry association or from inter-firm ties 
developed over time and spontaneously. Colombia, Nicaragua and urban areas in South Africa are 
examples of a network forming on its own. (Bair & Peters, 2006; Kaplinsky & Morris,1999; Neidik & 
Gereffi, 2006; Pipkin, 2011) The most successful networks and clusters are those that integrate 
government and business, of which Guatemala and some types of garment manufacture in Mexico 
and Mauritius are examples. (Gibbon, 2003; Pipkin, 2011; Sargent & Matthews, 2004) These latter 
two countries, however, also provide examples of the second type of industry structure for 
upgrading, which is integration into a global value chain through a lead firm (a retailer). (Schrank, 
2004) This fosters upgrading at the level of the individual firm rather than a cluster of firms, while the 
incentive (and commonly for top retailers some of the funding) comes from the demands of the 
retailers for quality and flexibility. 
 
The main advantage of the clustering path to upgrading is the creation of backward and forward 
linkages from clothing manufacturers, while the lead firm model tends to link the firm primarily 
externally, albeit with linkages if possible to domestic textile producers. The main disadvantage is 
unfortunately the same: clusters operate best if domestic linkages are available and strong, which is 
not often the case in poor countries.  
 
In addition to the issue of linkages, the process of dissemination of both information about and 
application of modern processes differs between these two structures. In the network/cluster, there 
is more opportunity and emphasis on upgrading through capturing of tacit knowledge and 
incremental innovation, as described above in the discussion of theories of competitiveness. In the 
lead firm model, the manufacturer typically is required to apply specific techniques and processes by 
the retailer and these have little to do with the local competencies of the region or firm. 
 
Both models have been successful in some countries and some garments but there is little apparent 
consistency in results between the two since they depend on location, state of the local labour 
market, trade agreements, access to inputs and the idiosyncrasies of governments and lead firms. 
What does emerge as a possible pattern, however, is that the lead firm model accelerates upgrading 
faster but leaves less of the value-added from upgrading in the manufacturing firm or country. 
(Gibbon, 2003; Sargent & Matthews, 2008; Schrank, 2004; Watkins, 2002) 
 
From these preliminary interview results, the implications for Croatia and Macedonia derive primarily 
from their different industry structures. While both are upgrading toward full package and beyond, 
the relations between firms seem to be different, with Macedonia following more of a cluster/district 
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approach and Croatia more of a vertical linkage approach. In Macedonia, as described above, 
separate firms have developed to provide ancillary services like design, packaging and shipping, 
allowing for economies of scale even with small orders. Croatian firms interviewed were not at all as 
horizontally linked. Rather, they were independently providing the requirements for upgrading to 
OEM, ODM or OBM or were embedded in the lead firm model. This is in part due to the higher level 
of development at which the Croatian industry and economy as a whole entered the global market 
for clothing, because Croatian firms interviewed had longer histories of exporting and also higher 
levels of upgrading. Macedonia, on the other hand, despite its role as a producer of basic clothing in 
Yugoslavia, had fewer contacts with European retailers and little experience with anything but CMT 
production. Thus, its external linkages were weaker to begin with and it was easier to develop 
internal networks. 
 
Given the two different models, the key barriers to expansion of the industry’s higher value-added 
exports vary between the two countries. The central challenge in Croatia is to manage the lead firm 
model to take advantage of its location and its skilled work force despite the perceived disadvantage 
of its higher relative wages. The lesson of the Mexican and other industries following this model is 
that without upgrading sufficient to satisfy demand for very short delivery times, small orders and 
specialized products, lead firms will look elsewhere for suppliers. For its independent firms that have 
moved to OBM, the challenge also revolves around costs, both of labour and of marketing. Given the 
small size of the domestic market, to be successful Croatian brands must establish a foothold in EU 
markets.  
 
For Macedonia, the key obstacle is the small size of firms and the inability to scale up to satisfy 
orders from large retailers. Having achieved a high level of network integration, the industry must 
now move beyond a kind of Italian industrial district model of small, specialized firms to something 
more like the scale of production of the Croatian industry.  
 
Government policies therefore must be tailored toward slightly different goals in the two countries. 
Croatia needs support for increasing the efficiency of production in order to reduce unit labour costs 
and the flexibility of production techniques to compete with the most modern firms in other 
peripheral European countries. Its OBM firms need help with marketing, both Croatia as a desirable 
country of origin and the specific branded garments that can find a market niche in the EU. The 
Madeconian industry, which has perhaps jumped too many stages of upgrading, can benefit from 
policies to expand the scale of production in individual factories while at the same time promoting 
the development of firms that provide ancillary services. This would allow the manufacturing firms to 
focus on production and avoid overcapacity in design and other ancillary tasks while still allowing the 
industry as a whole to satisfy the demands of full package production. 
 
 
Conclusions 
 
These policy implications do not directly address the issue of whether the clothing industry even with 
the suggested interventions can be a source of higher value-added exports for Croatia and 
Macedonia. However, since both countries seem to have decided on this path, some concluding 
observations are in order. 
 
First, the industry in both countries exhibits significant strengths in innovativeness and in knowledge 
of international benchmarks for technology and management practices like cadcam and JIT. Second, 
compared to lower wage countries in the region like Bulgaria and Romania, Croatia and Macedonia 
are already producing higher value-added products. Third, EU accession of Croatia opens up new 
possibilities (as well as risks) for taking advantage of its location. 
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The trick is to determine precisely the goal of state support of the industry and recognize the trade-
offs. Upgrading reduces the employment coefficients of the industry, making it less labour intensive, 
and also puts greater emphasis on skill and reliability. This is in conflict with using the industry to 
reduce unemployment, perhaps by establishing factories in outlying areas with lower wages but also 
lower skills and worse infrastructure.  
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Extended Abstract  
 
The 21st Century creates a wide range of extraordinary economic opportunities for some of the most 
interested stakeholders. Emerging economies are in stiff competition for more discriminating Foreign 
Direct Investments (FDI). New waves and trends are being found in the world economy - digitization 
for instance - creating new possibilities for producing and distributing products and services in the 
most efficient way. Digitization, which lowers the cost and increases the speed of moving data and 
information, dramatically favors geographic dispersion (Barkema, Baum, & Mannix, 2002). Economic 
growth has been and will continue to be a major goal for Governments as they try to attract foreign 
investors and at the same time, to encourage domestic investments by presenting the 
competitiveness of their own economies, as measured by various competitive indicators. Investors, 
for their part, are seeking secure investments and political stability. This serves as the basis for the 
long-term investment projects. Hence internalization can be seen as a journey through a “rugged 
landscape” (cf. Gavetti & Levinthal, 2000; Levinthal, 1997) on which firms search identity and probe 
the sequence of foreign expansion opportunities in seeking ever-higher peaks of firm value (Barkema 
& Piaskowska, 2002). Currently the speed of changes and the on-going process for identifying better 
investment opportunities creates an absolutely new framework:  one needs to be competitive as well 
as innovative in order to gain a competitive position in future. Thus, countries trying to attract 
investors by presenting excellent opportunities at the moment could later lose momentum and their 
competitive advantages because of other players who provide better investment climates.  
 
All players are striving to achieve their own interests. On the one hand investors are trying to 
maximize their profits and on the other, local Governments are trying to achieve sustainable 
economic growth, create jobs, gain political benefits and make sure they are able to obtain better 
positions in the next election. Thus, for the investment promotion activities the conflict of interests is 
the initially built-in factor. Low labor productivity and advantages in investment host countries 
(emerging economies) push investors to seek special agreements with local governments (lower 
taxation, preferred special collective contracts, investment security guarantees, etc). Such relations 
can often fuel corruption schemes in investment host countries. Local governments, in their turn, are 
asking investors to generate more jobs; by doing so on the one hand, they underline the importance 
of the government’s economic policy and on the other, try to attract other investors as well. Usually 
local governments are trying to join the investment opportunities and connect it to the local political 
agenda, announce new investors before local or central elections, using the FDI as the universal tool 
for decreasing unemployment and eradicating poverty. Political stability plays the key role for gaining 
better positions in this battle for investors, where everybody fights against everybody. We consider 
that the low productivity and fragile political stability are usually connected with the newly formed 
democracies and emerging markets. After decades of enjoying political freedom, post Soviet 
countries become more and more concerned with social problems. Leftism in political views, with its 
economic clothes of strong government regulation of the economy becomes increasingly popular. 
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Even new generations without the experience of living under communist regime are demanding 
social security policies, which means they are arguing for higher tax rates. The best days for the neo-
liberal economic models and ideas are over, as the result of unsolved economic problems and in 
some cases tough relations with the investors.  
 
At the beginning of the 21st century libertarian approaches for minimizing the regulatory framework 
of the economy and thus increasing the FDI inflow was declared the major way for economic 
development. For the sake of clarity it is noteworthy that Georgia enjoyed relatively high rates of 
economic growth from 2004 to 2008; however, the figures were not transferred into the radical 
increase in the living standards for the vast majority of the population. Thus the problems of the low 
productivity, political stability and economic growth need immediate solutions.  
 
The conflict between local goals in the investment host countries and investor’s objectives creates a 
new framework, where investors are usually under pressure from local staff, mass media, and 
political parties. These threats create much more uncertainty and investors become increasingly 
cautious when finalizing their investment decisions.  
 
Consequently we could finalize the challenges in International Management which emerged in the 
21st Century: 

1. Conflict of interest between productivity and political stability, low productivity and low 
political stability usually walk hand-in-hand.  

2. Conflict of interest between investors’ long-term plans and local political agenda. 
3. Conflict of interests between lax government regulatory framework and increasing popular 

leftism in policy. 
4. Conflict of interest between investors’ plans to increase productivity and local government’s 

agenda for creating additional jobs. 
5. Conflict of interest between local governments’ intentions to attract FDI and local staff 

concerns over working conditions. 
6. Conflict of interest between an investors’ profile and local government’s plans to protect 

domestic markets. 
7. Conflict of interests between investor’s willingness to include local suppliers in the 

international value chains and the obstacles from other players to restrict the companies 
from some type of states.  

 
All these problems and challenges should be answered based on the practical experience and 
theoretical knowledge. It should be noted that the creation of one holistic approach, which could 
serve as the basis for all type of states, conflicts etc. means trying to find “golden fish”. Decisions in 
this direction should be based on different factors, such as type of economy, government’s political 
agenda, major socio-political ideas, traditions etc. Most probably all these issues are identified as 
cross cultural problems, but the majority of authors are trying to classify the problems instead of 
presenting at least basic approaches for handling them. Thus, International Management specialists 
are trying to find out solutions on the case to case basis, and for these reasons are grouping and re-
grouping states, cultures and beliefs. Usually these activities are ended by the creation of the text 
books for college students. After facing real problems, majority of international managers are trying 
to find out solutions based on their practical experience and suggestions of local ‘’friends”. Business 
practices present new scenarios, where learning based on the past practice is not enough for 
surviving in competitive environment.  Indeed, even doing extremely well what it has learned in the 
past, a firm might perform poorly, even fail, suffering from the so-called competency trap (Levitt & 
March, 1988).  
 
In spite of the fact that globalization creates new opportunities such opportunities need to be 
carefully tailored to meet local conditions.  International globalized companies should come up with 
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solutions on the practical level more appropriately. The learning model should be changed and 
somehow globalized companies should draw lessons to be used in future. How could it be organized? 
The key player in these new realities would be universities, on one hand they would include practical 
experience and “learning by doing” in their curricula, on the other hand universities jointly with the 
globalized companies will finance business innovation centers, where students could try in practice 
their innovative ideas. Following this two-fold approach globalized companies could seek for new 
innovative business ideas and learn local business realities on the ground. The advantage of this 
approach is clear: low investments, risks mitigated as fully as possible, opportunities to find out best 
local staff that do not follow traditional approaches and on the other are oriented towards achieving 
practical results.  
 
Innovation centers in one country could be created jointly by some globalized companies, on the 
other hand, local universities could also create partnerships in order to better utilize resources and 
ideas, such as technical innovations from technological universities and new business ideas from 
business schools. Local business communities in emerging markets do not like to finance such type of 
activities, but the fact that globalized companies are participating in this process would serve as an 
excellent stimulus for enhancing their interests. 
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Abstract 
 
The article examines the creation of the value of relationships for the consumer becomes prominent 
as a new formation of the marketing culture and social relationships based on trust, communication, 
commitment, as these characteristics of the relationships in the business-for-business market 
strengthen long-term relationships of the market participants that can continue into the future. One 
of the main instruments of creation of the value of relationships for the consumer in the business-
for-business market is loyalty programs. Purpose of the research: to reveal the creation of the value 
of relationships for the consumer in the business-for-business market and to identify consumer 
loyalty levels of Lithuanian companies operating in the business-for-business market.  
 
The results of the research revealed that most of the consumers of the latter companies are 
attributable to the third consumer loyalty level, i.e. the “unconsciously loyal” consumer, for whom 
emotional rather than financial benefit is significant. Therefore, it can be stated that when creating 
loyalty programs the companies that operate in the business-for-business market should concentrate 
their attention on communication and interaction processes, strengthening of long-term 
relationships with consumers. 
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Business-for-business market, relationship marketing, loyalty program 
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Introduction 
 
The importance of loyalty programs that can create situations of benefit for both the consumer and 
the company was spotted by most economically developed countries only starting from 1990s when, 
according to Rosenbaum, Ostrom & Kuntze (2005), businesses and marketing specialists began to 
take interest in consumers' loyalty to the company. As explained by Leverin & Lijander (2006), for 
some time the effectiveness of customer loyalty programs was doubted, however, studies done by 
scientists (Dowling, 2002) demonstrated that loyalty programs created and implemented in the 
forms of ratings, awards, partnerships, discounts, cooperation and community, had significant effect 
on retaining loyal customers and creating value in relationships for the consumer.  
 
The essence of building up and developing business-to-business relationships is the creation of value 
in terms of relationships with partners, which apparently has changed over the last couple of 
decades – long term relationships based on the principles of trust and commitment are emphasized, 
while the creation of loyalty programs is becoming one of the top-priority fields of activity. This 
presupposes a scientific problem specified by the following problematic questions: what factors are 
the most significant, ensuring value for the consumer in a business-to-business market? What 
customer loyalty programs allow creating relationship value for consumers?  
 
Research object – customer loyalty programs.  
Research subject – customer loyalty programs as an instrument for creating relationship value for 
the consumer in a business-to-business market.  
Purpose of the research - to reveal the creation of the value of relationships for the consumer in the 
business-for-business market and to identify consumer loyalty levels of Lithuanian companies 
operating in the business-for-business market.  
Methods of the research: analysis of scientific literature, questionnaire. 
 
 
Definition, Objectives and Development Stages of a Loyalty Program 
 
In the scientific context (Tijunaitiene & Petukiene, 2003; Leenheer, Heerde & Bijmolt, 2007; 
Bagdoniene & Jakstaite, 2007; Harris & Botten, 2008) the definition of a customer loyalty program is 
interpreted differently (Table 1) and often, according to Vilkaite (2008) mistakenly associated with 
repeated purchases or consumer reward programs and consumer relationship management 
programs (CRM).  
 
When defining customer loyalty programs, two essentials are emphasized, by which the concept of 
loyalty programs can be classified in two groups: 

1) emphasizing the creation of added value and benefit to the customer (Tijunaitiene & 
Petukiene, 2003; Mateviciute, 2007; Harris & Botten, 2008; Vilkaite, 2008); 

2) emphasizing the objective of loyalty programs - to increase participants' loyalty (Rosenbaum, 
Ostrom & Kuntze, 2005; Keh & Lee, 2006; Leenheer, Heerde & Bijmolt, 2007; Bagdoniene & 
Jakstaite, 2007). 
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Table 1. Scientists' approach to customer loyalty programs 
 

Author Definition 

Tijunaitiene & Petukiene 
(2003) 

Loyalty program – one of the forms of customer-oriented strategy creation, 
ensuring client loyalty, based on creating added value. 

Rosenbaum, Ostrom & 
Kuntze (2005) 

Customer loyalty program – a loyalty program carried out by a company with the 
hope of providing the consumer with financial and non-financial support, thus, 
increasing his loyalty.  

Keh & Lee (2006) 
Loyalty program is company's marketing strategy designed for increasing 
customer loyalty, the effectiveness and benefit of which becomes apparent 
when customer satisfaction reaches a certain limit.  

Leenheer, Heerde & 
Bijmolt (2007) 

Loyalty program – an integrated system of marketing efforts with the purpose of 
increasing its participants' loyalty.  

Bagdoniene & Jakstaite 
(2007) 

Loyalty program - a sum of integrated marketing activities intended for 
increasing program participants' loyalty.  

Mateviciute (2007) 

Loyalty program – a sum of company's actions and measures directed towards 
retaining a client and increasing his value (deriving greater profit from a client), 
including both tangible (buyer cards) and intangible (company's internal 
processes) components.  

Harris & Botten (2008)  
Customer loyalty program – client care, fostering client loyalty by making 
contributions to the client's perception of value and the supplier's ability to 
collect information about loyal customers.  

Vilkaite (2008) Loyalty program – a sum or relevant and important customer marketing 
activities, creating additional value for the consumer and helping to retain him. 

 
The aforementioned approaches to customer loyalty programs allow to identify different goals of 
loyalty programs, one of the essentials of which, according to Lacey & Sneath (2006) is to build and 
expand relationships by providing added value for profitable market segments. It means that a 
loyalty program, as stated by Vasin, Lavrentiev & Samsonov (2007), is an instrument for a company 
to center its attention around the customer and creating value for him by wrapping him up in a 
"warm cloak of care'. 
 
The experience of business subjects that apply customer loyalty programs shows that the goals of 
these programs essentially depend on nature, size, popularity, strategy and other factors of a 
company. Therefore, according to Bagdoniene & Jakstaite (2006), customer loyalty program goals 
can be divided into two groups:  

1. Main goals (foster customer loyalty, create communication capabilities, provide support for 
other subdivisions of a company, etc.); 

2. Secondary goals (solve company's problems, stay in touch with the public, create additional 
opportunities for retaining customers, improve brand (company) image, etc.). 

 
The realization of these loyalty program goals provide benefits for the customer as well as the 
company, however, the biggest criterion for the success of a loyalty program is the perception of 
value by the customer, as it encourages a customer to buy or try out a new product/service, reduces 
search for alternatives (Lacey & Sneath, 2006).  
 
Moreover, marketing specialists (Johnson & Leger, 1999; Rosenbaum, Ostrom & Kuntze, 2005; Keh & 
Lee, 2006; Lacey & Sneath, 2006; Leenheer, Heerde & Bijmolt, 2007; Bagdoniene, 2008) recommend 
to take into account the developments and the main aspects of program design, which depend on 
the context of B2C or B2B markets and enable to prepare and achieve selected goals more 
successfully.  
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When focusing on a business-to-business market, scientists Johnson & Leger (1999) take the view 
that when creating loyalty programs, companies have to come up with a customer-oriented strategy 
that involves four stages: 

1. Selection of good customers – highest quality customers because if this model affects high 
class customers, then it will work amongst lower value customers as well;  

2. Creating added value (appealing program for the customers to take part in); 
3. Fostering of long-term relationships – constant, frequent and proper communication with 

customers; 
4. Assessment of a customer loyalty program and making of necessary changes. 

 
The goals and development stages of customer loyalty programs lead to a presumption that much 
focus should be given to the setting of a goal and the segmentation of customers, only followed by 
the type of a loyalty program, which may be universal or individual, suitable for a specific company 
only. 
 
 
Creating Relationship Value for a Consumer in a Business-To-Business Market with the Use of 
Different Loyalty Programs 
 
Business-to-business is a dynamic connection between two interested market participants who 
expect mutual support and benefit, with the results of one participant always depending on the 
other's behavior an actions, since this connection is based on strong relationships and involves a 
complex structure (Zineldin & Philipson, 2007). Molinari, Abratt & Dion (2008) claim that the most 
significant factor in a business-to-business market is mutual relationship between a company and a 
customer, on which customer behavior and satisfaction rests. Therefore, it may suggest that in a 
business-to-business market the most important factor guaranteeing value for a customer is close 
and long-term relationship between a company and a consumer.  
 
Perhaps the most commonly emphasized amongst marketing researchers in a business to business 
market are social and economic relationships which, according to Barry, Dion & Johnson (2008), 
often times are intertwined and inseparable. Social long-term relationships bring out such attributes 
as trust, communication, commitment, etc., which in a business-to-business market direct market 
participants' behavior towards long-term relationships that may last in the future. Meanwhile, 
economic relationships are not stable, since often times they depend on the importance of price for 
consumers, i.e. if a company with a lower price for a similar product emerges, relationships may end. 
Nevertheless, when focusing on creating relationship value for a customer in a business-to-business 
market, social relationships bear more significance, as they are based on trust and commitment.  
 
Morgan & Hunt (1994) defines trust as counting on partner's reliability and honesty. Ndubisi (2007) 
define trust as willingness to count on a partner which you can trust. It means that it is important to 
believe that a partner is trustworthy, which stems from his experience and intentions; on the other 
hand, trust is considered to be behavior which shows confidence in the partner and is associated 
with uncertainty and vulnerability of the truster. Hence, trust means confidence in partner's behavior 
and goodwill. Furthermore, according to Ndubisi (2007), an indispensable part of trust is the concept 
of promise, which includes making promises and keeping them, as it is an important measure in 
trying to maintain and expand relationships, achieve their satisfaction and long-term profitability. 
Bagdoniene & Hopeniene (2005) explain that commitment means long-term pursuit and desire to 
maintain valuable relationships with the hope that they are equal trade leading to a higher level of 
commitment, that creates the basis for mutual satisfaction and benefit. Palmer (2000) believes that 
commitment occurs when both parties are loyal, trustworthy and stable in their relationships. Wilson 
(1995) notes that commitment is the main dependent variable used in evaluating the strength of 
relationships between interested parties. Therefore, it can be assumed that trust and commitment in 
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a business-to-business market are essential criteria for the creation of relationship value for a 
customer.  
 
In creating relationship value for a customer in a business-to-business market, various customer 
loyalty programs are used, as, for example, a company product presented together with a loyalty 
program stands out from competitors and strengthens relationships with the company. 
 
Market researchers (Johnson, 1998; Johnson & Leger, 1999; Neal, 1999; Vasin, Lavrentiev & 
Samsonov, 2007) emphasize that the most commonly used loyalty programs in a business-to-
business market are the following: discounts, partnerships and community.  
 
Discount loyalty program is the simplest form of creating added value for a customer when, 
according to Neal (1999), price reduction is offered as a gift certificate. This program, Johnson (1998) 
thinks, is created for two reasons: first, to preserve company's brand and buying habits of the best 
customers by providing them with what they desire most; second, reward becomes a tool allowing to 
increase sales without diminishing brand image.  
 
Partnership loyalty program. Ulaga & Eggert (2006) claim that the main function of partnership is to 
increase the effectiveness and productivity of a value creation system, since partnership in a 
business-to-business market provides its participants certain value, associated with lower transaction 
costs and better mutual understanding, as relationship value is created by both parties of the 
partnership. Johnson (1998) believes that the basis for a partnership program is the supplier's data 
base, since it allows the company to segment customers, to which relevant supplier's offers can be 
applied. Besides that, companies offering partnership programs promote and offer partners' 
services/products for program participants under special conditions.  
 
Community loyalty program in a business-to-business market seeks to increase the longevity of 
customer relationship value, while value creation manifests in direct communication and recognition 
(Johnson, 1998). With the help of community loyalty program a company creates long-term 
relationships with customers, based on mutual benefits and not one-off gift or discount offers. 
Companies that are most interested in community loyalty projects are those with potentially large 
turnover (Vasin, Lavrentiev & Samsonov, 2007). 
 
It can be said that loyalty programs differ in types and goals, yet what they have in common is the 
fact that they allow to provide the company, as well as the customer with significant economic, 
emotional and social benefit. Successful customer loyalty programs in a business-to-business market 
are an instrument for creating relationship value for a customer, based on trust and commitment, i.e. 
essential relationship marketing principles. Therefore, one of the top-priority activity areas for 
companies operating in a business-to-business market and seeking long-term relationships with 
customers becomes the creation of customer loyalty programs. 
 
 
Methodology and Methods of Research 
 
Methodological basis of the research comprises the following: 

1. Systems theory (von Bertalanffy, 1951; Kast & Rosenzweig, 1962), explaining the importance 
of building and maintaining relationships with various market actors, on one hand as 
independent elements, on the other hand – influencing the relationship marketing of the 
company and interacting among each other, thus creating long-term relationships of higher 
quality. 

2. Relationship marketing concept (Morgan & Hunt, 1994; Grönroos, 1994; Gummesson, 1997), 
approached as a new business management strategy or philosophy for companies that 
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substantiates the mutual benefit obtained by the parties to the relationships (company and 
customer) as well as the strengthening of long-term quality relationships with customers in a 
business-to-business market. 

3. Customer loyalty concept (Andreassen & Lindestad, 1998; Leverin & Liljander, 2006; Kotler & 
Keller, 2007), construed as an objective of relationship marketing, enabling to retain loyal 
customers for the companies, promote the growth of turnover and profits, and enhance the 
competitiveness, while emphasizing the psychological behavior of the customers when 
repeatedly buying a certain brand.  

 
The research encompasses a quantitative customer loyalty survey of Lithuanian companies selling 
welding equipment and consumables in a business-to-business market while seeking to determine 
the customer loyalty levels in order to expediently select the loyalty programmes as instruments for 
the creation of relationship value for the customers in a business-to-business market. Six business 
companies operating in Lithuania and selling welding equipment and consumables to other 
production and industrial companies in Lithuania were selected. 
 
A written customer survey method was selected for quantitative survey and a questionnaire was 
drawn up based on the questionnaire proposed by Bakanauskas & Pileliene (2008) for the 
establishment of customer loyalty levels.  
 
The general set of the quantitative survey comprised 9,500 of business companies from different 
regions of Lithuania that are included in the CRM (customer relationship management programme) 
of the companies under consideration and other business management programmes. Business 
companies in the CRM or business management programmes were divided into four groups: 
suppliers, customers, potential customers and competitors. The research sample, selected using a 
stochastic sample volume selection method, comprised 2,080 business companies belonging to the 
groups of customers or potential customers. In customer management programmes, various data of 
business companies are invoked (e. g., email, contact persons etc); however they do not reflect the 
attitude to the company under consideration and/or service offered by it. Consequently, the 
research and code questions were aimed at establishing whether the companies, which took part in 
the survey, identify their relationships with the companies under consideration and the behavior, by 
which these might be ascribed to one of the customer loyalty levels. In other words, they survey 
enabled verifying business companies ascribed to the said groups (customers and potential 
customers) and identifying their intentions with regard to the service (product) of the companies 
under consideration. This in turn enabled the companies under consideration to make specific 
decisions concerning the creation of relationship value for the customers.  
 
 
Research Findings 
 
Customer loyalty levels of the Lithuanian companies operating in the business-to-business market and 
selling welding equipment and consumables: customer attitude. After summarizing the findings 
obtained from the point of view of the customers of the companies under consideration, operating in 
the business-to-business market, it can be stated that the customers of the companies are 
segmented according to the following customer loyalty levels: 

 14 % of customers are ascribed to the first customer loyalty level – neutral customers. Seeking 
to encourage them to become the customers of the second level – potentially loyal 
customers, managers should build closer relationships: sales managers of the companies 
might familiarize the customers with the company being represented, its activities and 
assortment, while providing them information through such customer loyalty enhancement 
measures as promotions, special offers etc. Investing to the building of relationships with 
such neutral customers, companies might benefit from involving them in the purchasing 
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process and as a result eventually the customers could be ascribed to the second customer 
loyalty level – potentially loyal customers.  

 25 % of customers are ascribed to the second customer loyalty level – potentially loyal 
customers. In this case, it would be expedient to repeatedly introduce those customers to 
the activities and assortment of the company. Sales managers could invoke customer loyalty 
enhancement measures associated with emotional inducement, such as product catalogues, 
newsletters etc. to encourage the customers to engage in repeated buying. This implies that 
sales managers should pay even more attention to strengthening of relationships, thus 
enabling the customers of the second loyalty level to gain financial as well as emotional 
benefits. It can be assumed that after applying the mentioned loyalty enhancement 
programmes, the interest of these customers in the companies would increase. This would 
provide an opportunity to ascribe these customers to the higher level than potentially loyal 
customers.  

 34 % of the customers are ascribed to the third customer loyalty level – unconsciously loyal 
customers. The companies have already built the relationships with the customers belonging 
to this loyalty level; however it is important to focus on maintaining and enhancement of 
relationships with these customers in order to create the relationship value for them. It 
should be emphasized that these customers more care about emotional rather than financial 
benefit; the companies might, therefore, additionally invoke such customer loyalty 
enhancement measures as festive events for the customers, practical trainings, discussions 
and consultations, and packages of additional services free of charge. This would enable 
encouraging the unconsciously loyal customers to regularly buy from these companies 
without opting for other alternatives (competitors) and to develop a constant positive 
attitude towards the company. As a result, they could eventually be ascribed to the fourth 
customer loyalty level – genuinely loyal customers. 

 17 % of the customers are ascribed to the fourth customer loyalty level – genuinely loyal 
customers. These represent the highest customer loyalty level and because of this the 
companies should focus on maintaining long-term relationships with these customers, thus 
creating and enhancing the relationship value for the customers. To attain these objectives, 
the companies might use all of the above-mentioned measures for customer loyalty 
enhancement and to supplement them by partnership and affinity programmes. This would 
result in social and emotional benefit for the customers, contributing to the fulfillment of 
their individual needs and enabling to enhance the customer trust and commitment.  

 
It is also noteworthy that 10 % of respondents were ‘lost’ customers of these companies; however, 
they are not ascribed to any loyalty level. Hence the companies should not pay much attention to 
these customers following the principle that it is the most important to select the best customers of 
the company and to focus the loyalty programmes on the 90% of the customers who are loyal to the 
company.  
 
When assessing the future prospects of the companies it is noteworthy that one of the companies 
participating in the survey, after familiarizing itself with the research findings, plans to implement a 
new project – mobile exhibition on the wheels intended for the most loyal customers. This reveals 
that this company in particular intends to focus mostly on customer loyalty programmes, oriented to 
the maintaining and strengthening of long-term relationships with the customers and their emotional 
satisfaction. It is especially significant in current dynamic environment that causes the changing in 
the needs of market participants, seeing that financial benefit gained by the customers in business-
to-business market can no longer alone ensure the retaining of the customers and creation of 
relationship value for them. Thus it is vital to pay much attention to emotional benefits gained by the 
customers. 
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Conclusion 
 
The majority of customers of Lithuanian companies selling welding equipment and consumables and 
operating in business-to-business market are ascribed to the third customer loyalty level – 
unconsciously loyal customers, who mostly care for emotional rather than financial benefit. It could 
be, therefore, assumed that companies, which plan to create affinity programmes in the future, will 
create the conditions for strengthening of long-term relationships and creating the relationship value 
for the customers. Moreover, this kind of loyalty programme would be significant to the fourth 
customer loyalty level, genuinely loyal customers, when seeking to increase their trust and 
commitment to the company. The companies should be recommended to work on discount loyalty 
programmes, which are perhaps more relevant to the first loyalty level, neutral customers, thus 
investing in the building of relationships with the customers.  
 
 
References 
 
1. Bagdoniene, L. (2008). Santykių marketingo raiška paslaugų versle. (Habilitacijos procedūrai 

teikiamų mokslo darbų apžvalga, Kauno technologijos universitetas). Kaunas 
2. Bagdoniene, L., & Hopeniene, R. (2005). Paslaugų marketingas ir vadyba. Kaunas: Technlogija 
3. Bagdoniene, L., & Jakstaite, R. (2006). The Mission of Customer Loyalty Programmes and 

Peculiarities of their Development. Management, 1(10), 6-15.  
4. Bakanauskas, A. P., & Pileliene, L. (2008). Model of the determination of customer loyalty stage. 

Management of Organizations: Systematic Research, 48, 7-21. 
5. Barry, J. M., Dion, P., & Johnson, W. (2008). A cross-cultural examination of relationship strength 

in B2B services. Journal of Services Marketing, 22(2), 114-135.  
6. Dowling, G. (2002). Customer Relationship Management: In B2C markets often less is more. 

California Management Review, 44(3), 87-104. 
7. Harris, D. R., & Botten, N. (2008). Introductory certificate in marketing: the official CIM 

coursebook. Oxford: Taylor & Francis. 
8. Johnson, K. (1998). Choosing the right program (loyalty programmes). Direct marketing, 61(2), 

36-39. 
9. Johnson, K., & Leger, M. (1999). Loyalty marketing: keeping in contact with the right customers. 

Direct marketing, 62(5), 36-42. 
10. Keh, H. T., & Lee, Y. H. (2006). Do reward programs build loyalty for services? The moderating 

effect of satisfaction on type and timing or rewards. Journal of Retailing, 82(2), 127-136. 
11. Lacey, R., & Sneath, J. Z. (2006). Customer loyalty programs: are they fair to consumers?. Journal 

of Consumer Marketing, 23(7), 458-464. 
12. Leenheer, J., & Heerde, V., & Bijmolt, H. J. (2007). Do Loyalty Programs Really Enhance Behavioral 

Loyalty? An Empirical Analysis Accounting for Self-Selecting Members. International Journal of 
Research in Marketing, 24(1), 31-47.  

13. Leverin, A., & Lijander, V. (2006). Does relationship marketing improve customer relationship 
satisfaction and loyalty?. International Journal of Bank Marketing, 24(4), 232-251. 

14. Mateviciute, A. (2006). 7 lojalumo programų klaidos. Vadovo pasaulis, 9, 24-25. 
15. Molinari, L. K., Abratt, R., & Dion, P. (2008). Satisfaction, quality and value and effects on 

repurchase and positive word-of-mouth behavioral intentions in a B2B services content. Journal 
of Services Marketing, 22(5), 363-373.  

16. Morgan, R. M., & Hunt, S. D. (1994). The commitment-trust theory of relationship marketing. 
Journal of Marketing, 58(3), 20-38. 

17. Ndubisi, N. O. (2007). Relationship marketing and customer loyalty. Marketing Intelligence & 
Planning, 25(1), 98-106. 

18. Neal, W. D. (1999). Satisfaction is nice, but value drives loyalty. Marketing Research, 11(1), 21-23. 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

84 
 

19. Palmer, A. (2000). Co-operation and competition: a Darwinian synthesis of relationship 
marketing. European Journal of Marketing, 34(5/6), 687-704.  

20. Rosenbaum, M. S., Ostrom, A. L., & Kuntze, R. (2005). Loyalty programs and a sense of 
community. Journal of Services Marketing, 19(4), 222-233.  

21. Tijunaitiene, R., & Petukiene, E. (2003). Paslaugų vartotojų lojalumo kūrimo ypatumai. Verslas, 
vadyba ir studijos‘2002, 130-135. 

22. Ulaga, W., & Eggert, A. (2006). Relationship Value and Relationship Quality: Broadening the 
Nomo logical Network of Business-to-Business Relationships. European Journal of Marketing, 
40(3/4), 311-327.  

23. Vasin, Lavrentiev & Samsonov, А. (2007). Effective loyalty programs. How to attract and retain 
customers. Moscow: Alpina Business Books. 

24. Vilkaite, N. (2008). Customer loyalty programs: theoretical and practical aspects. Current issues of 
business and law, 1, 157-166. 

25. Wilson, D. T. (1995). An integrated model of buyer-seller relationships. Journal of the Academy of 
Marketing Science, 23(4), 335-345. 

26. Zineldin, M., & Philipson, S. (2007). Kotler and Borden are not dead: myth of relationship 
marketing and truth of the 4Ps. Journal of Consumer Marketing, 24(4), 229-241. 

 
 
  



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

85 
 

Global/Local Competitiveness In Case Of ACCOR Hotels* 
 
 
 
Petra Gyurácz-Németh 
Assistant Lecturer 
University of Pannonia  
10. Egyetem u., 8200 Veszprém, Hungary 
Phone: ++368 8 624 874 
E-mail: nemeth@turizmus.uni-pannon.hu 
 
 
Abstract 
 
Since more and more hotels are built all around the world, in Hungary as well, hotel owners and 
managers have to be able to provide competitive edge for their hotels to survive. Hotel chains have a 
lot of benefits due to standardization, which is a perquisite of globalization. Although adapting to the 
changing customer needs would be as important as being cost effective. That is the reason why hotel 
groups - and other tourism and service firms – have to think locally as well. Accor group, which is the 
6th largest hotel group in the world (2012), has a good strategy to be competitive and its example can 
show how this task has to be done. The article first shows the reasons of globalization and 
localization and connects these two concepts to standardization and customization. Then Accor 
Group is going to be used as an example in theory and practice as well. 
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Globalization and localization are two concepts which had opposite meanings and suggest different 
strategies and directions. Nowadays in tourism and in other sectors, property owners and general 
managers do not have the luxury to decide which orientation they pick. Their company needs to be 
competitive in a global and local level as well. In the article the author uses the example of one of the 
biggest hotel chains in the world, ACCOR hotels. To be able to explain the strategy of the hotel chain, 
an interview was made with the Director of Sales (National Sales Force Hungary/Slovakia). The 
author wants to have answers to the following research questions: How can ACCOR Group adapt to 
the changing global and local circumstances? How can the hotel group be global and local at the 
same time? What kind of local characteristics can be identified in their hotels in Hungary? 
 
 
1. Definitions for Globalization, Localization and Competitiveness 
 
According to Luthans and Doh (2009 p.8) globalization is “The process of social, political, economic, 
cultural, and technological integration among countries around the world.” Globalization aims to 
create a single market opposite of internationalization which goal is to cross national and at the same 
time cultural borders. 
 
From the WTO point of view “Globalization, or the increased interconnectedness and 
interdependance of peoples and countries, is generally understood to include two interrelated 
elements: the opening of borders to increasingly fast flows of goods, services, finance, people and 
ideas across international borders; and the changes in institutional and policy regimes at the 
international and national levels that facilitate or promote such flows.” 
http://www.who.int/trade/glossary/story043/en/index.html 20/7/2013 The main forces that have 
driven global integration have been technological innovations, broader political changes and 
economic policies http://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/anrep_e/wtr08-2b_e.pdf 
20/7/2013. 
 
However Boudreaux (2008) suggests that the definition of globalization should not concentrate only 
on countries because the producers of products and services are people, so the focus needs to move 
on to individuals.  
 
Globalization now is inevitable for companies. As Culpan (2002, p. 5) states “Globalization is no 
longer a business option but also a part of effective corporate strategizing.” According to Van 
Mesdag (2000) globalization can be a good reason for standardization and standardization of 
products and processes is a requirement for the companies which want to compete in the global 
market. 
 
Droge, Jayaram, Vickery defined standardization as ‘the use of standard procedures, materials, parts, 
and/or processes in designing and manufacturing a product’ (Droge et al., 2004, p. 571). By Blind 
(2006) the major aims of standardization are fitness for purpose, compatibility, interchangeability (of 
products), variety control, safety, protection of the environment, and the product itself. 
 
According to Hesser et al. (2007) standardization is generally defined as the ‘activity of establishing 
and recording a limited set of solutions to actual or potential problems directed at benefits for the 
party or parties involved, balancing their needs and intending and expecting that these solutions will 
be repeatedly or continuously used during a certain period by a substantial number of parties for 
whom they are meant. 
 
In the service literature standardization always plays an important role to emphasize the fitness of 
standards to customer needs and ensure the constant quality for the customers. 
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There are several advantages of standardization of products and processes which can be desirable to 
reach for companies. According to Berry et al. (1992) standardization is able to give guidance for 
employees and to energies them, to help to sense priority, make it easy for managers and owners to 
measure the performance of their employees and to bring the customers into focus. Another 
researcher (concentrating on production mostly) Imai (1997) stated that standardization is the 
easiest, safest and best way, it helps with performance evaluation, with using standards it is easier to 
identify the cause and the effect, it can provide objectives and it can be a good base for training, 
makes it easier to control processes and quality. Standardization is good for maintenance and 
improvement as well and makes it possible to keep the know-how inside the company. In Sánchez-
Rodríguez (2006) definition standardization is an ideal tool to save costs, reduce the possibility to 
make mistake, it also helps identify the causes of problems and satisfy customer needs and it also has 
a positive effect on business performance due to routine activities. However, according to Berry et al 
(1992) the improper application of standardization can cause serious problems. If there are no 
service standards at all, it can mean that the management does not think that services and the 
delivery are important. If there are too many service standards, it can cause that employees will not 
be able to identify the most urgent service priorities. If the defined standards are too general, it 
provides only a little direction for employees and does not support the measurement of their 
performance. If the service standards are poorly communicated, it can make employees confused 
about the application of standards. If the service standards are not connected to the performance 
measurement, it can show that the service does not represent great value for the management. 
 
Localization is called several names: adaptation (van Mesdag, 2000), multidomestic (Culpan 2002), 
authenticity (Zeng et al, 2012), customization (Gyurácz-Németh, Clarke, 2011), particularization 
(Tether et al, 2001), individualization (Bouncken et al, 2005). According to Culpan (2002) 
multidomestic strategy of a firm is realizing the unique characteristics of each country and trying to 
respond to the special market needs. 
 
However, globalization and localization (as strategies) are mostly considered to be at the two ends of 
a continuum, standardization and customization are possible to exist together in case of a company. 
According to Zeng et al. (2012) and Gyurácz-Németh-Clarke (2011) these two concepts’ advantages 
can be utilized at the same time. Zeng et al. (2012) analyzed the expansion of restaurant chains. 
Although they still believe that customization and standardization are two ends of a continuum, they 
established a new dimension: Standardization of authenticity. This expansion strategy (represented 
by Little Sheep Catering Chain Co. LtD) suggests that standardization and customization is possible at 
the same time in the strategy of a company. Gyurácz-Németh-Clarke (2011) argued that 
customization cannot exist without standardization, which is the base to build on. Standardization 
represents a firm basis while customization provides an extra care, an extra service which makes 
customers loyal. 
 
 
2. ACCOR in theory 

 
ACCOR is a good case for corporate and expansion strategy, it has an exemplary history and 
development during the almost 50 years it has existed. According to the 2012 data Accor was the 6th 
largest hotel chain in the world with 3324 hotels and 424 367 rooms 
(http://www.htrends.com/researcharticle70429.html 15/7/2013).  
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Figure 1. The world largest hotel groups 2012 
 

Rank (2012) Groups Hotels (2012) Rooms (2012) 

1 IHG 4 480 658 348 
2 Hilton 3 843 633 238 
3 Marriott 3 537 617 837 
4 Wyndham 7 205 613 126 
5 Choice 6 203 502 460 
6 Accor 3 324 424 367 
7 Starwood 1 077 315 346 
8 Best Western 4 078 311 598 
9 Home Inns 1 426 176 562 

10 Carlson 1 077 165 802 
 
Source: http://www.htrends.com/researcharticle70429.html 
 
The topic of standardization and customization can be presented by the strategy and operation of 
Accor hotels. According to Teboul (2005) standardization and customization are two ends of a 
continuum and it can easily be illustrated by Accor brands. 
 
Figure 2. Service intensity matrix using the example of Accor (Teboul, 2005) 
 

 
 
 
Figure 2 shows that according to these two dimensions: standardization/customization and high/low 
intensity of interactions, all the Accor brands can be illustrated. It says that Sofitel is the less 
standardized hotel brand and Formula 1 is the most standardized.  
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Figure 3. Accor brands according to the another perpspective (Gyurácz-Németh-Clarke, 2011) 
 

 
 
 
On the contrary Figure 3 illustrates a different theory. It says that standardisation is high both cases 
and it larger in case of Sofitel because of the big number of services. Customisation can follow 
standardisation but having standards (written or oral) is almost a rule of surviving and a firm basis of 
competitiveness. If it is agreed that standardisation is in connection with globalisation and 
customisation has the same relation with localisation, it can be stated that globalisation and 
localisation are both needed and Accor and other hotel chains have to concentrate on both of them. 
 
 
3. ACCOR in practice 
 
Accor was started by the opening a Novotel hotel in Lille in 1967 by the owners Paul Dubrule and 
Gérard Pélisson. In 1974 they opened their first Ibis hotel which is now the biggest hotel chain in 
Europe with 1277 hotels and 121 882 rooms http://www.htrends.com/researcharticle70429.html 
15/7/2013). The owners acquired Sofitel (1975) and Mercure (1980) chains and established Accor 
Group (1983). 
 
In Hungary Accor Group purchased Pannonia Hotels Rt. in 1993 which made it possible for the hotel 
group to open Mercure Buda and Mercure Korona in 1995 and Mercure Duna and Ibis Centrum 
(1997). In the countryside they started Novotel Szeged (2000), Novotel Székesfehérvár (2001). In the 
capital Mercure Metropol (2000) was opened and Novotel Centrum was renovated (2002) and Ibis 
Emke was established (2003) as well as Novotel Danube and Mercure City Center and Taverna hotels 
(2006). Ibis Heroes Square and Ibis Győr was started in 2007 and the new brand MGallery Nemzeti 
opened in 2012 (Interview with the Director of Sales 8/5/2013). 
 
The basis of Accor’s strategy is diversification, which can be easily proved by the operation forms 
existing in Accor Group. As Figure 4 shows the operation forms are balanced, which helps the group 
to reduce risk and adapt to all kinds of circumstances for example a global economic crisis. 
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Figure 4. Operation forms at Accor hotels (Interview with the Director of Sales 8/5/2013) 
 

 
 
 
 
One of the most important goals of Accor Group is to strengthen their market share and fasten the 
expansion of the group. To reach this aim they 

 balance their different activities 
 provide great range of operation finance forms 
 enter new markets. 

 
Their other aim is to gain and keep their guests. To accomplish this goal the group 

 target their marketing and sales strategy (internet sales, loyalty card, communication 
campaign) 

 perform technological innovation, continuous improvement of their products and services 
 make partnering in sales 
 develop sustainable development (ISO 14001, Plant for the Planet, Earth Guest Day, helping 

local communities, charity events; fair trade 
  (Interview with the Director of Sales 8/5/2013) 
 
To identify the global elements of the Accor services it is enough to state that the 6th biggest hotel 
group of the world has hotel chains which characteristics are similar all over the world. Novotel is a 
much standardised hotel chain, as well as Mercure, although Mercure has local features as well. The 
example for this can be Mercure Buda where there are pictures of Budapest in every room, and they 
try to reflect the topic in other features as well. 
 
Here are, however, three other hotel chains which focus much on localisation as well as globalisation 
(like other hotel chains inside the hotel group). 
 
Sofitel (‘Life is magnifique’) is the luxury category of Accor. It is suitable for business (65%) and 
leisure (35%) guests, which was built by architects and interior designers. It employs award winner 
chefs and art, culture and luxury play an important role in the hotel chain. There are 11 Sofitel hotels 
in 38 countries. There is one Sofitel in Hungary which is located in the capital, Budapest; the hotel is 
called Sofitel Budapest Chain Bridge. According to the hotel’s website ‘Soaring eight floors high, the 
atrium of this luxury Budapest hotel is alive with parquet flooring, wood paneling and colorful 
furniture; a Swarovski crystal "fountain" evokes the flamboyant style of 19th-century Hungary. A 
magnificent modern tribute by French designer Jean-Phillippe Nuel to the building's rich Hungarian 
history. The lobby - a symmetrical tableau marked by an impressive staircase - branches off to 
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elegant guest rooms and suites. Many offer breathtaking views of the Chain Bridge, as does the 
hotel's Paris Budapest restaurant, where French and Hungarian cuisines blend deliciously.’ 
(http://www.sofitel.com/gb/hotel-3229-sofitel-budapest-chain-bridge/index.shtml 18/7/2013) The 
style and the philosophy of this hotel support the idea of localization with all the Hungarian 
references (chain bridge, history and cuisine) and as a member of a hotel chain and a hotel group it 
fits to the globalization requirement as well. 
 
Pullman (‘Check in, chill out’) is a business hotel but it provides customized services for business 
people. It is important for this hotel chain for having hotels near airports and city centres. There are 
68 Pullman hotels in 22 countries. They accommodate business (70%) and leisure guests (30%) as 
well. In Hungary there is not any Pullman hotels. 
 
MGallery is a relatively new concept of Accor. These hotels look really different, because they have 
their own identity. They most likely to locate in the city centres and the aim this kind of hotels is to 
provide customized services. There are 50 MGallery hotels in 21 countries. Their guests are 51% 
business and 49% leisure tourists. In Budapest there is an MGallery Hotel called MGallery Nemzeti 
Budapest – Mgallery Collection. On the website of the previously mentioned hotel it is stated ‘At the 
beginning of the 20th Century, the Nemzeti Hotel was already a cultural hotspot in Budapest, and 
today the suites are named, among others, after respected actors who performed at the National 
Theatre which used to stand nearby.’ (http://www.mgallery.com/gb/hotel-1686-hotel-nemzeti-
budapest-mgallery-collection/index.shtmland 18/7/2013) its motto says ‘A hotel that revives the 
artistic spirit of Budapest’ http://www.mgallery.com/gb/hotel-1686-hotel-nemzeti-budapest-
mgallery-collection/index.shtmland 18/7/2013. Both lines suggest the localization philosophy, 
MGallery was actually brought to life to get closer to boutique hotels and be able to provide a 
complex and not easy to forget experience for guests. Nemzeti means national in English and as it is 
stated it refers to the old National Theatre in the neighbourhood, a very much Hungarian and local 
sight and atmosphere at the same time. Globalization is supported by the membership of the chain 
and the group and the central decision system as well as the process and product standards. 
 
 
4. Conclusion 
 
As a summary it is important to mention that successful hotel groups and hotel chains have to be 
able to compete in a global level. However, forgetting the local communities, local values and 
amenities is almost forbidden and can be called a suicide nowadays. For customers experiencing new 
and interesting hotels and destination becomes essential and they are not satisfied with the same 
product wherever they are going. Accor Group realized this need and with the examples mentioned 
in the article they proved that they are able to follow the continuous improvement philosophy and 
able to change their perspective. They know that localization is a requirement of the customers and 
they can adapt to these circumstances. 
 
This article is produced under the TÁMOP 4.1.2.A/1-11/1-2011-0088 project supported by the 
European Union and co-financed by the European Social Fund. 
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Abstract 
 
The aim of this contribution is to depict different personalization strategies, which businesses 
implement in digital business environments as well as their basic success factors. Personalization 
strategies are applied to serve the individual needs and preferences of customers and provide 
specified information. IT-enabled personalization is therefore used as a differentiation strategy in 
digital markets and provides a competitive advantage. We are highlighting different forms of 
personalization strategies (content, user interface, channel, functionality) by introducing short, 
practical case studies. Additionally we are deducting key success factors (sufficient database, 
technology, algorithms, flexibility of offerings, measurement, acceptance) based on a literature 
review and findings related to our cases. We conclude that the use of personalization strategies in 
digital business environments is crucial for the economic success of companies and encourage 
businesses to proactively deal with the risks and possibilities related to the key success factors. 
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1. Introduction 
 
The developments in modern information technology (IT) and the emergence of digital business 
environments radically changed communication processes. Information that previously has been 
communicated through mass media or word-of-mouth (Schönhagen, 2008) is now extended and 
publicly available on the Internet for all users. But although information is easily accessible and 
retrievable for free, customers are facing major difficulties in identifying relevant information based 
on their specific needs and preferences (Davenport, Mule, & Lucker, 2011). This struggle is termed 
information overload (Yang, Yen, & Chen, 2000) and fundamentally influences corporate 
communication processes. Corporations that correctly identify the need of customers to receive 
individual and relevant information about a product, service or company, is given the opportunity to 
exploit a competitive advantage (Tam, & Ho, 2006). By applying IT-based personalization techniques 
and strategies in their communication processes, they are pursuing a differentiation strategy (Porter, 
1985) and thus antagonize shrinking markets. 
 
Personalization techniques and strategies in digital environments enable corporations to gather 
information about customers’ preferences and needs and store them in user profiles. Based on these 
data sets, available information about products or services is individually matched and 
communicated to the customer (Adomavicius, & Tuzhilin, 2005). Various forms of marketing 
strategies in corporate communication are already based on this principle and all known types are 
using IT for doing so (Montgomery, & Smith, 2009). Therefore, developments in information 
technology could significantly enhance established personalization strategies. Technological and 
environmental factors that could yield additional efficiency for personalization techniques are for 
example the possibilities to rely on location based or automatically transmitted information 
(Goodman, & Hirsch, 2010). These factors could increase the value of individually retrieved 
information, enrich corporate communication activities in the marketing mix and finally end in a 
competitive advantage. 
 
In 2010 52% of all corporations were already personalizing their websites and additional 21% 
intended to do so in 2011. Nearly the same figures are available for Call Centers where a rate of 71% 
of all companies was expected to personalize their contact with the customer (Unical, 2010). Due to 
this reason, it is relevant to analyze, if and especially how corporations make use of technological and 
environmental factors to boost the effectivity of their corporate communication and especially their 
promotional activities and enable customers to find and retrieve information that is relevant and 
individualized for their purpose. We are providing some short case studies to depict the practical 
application of personalization techniques and strategies in digital business environments. Due to the 
limited number of cases, this is no exhaustive study on personalization applications. Nevertheless, it 
is a method to illustrate the connections which apply to personalization techniques, developments in 
information technology, information retrieval and efficient corporate communication. All of these 
mentioned factors are relevant in raising the success rate of businesses in shrinking markets. 
 
This paper first discusses appropriate definitions of the term “personalization”. Second, it describes 
the various types and structures of personalization techniques as well as the personalization process 
that is discussed in the literature. Subsequently, we highlight a theory-based selection of various 
short case studies to illustrate the possibilities of the developments in information technology for the 
usage in personalization techniques. As a result of these insights, we develop a non-exhaustive list of 
key success factors for successful personalization activities in digital business environments. Overall, 
we depict the implications of the developing IT-based personalization technologies in digital business 
environments for applying a differentiation strategy in electronic markets and gain a competitive 
advantage. 
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2. Definitions of Personalization 
 
There are different fields in research that deal with personalization techniques, strategies and 
methods as well as factors that influence personalization. Due to this widespread work concerning 
the concept of personalization, various definitions can be found in the literature ranging from 
marketing to computer science definitions (Fan & Poole, 2006). As this work is focusing on corporate 
promotional activities and the influence of personalization in digital business environments, 
marketing definitions will be the basis. Under this perspective, personalization is understood as for 
example “the ability to provide content and services tailored to individuals based on knowledge 
about their preferences and behavior.” (Hagen, 1999). It could be defined as “the combined use of 
technology and customer information to tailor electronic commerce interactions between a business 
and each individual customer” (Personalization Consortium, 2003) or “Personalization is about 
building customer loyalty by building a meaningful one-to-one relationship; by understanding the 
needs of each individual and helping satisfy a goal that efficiently and knowledgably addresses each 
individual’s need in a given context” (Riecken, 2000). By using these definitions it is made clear that 
personalization techniques are established on certain components which include individual customer 
information (needs and preferences) and some sort of information technology. 
 
There are other terms in the literature which are also related to personalization. It is necessary to 
make a clear differentiation between these terms. “Mass customization” is described as “the ability 
to provide individually designed products and services to every customer through high process 
agility, flexibility and integration” (Da Silveira, Borenstein, & Fogliatto, 2001; Davis, 1989). Mass 
customization therefore relates to the product or service itself and not to the individualized 
information. Focusing on the term “customization” alone, this is often used as “a suite of template-
driven, finite set of options from which users choose”, but due to that, customization is just “one 
approach to implementing personalization” (Fan & Poole, 2006). If the term “adaptation” is used, 
literature refers to “the capability, on the part of the interaction-specific software, applications, or 
services, to self-adapt to individual users’ characteristics and contexts of use.” (Stephanidis & Savidis, 
2003). Hence, adaptation describes the ability of a software application or service to adapt itself to 
the customer, but not the necessity to do so in a business context. 
 
 
3. Personalization 
 
Personalization comes in various forms and types ranging from user-centric or explicit to system-
centric or implicit personalization as well as from content-oriented to interface-oriented 
personalization. We emphasize the classification scheme from Fan and Poole (2006) (see Table 1) to 
highlight this wide range of applications for personalization. Nevertheless, we are aware that there 
are other classification schemes too, which could be used to provide insight into the personalization 
research literature (Kwon & Kim, 2012; Sunikka & Bragge, 2003). 
 
 
3.1. Classification of personalization 

 
If corporations want to implement personalization techniques, they first have to define which 
dimension should be affected. The dimensions of personalization include: object (what is 
personalized), target (to whom) and origin (who - degree of automation).  
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Table 1. Classification scheme of personalization by Fan and Poole (2006) 
 

 
 Implicit Explicit 

Content Individuated 
Categorical 

Individuated 
Categorical 

User Interface Individuated 
Categorical 

Individuated 
Categorical 

Channel /  
Information Access 

Individuated 
Categorical 

Individuated 
Categorical 

Functionality Individuated 
Categorical 

Individuated 
Categorical 

 
Personalization is applicable for the provided content(information), the functionality of the system, 
the user interface and the delivery channel (information access). These application possibilities 
describe the object of personalization. Secondly, the target of personalization could be a single 
person (individuated) or a group of people (categorical) which forms the second personalization 
dimension. The last dimension is the degree to which personalization is automated (origin).It 
describes the choice between user-centric or explicit personalization in which the user has to make 
certain choices to determine the personalization and system-centric or implicit personalization. This 
defines a form of personalization, where an automated system is able to identify individualized 
factors of the user to personalize the information. 
 
 
3.2. Types of personalization 

 
According to Fan and Poole (2006) four ideal types of personalization can be identified (see Figure 1). 
First an architectural type, which aims at the creation of a “delightful web environment” and serves a 
self-expressive motive. There is also an instrumental type of personalization, which targets the 
efficiency and productivity of a system and covers productivity and efficiency motives of individuals. 
From relational types of personalization platforms for social-interaction of people emerge, which 
cover the socialization motive. Finally, the commercial type of personalization serves the purpose to 
“increase sales and enhance customer loyalty” and insures the physic welfare of the individual.  
 
Figure 1. Personalization types 
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3.3. The personalization process 
 
There are various models of personalization processes retrievable in the specific literature 
(Adomavicius & Tuzhilin, 2005; Murthi, & Sarkar, 2003; Vesanen, & Raulas, 2006). Out of the given 
set of models, we emphasize the proposed personalization process of Adomavicius and Tuzhilin 
(2005), who divide it into three separate phases (see Figure 2). The first phase is named “understand” 
and refers to the understanding of the customer from a company viewpoint. This includes the 
collection of data and the building of customer profiles. After this, the phase of delivering 
personalized offerings to the customer follows, which involves the three steps: matchmaking, 
delivering and presentation. Finally, the measurement has to be done, which implicates the 
measurement of the personalization impact as well as applying necessary adjustments to the 
personalization strategy. The whole process is completed by a feedback loop. 
 
Figure 2. The personalization process (Adomavicius & Tuzhilin, 2005) 

 
 
In the first phase (i.e. understand), the necessary data collection can be implemented by using 
different techniques. Especially in digital business environments, the developed technology offers 
enormous possibilities. To identify the needs and preferences of customers implicitly, so called 
clickstream-data can be collected automatically. This refers to data in e-commerce environments, 
which includes the sequence of viewed pages or products and the time of access (Murthi & Sarkar, 
2003). Also an established customer-relationship-management system is a valuable source of 
customer data, which can be analyzed, for example, regarding the buying history of a specific 
customer in order to detect the behavior patterns and preferences (Bruhn, 2011). In Social Media, 
Social Media Monitoring Systems are becoming popular to build a mostly pseudonymous database 
and to address customers directly according to their preferences (Kasper, Dausinger, Kett, & Renner, 
2010). An example of explicit data collection is an active learning environment, where users are 
directly asked about their preferences. After collecting this enormous amount of user data, consumer 
profiles can be built, which record the needs and preferences of customers and analyzes them, for 
instance, in terms of demographic data. Signatures are an example of statistics-based data which can 
be included in customer profiles (Cortes, Fisher, Pregibon, Rogers, & Smith, 2000). Due to these 
individualized consumer profiles, customers can be addressed individually according to their 
preferences. 
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After successfully generating consumer profiles, the second phase (i.e. deliver) is executed. According 
to the preferences in the consumer profile, relevant data information has to be allocated to the 
consumer, which iscalled matchmaking. Matchmaking is implicitly done by recommender-systems 
(Felfernig, Mandl, Schippel, Schubert, & Teppan, 2010; Ozbal, 2008), which try to match products to 
consumer preferences with mathematical algorithms based on viewed and bought products of the 
customer and the buying history of other customers. After the relevant data has been identified by 
the algorithm, the information has to be presented and delivered to the customer. The customers 
need the possibility to access this matched information. The information could be presented on the 
companies’ website or Facebook page but could also be delivered to the customer by sending an 
SMS or by updating a company application on his smartphone. 
 
Finally, the last phase (i.e. measure) is performed to evaluate if the personalization has been done 
efficiently. The first step is to measure the personalization impact, which could be done explicitly by 
asking the customer if the recommendation was useful. Furthermore, implicit methods could be 
deployed by analyzing if users buy products which were recommended to them. After deploying 
these measurements, the personalization strategy has to be adjusted in a feedback loop as last step 
of the process. This means to adapt all the steps and phases according to the measured impact and 
to re-start the personalization process in the adapted form. 
 
 
4. Case Studies 
 
In the following section, we describe some short non-exhaustive case studies of the application of 
personalization from different companies, which seem to have successfully employed personalized 
business applications and processes and succeed in their market. For each object of personalization 
we highlight at least one representative company to illustrate how manifold application alternatives 
are possible when applying personalization to digital business environments. 
 
4.1. Content personalization 
 
Content personalization appears to be one of the most popular alternatives of personalization in 
digital business environments, which substantiates the hypothesis that personalization is able to 
reduce the information overload, increase the efficiency of corporate communication and thus form 
a competitive advantage for businesses. 
 
Figure 3. Content personalization on foursquare  Figure 4. Content personalization with special offers 
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4.1.1. Personalized recommendations 
 
Our first example of individual implicit content personalization is provided by the mobile application 
foursquare. This application is available for most smartphones and works with GPS to locate the 
position of the user; therefore it relies on the technological factor location-dependency (Goodman & 
Hirsch, 2010). The user has the possibility to “check in” at different places and venues. Regularly he 
only “checks in” at locations where he is located actually. By doing so repeatedly, he probably 
becomes the “mayor” of a site. Due to the use of the application, data of the user is collected and a 
profile is generated, which includes in which “type” of location the user likes to check in at, e.g. 
airports, restaurants, academic buildings or fitness studios. The user has the possibility to connect 
with friends and share his location. By combining the personal check-ins, profile data and location as 
well as the friends’ check-ins and profile data, a personalized list of recommendations of places to 
visit is generated by indicating “near your location” and “you have been to two related places” and 
“nine of your friends have been here” (see Figure 3 for an exemplary related place recommended by 
foursquare). 
 
Additionally, foursquare offers the possibility to provide special offers for users. They can for 
example check in at a specific venue and gain 50% off or they might be offered a special price on the 
goods and services provided or sold at this location. In the following example (see Figure 4) 
foursquare gives the following information “this bookstore is close-by”, “this place is popular on 
foursquare” and “get the smallest atlas of the world for free”. These offers are personalized because 
they are location-based and therefore use a technological factor of communication technology 
(Goodman & Hirsch, 2010) to get individual data and they are also enriched by friends’ data and 
other users’ data to provide the best suitable individual information in an efficient way. 
 
4.1.2. Personalized dynamic pricing  
 
A second example group of content personalization can be taken from the airline industry. 
Southwest Airlines provides a dynamic pricing system that offers customers personalized airfares 
based on their individual choice of home and destination airport Southwest Airlines (2012). Users 
therefore are able to receive categorical explicit content personalization and gain efficient 
information about available cheap airfares. Also other companies which are active in e-commerce try 
to offer such dynamic pricing methods by investigating which websites a customer visited before 
accessing the website of the company. This is especially applicable if goods are easily interchangeable 
and customers are price-sensitive. Companies are therefore able to lower prices dynamically 
depending on the competing prices on the one hand, which the customers already know by visiting 
the competing websites and the variable costs of the good respectively service for the company on 
the other hand. This implicit individual personalization technique raises the revenue of companies 
and offers customers a better price. 
 
4.1.3. Personalized search 
 
Personalized search as our third example describes the pre-selection and personalization of search 
engine results based on previous searches. It can be considered as implicit individual personalization 
technique because the sum of all previous search queries of any given user is unique. Susan Wojcicki, 
a top advertising executive at Google, sees the personalization of search results and ads as the “next 
big thing” (Cameron, 2012). Algorithms try to anticipate the users search and preferences based on 
his history and therefore make information retrieval more efficient. But there are also unsettled 
problems within personalized search which for example cover the question of getting lost in a given 
mindset and just retrieving information which is based on the personal history while excluding new 
insights in other areas. This leads to the problem that people are restrained to assess a known 
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problem critically because they have “restricted access” to other opinions. These existing problem 
areas are also depicted within a survey regarding personalized search, where 45.4% of the 
participants refused the idea of personalized search and another 39.1% would have some privacy 
concerns. [4] Beside all known problems of personalized search, it nevertheless provides a way to 
efficiently improve corporate communication and raise conversion rates. 
 
4.1.4. Personalized sponsored stories 
 
Our last example in terms of content personalization covers the topic of “Sponsored Stories” which 
are currently evolving on social media platforms. Facebook for example creates a very personalized 
sponsored story ad for friends of a specified user by connecting the location-based factors of 
communication technology and connects it with sharing abilities of users. If a user is posting a status 
message that includes a certain company name, the sponsored story ad appears (see Figure 5).  
 
Figure 5. Sponsored Stories (Gibson, 2011) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
By providing this personalized ad to users who are “friends” of the sharing user, facebook implicitly 
performs individual content personalization based on the provided explicit information about the 
location of the sharing user. This form of personalization goes beyond the “like button” which 
created the ability to generate textual input into the users pin board because it also directly links a 
user experience to a company and due to that creates efficient as well as memorable corporate 
communication. 
 
 
4.2. User interface personalization 
 
Hootsuite (2012) – a social media management software – is a good example of how explicit 
personalization of user-interfaces can work (see Figure 6). In addition to the regular features of the 
software, which cover the automated inflow of data from various social media channels or the 
scheduling of messages, the user is also able to personalize his user interface. Normally, users are 
just able to select a specific theme which fit their tastes best, from a predefined list of themes. 
Moreover, Hootsuite offers the possibility to create a very own and individual social media 
dashboard and to highlight the most important information from the various channels which are 
offered. The accentuation of the most important information brings an efficiency improvement to 
the user. We can in consequence name it an explicit individual user-interface personalization. 
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Figure 6. User interface personalization (Hootsuite, 2012) 
 

 
 
Besides this explicit way of user interface personalization, further possible implicit alternatives are 
noteworthy. The French L’Oréal Group, one of the leading cosmetics and beauty companies, changes 
not only the content but also the user interface based on the country where a person is located 
L’Oréal Paris (2011). Customers located in the US get an introduction video to the brand which is 
spread over the whole screen and where they need to click on to access the site. Customers from 
Austria are provided with a small video embedded in the general information of the webpage. Even 
though in this example the user has to choose the location, this personalization method could also be 
realized using the available IP-data and therefore automate the user interface personalization and 
create and implicit categorical user-interface personalization (Hauser, 2011). Interface 
personalization is often used as different cultural backgrounds (categories of users) need to be 
addressed. Customers from Asia could react differently to information and data that is surrounded by 
a certain color (Aslam, 2006). As users can be addressed according to their cultural background, 
categorical personalization of data and information is therefore able to enhance corporate 
communication efficiency. 
 
 
4.3. Channel personalization 
 
Austrian Airlines as our next case study provides explicit channel personalization Austrian Airlines 
(2009). The customer is able to choose which channel fits his needs best and on which channel he 
would like to receive the information necessary to book the flight, check-in or receive the actual 
flight status. Whether the customer is at home in front of his desktop, on the way to the airport using 
his smartphone (see Figure 7 for the example of a mobile boarding pass) or directly at the check-in-
counter of the airport, he is always able to choose what fits best to his individual situation. This 
personalization is definitely categorical since there are many people who like to receive their flight 
information using their mobile phone or any other given channel. Communication efficiency of the 
received data is definitely increased in situations where customers can perform categorical explicit 
channel personalization. 
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Figure 7. Channel personalization Austrian Airlines (2009) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4. Functionality personalization  
 
Finally, we are now introducing a case for functionality personalization. When people are using their 
smartphone, they are first able to access a predefined number of different services and applications 
which are already installed on their device. Providers of telecommunication are able to offer 
customers a platform where they are individually able to personalize their services and applications 
they would like to use on their smartphone. The Android Market (Google Play Store) is one of these 
available platforms to perform explicit individual functionality personalization. This personalization 
technique uses some technological factors like time-independency, location-independency, multi-
modality and searchability (Goodman & Hirsch, 2010) to increase the efficiency of information 
communication. Customers can choose from different applications and afterwards download and 
install an appropriate application with the required functionality on their smartphone. This process 
can be performed whenever and wherever the customer likes. The provided applications are 
implemented in various forms such as applications for reading, listening, playing or even hybrid 
forms. If we take the application “ORF TVthek: Video on demand” as an example, Austrian 
Broadcasting implemented an additional functionality to their regular broadcasting channels that 
users can choose by installing the application. People are then able to watch videos which were 
broadcasted on television by Austrian Broadcasting in the last days whenever or wherever they 
would like to do so. Ergo the smartphone can be used as a mobile and time-independent television. If 
we take Angry Birds Space as an additional example, people are able to download the application and 
enhance their smartphone and play on it, which increases the available functionalities of the 
smartphone by a playing functionality. The sum of all choices of applications provides a very 
individualized working space for users although a single application could be interpreted as 
categorical personalization. 
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Figure 8. Functionality personalization 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5. Key Success Factors 
 
If we summarize the depicted case studies and consider the classification of personalization as well 
as the personalization process described in the precedent chapters, it is possible to highlight some 
key success factors that are interrelated to the efficient usage of personalization and the creation of 
a competitive advantage in digital business environments. 
 
The first important factor is the creation of a sufficient database of customer preferences and needs. 
Without a reliable data collection, personalization cannot be implemented in various business 
applications and is not able to create a more efficient corporate communication and hence provide a 
competitive advantage for businesses. Thereby it is necessary to carve out as much peculiarities of an 
individual customer as possible to narrow the necessary information down and create a relevant 
personalized environment for information retrieval.  
 
The personalization of information is always accompanied by technology, which hence can be named 
“enabler of personalization” (Montgomery & Smith, 2009). Technology is involved in all steps of the 
process. Technology varies from basic personalization technology like recommender systems to 
technological factors of communication technology like location positioning via GPS technology. 
Although the technology used for the personalization can be cost intensive, it cannot be done 
without an appropriate basic level of automated personalization technology. Nevertheless, 
companies need to assess, if the investment in additional personalization technologies is able to 
create profits in the future.  
 
The implemented algorithms play an important role in the personalization process too. The 
mathematical rules which are performed in the matchmaking step of the personalization process 
build on a sufficient customer database and decide if the personalization is accepted and activates 
the customer. An adequate implementation of personalization algorithms is therefore vital. 
 
Another factor is the flexibility of provided offerings of the corporation. If the content cannot be 
personalized for individual customers or if companies sell just one single product, personalization 
cannot be performed systematically. Consequently personalization is just applicable for companies 
that offer flexible content, functionality, user interface or channels.  
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Additionally, efficient personalization processes need to be measured. If this measurement cannot be 
performed, personalization could yield additional profit, but is always in doubt in terms of effectivity. 
So, personalization requires applicable measurement systems to provide its full range of 
performance.  
 
Finally, personalization processes requires the acceptance of customers. If customers distrust the 
provided personalized information, personalization is not able to yield additional value to the 
relationship between the company and the customer. As a result, companies need to ensure 
transparency, privacy and acceptance of their personalization process. 
 
 
6. Conclusion, Limitations and Further Research 

 
We highlighted the implications of IT-based personalization for the competitiveness of corporations 
in digital business environments by providing short case studies for different personalization types in 
the classification scheme. We also developed a non-exhaustive list of key success factors, which are 
crucial if personalization is applied. By giving these insights into several applications of IT-based 
personalization, we can conclude that the use of personalization strategies in digital business 
environments is crucial for the economic success of companies. Therefore we encourage businesses 
to proactively deal with the risks and possibilities related to personalization and the derived key 
success factors. 
 
A limitation of our work is obviously, that the provided case studies cannot depict the whole range of 
applications for personalization but only the fraction that has been reviewed and thus only analytical 
but not statistical generalization is given. 
 
Further research has to overcome the limitations of this work by analyzing a wider range of cases to 
provide an even more generalizable result. Especially in terms of the provided key success factors, 
developments are conceivable if additional cases are highlighted. Finally, it is necessary to depict the 
implications of the key success factors for corporate processes and underline the consequences of 
their application for the competitiveness of businesses in digital business environments. 
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Abstract 
 
Spicari (in Latin) originally means to spy or explore something or someone. Knowledge or know how 
is based on information and experience which in turn means available knowledge inside an 
organization, practical experience of management and employees as well as skills to develop and 
transform information as soon as possible into powerful and good products and services in high 
quality. In doing so, organizations are focusing on the objective to manage this ‘transformation’ 
better and faster than competitors. Furthermore, global competition and economic crisis produce 
huge pressure and may pave the way for illegal behavior in the field of industrial espionage. Anyway, 
obtained advantages in such a ‘process of transformation’ may be of great interest for competitors. 
In any case, industrial espionage exists since the early days of commercial life. As short introduction 
some examples of oldest survived cases of successful espionage: In the 6th Century, Emperor 
Justinian charged Christian friars with an espionage mission in China to spy oriental silkworms and 
mulberry seeds (fall of the Chinese silkworm monopole); or: in the 1820s, the Germans successfully 
spied experience regarding newest technology in the field of British manufacture of steel in those 
days. 
 
Nowadays, of course, methods and ways of industrial espionage – mainly based on technological 
opportunities - have changed dramatically. In a general sense, industrial espionage, corporate 
espionage or economic espionage can be seen as a kind of espionage conducted for commercial 
purposes (in comparison to only national security reasons). Industrial or corporate espionage occurs 
more often between corporations or competing companies (in this context on an illegal way), while 
economic espionage is orchestrated by intelligence agencies respectively on a governmental level 
(legal as well as illegal). Efforts in the field of industrial espionage try to gain access to an 
organization’s information like strategies, clients, products and services as well as trade secrets. In 
addition, industrial espionage does not mainly resort to violence, since the goal is to achieve data 
without the organization being aware of the appropriation. Hence, the objective is to get in and out 
of the data field without being detected - espionage mainly occurs secretly – confidential information 
and documents mainly are still eavesdropped or copied and therefore still available inside the 
organization. Offenders normally are equipped with technical options and/or human resources as 
well as needed skills to conduct a threat. Beside intelligence agencies, illegal practices from 
competing organizations may occur in different ways, for example in terms of product piracy, letters 
of applications (for the sake of appearance), trainees, organized crime (organized hackers etc.), when 
employees’ entry or departure foreign countries, attacks conducted by foreign or own employees 
(malicious insiders or whistleblowers), in the course of events and exhibitions, customers’ or 
suppliers’ disclosure of confidential information to attackers, and others.  
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To summarize, the ‘sonority’ of industrial espionage is a current and may be a damaging issue for 
organizations. Or to speak with Edwin H. Sutherland (1940) in a more negative sense: “In business, 
the ‘rules of the game’ conflict with the legal rules.”  
 
The (planned full) paper aims on a better understanding of industrial espionage. It reviews 
‘spysonority’ –sonority of potential spies and attacks companies are confronted with. It is / will be 
organized as follows: first, some general issues (history and definitions) on industrial espionage are 
illustrated; second, current scholarly work and studies (mainly focusing on the German-speaking 
market) are presented; third, causes and up to date attack models are analyzed; fourth, related and 
relevant issues from inside and also outside an organization are highlighted, followed by possible 
companies’ prevention measures. The paper ends with a synthesis and main conclusions. 
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Industrial espionage, economic crime, SWOT analysis, attack models, prevention measures 
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Abstract 
 
Although the history of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) reaches back to at least the early 
decades of the 20th century, the issues underlying CSR remain current and many are unresolved. 
Today, public attitudes emphasize the tension between the interests of business and society’s 
interests. Increasingly, businesses have felt the pressure of public distrust of corporate behavior. As a 
result of growing societal pressures, these issues are now discussed in ever widening circles. Among 
those now engaged is Harvard Professor Michael Porter. Porter suggests that there are, in fact, 
opportunities where common ground, between the interests of business and the interests of society, 
may be found. Michael Porter is widely recognized as a leading expert on competitiveness. He has 
long argued that businesses will maximize economic value by choosing to build competitive 
advantages into their firm-specific-value-chains. More recently, Porter has begun to emphasize that, 
at times, such value chain investments will produce more than a single outcome. That is, at times 
these kinds of investments will create what Porter calls shared value (Porter & Kramer, 2011). The 
value is ‘shared’ because the investments’ outcomes include societal benefits. According to Porter 
opportunities for creating shared value will be found when firms explore ways to increase their 
competitiveness. But what kinds of societal benefits should we expect from those explorations? 
Certainly there is no guarantee that every societal need can be met by building greater 
competitiveness into the value chains of firms. Most likely, there will be some pressing social needs 
that cannot be addressed in this way. Nevertheless, at the very least, Porter is saying that some 
societal needs can be effectively met through a shared value approach. Among the societal benefits 
that would fulfill a firm’s social responsibility, is job creation (Industry Canada, 2013). Especially in 
rural communities, job creation is a social need with high importance. Gaps between employment 
rates in rural and urban communities continue to widen. Those gaps demonstrate that current 
government policies aimed at promoting rural equality have been ineffective (Porter M. et. al., 2004). 
In such circumstances job creation by private sector firms, particularly if they are high quality jobs, 
would be most welcome. This paper presents an interesting exception to the trend of rural decline 
just described. HBM Inc. is a sophisticated new-technology-based-firm, which operates within a 
highly competitive sector. Nevertheless, HBM has chosen to base its operations in a rural community 
in Canada. HBM attracts highly skilled employees and their families to a rural setting without 
compromising its goals of innovation, research, product development, service provision and growth. 
The case carefully examines HBM’s value chain to explain how this knowledge-based firm has 
successfully created much needed shared value in a rural environment. 
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Abstract 
 
Port activities are geographically concentrated in a limited number of regions and these regions 
attract substantial number of related firms. Therefore seaports can be regarded as natural born 
clusters. Cluster environment can create synergy between companies within the cluster and also 
stimulate development of social responsibility among entrepreneurs. The cluster based approach 
offers a new way to analyze performance of the port of Riga from a different perspective. The main 
objective of this paper is to find out is the status of a synergy level within the Riga port cluster.  
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Introduction 
 
Competitive field for seaport regions is more complex than ever - the growth of the world economy, 
globalization of production and integration in multimodal transport corridors makes competition 
among ports extremely tough and complicated. The port of Riga fights competitive battles for ships 
and cargos with other ports in the Eastern part of the Baltic Sea – Klaipeda, Tallinn and St. 
Petersburg. It is not simply competition between ports but also between ports clusters. The co-
operation and high synergy level within the cluster could serve as essential factors to increase cluster 
competitiveness and social responsibility of entrepreneurs.  
 
The port of Riga is the biggest seaport in Latvia and a significant part of global and regional cargo 
supply chains, as well passenger traffic network in the Baltic Sea Region. The port of Riga isan integral 
part of the Riga city, providing for strong contribution to the growth of Latvia’s economy. Research 
was made in the port of Riga to find out alternative ways, how to increase competitiveness of the 
port cluster. High level of internal competition and lack of trust among port entrepreneurs are some 
factors which explain a rather low synergy level within the cluster. Research data will help to identify 
problems in the Riga port cluster and find out what could be focus area for the future activities. 
 
 
1. Ports’ Evolution 
 
Ports, like other commercial activities, age constantly changing. They have experienced several 
development phases during last centuries. One of the simplest and most popular port definitions is 
as follows: port – a town with a harbor and facilities for a ship/shore interface and custom facilities 
(Alderton, 2008). Cargo-handling technology and changes in labour requirements and culture have 
also been through radical developments. During the last century, taking into account the changes in 
the world economy, port functions have increased and developed on a global scale. 
 
Ports generations (Alderton, 2008) could be characterized by development of certain activities and 
explained through the following evaluation: 
1. Port as a traditional place for cargo loading and discharging (the first generation, to 1960-ies).  
2. Port as a centre of transport, industry and commercial activities (the second generation, to 

1970-ies). 
3. Port as the establishment of a wide range of logistics and value-added activities, developed in 

conjunction with international industrial and commercial businesses (the third generation, to 
1990-ies).  

4. Port with high level of automation and standardisation in main activities, high technologies 
developed under globalization processes (the fourth generation, from 1990-ies). Companies, 
agencies and other entities operating in the port are more open to co-operation and integration. 

 
Quality of provided services and qualified employees, high level of competitiveness are the main 
features of this port generation. To cope with market uncertainty, Paixão and Marlow suggested that 
ports should adopt a new logistics approach, agility, which has already been employed in other 
industries (Marlow and Paixao, 2003). Mutual integration and co-operation, geographical proximity – 
these are just some indications, why last generation ports can be analyzed like clusters. 
 
 
2. Clusters and Seaports 
 
The cluster is a frequently applied concept, but hardly to seaports, in spite of the fact that seaports 
are clear examples of clustering. Haezendonck (2001) is the first scholar who uses the term ‘port 
cluster’ and draws from cluster theories. She defines a port cluster as ‘the set of interdependent 
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firms engaged in port related activities, located within the same port region and possibly with similar 
strategies leading to competitive advantage and characterized by a joint competitive position vis-à-
vis the environment external to the cluster’ (Haezendonck, 2001). Haezendonck analyzes the 
performance of a port cluster with an adapted version of Porter’s diamond framework (Porter, 1990). 
She identifies 14 factors that influence the competitiveness of seaports, including internal 
competition, internal cooperation, client relationships in the cluster, the presence of related and 
supporting industries and the behavior of (different levels of) the government. 
 
The cluster approach recently has been used to analyze ports. A good example of port cluster case 
study is Antwerp’s port cluster, which is annually reported by the Bank of Belgium. In this study, a 
cluster population of about 1, 000 firms, including logistics and industrial firms is identified. The 
development of the added value of this cluster is calculated (Kassalis, Kasalis, & Kasalis, 2011). 
 
The first step to set up a cluster is to identify the economic specialization of the cluster. In case of 
seaports the core specialization is the arrival of goods and ships (de Langen, 2003). The port cluster is 
comprised of all activities related to the arrival of goods and ships. The most important business 
activities to be included in the cluster are: 

 cargo handling (stevedores); 
 transport (railway, road transport); 
 logistics (warehouses); 
 manufacturing (ship building, wood-processing and other). 

 
The importance of favorable geographical conditions, such as the presence of a navigable river and 
deep-water shelters and the structure of the seabed, combined with economies of scale of port 
facilities, explain the concentration of the arrival of ships and goods in a limited number of ports 
(instead of a ‘scattered’ distribution of terminals along the coast). All economic activities required 
enabling the loading and unloading of cargo and ships are included in the port cluster. These 
activities include terminal handling, pilot and towage. The arrival of ships and goods attracts related 
economic activities and therefore ports may be considered as drivers of agglomeration in cities. 

 
 
3. Riga Port Cluster 
 
Latvian ports with the history of more than eight hundred years form significant part of global and 
regional cargo supply chains and passenger traffic network in the Baltic Sea Region, providing safe 
and reliable services. The three largest seaports (Riga, Ventspils, Liepaja) and seven smaller ports lie 
on the coast line of the Baltic Sea and the Gulf of Riga, playing an important role in transport system 
national economy of Latvia. About 98% of the total cargo turnover in Latviain 2012 was made up by 
three export oriented large ports. Main types of cargo handled at large ports are containers, various 
metals, timber, coal, mineral fertilizers, chemical cargoes, and oil and food products. 
 
The Port of Riga is the biggest port in Latvia and makes a strong contribution to the growth of Latvia’s 
economy. According to provisional calculations, operation of the Freeport of Riga provides 
approximately 3 to 3.3 % of the gross domestic product of Latvia. The port is not just a spender of tax 
payers’ money, but also the major tax payer: the port authority, together with port enterprises, pays 
state taxes in the amount of 350-420 million euro per year. Operation of the port has a multiple 
influence and the current average income is 14 euro for each reloaded ton of cargo. Share of the 
Baltic Sea ports in the total sea bound cargo volume of the region in 2008 was as follows: Riga -23%, 
Klaipeda -23%, Tallin -22%, Ventspils -22%, Butinge -7% and Liepaja -3%(Freeport of Riga; Handbook 
2008). 
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The Port is open for navigation all year round. Loading capacity (assessed) at the terminals of the 
Freeport of Riga accounts to45 million tons per annum. Main types of cargo handled at the Freeport 
are coal, timber, containers, mineral fertilizers, chemical cargoes, and petrol and food products 
(Freeport of Riga Development Programme, 2009). 
 
Population of Riga port cluster includes not only companies located in the territory of the port, but 
also companies and organizations whose activities are related to maintenance of port’s operations– 
transport and logistics companies, financial institutions and others (see Figure 1). 
 
Figure 1. Structure of Riga Port Cluster 
 

 
 
The majority of cargos is transported further by road or railway; therefore transport firms are so 
closely related to the arrival of goods and services and are included in the port cluster. Logistics 
activities (storage, re-packing, assembling and other) are included in the port cluster because goods 
are stored in the port. Construction companies and equipment suppliers are essential partners for 
stevedores and also an important part of cluster population. Cargo transshipment activities are 
capital consuming, thus financial institutions also plays an important role in the development of port 
cluster. 
 
There are 15 different associations and organizations related to the Riga port activities and thus must 
be included in the port cluster. Co-operation between companies and governmental institutions is 
important, because governmental institutions are responsible for legislation and development policy. 
Educational institutions train workforce for port cluster members and therefore form an integral part 
of cluster population, as well. 
 
 
4. Entrepreneurship in the Riga Port Cluster 
 
Seaports are natural born clusters. Extremely important issue is the degree efficiency of 
entrepreneurs in getting synergy effect from cluster environment. Research was accomplished to 
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find out different types of synergy between entrepreneurs, institutions related to port activities. 
Closer integration and efficient co-operation could be important factors to foster the development of 
the Riga port cluster and create better environment for socially responsible business. Management 
of 80% of stevedore’s was surveyed during the research in the port of Riga. Entrepreneurs were 
asked to evaluate several indicators to characterize business environment in the port of Riga – level 
of trust between companies, co-operation with competitors, co-operation with municipality and R&D 
institutions, universities. Evaluation was made by using the value scale from 0 to 5, where 0 means 
very low level of trust and 5 is the highest score. 
 
Collabouration is very much influenced by overall entrepreneurship environment, which can be 
characterized by level of trust among cluster members (see Figure 2). 
 
Figure 2. Level of trust               Figure 3. Co-operation with competitors 
 

 
 
The majority of stevedore’s considers the level of trust to be medium or rather low, and only some of 
them have a very good experience in co-operation with other companies within the port. One of the 
ways to test the level of trust is to evaluate collabouration with competitors. As shown in Figure 3, in 
general, collabouration with competitors is medium or low. There are still some exceptions and a few 
companies have good experience in co-operation with competitors. Unfortunately, on the whole, the 
entrepreneurship environment is not motivating companies to collabourate with competitors and 
one of the reasons for that is high internal competition in the Riga port cluster. 
 
Municipality, as a manager of the port and the landlord, is an essential member of the cluster. 
Municipality is responsible for overall port development and infrastructure. It has to provide strategic 
vision of future development and support cluster companies’ daily activities. To develop successful 
future plans, it is necessary to involve port companies and know their needs. Ministries (Ministry of 
Transport, Ministry of Economics, Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional Development) 
can influence port development by elabourating rules and policies. Therefore another direction of 
the research was the co-operation between governmental institutions and port companies. Figure 4 
summarizes the answers of entrepreneurs regarding co-operation with governmental institutions 
(including management of the Port of Riga).  
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Figure 4. Co-operation with governmental          Figure 5. Co-operation with educational  
institutions              institutions 

 
 
Answers of entrepreneurs lack uniformity – part of them has good co-operation with governmental 
institutions, and the same number of entrepreneurs have pure collabouration. Almost half of 
stevedores are not satisfied with co-operation with municipality. This is another proof of the fact that 
something is wrong within the business environment in the Riga port cluster.  
 
Educational institutions provide port companies with new professional employees and can also train 
workforce in the Riga port cluster. Co-operation with educational institutions can increase the level 
of innovation in the port cluster as, for example, universities can produce different types of studies 
regarding industry, therefore providing entrepreneurs with new knowledge. According to the 
entrepreneurs’ answers, companies are very passive to co-operate with educational institutions and 
there is still a lot of space for improvement. Managers of the companies recognize the importance of 
co-operation with educational institutions, but at the same time expect more initiative on the part of 
the universities. Entrepreneurs are arguing that it is difficult to co-operate with above mentioned 
institutions on a standalone basis, and collabouration with other companies could make this co-
operation more effective. 
 
80% of all respondents have agreed that synergy from port cluster environment could increase 
competitiveness. Based on the entrepreneurs’ responses, it can be concluded that co-operation with 
customers and suppliers is the most important area of collabouration (see Figure 6).Closer 
integration with clients and suppliers could ensure positive influence on the income level and reduce 
expenses. Entrepreneurs consider that competitors, governmental institutions and educational 
institutions are also important partners of co-operation. The benefits of co-operation with the 
secluster members could have an indirect effect and results could be observed in the long run.  
 
Figure 6. Most important co-operation partners 
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In general, entrepreneurs share positive attitude towards port cluster development as a tool to 
increase competitiveness, but opinions vary whenever they are asked who should start the initiative 
of cluster development. Less than one half of entrepreneurs consider that entrepreneurs themselves 
must initiate cluster development and are willing to deliver such initiative to governmental 
institutions – administration of the Freeport and municipality. 
 
Cluster case study shows that the most successful clusters have developed, when cluster initiative 
was undertaken by entrepreneurs and not governmental institutions. Entrepreneurs’ passivity to get 
involved in the cluster development process poses a potential threat to further growth of the Riga 
port cluster. Port cluster may have different structure and it will definitely be subject to 
transformation for as long as the optimal structure is found. Some of the members will leave, while 
others will join in, but the most crucial thing for all the cluster members is to understand the benefits 
of collabouration and keep the motivation in daily cluster activities. Co-operation and competition 
are the key words to remember. 
 
 
5. Conclusions 
 
1. Synergy level in the Riga port cluster is low because of lack of trust among port companies. High 

internal competition is one of the reasons, why the level of trust is so low.Co-operation with 
governmental and educational institutions is not a systematic and common practice for the Riga 
port cluster. The level of synergy between entrepreneurs and educational institutions is very 
low, which may result in reduced number of innovations and lower qualification of workforce. 

2. In general, entrepreneurs agree that port cluster may increase competitiveness of the company 
and overall social responsibility level. However, only a small part of entrepreneurs is ready to be 
actively involved in cluster initiative as founders.  

3. Higher synergy level in the Riga port cluster can create tangible benefits for cluster members: 
 Companies can operate with a higher level of efficiency and increase competitiveness; 
 Companies and educational institutions can achieve higher level of innovation and train 

more qualified workforce; 
 Dialogue between companies and governmental institutions will improve and the 

economic development policies to be established may be more focused and favorable for 
entrepreneurs. 

 Level of trust is increasing within the cluster, at the same time reducing the costs of 
failure. 

4. It is necessary to intensify mutual communication among the members of the Riga port cluster. 
The development of interactive internet platform could facilitate information exchange and 
communication between cluster members.  

5. Setting up of a professional cluster management team is one of the first actions to be taken. 
Cluster management should include Riga port administration and entrepreneurs, as well. 
Therefore it would be possible to take advantage of Riga port administrative resources and 
information. Internal communication between entrepreneurs and Riga port administration 
would improve.  
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Abstract 
 
The article deals with a topic of corporate social responsibility and its implementation in Slovak 
business practice. It is focused on particular principles and elements of corporate social responsibility 
and their application within selected sample of businesses. The main goal of the article is to evaluate 
contemporary situation concerning application of corporate social responsibility principles at a 
sample of Slovak enterprises and to identify contributions and risks related to its realization. The 
research is aimed at analysis of attitudes and awareness of entrepreneurs of socially responsible 
behavior, identification of reasons, incentives and obstacles to adopting corporate social 
responsibility as well as practices of businesses in the field of corporate social responsibility and 
preferences regarding particular areas of socially responsible entrepreneurship. Primary data 
involved in the article have been collected by empiric research conducted at a sample of 52 
respondents of different size, legal form and line of business by using of query method. 
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1. Introduction 
 
History of corporate social responsibility (CSR) in Slovakia is relatively short. Implementation of this 
concept is closely related to market entry of multinational companies in the second half of the 
nineties of 20th century and inflow of foreign investments into Slovak economy. Even nowadays 
responsible business practices are extended and applied extensively in enterprises with foreign 
capital participation in which the concept of CSR represents a part of a business strategy as a result 
of the transfer of activities supporting the implementation of CSR from the parent companies. 
However ideas of CSR are gradually adopted and successfully implemented also by purely Slovak 
enterprises, particularly those that emphasize their competitiveness and sustainability of the 
business.  
 
The competitive advantages associated with the application of CSR principles can help the companies 
in the process of overcoming the negative effects of the global economic crisis. Especially in times of 
crisis many companies have realized the necessity to streamline business activities and identified 
need for more rational use of business resources. The crisis encouraged the companies to behave in 
a more responsible way. The typical signs of the economic crisis in the business sector are an effort 
to reduce costs in the various fields of entrepreneurship, avoid wasting of inputs, improving of 
business production and services, focus on profitable activities, effective use of financial, human and 
material resources, stricter selection of suppliers and inputs, responsible approach to investment 
decision-making and implementation of investment projects, more intensive reflecting of needs and 
requirements of customers, increased productivity, performance, risk diversification and 
restructuring of corporate activities. Some companies used the crisis period for innovation of 
products and technologies in order to gain an advantage over competitors and better meet 
customer`s needs. During the crisis companies focused on strengthening of customers` loyalty, 
improvement of relationship with customers in order to maintain them, stronger inter-enterprise 
cooperation, more intensive communication with employees and their motivation in the process of 
overcoming the consequences of the crisis and the implementation of anti-crisis measures, 
employees involvement in problem solving and decision making, detection and solving of long lasting 
deficiencies and problems, increase of transparency of business activities and processes. Those 
activities, respectively measures clearly contribute to the fulfillment of CSR principles in business 
practice and encourage the development of responsible corporate behavior.  
 
On the other hand the global economic crisis has had naturally also a negative impact on the 
implementation of activities of CSR. The companies have been dismissing employees, reducing funds 
for remuneration and employee benefits, applying restrictions on the production, investments, 
donations, sponsorships, experiencing poor payment discipline of customers, inability to cover 
obligations, breaking of contract terms, eventually unethical business behavior. 
 
CSR can help rebuild trust in business, which is an important element of the health of European social 
market economy, particularly in today's difficult times of global recession (Palovičová, 2010). 
Opportunity for the application of CSR principles and expressions of interest in what is happening 
around the company arises especially at this time when the society, more than before the crisis, 
doubts about responsibility and respect for ethical standards in business. CSR principles should be 
applied to all processes of corporate governance, i.e. responsibility means to evaluate the impact of 
company`s decisions on all subjects in its internal and external environment.  
 
 
2. The Principles of Corporate Social Responsibility and their Implementation 

 
The concept of corporate social responsibility is based on voluntary activities of company aimed at 
transfer of positive effects of entrepreneurship, respectively elimination or at least minimization of 
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the negative effects of entrepreneurship on stakeholders, i.e. employees, suppliers, customers, 
consumers, shareholders, investors, financing institutions, community members, various 
organizations, other businesses, partners in business, state and local governments and other entities 
affected by doing business. The essential feature of the CSR is to extend the benefits of business to 
the largest possible number of stakeholders within the company and in its surrounding. Companies 
doing business responsibly in advance consider and evaluate the consequences of their decisions and 
activities in their internal as well as external environment that could be affected by these actions and 
respect the needs and interests of stakeholders. 
 
An important part of the evaluation of business by different subjects is not only the economic and 
financial performance, but also its performance in social and environmental areas. According to 
Varcholová and Dubovická (2011) corporate responsibility is particularly important in the global 
economy because it requires a shift to a broader view of performance, which includes a mechanism 
for preventing the deterioration of the living conditions of human civilization. This is not observed by 
the key success factors of enterprise focusing solely on financial performance. 
 
Entrepreneurial activity is not accompanied only by making profits and achieving of economic effects 
of doing business, but also the action on the social sphere and the environment, as the company is 
not an isolated unit. Range of effects of doing business is derived primarily from the line of business, 
business sector, the type and size of business, place of business, geographic scope of business or 
technologies used by company. The essence of CSR is that from the execution of business should 
benefit not only the company itself, respectively its owners, but also its employees and other 
subjects in its closer and wider surrounding. Such behavior of business contributes to the 
sustainability of society that affects also sustainability of business itself. 
 
The executors of corporate socially responsible activities are business entities. In fact, as holders of 
CSR activities can be considered human resources of business - business owners and employees with 
the competence to decide on what is happening in the company, respectively perform assigned 
tasks. If a company behaves responsibly, it means that its owners and employees behave and act 
responsibly, since they represent a company, make decisions (e.g. on selection of suppliers, acquired 
inputs, technologies, methods of sale, marketing, human resources management, economic and 
financial issues etc.), perform functions and provide various business activities. In their actions and 
behavior should be integrated features of the CSR. 
 
Profit making is important for the realization of business investments, not only directly in the 
production process, but also in human resources of business, environment, community support, 
socially-oriented activities, while from generating of profit benefits also state itself in the form of tax 
revenues to the state budget. The economic dimension of business is therefore very closely linked 
with the social and environmental dimension of business. Within this dimension the resources 
necessary for financing of other areas are generated. Approach of company to business resource 
management and its effectiveness also determine the extent of activities and performance of 
business in non-economic sphere. On the other hand, undertaking activities in this field may 
reciprocally influence the economic aspect of the business and contribute to positive economic 
results. 
 
Investments in education and employees care enable to increase qualification and motivation of 
employees to work and in that way contribute to increase of labour productivity, performance, 
profitability and efficiency in the economic field, but also are reflected in the approach of employees 
to environmental protection, to meeting the needs of customers, the level of services provided. Also 
approach of enterprise to environmental protection, implementation of energy and material-saving 
technologies, production of innovated, environmentally friendly products allow company to 
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maintain, respectively acquire new customers, increase its competitiveness and achieve an increase 
in sales and other economic indicators. 
 
The economic perspective of the CSR is dedicated to building of good relationships with stakeholders 
that have an impact on the economic activity of the enterprise (Varcholová & Dubovická, 2011). In 
the economic field, CSR is manifested not only in the approach of business to resources management 
and in level of inputs using, but also in responsible approach to performing of tax and insurance 
contributions duties, in the correct relationship of enterprise to its suppliers (including equality of 
opportunities by their selection), trading partners, investors, customers, applying of ethical principles 
in marketing, respect for intellectual property and personal data protection, producing of high quality 
and safe products and services, investing in technology and product innovations, respecting 
competition rules, rejecting corruption and unfair business practices, in a transparent governance of 
business and streamlining of economic processes. Mentioned principles and their consistent 
application determine economic prosperity of company, its image, market position and long-term 
sustainability of entrepreneurship, which is a guarantee of job stability for employees and their 
incomes. The profitability of business is an assumption for investments in human resources of 
company and improving the work environment, which is reflected in the level of satisfaction and 
performance of employees. In addition to making a profit and satisfying the needs of the company 
(entrepreneurs) itself, it is important to meet the needs of employees and customers who participate 
in the process of profit making as well. Long-term success of a business depends on the quality and 
sustainable business networks, where a responsible approach to partners contributes to building of 
mutual trust, enhancing product quality and finally leads to higher profits in the business cooperation 
(Pavlík & Bělčík, 2010). 
 
The social dimension of CSR relates to the internal work environment and relationship of company 
(employer) to the labour force as well as external environment, i.e. relationship to community, public 
and citizens. The CSR activities in the social field are focused on taking care of employees, health 
protection and creating of adequate work conditions, education and development, employment of 
disabled persons, respectively persons disadvantaged on labour market, equality and non-
discrimination of labour force (according to gender, age, education, race, health status, etc.), 
retraining programs (outplacement), compliance with labour standards, employees ' rights, work-life 
balance, improving the quality of life of employees and citizens, voluntary and charitable activities, 
donations, sponsorship, promotion of community projects. It is in favour of the employer to pay an 
adequate attention to employees and their needs because enterprise depends on their work; they 
create values, participate in business activities and allow achieving of business goals. On the other 
hand employees are dependent on enterprise because employment represents a source of regular 
incomes and largely affects their personal life, range of leisure time or health. Respecting the fact 
that human resources are an important factor of business competitiveness, acquisition and retention 
of high-quality staff, effective stimulation of employees, their identification with business objectives 
and increase of satisfaction and loyalty are very important for successful operation of enterprise on 
the market and its sustainable development. Activities carried out by enterprise in favour of public 
also contribute to the positive image of the enterprise to its external environment, to acquisition of 
new customers, increasing of demand for products and services, spreading of positive reputation of 
the company. 
 
The environmental CSR activities focus on environmental protection through the development and 
production of environmentally friendly products, use of production technologies reducing the 
environmental burden by waste or emissions, reduced consumption of inputs, protection of natural 
resources, reducing and recycling of waste, use of secondary materials, recyclable packaging, 
alternative (renewable) energy sources and environmentally friendly means of transport for the 
procurement of inputs and distribution of products as well as promoting of responsible approach to 
the environment. The aim of these activities is to moderate the negative impacts of business 
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(economic activities) on the environment, as well as company employees, consumers and public. On 
the other hand the application of CSR principles in this area enables the company to achieve return 
on investment in environmental protection through the acquisition of new customers, business 
partners and investors who consider environmental aspect of the business important. At the same 
time these activities produce positive effects in the economic area in terms of input cost saving, 
reduction of waste management cost or fines for environmental pollution, in the form of more 
efficient use of corporate resources and increased profitability. 
 
 
3. Survey of Corporate Social Responsibility Implementation in Business Practice in Slovakia 

 
Empirical research of CSR activities in Slovakia was conducted on a sample of businesses with a 
frequency of 52 respondents. We chose query method using the questionnaire as a tool for data 
collection. The sample consisted of businesses of different size and legal form, regardless of their 
location, line of business and year of establishment. Questionnaires were distributed electronically 
and contained mainly closed and semi-closed questions focused on the object of research, i.e. the 
application of CSR principles in business practice in Slovakia, its benefits and disadvantages for 
businesses, incentives and barriers to its implementation. 
 
We used identification questions for classification of respondents' answers and for comparison of 
data obtained from the different categories of enterprises. The research sample consisted of 
manufacturing companies (38 %), service companies (38 %) as well as commercial companies (24 %) 
engaged in the retail and wholesale of various kinds of goods. Enterprises engaged in the field of 
production identified as their core business the production of rubber products, plastic products, 
plastic sheets, tubes and profiles, production of alcohol and tobacco products, formwork 
components, castings and paper. Service providing businesses represented in the sample stated their 
focus mainly on administrative services, organization of events, providing of economic, financial, 
accommodation and food services. In the sample there were represented respondents of different 
size categories (number of employees), i.e. micro-enterprises (42 %), small enterprises (12 %), 
medium (23 %) and large enterprises (23 %). Most frequent in the sample were businesses 
incorporated as a limited liability company (62 %), sole-traders and corporations (19 %). Foreign 
capital was present in 31 % of companies in the sample. The majority (54 %) of businesses were 
founded after 2001, 15 % of respondents originated in the years 1996 - 2000, 19 % in the period 1990 
- 1995 and 12 % were established in the period of centrally planned economy (before 1989). 
 
The article contains a summary of the main outcomes that emerged from the empirical survey on a 
sample of businesses. In the questionnaire survey we investigated the knowledge of the CSR in order 
to see how familiar with this concept researched companies are. Most respondents (65 %) said that 
they fully knew the term CSR and its principles, 31 % of entrepreneurs expressed some awareness of 
the concept of CSR (only partial, not complex and deep knowledge of the term) and 4 % of 
respondents were totally unfamiliar with this concept. Of course, this was only a subjective 
assessment by the respondents how they perceive the knowledge of the CSR. The fact that 
enterprise knows the concept of CSR does not mean that its principles are being applied in practice. 
The core of the questionnaire also included questions focused on different dimensions of CSR. 
Respondents had the opportunity to select up to four activities undertaken and considered as 
priority in particular fields. The results for the economic dimension of the CSR are presented in the 
following table. 
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Table 1. The importance of CSR principles in economic dimension 
 

CSR principles Relative frequency of respondents 
Quality of products or services 88 % 
Correct relations with suppliers and customers  62 % 
Respecting of agreements 50 % 
Regular control of customers satisfaction  35 % 
Transparency in business activities  31 % 
Truthful advertising  27 % 
Innovations and sustainability of products  27 % 
Ethical principles set by ethical codex 27 % 
Regular detection of customers` preferences  23 % 
Public rejection of corruption 15 % 
Good relations with investors 12 % 
Protection of intellectual property  12 % 

 
Source: Empirical research.  
  
Respondents assigned the greatest weight to quality of business outputs, which has a direct impact 
on the level of satisfaction of customer needs, reputation and competitiveness of products and 
services on the market. Respondents also emphasized good and fair relationships with suppliers and 
customers, i.e. with entities that are also largely contributing to the success of business results. Half 
of the interviewed companies stated the importance of proper observance of commitments in trade 
(subcontracting) relations. Also the following characteristics of CSR selected by respondents were 
focused on customer satisfaction, providing of accurate information to customers and 
communication with customers or offer of innovated products enabling the company to retain and 
attract new prospective customers. The frequency of responses probably depended on the category 
of company and nature of business activities (the need for intellectual property protection, the need 
for external investors, the existence of an ethical code of business). 
 
Within the social aspect of the CSR the participants were being asked on its manifestations in relation 
to employees and separately in relation to the stakeholders in the surrounding of company. CSR 
principles applied by companies towards employees are shown in table 2. 

 
Table 2. The importance of CSR principles in internal social dimension 
 

CSR principles Relative frequency of respondents 
Compliance with drinking regime 62 % 
Safe work environment  62 % 
Employees` benefits 57 % 
Education and development of employees  46 % 
Discounts on goods and services provided to employees 42 % 
Health care of employees  35 % 
Equal employment opportunities for men and women 27 % 
Employees satisfaction survey 23 % 
Alternative methods of leadership 19 % 
After work program for employees 12 % 
Balance between work and private life 8 % 
Employment of people with disabilities 4 % 
Retraining of released employees 0 % 

 
Source: Empirical research.  
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The most of respondents indicated in the work environment principles related to employees health, 
occupational safety, various employees benefits and employees training. Significant influence on the 
respondents’ answers had the nature of enterprise and also the type of work performed by 
employees (risk level at work, severity of job etc.). Very important are those activities, which are 
carried out on a voluntary basis beyond the obligations required by law. Businesses are aware of the 
fact that care of employees and improving of the work environment quality can influence the growth 
of labour productivity, make better use of manpower, improve the quality of performed work, 
prevent staff turnover and promote stabilization of human resources. Through social enterprise 
policy the company is reflecting its responsibility to its employees, but also to their families. 
 
The social dimension of corporate responsibility includes also business relationship to the external 
environment, i.e. the stakeholders in the closer and wider business surrounding. Interviewed 
companies had the opportunity to evaluate their behavior and its demonstration in this area. The 
findings are summarized in table 3. 
 
Table 3. The importance of CSR principles in external social dimension  

CSR principles Relative frequency of respondents 
Sponsorship 46 % 
Financial and nonfinancial donations 35 % 
Organizing of conferences and fairs  27 % 
Organizing of lectures for schools and public  23 % 
Investments in community programs 19 % 
Charity 19 % 
Corporate volunteering 15 % 
No activities 12 % 
Infrastructure investments 0 % 

Source: Empirical research.  
 
Almost half of the respondents included sponsorship among the most important activities in this 
dimension of the CSR, which provides businesses certain marketing effects, to a lower extent 
companies apply donations, which are not so communicated to the public and donor does not expect 
any return for it. Respondents in the sample also identified activities (e.g. volunteering, education) 
that do not require expenditures, respectively are less expensive. 12 % of respondents do not 
develop any socially responsible activities towards the external environment due to limited financial 
resources. Companies in this area can realize CSR activities also in a case of limited financial 
resources. This CSR dimension might not be necessarily developed only in large enterprises operating 
with sufficient amount of financial resources, but also in small enterprises or start-ups, which may 
also participate in activities in favor of the various stakeholders. 
 
The subject of our interest was also the activities of corporate responsibility in the field of 
environmental protection. The data are recorded in the following table. 
 
Table 4. The importance of CSR principles in environmental dimension 

CSR principles Relative frequency of respondents 
Saving energy and materials 73 % 
Waste separation 69 % 
Monitoring the impacts of company on environment  23 % 
Utilization of secondary materials 23 % 
Other (protection of natural resources) 15 % 
Repurchase of used containers 12 % 
Development and use of technologies that protect the environment 4 % 
Production of ecologically friendly products 4 % 

Source: Empirical research.  
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We assume that the degree of enterprise involvement in environmental protection also depends on 
branch of industry, the intensity of the impact of business activities on the environment and also the 
availability of funds (especially in terms of investment in technology). Among the widely available 
and also the most preferred activities belonged the saving of materials and energy resources and 
waste separation, which deliver cost savings stimulating these activities. Even in this area of CSR it is 
crucial how the companies proceed to protecting the environment without being forced by 
legislation. Key factors are voluntary activities resulting from own initiative of enterprise and belief 
that addressing environmental issues is also important for the sustainability of business and the 
whole society. 
 
We also researched the main reasons, which prevent more intensive application of CSR principles in 
business practice. As the most important barriers enterprises mentioned those contained in table 5. 

 
Table 5. The most frequent reasons against the intensification of socially responsible activities 
 

Factors limiting CSR Relative frequency of respondents 
Limited financial resources 54 % 
Other 42 % 
Lack of knowledge about CSR 31 % 
Low motivation and cooperation of employees 31 % 
Low profitability of CSR activities 19 % 
Low popularity 15 % 
Missing incentives 12 % 
No interest (goal) to be socially responsible enterprise 12 % 

Source: Empirical research.  
 
Most respondents ranked among barriers of the CSR implementation economic possibilities of the 
enterprise, i.e. the lack of financial resources, but also external factors (by the response "Other") as 
the current state of the business environment, the global economic situation in the country and 
corrupt environment. Under current conditions the battle for customer is intensifying, the 
competition and financial burden is growing and it probably indirectly leads companies to ease up 
from their responsibility or developing their CSR activities. Except of financial and system barriers 
respondents included among the most common barriers of CSR a lack of knowledge about the 
possibilities of its implementation or low support from the employees of the company who are 
expected to realize the ideas of CSR in everyday practice. 
 
On the other hand we examined the reasons leading companies to implement CSR principles. The 
main motives that respondents identified were resulting essentially from the advantages of the CSR 
and were based on internal or external business environment (table 6). 
 
Table 6. The most frequent reasons of CSR implementation  
 

Reasons for CSR implementation Relative frequency of respondents 
Personal conviction of owners 46 % 
Improvement of business image 12 % 
Streamlining of internal processes  12 % 
Improvement of relations with surrounding subjects 12 % 
Improvement of relations with customers 8 % 
Other (improvement of work environment, employees 
satisfaction and stabilization) 8 % 

Possibility of higher profit  4 % 
Source: Empirical research.  
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Almost half of the surveyed companies agreed that the primary reason for the implementation of the 
CSR was the inner conviction of its necessity. Owners and managers were aware of the global 
positive effects of CSR and the need of connection of enterprise with social and environmental 
systems from which it is impossible to isolate. With much less frequency occurred various reasons 
related to the specific effects of the CSR including the possibility of achieving higher profits. None of 
the respondents identified a possibility of gaining competitive advantage, increase of labour 
productivity and increasing investors` interest in the company. 
 
Respondents also commented on possibilities to support socially responsible activities in Slovakia 
(table 7). 
 
Table 7. Tools stimulating CSR activities 

Stimulating tools Relative frequency of respondents 
Tax allowances 81 % 
Lowering of fees 50 % 
More information on CSR 31 % 
Reduction of insurance payments 23 % 
Discounted interest rates  4 % 
Other (public awards) 4 % 

Source: Empirical research.  
 
Respondents preferred incentives especially in terms of reducing the financial burden, i.e. in the form 
of various tax incentives, fee reductions (e.g. local taxes for municipal waste removal) or due to 
mandatory social security contributions. The replies of the respondents contained also proposals on 
information support and enhancement of complex knowledge about CSR principles and their 
practical implementation in the form of a coherent concept. 
 
Enterprises in the sample were allowed to express the extent to which they perceive themselves as 
socially responsible businesses. According to their subjective assessment, 43 % considered 
themselves as rather responsible, 23 % of businesses were unable to assess this fact, 19 % of 
respondents considered themselves as definitely responsible, 15 % selected option rather 
irresponsible and no business perceived itself as totally irresponsible.  
 
Enterprises critically assessed the current state of their social responsibility and probably they are 
aware of their reserves in the implementation of CSR principles and of opportunities for 
improvement in this area. 
 
 
4. Conclusions 

 
Implementation of CSR principles clearly evokes positive effects in business practice. Business 
responsibility in particular areas contributes to company good will creation, to increasing of company 
trustworthiness and loyalty of stakeholders. Socially responsible enterprise can benefit from higher 
probability of long-term sustainability of the company. Such a company is becoming more attractive 
to customers, commercial partners, investors, creditors, employees and shareholders. Consequently 
it can increase the value of shares, market share, demand for products and services, quality of 
human resources, performance, competitiveness in various business areas and profit. When buying 
products and services customers are to some extent influenced by the fact that producer is socially 
responsible enterprise taking social responsibility in the process of products manufacturing and in 
many cases are even willing to pay for them higher price. CSR has a positive impact on the area of 
risk management as the company pays attention to the selection and procurement of inputs, 
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production, human resource management, sale and marketing activities, environmental protection, 
investments, financing, consumer protection etc. what results in cost reductions for solving of 
negative effects of business risk (e.g. penalties, fees, losses due to irresponsible investment 
decisions, decline in demand for products). CSR stimulates innovation activities of enterprises, which 
enable better satisfaction of customer needs and improve the environment, but also reduce costs 
(e.g. reduced consumption of inputs, more efficient use of resources) and allow to differentiate 
company from competitors on the market (Klement, 2009). 
 
As demonstration of corporate social responsibility can be considered the fact that company declares 
its responsible behavior only when really doing so and truthfully informs the stakeholders about its 
activities. In business practice occur some cases when companies apparently falsely claim to be 
responsible, but in fact not doing so in order to advertise the products and increase interest among 
customers. 
 
The implementation of CSR principles requires financial resources in different volumes depending on 
the type of activity, but the costs regarding CSR activities should return to the company in the form 
of mentioned positive effects in the shorter or longer time period. Spending on CSR activities can be 
seen as investments in strengthening stability, competitiveness and business development. Of 
course, not in each case, as it usually is for investment, an expected return (results, benefits) is 
achieved as investments relate to the future and the future is always uncertain. It is essential that 
socially responsible business activities would be carried out on a voluntary basis, relied mainly on 
companies internal beliefs and were the result of conscious perception of social and environmental 
problems. There is a wide range, even inexpensive, activities focused on the development of 
corporate social responsibility, which are also available for micro or small enterprises, respectively 
start-ups, which may not be able to implement expensive projects due to limited financial resources. 
It is very important to inform companies about opportunities of CSR implementation and 
dissemination in business practice. We share the opinion (Varcholová & Dubovická, 2011) that there 
are many effective ways of help, for example in the form of sharing knowledge, experience, 
volunteering, donating the products, training and education, providing of economic and legislative 
services or assistance. 
 
Enterprises should behave responsibly not only in the period of expansion and in times of prosperity, 
but also in times of crisis when they can contribute to solving of many social problems and to 
moderate the negative impacts of the crisis. It is important to follow the CSR principles in business 
practice not only occasionally, but they should become a natural and integral part of doing business 
in Slovakia. 
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Abstract 
 
The paper deals with the corporate social responsibility and its three pillars, economic, social and 
environmental, among small and medium sized enterprises in Slovakia. The paper analyzes the rate 
of knowledge in small and medium sized enterprises about the corporate social responsibility and 
presents the level of investments put in partial fields of corporate social responsibility on sample of 
enterprises involved in empirical research held in year 2012. The paper presents identified 
advantages and disadvantages of corporate social responsibility concept. We can conclude that 
surveyed enterprises are willing to invest in areas, where it is easier to measure returns and also risk 
is lower, such as economic pillar of corporate social responsibility. At the end we presents several 
recommendations for small and medium sized enterprises and state institutions which 
implementation could help improve socially responsible behavior of enterprises as well as state 
institutions.  
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1. Introduction 
 

In everyday life we encounter with the responsibility. We are talking about responsible parenthood, 
responsibility, responsible behavior in public, responsible management of the car or about the 
responsibility to oneself. Each individual, however, bears the responsibility for the future and the 
planet on which we live. All our activities as well as inaction shapes current and future state of the 
environment. Also business is one of those areas where the responsibility for performed acts takes 
an important place. So it is natural that we are increasingly facing with the concept of corporate 
social responsibility, respectively social responsibility of business. 
 
This approach can be characterized as voluntary affiliation of entrepreneurs to expand their business, 
from which does not benefit only the business itself, but also its surroundings. 
 
The experience shows that social responsibility in business is interesting and beneficial to all 
businesses, regardless of their size. In this paper, we will deal with small and medium-sized 
enterprises in Slovakia. Our goal is to identify the knowledge of a corporate social responsibility in 
SMEs and a level of applied activities (investments) in the economic, social and environmental fields. 
 
 
2. Corporate Social Responsibility 

 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) has a global inconsistency in the definition, which is mainly due 
to the fact that corporate social responsibility is based on voluntary activities and is not strictly 
defined by limits and regulations. As an example we state a definition according to European 
Commission Green Paper dealing with introducing of framework for corporate social responsibility 
(2001), which defines corporate social responsibility as a concept whereby companies integrate 
social and environmental considerations into daily business operations and customer interactions. 
 
World Business Council for Sustainable Development describes CSR as a commitment of business to 
behave ethically and contribute to economic growth and to participate in improving the quality of life 
of employees and their families throughout the local community and society as a whole (Pavlík & 
Bělčík, 2010). 
 
Common characteristics of CSR definitions are mainly versatility (principles of the CSR can be applied 
to all business units), voluntary (it exceeded the statutory obligations of the company), cooperation 
with stakeholders, company's commitment to contributing to the quality of life and focus not only on 
economic growth, but also on the social and environmental consequences of business. 
 
 
2.1. Stakeholders 
 
Businesses during their lifetime on the market enter into a number of relationships with subjects 
from environment. All subjects surrounding the company are called stakeholders. Stakeholders’ 
action affects the functioning of the business and also business affects their quality of life and level of 
satisfaction of their needs. Approaches of different authors agree on the following groups of 
stakeholders: 

 owners, shareholders, investors who are involved in business development and are 
particularly interested in the financial flows between the enterprise and the providers of 
capital, 

 employees, who rate their work environment and working conditions in the company. They 
expect fair pay and working conditions at least at the level set by law. The company should 
take care of the employees by investing into their development and training. Just an 
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educated and motivated workforce can give to the company a competitive advantage, which 
will be reflected immediately in several areas of its operations (labour productivity, low staff 
turnover rate, the use of personal talents and abilities of employees); 

 customers, who expect to purchase goods and services to satisfy their needs. Customers by 
their decision making at the market stimulate companies to apply the principles of the CSR 
and thus become a kind of engine for corporate social responsibility to take action and not 
only comply with the statutory regulations and standards, but bring customers and society a 
form of value-added products (Marasová, 2008); 

 suppliers and business partners require compliance and business conditions. The company 
generates relationships with suppliers and customers in terms of CSR concept that should be 
based on transparency and timely implementation of the agreements, friendly solutions to 
the problems and repeat orders; 

 competitors’ compliance with intellectual property protection and fair conditions of tender. 
Application of the principles of the CSR against competitors can be difficult for the company 
and requires strict adherence to the principles of business management such as honesty, 
truthfulness and consistency within the company. The company should avoid the use of false 
information and fraud, because a damage of competitor name can hurt their own company; 

 government actively shapes the business environment through the creation of a legislative 
framework and can actively promote CSR among enterprises in the form of grants and 
subsidies; 

 non-governmental organizations and local communities as every business operate in a socio - 
economic environment. An enterprise is expected to be involved into community, which 
potential (human) uses, at least by supporting the development of the employment and 
environmental protection. NGOs focus on fulfilling its mission, which is to meet the needs of 
its members and the needs of society. 

 
Corporate social responsibility is the responsibility of all stakeholders. For business, it is important to 
identify their own stakeholders, understand their expectations and needs and address issues that are 
important to them. 
 
 
2.2. Areas of corporate social responsibility 

 
CSR is a concept backed by three pillars - economic, social and environmental. Within the economic 
area of CSR we focus only on selected activities, which we consider to be important:  

 transparency inside the company to its employees and outwards to surrounding is another 
important activity by which available information allows stakeholders to monitor the 
decisions, activities and resources used in the company, 

 in time payments of financial and non-financial liabilities is a manifestation of corporate 
social responsibility to business partners, but also to our employees (payment of wages, 
payment of dues). A socially responsible company has a space to make voluntary 
contributions to employee salary compensation during the time of sickness, contribute to 
savings in the third pension pillar and to increase the number of days of annual vacation in 
excess of the range established by the Labour Code (Klementová, 2008); 

 customer services and relationship with customers can be improved by increasing the 
guarantees, quality of service and expert advice, that customers receive as their added value, 

 creation and usage of code of ethics, which includes a system of principles and rules that 
govern individuals and deal with moral obligations and commitments, 

 marketing and promotion of the company, whose philosophy is to be avoiding misleading 
advertising, false labeling of products, non-compliance with the terms and promised service. 
From direct relationship between the company and the customer will gradually come to the 
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bi-directional relationship (Majtán, 2007). Bi-directionality of marketing consists in 
identifying real needs and wants of the customer. Many times businesses spend more to 
promote the sale of products that customers do not really need instead of the 
implementation of the survey focused on the real needs and desires of customers. 
Social area of CSR implies a business relationship to the social system in which it operates.  

 
The aim of the activities in the field of CSR is to bring a better quality of life for all stakeholders. We 
consider the classification of social CSR area into the internal and external (Prskavcová, 2008). 
Activities implemented under the CSR in internal social area can be summarized as follows: 

 employment policy and business activities related to the selection, recruitment and staff 
remuneration. Expression of the CSR is a fair and equitable selection process of new 
employees without discrimination and prejudice. The form and content of the employment 
contract and job description specified beyond the statutory minimum is another 
manifestation of the CSR. Finally, the termination of employment leaves plenty of space for 
the company to support redundant workers through financial assistance, job search 
assistance or retraining; 

 workers care realized through the social policy of the company. We focus our attention on 
the voluntary programs of social oriented investments in working conditions and 
environment for employees such as providing health care, legal assistance and meals. An 
important activity in this area is to obtain feedback from employees, which allows them to 
respond to business and allows business to actively influence them. Investments in employee 
welfare support internal employee motivation and increase their productivity and loyalty to 
the company. 

 
Activities and investments made by businesses in the external social area are divided into the 
following groups (Klement, 2012): 

 corporate donations, which is frequently carried out through cash or in-kind gifts in the 
subject area. The donation could be focused on a sport, health, education of children and 
youth, social care for children and adults; 

 sponsorship is a form of socially responsible investment, accompanied by the expected value, 
mostly as anadvertisement for the company; 

 charitable marketing represents a form of cooperation in which the supported entity 
provides its name, image or logo to the social support of the business or selling of its 
products or services. The supporting company gets some consideration as a percentage of 
sales. 

 
The third pillar of the CSR is an environmental area of activities and business investments. This area is 
often associated with the concept of sustainable development, namely the company's ability to 
develop and apply a strategy that within the ecological limits can run indefinitely (Bussard, 
2005).Environmental policy as one of the tools of the company includes activities that aim to 
eliminate the negative effects of the activity on the environment. In practice, environmental policy 
can be implemented in the company through an environmental management system (EMAS) 
standards built on the principles of ISO 14000. Other activities and investments in environmental CSR 
are: 

 saving energy and water in the form of insulation, energy-saving technologies, regulation of 
heating in buildings using renewable energy. These activities are reflected in the company in 
costs and increasing the efficiency of production; 

 minimization of waste related to production efficiency and the ability to control the business 
and remove the causes of production scrap; 
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 recyclingas a tool for preventing the waste of natural resources, reducing the amount of 
waste and energy consumption. An example is the separate collection of garbage in the 
company, use of recycled paper for office equipment and so on. 

 
We conclude that activity and business investment in all three pillars of the CSR are closely related 
and influence themselves. Many investments and business activities cannot be clearly classified into 
only one of these areas. 
 
We agree that the CSR activities could bring to companies direct effects in the form of increased sales 
(revenues) and indirect effects in the form of cost savings and thus making more space for profit. The 
economic effects derived from the implementation of CSR principles can be used for further 
development of the company. 
 
 
3. Goal and Methodology of Research  

 
Theoretical background of corporate social responsibility, which is presented in previous chapter, 
was essential to the implementation of the empirical research aimed to determine the knowledge of 
a CSR in SMEs in selected region in Slovakia and applied CSR activities (investments) in the economic, 
social and environmental fields. 
 
The research was held among enterprises in Liptov region, which is located in the north of Slovakia 
and it touches the Slovakia-Poland border. The region belongs to medium-performance regions in 
Slovakia. Liptov region consists of 81 villages, which are located within the district Ružomberok and 
Liptovský Mikuláš. The district of Liptovský Mikuláš is larger and has higher population with more 
manufacturing companies than Ružomberok district, which is more focused on the services and 
finance. Nearly 50% of the Liptov area is covered by forests, which are creating conditions for the 
development of the wood processing industry, as well as tourism. The choice of Liptov region was 
not random, we deliberately chose a geographical area, which is characterized by a lack of 
investment opportunities, the relatively high unemployment rate, the traditional structure of the 
industry and with the average wage at the 88% of national average (figure for Žilina self-governing 
region by the Statistical Office of the Slovak Republic for year 2010). 
 
Empirical research was conducted through a questionnaire technique in 2012 on a sample of 190 
surveyed companies located in Liptov region. Contacts of companies engaged in the research sample 
were based on publicly available databases of businesses. 65 respondents, representing 34,21% rate 
of return, answered the questionnaire. 
 
Research questions were formulated in accordance with the objectives of research and were divided 
into three groups. The first group consisted of questions focused on understanding the concept of 
CSR, the second part consisted of questions designed to measure the activities and investments in 
three pillars of the CSR and the third part was focused on the collection of sorting characteristics of 
the respondents. 
 
 
4. Research of the CSR Knowledge Level and Socially Responsible Investments in Slovak Enterprises 

 
The structure of small and medium-sized enterprises that participated in the research according to 
their place of establishment was even, 50% of respondents resided in the district Ružomberok and 
50% within the district Liptovský Mikuláš. 
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In terms of the proportion of main business, the group can be divided in to the sampled 
manufacturing category accounting for 35 % of respondents, service category accounting for 50 % 
and a category of trade with share of 15 %. 
 
The last feature of the sorting was the size of company (respondent) measured by number of 
employees. Most(60%) of the respondents belonged to the group of micro-enterprises (with fewer 
than 10 employees), 25% of respondents were from the group of small businessesand15%of the 
respondents from medium-sized enterprises. 
 
As a first step, we focused on understanding of CSR concept among SMEs. The following chart shows 
understanding of CSR among those companies. 
 
Chart 1. Have you been facing the CSR in your business? 
 

 
 
Source: Own research 
 
From the graph 1 we can see that approximately 45% of surveyed enterprises (micro and small sized) 
still haven`t met the concept of CSR in their practice. From businesses that already have met the 
concept (55%), only a small portion also recognized the meaning of this concept. 
 
A different view of the CSR has brought the issue in which participants were asked whether they 
have ever applied the principles of CSR. For this purpose, we introduced to respondents a brief 
description of the CSR. Up to 85% of respondents said that at least once they have applied CSR 
principles. We believe that the reason for such a big proportion of positive responses was the 
characteristic of the CSR. It confirmed the theoretical assumption that firms apply principles of CSR 
without special appreciation. This underlines the need for continuous training of entrepreneurs and 
managers. 
 
Interviewed firms cited in economic area of CSR activities as intellectual property protection, 
transparency of information for employees and business environment and rejection of corruption. 
The results and the shares of particular activities are shown in Chart 2.Respondentscouldselect 
multiple responses, therefore the totalexceeds100% of the responses. 
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Chart 2. Activities in economic area of CSR in surveyed SMEs 
 

 
 
Source: own research 
 
 
Since our goal was not only to examine the range of activities undertaken by the CSR, as well as their 
intensity, we also investigated the level of business socially responsible investments in 
2011.Toensure mutual comparability of businesses with different sizes, we chose a relative indicator 
– the share of investment in the company from its total sales in year 2011. The results of our survey 
are presented in Chart 3. 
 
Chart 3. Share of investments into economic area of CSR from total sales in 2011 
 

 
 
Source: own research 
 
The investments from 1 to 2% of sales had the largest share (50% of respondents) and the second 
largest group consisted of investment from7 to 10% of annual sales. The average value of the 
investment at the surveyed firms was equal to 4% of annual sales. The benefits of the investments in 
this area confirmed 65% of respondents who reported the most measurable benefits in terms of 
relationships with customers and suppliers, enhancing corporate culture and improving employee 
performance as measured by labour productivity growth. 
 
Activities and investment intensity in surveyed SMEs in the social field have been investigated 
through the several questions. The social field of CSR was divided into internal and external area. 
Activities, that were offered to respondents within internal social area (including the care of 
employees), were frequently involving training and development of employees` skills and providing 
various voluntary benefits. Communication to employees about major decisions and issues in the 
company confirmed more than half of the respondents. One third of respondents had working 
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system of employees` complaints. None of the surveyed firms did secure help to redundant 
employees in the form of retraining. 
 
Chart 4. Share of investments in internal social area of CSR from total sales in 2011 
 

 
 
Source: own research 

 
As it is shown in chart 4 the biggest share had 1 to 2 % investments (from total sales) followed by 4-7 
% investments. Data are confirming that surveyed companies are not paying enough attention to this 
area of CSR and in comparison to economic area of CSR the number of firms with 1 – 2 % investments 
is growing.  
 
In the external social field of CSR we focused attention on sponsorship, donations and volunteering. 
35% of respondents used to donate 2% of company paid income tax in 2011. 25% of the surveyed 
companies made donations and 20% of respondents used to donate a financial contribution to 
foundations. Amounts of investments in external social area are shown in Chart 5. 
 
Chart 5. Share of investments in external social area of CSR from total sales in 2011 
 

 
 
Source: own research 
 
Comparing the amount of investments in internal and external social area of CSR, we can conclude 
that the largest share in both groups had the investments of 1-2% from sales. In the externa lsocial 
area it was 70% of the investments. The benefits of internal social investments (staff care) are 
proclaimed nearly by 33% of investment from 4 to 10% of sales, which is three times the size of the 
share of investment in the external social area of CSR (10 %). This result indicates a greater 
willingness to invest inside the business and probably even higher expectations of return on this 
investment in the form of the growth performance of employees and their productivity. In 
comparison to economic area of CSR the share of 4 to 10 % investments is smaller. 
 
Identified benefits of the investments and activities of internal and external social area of CSR can be 
summarized and recorded in growth of employees performance and increase of the volume of 
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production (25% of respondents), increase of employees loyalty to the company (50% of 
respondents), improvement of the image of the company (25% of respondents) and good feeling, 
respectively owner (investor) personal satisfaction (10% of respondents). 5% of respondents did not 
make in 2011 any activity in the internal or external social area of CSR. 
 
Chart 6 presents activities of SMEs in 2011 in environmental area of CSR. Chart shows a relatively 
large number of companies, which have not made any activity in environmental area of CSR (33%). 
Most investments were carried out in the separation and sorting of waste generated by businesses 
and in the saving of energy used in production. 
 
Chart 6. Activities of SMEs in environmental area of CSR  
 

 
 
Source: own research 
 
Other activities offered in the environmental field have failed to be adduced by any respondent (the 
use of international standards ISO and EMAS). Respondents considered these two areas of activities 
as the most efficient and they experienced benefits mainly in the form of cost savings. 
 
Chart 7. Share of investments in environmental area of CSR from total sales in 2011 
 

 
 
Source: own research 

 
Comparing the three pillars of the CSR we see that interviewed companies invested the most in 
economic area, followed by socially focused activities. The least activities were made in the 
environmental area. From measurable benefits point of view, the first place was taken by economic 
area, then social and environmental one.  
 
 
5. Advantages and Disadvantages of CSR Activities in SMEs and Recommendations 

 
According to results of survey made among SMEs in Slovakia we can identify advantages that support 
and promote the idea of CSR activities: 
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 improving of business relationships with customers and suppliers, enhancing corporate 
culture and improving employee performance as measured by labour productivity growth,  

 improving of company image and increasing public relations, 
 increasing of employees loyalty and decreasing of costs related to turnover of employees,  
 decreasing of costs and consequent raise of profit,  
 gaining of new ideas for innovations of products and processes in business. 

 
Disadvantages of CSR activities identified by surveyed companies are: 

 insufficient support from government, lack of good examples from superior institutions,  
 bureaucracy connected to CSR activities, no exceptions and support from regional self-

government,  
 lack of financial sources and time for CSR activities,  
 uncertain and hardly measurable benefits from CSR activities. 

 
It is up to each entrepreneur, if advantages or disadvantages will prevail and how strongly the 
enterprise will follow principles and activities of CSR concept. However, there are basic 
recommendations that can support the growth of business and employees performance: 

 ensuring the highest possible level of transparency towards employees, but also towards 
external partners. Knowledgeable staff is important disseminator of corporate reputation; 

 respecting ethical principles and paying attention to all agreements with partners; 
 mitigating indirect forms of support for external communities in favor of strengthening direct 

forms such as volunteering for local organizations (performances provided free of charge at 
the expense of the company, donating unneeded materials, products etc.). 

 
State and other institutions play a vital role in stimulating of SMEs for socially responsible approach 
to business. The state is one of the market participants and should be an example of corporate social 
responsibility in all areas of its operation. State and all its organizations, ministries, municipalities 
would first have to start using the activities and principles of the CSR. It should be a role model that 
can encourage other players in the economy to implement these principles. The aim is not to be 
solicitor or punisher of companies that do not behave in a socially responsible manner, but supporter 
of businesses that are applying CSR rules and principles voluntarily and at their own expense. This 
kind of activity should be rewarded for example by deductible items from income tax. Very important 
is also a strengthening of awareness of SMEs about CSR principles through non-governmental 
organizations, universities and secondary schools and other educational institutions. 
 
 
6. Conclusions 

 
Enterprise could be considered to be socially responsible when it is doing more for its employees, 
customers and society than the law obliges and does it willingly. It is not a one way relation of 
business to the society, but a relationship based on mutual interaction. 
 
The research in a sample of SMEs helped us in the development of ideas about the scope and 
intensity of the activities performed on the three pillars of corporate social responsibility in Slovakia. 
Research showed that the relevance of awareness among SMEs is relatively low and it is still 
necessary to make the effort to increase it. Identified advantages and disadvantages confirmed that 
entrepreneurs and state (government, ministries and municipalities) has to make maximal effort in 
implementing CSR concept to gain maximum advantages. It is not enough to expect the enterprises 
to behave socially responsible without making any changes in state institutions. Our 
recommendations for utilizing the best practice from CSR concept were divided into two groups. 
Towards small and medium-sized enterprises, which must want to apply and use the tools of the CSR 
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pillars. Regardless of the size of the business it is important to consider the continuous presentation 
of all successful business activities in the field of CSR to the society. Company obtains positive 
publicity and can also motivate others to similar activities. The second target group was government 
and governmental institutions that can contribute significantly to the success of implementation of 
CSR in Slovakia and thus support the development of small and medium-sized enterprises, the 
development of the standard of living and quality of life for its residents. The state has to create an 
environment that will foster socially responsible business activities as a prerequisite for the 
sustainability of the economy. 
 
Although there exist several disadvantages to SMEs from implementing CSR concept in practice, we 
think, that this concept creates long-term value for businesses, consumers and society that aims to 
achieve economic, social and environmental sustainability. 
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Abstract 
 
European labour markets have been in the wind of change. A widely made distinction between 
employees and individual contractors has been challenged. The study discusses about the nature of 
being a responsible vs. irresponsible employer. We like to contribute to the conference by illustrating 
why and how disguised employment exists. The research question is: What is disguised employment 
as forced entrepreneurship? Our approach is qualitative, and the logic of reasoning is abductive (i.e. 
both theory- and data-driven).  
 
The relevance of the topic is undeniable. Responsible employment should be a balance between 
rights, obligations, power and social responsibility. However, disguised employment / forced 
entrepreneurship often breaks this balance. Traditionally, we have thought that people who go work 
for, and subordinate themselves, to a single business are employees, and people who run their own 
business and contract out their products and services to customers are independent contractors. This 
may look as clearly different as black and white, but it is not. There is mushrooming a so-called grey 
area that can be labeled as disguised employment. A firm may be involved in this kind of situation 
and business behavior both as an employer and an employee. 
 
For the study, twelve open and unstructured interviews were conducted, two authentic written 
descriptions of legal dispute cases were analyzed, and three concluding telephone interviews were 
made to clarify some remaining open questions. All the empirical data came from Finland. 
 
The study contributes to theory with opening up irresponsible business behavior in this form to the 
debates of corporate social responsibility. Analyzing immoral and even illegal employment can 
increase the understanding of corporate social responsibility. Organizing production has during 
recent years been influenced by subcontracting and outsourcing. It has meant networking, flexible 
staffing, and renewed supply chains. Efficiency, outsourcing, delivering, rightsizing or downsizing 
creates needs for a flexible workforce by challenging responsible employment. Reductions of labour 
force can lead in some circumstances to disguised employment where if workers want to keep their 
job they are obliged to start their own company as forced entrepreneurs. This has meant transition 
from employment to self-employment. High taxation or social costs can also tempt disguised 
employment. 
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We look at the phenomenon from different perspectives, such as employee, employer, and society. 
We look at the pros and cons of disguised employment. With regard to the study results, our 
empirical data are expected to make visible some key motives and consequences of disguised 
employment, such as: 
 
Theme 1: Unclearness of status: employee, entrepreneur, or subcontractor? (societal and legal 

perspective) 
Theme 2:  Threat of unemployment (employee perspective) 
Theme 3:  Avoiding the expense of protection (employer and employee perspective) 
Theme 4:  Transferring economic risks to employees (employer and employee perspective) 
Theme 5:  Social problems, reduced wages, and tax incomes (societal perspective) 
Theme 6:  Impacts to the level of quality and service (employer perspective) 
 
Keywords 
 
Competitiveness, corporate social responsibility, disguised employment, Finland, flexibility, forced 
entrepreneurship, outsourcing, subcontracting 
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Abstract 
 
Each enterprise has its own specific culture. If the corporate culture is set appropriately, it has 
a positive influence not only on the employees, but also on the customers, and it affects corporate 
strategy and supports the enterprise´s aims achievement as well. Last but not least, the corporate 
culture contributes to enterprise efficiency and performance. The care about corporate culture 
becomes an important trend in today´s global society for these reasons.  
 
The article has been created within the project of the Grant Agency of the University of South 
Bohemia numbered GAJU 039/2013/S “Human resources management of small and medium-sized 
enterprises”. The article has been based on the data obtained during the last years of cooperation 
with students, on the data from their theses and the data obtained within the framework of the 
project. 
 
Our article deals with selected aspects of corporate culture in small and medium-sized enterprises 
within the defined region. The main aim of this paper is an identification, analysis and evaluation of 
selected dimensions of corporate culture in small and medium-sized enterprises and the 
determination of their importance for small and medium-sized enterprise management. Further we 
aimed at statistical analysis of the causal effect of each individual dimension in selected categories of 
small and medium-sized enterprises. 
 
Keywords 
 
Corporate culture, human resources management, small and medium-sized enterprises 
 
 
  



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

141 
 

1. Introduction  
 
The close of the twentieth century can be associated with the end of the positivist-scientific 
paradigm, which had come to the top of the “industrial” world from the economic point of view. It is 
thus possible to observe an emerging paradigm of the new “post-industrial” world, where apparently 
the basis for the economy will not be founded on land, money and resources, but intellectual capital 
(Holátová & Krninská, 2012). 
 
Gibson (2000) states that the world is entering a “new economy” – “the knowledge economy” – 
associated with the use of human and intellectual capital, which emphasizes the ability to put 
knowledge into a new context, together with understanding and skills as the  driving forces of 
change, innovation and competitiveness. 
 
Armstrong (2010) indicates that in the process of globalization, the importance of human potential 
and the development of “human capital” is increasing. The development and use of full human 
potential with its knowledge and skills emphasizes the creative way much needed for the solution of 
discontinuous changes, which the globalizing world of the third millennium presents. 
 
Corporate culture and its management in today´s society is becoming a global trend, which helps 
maintain the competitiveness not only in the local market, but in the global environment. Desirable 
corporate culture is a crucial factor in the successful development of the enterprise and, according to 
Krninská (2002), corporate culture will be a primary element of modern management for the future 
knowledge society, contributing to control and motivating employees to the process of self-
knowledge, self-development and self-realization. By this developmental stage the individuals 
spontaneously enter into the process of lifelong learning (both professional and personal), 
developing their creative skills necessary for the knowledge society. 
 
The corporate culture is a model of basic and crucial ideas that were found or created, exposed and 
developed, within which it was possible to cope with problems of external adaptation and internal 
integration and which proved that they are seen as generally valid (Bedrnová & Nový, 2007). 
 
According to Hofstede & Hofstede (2005) we perceive values as a general trend to differ some facts 
from other states, and thus it is possible to define the heart of the culture. Values are associated with 
feelings that have a specific direction, a positive or negative aspect and indicate what surrounds a 
human in the categories of “good or bad, true or false, beautiful or ugly, rational or irrational,…”`; 
they provide the possibility of orientation in the world by the fact that the social reality is structured 
in terms of importance and corresponding hierarchy. Cultural dimensions according to Hofstede 
(1999), Hofstede & Hofstede (2005), based on similar contradictions, will be described in detail in this 
study. 
 
 
2. Methods and Resources 
 
The aim of this paper is the identification, analysis and evaluation of selected dimensions of 
corporate culture in small and medium-sized enterprises within the framework of a defined region 
and the explanation of their importance for management of small and medium-sized enterprises.  
Furthermore, we aimed to statistically analyze the causal effect of the evaluation of each individual 
dimension between the selected categories of small and medium-sized enterprises. 
 
This paper presents a possible approach to cultural dimensions of Geert Hofstede (1999) and directs 
their application to corporate culture in small and medium-sized enterprises. The authors try to 
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highlight those dimensions of corporate culture, which are desirable for future knowledge economy, 
which the current global society gradually enters.  
 
This paper was created within the project specified by the Grant Agency of the University of South 
Bohemia in České Budějovice GAJU039/2013/S „Human resources management in small and 
medium-sized enterprises“. It is based on the data obtained from the cooperation with students and 
their theses and also from the data obtained within the project using a questionnaire that was 
focused on human resources management and its detailed aspects including the corporate culture. It 
embraced the questionnaire VSM 94 (Hofstede, 1994). This survey is currently still in progress, and 
therefore only a certain probe into small and medium-sized enterprises was available for the 
elaboration of this paper. 
 
A structured questionnaire was completed by both employees and managers of small and medium-
sized enterprises and was evaluated according to the methodology for data processing VSM 94 
(Hofstede, 1994).  According to this methodology, individual indexes of the dimensions take values 
from 0 to 100, but it is not exceptional that they take values lower or higher. Individual indexes 
included two contrasting cultural dimension. The first of them is rated between 0 – 50 and the other 
one at intervals of 50 – 100 (Table 1). According to the authors the evaluation in middle values 
(around 50) is in grey, transition zone, where it is not clear to which dimension the enterprise tends. 
For this reasons the intervals of evaluation are divided as follows: (-∞, 40) for the first cultural 
dimension; (41, 60) for the grey, transition zone; and (61, ∞) for the second contras ng cultural 
dimension. 
 
This paper assesses the dimensions of corporate culture in 48 small and medium-sized enterprises of 
South Bohemia region, which were divided for the purposes of this contribution by their economic 
activity and number of employees. For the classification according to economic activity The 
Classification of Economic Activities CZ-NACE was used, but in a simplified form. Specifically, the 
economic activities of small and medium sized enterprises are: trade (27% of surveyed enterprises), 
services (29% of surveyed enterprises), building industry (8% of surveyed enterprises), and 
production (35% of surveyed enterprises). For the categorization by the number of employees the 
enterprises were divided by Commission Regulation No 800/2008 (European Commission, 2008) as 
follows: micro enterprises with 1 – 9 employees (10% of surveyed enterprises), small enterprises with 
10 – 49 employees (52% of surveyed enterprises) and medium-sized enterprises with 50 – 249 
employees (38% of surveyed enterprises). 
 
Examined data were statistically processed and analyzed in MS Excel 2010 and Statistica 10. Relative 
and absolute frequency were analyzed and complemented by graphical analysis. Because the data do 
not meet the parameters for the use of probabilistic statistical methods, there was the causal effect 
between evaluation of individual cultural dimensions, and the selected categories used 
nonparametric method Kruskal-Wallis test (H test criterion (degrees of freedom df, the number of 
observations N)). The data were analyzed for significance level α=0.05, therefore the results are 
presented with 95% probability. Null hypothesis (퐻 :푥 = 푥) claims that between the evaluation of 
cultural dimensions and entrepreneurial activity (or number of employees) there is no relationship, 
while the alternative hypothesis (퐻 :푥 ≠ 푥) expresses a difference between samples, i.e., that there 
is some relationship. The validity of the hypotheses has been drawn on the p-value. In case of 
rejection of the null hypothesis in favour of the alternative it was necessary to analyze the observed 
relationship using correlation coefficient r (−1 < 푟 > 1). A certain relationship was detected only in 
two of all examined cases, and therefore only these proven causal effects will be included in this 
paper. 
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3. Results and Discussion  
 
For an easier understanding of the different indexes and cultural dimensions that are included in 
these indexes, the authors present a simple overview, taking the bold dimensions, which are, 
according to the authors, desirable for corporate culture in knowledge economy.  
 
Table 1. Overview of the indexes of contrasting cultural dimensions with relevant values  
 

Name of index Value of dimension 
Lower than 50 Higher than 50 

Power distance (PDI) Small distance Big distance 
Individualism vs. Collectivism (IDV) Collectivism Individualism 
Masculinity vs. Femininity (MAS) Femininity Masculinity 
Uncertainty avoidance (UAI) Acceptance of risk Uncertainty avoidance 
Long-term vs. Short-term orientation (LOT) Short-term orientation Long-term orientation 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
Power distance (PDI) 
With large power distances (the value of the index is close to 100), superiors and subordinates 
consider one another as existentially unequal. It is felt that the hierarchy of power is based on this 
existential inequality. Enterprises centralize power as much as possible and in the smallest number of 
hands. From subordinates it is expected that they will do what they are told. There are a lot of 
managers, organized into hierarchy of multiple levels of people reporting lines of subordination and 
superiority. The firm´s pay systems exhibit large differences in salary between the top and the base 
of the enterprise (Hofstede & Hofstede, 2006). 
 
In a situation of small power distance (index value = 0), the subordinates and superiors as 
existentially equal. The hierarchical system just means inequality of created roles, because it is 
necessary. These roles may change, so the person, who was a subordinate yesterday, may be the 
boss tomorrow. Organizations are decentralized, hierarchical pyramids are flat and the number of 
superiors is limited. The range of salaries between the top and the base is relatively small. 
Subordinates expect that decisions concerning their work will be discussed in advance with them, but 
they understand that it is the superior who makes the decision in the end (Hofstede & Hofstede, 
2005). Small power distance is a desirable state of the corporate culture on the way towards the 
knowledge economy and allows all employees to contribute their ideas to the development of the 
enterprise.  
 
Individualism versus Collectivism (IDV) 
The employees in individualistic society (the index value for strong individualism = 100) are assumed 
that they are acting in accordance with their own interest, and that the work should be organized so 
that their interest and the interest of the employer match. It is assumed that workers act as 
“economic people” or at least people who have both economic and psychological needs; in any case 
as individuals who have their own needs. 
 
In collectivist culture(value of index IDV =0) the employer never accepts only the individual, but a 
person belonging to a certain group of "we." The employees hall act in accordance with the 
interestsof this group, and they may not always agree with his(her) individual interests: self-denial is 
normally expected in this society (Hofstede & Hofstede, 2006). Collectivism is a desirable state of 
corporate culture in the knowledge economy, opening up the way of cooperation and teamwork. 
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Masculinity versus Femininity (MAS) 
Enterprises in masculine societies (the value of index MAS = 100) emphasize results and try to reward 
fairly, i.e., to each employee according to his or her results. Organizations in feminine societies prefer 
to reward people on the basis of equality, i.e., to each person according to his or her needs (Hofstede 
& Hofstede, 2006). 
 
In a masculine society men are socialized in the direction of assertiveness, ambition and competition. 
When they grow up, it is expected, that they will seek to advance a career. Women in masculine 
society are divided into those who want a career, and the majority who do not want this (Hofstede & 
Hofstede, 2005). 
 
In the feminine society (value of index MAS = 0) gender roles overlap and from both men and women 
are expected moderation, solidarity, concern and care for the quality of environment and of life 
generally (Nový, 1996). Femininity is a desirable state of corporate culture for the knowledge 
economy, it opens the care for mutual interpersonal relationships, quality of life and the 
environment. 
 
Uncertainty avoidance (UAI) 
In an environment in which people avoid uncertainty (value of index UAI =100), there are a number 
of formal laws and informal conventions that determine the rights and obligations of employers and 
employees. Here you will also meet with many internal rules and measures relating to the execution 
of work, but in this case power distance is also applied. If the power distance is big, exercise the 
powers superior to some extent replaces the need for regulations. Chance must be left to the least 
possible space. (Hofstede & Hofstede, 2006). 
 
In countries with small uncertainty avoidance (value of index UAI = 0), the enterprises are more likely 
to cope with the opposite of that, the horror of the formal rules. The rules are implemented only in 
cases of absolute necessity. Small fear of the uncertain, acceptance of changes and risk is a desirable 
state of knowledge economy, as it allows for easier dealing with the discontinuous changes of global 
society (Nový, 1996).  
 
Long-term versus Short-term orientation (LOT) 
In an environment with a long-term orientation the family and the work are not separated. The 
values of the LTO pole (LTO = 100) support business activity. Endurance and reliability in monitoring 
any targets are significant advantages. Organizing relationships by status and respecting this order 
reflects the Confucian emphasis on unequal relationship pairs. A sense of harmonious and stable 
hierarchy and complementarily of roles allows the easier meeting of requirements of the business 
role. Thrift leads to savings and releases the capital that can be reinvested (Hofstede & Hofstede, 
2006). Long-term orientation of corporate culture is desirable for the knowledge economy and is 
also linked with long-term prospects of business activity. 
 
Considering short-term orientation (LTO=0), extreme personal peace and stability can discourage 
from initiative, exploration risk and willingness to change, which requires from the entrepreneur to 
rapidly change market conditions. Extreme protecting one´s own face can slow progress in what he 
was doing (Hofstede & Hofstede, 2005). 
 
The following table (Table2) presents the results of the percentage representation of small and 
medium-sized enterprises in individual dimensions of corporate culture. From this table it is evident 
that this surveyed sample clearly indicates cultural dimension of femininity (65% of surveyed 
enterprises) and small power distance (56% of surveyed enterprises), which are linked to the 
knowledge economy. There is a kind of transition (31% of enterprises) from the cultural dimension of 
individualism (42% of enterprises) to the cultural dimension of collectivism (27% of companies). 
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Table 2. Percentage representation of small and medium-sized enterprises in individual cultural 
dimensions and their intervals 
 

Name of index 
Intervals of evaluation 
-∞ - 40 41 - 60 61 - ∞ 

Power Distance (PDI) 56 % 31 % 13 % 
Individualism vs. Collectivism (IDV) 27 % 31% 42 % 
Masculinity vs. Femininity (MAS) 65 % 6 % 29 % 
Uncertainty avoidance (UAI) 13 % 27 % 60 %  
Long-term vs. short-term orientation (LOT) 27 % 56 % 17 % 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
More than a half of the percentage (56%) of small and medium-sized enterprises are on the interface 
(in the transition zone of ambiguity) between the cultural dimension of short-term and long-term 
orientation with a tendency towards short-term orientation (27% of surveyed companies). The 
inclination to the cultural dimension “uncertainty avoidance” is absolutely clear, because it is 
displayed by 60% of small and medium-sized enterprises. The uncertainty avoidance is associated 
with the problematic acceptance of changes in the globalized society, with the fear of risk, but also 
with blocking the path to the knowledge economy. 
 
Indexes of the corporate culture dimensions (Table 2) which lead to the knowledge economy are 
marked in bold. In the interval -∞ -40, they are as follows: small power distance, collectivism, 
femininity, acceptance of risk and changes. Long-term orientation, pointing also to the knowledge 
economy, ranges between the61- ∞.  
 
In the following subsections we focused on different indexes and their relationship to cultural 
dimensions in relation to the categorization of enterprises according to economy activities and the 
number of employees. 
 
 
3.1. Power distance (PDI) 
 
Power distance of positions lies in the degree of tolerance of unequal distribution of power, which 
proves power distance in the hierarchy of the management. However, it is not so much the actual 
and objective distance, but the subjectively perceived and tolerated distance. 
 
Figure 1 shows that all the surveyed economic activities (in the research sample of small and 
medium-sized enterprises in South Bohemia region) are in favor of the greater part of small power 
distance, which can be expressed by confidence, internal order and cohesion. It is evident from the 
results that the enterprises (especially trade and production), located in the so-called transition zone, 
with time and effort of their managers can forge into recognition and respect of small power 
distance, which would be able to move the right way to enter the knowledge economy. 
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Figure 1. Index PDI by economic activities 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
 
Figure 2. Index PDI by number of employees 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
Figure 2 again implies that the majority of enterprises significantly tend to a small power distance 
from the point of view of the number of employees. Only for small enterprises with 10 – 49 
employees, the number of enterprises in the transition zone (44%) is approaching the number of 
enterprises which are inclined to the small power distance (48%). 
 
 
3.2. Individualism versus Collectivism (IDV) 
 
Collectivism is typical of a society in which people are integrated into strong and cohesive social 
groups, associations, communities. This membership provides them with social protection in return 
for their considerable loyalty throughout life. The group is always the primary aim and influences an 
individual who goes through more or less intense pressure and control. 
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Individualistic culture is characterized by an accent on the individual, his personal freedom, 
independence and responsibility. The individual is the goal and his influence is direct and immediate. 
Organized social formations play only a secondary role. Individualism is symptomatic of the 
community in which the relationships between individuals are free: it is expected that everyone 
cares especially for himself and his immediate family (Nový, 1996). 
 
Figure 3. Index IDV by economic activities 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
From Figure 3 it is obvious that the evaluation of index IDV by economic activities differs. Only 
building industry evidently favours collectivism, which is preferred for entering into knowledge 
economy and it is characterized by cooperation, solidarity and cooperation within the team. In 
contrast, enterprises engaged in trade significantly prefer individualism, which is typical for its 
independence, comfort and solitude. This difference in the preference of these two cultural 
dimensions between economic activities may be caused by the differences in assumptions and 
conditions necessary for individual sectors.  
 
Causal effects evaluation of index IDV within the economic activities 
With 95% probability it manages to reject the null hypothesis in favour of the alternative which says 
that there is a certain relationship among the studied variables.  
 

퐻(3,푁 = 48) = 12,53195 
푝 − 푣푎푙푢푒 = 0,0058 < 훼 = 0,05 

 
This relationship was further analyzed via the correlation coefficient r.  

퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푡푟푎푑푒	푎푛푑	푠푒푟푣푖푐푒푠	푟 = −0,036934	(4	%) 
퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푡푟푎푑푒	푎푛푑	푏푢푖푙푑푖푛푔	푖푛푑푢푠푡푟푦	푟 = −0,145927	(14	%) 

퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푡푟푎푑푒	푎푛푑	푝푟표푑푢푐푡푖표푛	푟 = 0,043233	(4	%) 
퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푠푒푟푣푖푐푒푠	푎푛푑	푏푢푖푙푑푖푛푔	푖푛푑푢푠푡푟푦	푟 = 0,217864	(22	%) 
퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푠푒푟푣푖푐푒푠	푎푛푑	푝푟표푑푢푐푡푖표푛	푟 = −0,751589	(75	%) 

퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푏푢푖푙푑푖푛푔	푖푛푑푢푠푡푟푦	푎푛푑	푝푟표푑푢푐푡푖표푛	푟 = −0,243027	(24	%) 
 
Correlation coefficients showed dependence between the evaluation of index IDV and different 
categories of business activity, with the strongest relationship being observed in production 
enterprises and enterprises providing services (75%). 
 
 

Trade Services Building 
industry Production

Value of index IDV - ∞ - 40 0% 29% 75% 35%

Value of index IDV 41 - 60 23% 43% 25% 29%
Value of index IDV 61 - ∞ 77% 29% 0% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

148 
 

Figure 4. Index IDV by number of employees 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
Figure 4 shows that micro enterprises (with 1 – 9 employees) and medium-sized enterprises (with 50 
– 249 employees) incline towards individualism, while the majority of small enterprises are located in 
the so-called transition zone. 
 
 
3.3. Masculinity versus Femininity (MAS) 
 
As it has been previously mentioned, masculinity is the opposite of femininity. The social roles of 
men and women are clearly distinguished in a masculine society, while in feminine society they 
overlap (Nový, 1996).  
 
Figure 5 shows that all economic activities (services of 93%) with the exception of building 
enterprises tend to feminine society, which is mainly characterized by understanding, tolerance, 
emotion and interpersonal relationships. These properties are rightly assigned to the knowledge 
society because of inclining to reciprocity, trust, and thus to greater business functionality. 
Enterprises in building industry move between the transition zone, where they tolerate some 
attributes of both feminine and masculine society, and prevailingly masculine society. This may be 
due to the branch, because building industry still prefers strength, virility and performance. 
 
Figure 5. Index MAS by economic activities 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
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Causal effects evaluation of index MAS within the economic activities 
With 95% probability it manages to reject the null hypothesis in favour of the alternative which says 
that there is a certain relationship among the studied variables.  
 

퐻(3,푁 = 48) = 9,056306 
푝 − 푣푎푙푢푒 = 0,0286 < 훼 = 0,05 

 
This relationship was further analyzed via the correlation coefficient r.  

퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푡푟푎푑푒	푎푛푑	푠푒푟푣푖푐푒푠	푟 = −0,642714	(64	%) 
퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푡푟푎푑푒	푎푛푑	푏푢푖푙푑푖푛푔	푖푛푑푢푠푡푟푦	푟 = −0,493764	(49	%) 

퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푡푟푎푑푒	푎푛푑	푝푟표푑푢푐푡푖표푛	푟 = 0,416895	(42	%) 
퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푠푒푟푣푖푐푒푠	푎푛푑	푏푢푖푙푑푖푛푔	푖푛푑푢푠푡푟푦	푟 = 0,317503	(32	%) 
퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푠푒푟푣푖푐푒푠	푎푛푑	푝푟표푑푢푐푡푖표푛	푟 = −0,964118	(96	%) 

퐶표푟푟푒푙푎푡푖표푛	푏푢푖푙푑푖푛푔	푖푛푑푢푠푡푟푦	푎푛푑	푝푟표푑푢푐푡푖표푛	푟 = −0,541707	(54	%) 
 
Correlation coefficients showed the dependence between the evaluation index MAS and different 
categories of economic activity, with the strongest relationship being observed between the 
enterprises providing services and productive enterprises(96%) and enterprises providing services 
and trade enterprises (64%). 
 
Figure 6. Index MAS by number of employees 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
If we focus on values of index MASdepending on enterprise size by number of employees, see 
Figure6, we find that all categories prefer feminine society. Micro enterprises prefer this desirable 
society entirely, medium-sized enterprise by absolute majority, while small enterprises from two-
thirds. 
 
 
3.4. Uncertainty avoidance (UAI) 
 
This is the level of the fear of uncertainty at which the members of society feel threatened by 
uncertain, unknown, ambiguous or convoluted situations, in so far as they are willing to accept 
changes as well as the risk. United effort to avoid risk and uncertainty is usually associated with an 
extraordinary effort to plan and program the overall procedures and the individual steps of the 
process management, process detailed schedules and time studies, the exact norms, standards and 
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rules, and this in sufficient detail, thoroughly, so that the risk of failure was minimal, or completely 
eliminated (Nový, 1996). 
 
Figure 7 shows that the majority of enterprises in all economic activities probably make a great effort 
to avoid risk and uncertainty. Most likely they prefer safety, certainty, care and peace of mind while 
relying on rules. Only a few of them (8% trade enterprises, 7% enterprises providing services, 25% 
building enterprises and 18% productive enterprises) are willing to accept risks with their changes, 
benefits and consequences. For these enterprises it is essential (and for knowledge economy 
desirable) to comprise agility, creativity, change and variability. In this case, it is evident that 
according to this cultural dimension, only this low percentage of the surveyed enterprises is 
approaching to the knowledge economy. 
 
From Figure8it can be concluded that by the number of employees, the majority of small and 
medium-sized enterprises again tend to favor the certainty to the risk. In contrast, for micro 
enterprises, the share of those accepting change and risk is the same as those enterprises which 
prefer inactivity, peace and security. 
 
Figure 7. Index UAI by economic activities 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
Figure 8. Index UAI by number of employees 
 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
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3.5. Long-term versus Short-term orientation (LOT) 
 
In the short-term oriented society the emphasis on the present and near past is crucial. In social 
sphere it is proved by interests in terms of respect for the traditions, fulfilling social responsibilities 
and focus on activities that bring maximum momentary or short-term effect. 
 
In the long term oriented societies there is a greater readiness to engage in activities whose effect 
will occur in a longer or indeed a long-term interval (long-term investments, personal persistence, 
thrift). Long-term orientation is characteristic of the community through their activities focused on 
the effect in long-term periods, when the values of focusing on future rewards are supported and 
promoted (Nový, 1996).  
 
Figure 9. Index LOT by economic activities 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
 
The evaluation of the last index indicates (see Figure 9) that the majority of enterprises is located in 
the so-called transition zone, so that they obviously do not favour any cultural dimension and the 
decisive factor will be the characteristics of the cultural dimension in the short term, which may 
include an immediate profit, satisfaction, instability, and fun, as well as the long-term orientation, 
which includes, above all, stability, investment, education and future. It is evident that for the 
knowledge economy this is essential, and except the building sector, (50% of enterprises), other 
enterprises have a long way to go before they learn to prefer the principle of long-term orientation. 
 
Figure 10. Index LOT by number of employees 

 
Resource: elaborated by the authors 
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In terms of the size of enterprises by the number of employees the evaluation of index LOT is similar 
(see Figure 10). Again, only a fraction of all surveyed enterprises are strictly oriented in the long-term 
horizon (24% of small enterprises, 11% medium-sized enterprises). Most enterprises are located in 
so-called transitive zone again. In this case, micro enterprises are a typical example of enterprises 
that are more interested in immediate profit than the tradition, investment and renunciation of 
current consumption for future income. 
 
 
4. Conclusion  
 
Corporate culture is increasingly becoming an indispensable element in the management of not only 
small and medium-sized enterprises. To enter the future knowledge economy, it is essential for 
managers to learn the ways of determining the state of corporate culture and subsequently gain 
experience oriented to the desired cultural dimensions. 
 
From the cultural dimensions leading to the knowledge economy, in the research sample of 
enterprises almost two thirds are in the zone of femininity. According to the economic activity 
enterprises providing services approach 100%, followed by trade. Over half of the enterprises 
displayed characteristics of femininity, the opposite case was building industry. By the segmentation 
of enterprises by number of employees in all categories femininity prevails, in micro enterprises it is 
even 100%. 
 
The second examined cultural dimension facilitating the onset of knowledge economy is a small 
power distance, which the building industry admits in three-quarters of the surveyed enterprises, 
followed by services and production in absolute percentage of just below it decreased trade. Micro 
and medium-sized enterprises showsmallpowerdistanceof2/3, for small enterprises it is less than a 
half. In our sample, only these two dimensions move the small and medium-sized enterprises to the 
knowledge economy. 
 
The cultural dimension of collectivism, which favors coherent team collaboration with the ability to 
accept a significant amount of innovation in enterprises, is preferred for building enterprises. In 
contrast, the trade has almost the same percentage of favoring individualism. In services and 
production are the same percentages for the collectivism and individualism. Especially services are 
more in the transition zone. Also in the category of enterprises by number of employees, small 
enterprises appear the same, while the micro enterprises declare individualism from 2/3, and 
medium-sized enterprises only from a half. 
 
Although cultural foundations and the ancient traditions of the Czech area are associated with a 
collective spirit, the current state of mafia capitalism in this area is associated with a more 
pronounced individualism. If the culture of contemporary society will return to the old traditions, this 
cultural dimension may relatively quickly lead to the knowledge economy and thus begin to 
dominate the cultural dimension of the knowledge economy. 
 
Also, the cultural dimension of long-term versus short-term orientation with the highest percentage 
of all economic activities range in the transition zone (with the exception of building industry, where 
the same percentage tends to display long-term orientation). The equivalent is for enterprises by 
number of employees, with the exception of micro enterprises with prevailing tendency to short-
term orientation. There is some hope (for certain common conditions) of rapid transition to a 
desirable cultural dimension of long-term orientation. 
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Only the cultural dimension of uncertainty avoidance is perfectly clear within all economic activities 
disregarding the number of employees. In this category the need for certainty is clearly preferred 
against the possibility of embracing change, which is necessary for the interaction with knowledge 
economy. Here, the path to knowledge economy is the longest. 
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Abstract 
 
Brand extension strategy, as a common strategy when launching a new product on the market, is 
primarily based on the assumption that consumers are likely to accept the new product launched 
under existing brand name, compared to new product under new brand name. There are two 
options of using brand extension strategy – extending the brand in the same product category with 
different price and quality levels which is called vertical brand extension and extending into new 
product categories, which represents brand horizontal extension. Horizontal extension also includes 
extension of product lines. This means that the brand is extended in a way to serve new market 
segments with respect to variations in product characteristics. The market success of brand 
extensions are influenced by many factors, and the purpose of this paper is to investigate whether 
brand extension strategy has any influences of change in parent brand personality dimensions. Brand 
personality is a relatively new concept which assumes that the brands, as well as individuals, have 
their own unique and enduring personalities. With a secondary analysis of available scientific and 
professional literature, primary research on a sample of 123 respondents is also conducted. In this 
paper, the basic instrument used for measuring brand personality scale was the one constructed by 
Aaker (1997). In order to test the hypothesis, subjects were divided into three groups. Each group 
received a single version of an online questionnaire. Hypothesis testing was done in a way that the 
brand personality results obtained after the presentation of line extension and brand extension were 
compared with the results of the personality of the core brand measured without any type of 
extension presentation. The results of primary research are consistent with similar research 
conducted by Diamantopoulos, Smith and Grimea (2005). Expanding the brand within the same 
category of products or expanding product lines has no significant effect on the change of brand 
personality dimensions. The same is found to be related in case of extending the brand into new 
product category. Survey results also indicate that from the perspective of consumers, extending 
brands is more determined by parent brand image similarity then product category similarity. It turns 
out that brand personality is relatively constant and that hard to influence on its change.  
 
Keywords 
 
Brand extension, brand personality, parent brand, consumer behavior 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

155 
 

Reasons and Obstacles to Start a Business: Experience of Students of 
Lithuanian Higher Education Institutions 
 
 
 
Nida Kvedaraite 
Kaunas University of Technology 
K. Donelaicio str. 73, LT-44029 Kaunas, Lithuania 
Phone: ++370 45 570 030 
E-mail: nida.kvedaraite@ktu.lt  
 
 
Abstract 
 
The article examines entrepreneurship as a measure for youth inclusion in the labour market, and 
causes, benefits and obstacles to starting business, based on experiences of students of Lithuanian 
higher education institutions. Lithuania implements a variety of measures intended for promoting 
student entrepreneurship, however students remain in a worse situation in terms of 
entrepreneurship than the remaining society. 
 
Purpose of the research – to study the reasons and obstacles for inclusion of the higher school 
students in entrepreneurship. 
 
The research of inclusion and participation of students in entrepreneurship revealed that only a small 
part of them are engaged in business. This is caused by unwillingness to be a hired employee. 
Engagement in business for the students associates with personal revenues, rated by them as 
significant benefit, while the main obstacle is the lack of information on starting the business.  
 
Keywords 
 
Students of higher education institutions, entrepreneurship, causes and obstacles to starting 
business 
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Introduction 
 
Transformation processes that take place in the business world inevitably cause market changes, 
make new demands and pose new challenges for modern societies, amongst the most important of 
which is the aim to foster entrepreneurship and develop entrepreneurial abilities. These changes in 
the business environment demand certain behavior from individuals, characterized by such 
attributes as innovation, initiative, risk tolerance, creativity and self-confidence, proactivity and 
ability to recognize opportunities and implement them, ability to make swift and rational decisions, 
take risks, communicate and lead. This set of attributes is described by scientists as 
entrepreneurship.  
 
Entrepreneurship aspects in the global context have been studied for several decades now and are 
more and more actualized not only in management, economics, but also in education, politics, 
psychology and other studies: entrepreneurship concepts (Gorman, Hanlon & King, 1997; Hisrich & 
Peters, 1998; Timmons & Spinelli, 2003; Kirby, 2004; Turner & Nguyen, 2005), entrepreneurial 
abilities and attributes (Caird, 1991; Koh, 1996; Collins & Kunz, 2007) are discussed, the content of 
abilities characteristic to an enterprising person are revealed (Gartner, 1988; Garavan & O‘Cinneide, 
1994; Raffo, Lovatt, Banks & O’Connor, 2000).  
 
Entrepreneurship analysis receives less attention in Lithuania, as it is considered to be an intricate, 
complex phenomena, involving many areas of scientific and practical activities. Some authors 
(Stripeikis, 2008; Solnyskiniene, 2008; Strazdiene, 2009; Zuperka, 2009, 2010, 2011; Ramanauskiene, 
Astromskiene & Rukuiziene, 2011; Zidonis, 2012) also examine the concept of entrepreneurship, 
entrepreneurship abilities, discuss prerequisites for forming entrepreneurship abilities and models 
for entrepreneurship education in their works. It should be noted that most of scientific works and 
studies usually analyze youth entrepreneurship even though regulations governing EU and Lithuanian 
youth policies emphasize the higher school students1 as one of the most important focus groups - 
potential for new jobs and ensuring long-term growth and sustainable economic growth of a country.  
Despite the fact that in both scientific and political contexts one of the main prerequisites for 
increasing youth employment is encouragement of youth to do business (creating new businesses, 
self-employment, intra-partnership), statistical data reveals a rather difficult situation of youth 
involvement in entrepreneurship. As stated in Youth – Investing and Empowering. EU Youth Report 
(2009), the proportion of young people running their own business is very low in Europe: about 4 % 
of young people aged 15-24 and 9 % of the age group 25-29 are self-employed. In all EU Member 
States the percentage of self-employed is higher in the 25-29 age group than among 15-24 year olds, 
and the rate of self-employed persons does not reach 10 % of the employed population for the age 
group 25-29 except in Greece, Italy, Cyprus, Poland, Romania and Slovakia. According to the Factors 
of Business Success Survey (FOBS), less than 15 % of entrepreneurs are younger than 30 years old. 
Among the most important motivations for starting one's own business in all countries that 
participated in the survey were a desire for new challenges and being one’s own boss. Future earning 
is also an important aspect when starting up its own business: about 80 % of Czech, Romanian, 
Slovenian and Slovakian entrepreneurs reported the financial aspect as main motivation (Youth – 
Investing and Empowering. EU Youth Report, 2009). 
 
Meanwhile, in Lithuanian, as in Bosnia and Herzegovina and Panama, the greatest number of 
entrepreneurs is in the 18-24 year olds category and by analyzing the reasons for early involvement 
in entrepreneurial activities, it can be said that business creation amongst young people is usually 
opportunity based – 47.2 percent rather than necessity based – 28.4 percent; 49 percent of men and 
44 percent of women get involved in entrepreneurship because of opportunities and 29 percent of 
men and 27 percent of women – because of necessity (GEM, 2012). 

                                                             
1 Students – higher school (universities and colleges) students who study in programmes conferring a degree. 
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It should be noted that these same studies alert on youth entrepreneurship problems, while 
European Youth Forum Position Paper on Youth Entrepreneurship (2011) states that there are EU-
specific entrepreneurship problems: entrepreneurs' age, starting financial and social capital and lack 
of confidence in them, lack of business start up experience and life experience in general. 
Meanwhile, the final report on the evaluation of youth entrepreneurship encouragement measures 
(2012) it was emphasized that in Lithuania some of the most important reasons why young people 
avoid starting a business are the fear of bankruptcy and personal failure, insufficient education of the 
young entrepreneurs, insufficient rate of establishing businesses creating high added value. Hence, 
research shows that a significant part of youth is not willing to start their own business and are more 
inclined towards choosing safer lifestyle – employment or, in case of slow market expansion – 
becoming dependent on state redistribution policies, despite the fact that international rating 
agencies and financial institutions are rather favorable in terms of business environment in Lithuania 
in their reports. 
 
According to the analysis in scientific literature (Mueller & Thomas, 2001; Logue, 2004; Schoof, 2006; 
Stripeikis, 2008; Adamoniene & Silingiene, 2008; Zuperka, 2010; Zidonis, 2012), reasons and 
obstacles for youth's unwillingness to do business and/or get involved in entrepreneurship can be 
divided into two groups: The first one – intrinsic factors, involving cultural-psychological, 
demographic and social-economic factors, as well as person's characteristics, values, skills, 
perception and behavior. The second one – extrinsic factors, caused by market (finance, labour 
market, information) imperfections. To eliminate these obstacles various EU support and youth 
entrepreneurship fostering measures are applied, for example, the application of financial 
engineering instruments mitigates the lack of financial capital by young people to some extent, while 
the organization of entrepreneurship training boosts entrepreneur's reputation in the society and 
promotes business creation as a career opportunity for youth (Zidonis, 2012). 
 
European Commission Communication "Youth on the move” (COM(2010) 477 final) argues that an 
important driving force behind entrepreneurship is independent work which may help to create jobs 
and can be a valuable opportunity for academic youth to apply the skills gained in educational 
institutions in practice, as well as do a job that they most like. Nevertheless, entrepreneurship and 
characteristics attributed to entrepreneurship as a personal trait cover quite a wide spectre of 
aspects – from personal traits, abilities and competences to the attitude towards business, 
entrepreneurship and businessmen in the society. Therefore, in fostering higher school students' 
entrepreneurship-based thinking, it is necessary to discuss not only means of effective financial 
support allowing to successfully set up one's own business, but also, as noted in the final report of 
the expert group of the best procedure project "professional training and entrepreneurship" (2009), 
the development of attributes required for entrepreneurship, as well as stimulating interest in 
entrepreneur's profession. The starting point for the latter outcomes is the standpoint and attitudes 
of the young people to entrepreneurship and their experience in intending to create/creating 
business. 
 
Scientific problem. Hence, even though the scientific field widely acknowledges the fact that 
entrepreneurship is one of the most important factors influencing changes in a national economy 
and that academic youth is in the limelight of entrepreneurship fostering policies, as well as the fact 
that a variety of measures are being implemented focused on promoting entrepreneurship amongst 
this group, it should be noted that Lithuania lacks a holistic approach to fostering entrepreneurship 
amongst academic youth and there is insufficient scientific research analyzing reasons and benefits 
for starting a business, as well as the obstacles for involvement of academic youth in 
entrepreneurship. It demonstrates that this problem remains significant and relevant in the context 
of national and societal development because of its multifaceted and dynamic nature, the solution of 
which requires looking for answers to the following research questions: what factors encourage 
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Lithuanian higher school students to start a business? what obstacles does higher school students 
face when seeking/intending to start a business?  
 
Object of the research: reasons and obstacles for Lithuanian higher school students' involvement in 
entrepreneurship. 
 
Purpose of the research – to research reasons and obstacles for involvement of the higher school 
students into entrepreneurship. 
 
Methods of the research: analysis of scientific literature, questionnaire, descriptive statistics and 
factor analysis. Adequacy of the data for a factor analysis was verified based on the value of Kaiser-
Meyer-Olkin measure, while internal consistency of a factor was evaluated by performing a Cronbach 
Alpha test. 
 
 
Methodology and Methods of the Study 
 
Study on the involvement of the Lithuanian students of higher education institutions into 
entrepreneurship is based on philosophical lines of thoughts with origins from various philosophical 
traditions: 
 
1. Philosophical line of thought which targets the ethical behavior, that is based on utilitarian 

philosophical traditions, Machevialism and Protestantism ideas and raises a goal to develop 
individual orientation of one’s values. The fundamental principle of the utilitarianism theory – an 
action can be considered to be morally just if as many people as possible benefits from it (Mill, 
2005). According to this theory, a person strives for benefits in his own actions, which is not 
mutually exclusive from entrepreneurship. Reasoning of the Machevialism is considered to be 
open for ruse, intrigues, unmerciful cruelty and artificial love. As in the business there are more 
effects than just moral utilitarianism, as a philosophical line of thoughts concept, it is vital to 
assess the Machevialistic factors. In the theory of Protestantism, the development of professional 
activity is assessed and is believed that professional specialization provides conditions to gain 
more skills, increases the productivity and contributes to the overall happiness, which is valued 
more than the individual happiness (Pruskus, 2003). The Protestantism exalts a modern specialist 
and an entrepreneur, who succeeded because of his own efforts and is known for his rationality, 
discipline, responsibility, which are all directly connected with entrepreneurship. 

2. Philosophical line of thought which targets the effective activities, is based on pragmatism and 
constructivism philosophical concepts that dominate in the world of business, which requires to 
exercise tasks set by the economic markets as well as constructive, practical thinking while 
solving or finishing given tasks. The essence of education based on the philosophy of pragmatism 
– understanding how to select values, practical preparation to solve life issues, learning how to 
select and formulate individual goals (Bitinas, 2000). The supporters of this philosophical line of 
thought firmly believe that entrepreneurship is learnt by practicing, experimenting in different 
activity fields that always provide challenging problems and where one always strives to meet 
goals. Constructivism – a philosophical line of thought which is based on assumption that the 
human constructs understanding of the real world using his experience, which suggests an 
uninterrupted learning process for the whole society, accept and respect others’ opinions and 
which rejects the statement that some decisions are better than others (Clements, 2005). 
Therefore, the development of entrepreneurship should be based of the philosophy of 
constructivism, as the learning process of entrepreneurship requires constant creation of various 
learning models and to refer to real life content.  
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In order to examine the reasons and obstacles for the Lithuanian students involvement in 
entrepreneurship, a data collection method has been selected – a survey, and the instrument of the 
survey – a questionnaire which includes four criteria of the study: reasons that led to start the 
business (personal and economic-social); benefits that are gained by participating in the business; 
obstacles for involvement into business (internal factors group: cultural – psychological and social-
economic factors; external factors group: volatile financial markets, imperfection of the market 
infrastructure’s supply, information sharing obstacles) and social-demographic characteristics (family 
status, gender, age, personal income from direct employment, type of educational institution, degree 
of studies, job status). The questionnaire consisted of 45 closed statements. The reliability of survey 
statement’s range has been tested using Cronbach Alpha test. The retrieved reliability coefficient – 
0.87 suggest that the questionnaire is homogenous and the received results are appropriate for 
statistical analysis. 
 
For the selection of quantitative study sample’s volume, a probabilistic method for the selected group 
sample’s volume has been used, where the probability of any of the elements to be selected for the 
sample is known. Probabilistic study group selection method – random selection when each person 
(or group) has equal chances of falling within it, regardless of individual attributes or differences. 
Research target group – Lithuanian higher education final year students. A calculated sample size 
1014 with an estimated ± 3 % error suggests that the sample size meets the characteristics of a 
general set (Dattalo, 2008). 
 
In the quantitative survey results’ analysis, statistical analysis methods were applied: descriptive 
statistic and factorial analysis. Under the basis of descriptive statistic, a primary quantitative data 
processing has been conducted. With a multidimensional statistical method – factor analysis, the 
observed variables were segmented into groups (from few or dozen similar variables), that are 
unified by a factor which is not observed directly (www.lidata.eu). Principal component method and 
Varimax rotation with Kaiser normalization were used for factor extraction. The number of factors 
was determined based on the Kaiser criterion, i.e. factors with initial eigenvalues of 1 or more were 
analyzed (Hayton, Allen & Scarpello, 2004). Adequacy of the data for a factor analysis was based on 
Bartlett's sphericity criteria (p) value, where p = 0.000 < 0.05, and Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) 
measure, where KMO > 0.6 (Vaus, 2004). It was found that factor analysis was applicable for the 
research data.  
 
Statistical data analysis was performed using "SPSS 21.0" package. 
 
Socio-demographic characteristics of research participants. The study was conducted in the period 
from January, 2013 till May, 2013. 1014 respondents from 6 universities (69,3 % of respondents) and 
6 non-universities (30,7 % of respondents) in Lithuania participated in the survey. The majority of 
students were studying for Bachelor's (88.6 %) and were 21-24 years old. Only 12.1 % of the students 
studying in higher schools are married, while 72.5 % are single. Most of the students are, however, 
women (64.2 %) rather than men (35.8 %). It was found during the research that 36.6 % respondents 
were employed, 28.1 % had previous work experience but were currently unemployed for various 
reasons. Nevertheless, a third of the students had never been involved in the labour market. It 
should also be noted that 35.7 % of respondents received minimum salaries (up to 850 LTL – equals 
245 €). 
 
 
Results and Discussion  
 
Students of high schools are considered to be one of the factors of growth of urban, regional, and 
country‘s economy whose effect is directly related to students’ employment. However, as shown by 
recently conducted research in the country (Ciburiene & Guscinskiene, 2009; Strazdiene, 2009; 
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Zuperka, 2010, 2011; Zidonis, 2012; Assessment of Youth Entrepreneurship Encouragement 
Measures, 2012), with changes in labour market, youth is in a less advantageous position than the 
rest of the society in a sense of involvement in the labour market and business due to lack of 
knowledge, abilities, financial and social capital, as well as professional experience.  
 
The latter tendency is also proven by the research on the involvement and participation of Lithuanian 
students of high schools in business which revealed that only 36,6 % of high school (universities and 
colleges) students having participated in the research are involved in the labour market, 11,6 % of 
them have got their own business although 28,1 % of the respondents said that they had been 
previously working / had had a business. The research showed that men (7,6 %) are more likely to 
create their own business than women (4,0 %) whose majority are studying in a university (9,5 %) 
and are the students of the undergraduate degree level (bachelor degree candidates, vocational 
bachelor degree candidates) (10,4 %). It is worth noticing that the majority, i.e. 7,8 % of the high 
school students having their own business are between 21 and 24 years old and do not have a family 
(7,9 %), i.e. are single. When evaluating the income of those involved into business, the results of the 
research distributed as following: the income of the majority, i.e. 7,8 % of those having their own 
business are between 851 Lt to 2000 Lt (246 – 578 € correspondingly) and 6,5 % earned more than 
2000 Lt (578 € correspondingly).  
 
The reasons which encouraged taking up business and its benefits. Youth entrepreneurship is defined 
as the whole of a person‘s self-realization in economic, social and cultural areas although the roots of 
entrepreneurship are both in the individual and the culture of the society (Stripeikis, 2008) what 
enables us to assume that the decision to start a business is determined by rather different reasons 
and it is extremely difficult to identify the most important of them. Some of them are related to the 
necessity to create a business due to the negative circumstances (e.g., unemployment), others – due 
to a possibility of business having appeared. Besides, the motivation to take up business is also 
determined by business initiatives as well as factors of activities therefore, according to Pruskus 
(2003), such motives to create a business as the wish to become rich, willingness to become 
independent, demonstrate one‘s abilities, create a working place, fulfill one‘s ideas, demand for self-
expression, etc. can also be distinguished.  
 
When analyzing the reasons which encouraged Lithuanian high school students to take up business 
the method of factorial analysis was used. With the help of the method of factorial analysis of the 
main components the three groups of factors having encouraged starting business were detected: 
social (24,8 % of responses dispersion), economical a (22,8 % of responses dispersion) and personal 
characterized by smaller indicator of dispersion (14,5 %) (Table 1). The calculated factorial analysis 
reliability Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure (KMO = 0,776) and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity criterion 
(224,440; df = 45, p = 0,000) prove that the abovementioned variables are satisfactorily adequate for 
the factorial analysis. It was detected that the three factors together explain 62,172 % (cumulative %) 
of all the variables dispersion. The internal consistency of factors Cronbach α = 0,794 demonstrates 
quite good internal reliability and the fact that the statements making up factors are homogeneous.  
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Table 1. Factorial analysis of the reasons encouraging to start business (N = 1014) 
 

Structural Component Weight (L) Dispersion (%) 
Social reasons 
Willingness to fulfill one’s business idea  0,812 

24,8 
Willingness to apply the acquired knowledge in practice  0,785 
Willingness to continue a family business  0,695 
Possibility to take up a favourite activity  0,635 
Willingness to have a better position in the society  0,596 
Economic reasons 
Probability of higher income  0,837 22,8 
Willingness to create working places  0,808 
Personal reasons 
Unwillingness to be a hired employee  0,905 

14,5 Aspiration of personal freedom  0,893 
Demand of self-expression  0,569 
L – factorial weight (supporting the rotation of the method of main components VARIMAX) shows 
the statistical unity of the variables and the factor (factorial analysis model ALFA); % - per cent 
(cumulative) frequency shows how many % of dispersion can be explained by an independent 
variable KMO (Kayser – Meyer – Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy) – the scales suitable for 
factorial analysis. 

 
As stated in the final report on the assessment of measures encouraging youth entrepreneurship 
(2012), the change in youth willing to create one’s own working place in Lithuania as well as in Latvia 
correlates with the changes in economic wellbeing: in the period of economic growth the majority of 
young people wanted to become hired employees and not to take on the initiative or the risk to 
create a working place for yourself and the near ones. Whilst the results of the research revealed 
that currently when the consequences of economic crisis are still felt in the country, unwillingness to 
be a hired employee (L  0,905), aspiration of personal freedom (L  0,893), probability of higher 
income (L  0,837), willingness to fulfill one’s business idea (L  0,812) as well as willingness to create 
working places (L  0,808) are stated to be the most essential reasons to start business among 
Lithuanian high school students. When evaluating that, it can be stated that social and economic as 
well as personal reasons encouraging students to start business are important.  
 
The supporters of pragmatism consider that an individual takes up a certain activity pursuing or 
hoping benefits from it. A possibility to get some kind of benefit (in accordance with the principles of 
rationalism – financial) is frequently named as one of the reasons to start business. In the society 
there is also an attitude dominating that businessmen care exceptionally of their own financial 
wellbeing although there is a positive tendency that bigger and bigger part of the society considers a 
businessman as a creator of working places (GEM, 2012). The research on Lithuanian high school 
students’ involvement and participation in business showed that the majority, i.e. 82,7 % of students 
having their own business associate participation in business with personal income which they detect 
as a benefit. 68,4 % of academic youth say that participation in business is beneficial as it enables to 
bring up / improve entrepreneurship skills, and 67,1 % suppose that it provides personal satisfaction. 
The minority of respondents (46,1 %) approve of the opinion that participation in business creates a 
possibility to be recognized although one components of a businessman’s social image is recognition 
and respect from the others. It can be assumed that recognition is not the factor which can be 
significant and encouraging for becoming a businessman while personal income is a significant factor 
motivating to get involved in business.  
 
Obstacles for involvement in business. In Lithuania when solving the issues of youth involvement in 
the labour market, youth entrepreneurship and self-employment are emphasized as one of the most 
essential resources for decrease in youth unemployment and career opportunities (Ciburiene & 
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Guscinskiene, 2009; Zidonis, 2012; Assessment of Youth Entrepreneurship Encouragement Measures, 
2012), however, young population of the country is reluctant to set up a business. There are different 
reasons for that: beginning with the lack of information how to start a business, insufficient 
knowledge, abilities and experience, fear of risk, up to the problem of finding suitable employees, 
absence of initial capital, burden of legal, governmental, administrative requirements (Stripeikis, 
2008; Zuperka, 2010; Assessment of Youth Entrepreneurship Encouragement Measures, 2012).  
 
When analyzing the obstacles for involvement of Lithuanian high school students in business it was 
detected that the majority (71,0 %) of students participating in the research have never attempted to 
develop a business, 21,4 % have not encountered any obstacles when trying to create / creating a 
business. When explaining the obstacles encountered by the latter group of academic youth, on the 
bases of factorial analysis 4 factor groups characterizing this variable criterion were identified: 
instability of financial market and infrastructure (21,3 % responses dispersion), cultural – 
psychological factors (18,1 % responses dispersion), obstacles in information spread (15,2 % 
responses dispersion) and social – economic factors (13,6 % responses dispersion) (Table 2). The 
received value of Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure (KMO = 0,764) and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity 
criterion (775,549; df = 231, p = 0,000) proves that the variables are satisfactorily adequate for the 
factorial analysis. It is stated that having carried out the rotation of factors, the four groups of factors 
altogether explain 68,214 % (cumulative %) of all variables dispersion. Cronbach α = 0,882 shows that 
the internal consistency of factors is high and the statements making up the factors are 
homogeneous.  
 
Table 2. Factorial analysis of obstacles to start business (N = 1014) 
 

Structural Component Weight (L) Dispersion (%) 
Instability of financial markets and infrastructure 
Poor possibilities to receive a loan  0,859 

21,3 

High costs of receiving loans  0,840 
High price for rent of office premises  0,614 
High price for technological services  0,611 
High price for business consultancy services  0,604 
Loan not provided for starting business  0,538 
Cultural – psychological factors 
Lack of demand for self-expression  0,795 

18,1 
Lack of independence  0,789 
Unwillingness to take over a family business  0,767 
Unwillingness to take on responsibility  0,608 
Unwillingness to take on risks  0,593 
Obstacles in information spread 
Lack of information on creating a business  0,903 

15,2 Lack of information on possible sources of financing a business  0,781 
Lack of information on business administration  0,662 
Social- economic factors 
Lack of entrepreneurship skills  0,838 

13,6 

Lack of entrepreneurship knowledge 0,774 
Lack of business idea 0,753 
Lack of family relationship with business  0,621 
Lack of personal finances  0,612 
Absence of participation in business environment  0,596 

 
According to the opinion of the Lithuanian high school students who participated in the research it 
can be inferred that they distinguish lack of information on creating business (L  0,903), poor 
possibilities to receive a loan (L  0,859), high costs of receiving a loan (L  0,840) and lack of 
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entrepreneurship skills (L  0,838) as the most important obstacles for starting business. On the 
other hand, poor businessmen’s reputation in the society (L = 0,431) and inconsideration of starting a 
business as a career (L = 0,382) are not identified by academic youth as obstacles to start business. It 
is proven by low weight (L) of these statements.  
 
It is noticeable that although there is an opinion dominating in academic context that creation of a 
business is rather influenced by personal features a beginning businessman possesses, his or her 
skills, abilities and in-born qualities than by environmental factors, however, the latter more 
frequently become the factors reducing entrepreneurship and obstacles for starting business. 
Instable governments’ policy in the area of finance and regulation as well as lack of information on 
starting, setting up and development of a business remain the essential obstacles for business 
establishment and development and without eliminating them any other encouragement of 
entrepreneurship remains secondary. Besides, governmental institutions, non-governmental 
organizations and particularly educational institutions should pay more attention to the distribution 
of information on setting up business among academic youth which can be provided in a form of 
seminars, conferences, by organizing meetings, discussions with businessmen and sharing practical 
business experience and inspiring stories of successful business. 
 
 
Conclusions 
 
Sustainable growth and coherent social development in the modern world bring changes in 
fundamental values, norms and attitudes of the post-industrial society not only in the EU Member 
States, but also in Lithuania, as a result of which the expectations of the higher school students, as an 
innovative part of the society, regarding life and work quality change, too, because they come to the 
fore as the potential to create new jobs and ensure long-term, sustainable economic growth and 
coherent development of a country.  
 
Lithuania currently implements diverse measures for the promotion of youth entrepreneurship and 
engagement in business, however, as revealed by the research of inclusion and participation in 
entrepreneurship of students of Lithuanian higher education institutions, a larger part of them do not 
have and are not inclined to start their own business, but rather opt for a more socially secure way of 
living – work as hired employees. As a result, promotion of student entrepreneurship remains one of 
priority directions of the country’s activities, requiring to seek for a dialogue between the higher 
education institutions and representatives of the labour market, while together innovatively 
approaching the entrepreneurship problems of highly qualified young specialists and developing an 
aid mechanism, which would enable them to successfully engage in business and other flexible (non-
traditional) forms of employment.  
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Abstract 
 
Parts of Alberta, Canada lie in semi-arid climate with average annual water deficits in excess of 200 
mm, partly the result of a generally dry and sunny climate. Irrigation is a necessity in the region, as 
dry conditions are very frequent. As a result, the largest allocation and use of water in Alberta is for 
irrigation activities. As irrigation demand for water increases, there is more competition among 
various uses, which results in increasing pressure to reform water management in Alberta to ensure 
that it is allocated and used as efficiently as possible since water supplies are expected to diminish, 
conflicts increase, and the aquatic ecosystem health become increasingly threatened. As the major 
user of surface water supplies, irrigators are under increasing pressure to use less water for irrigating 
crops so that more water would be available for industrial and municipal uses as well as for 
supporting environmental objectives. To meet growing demand from predicted increases in 
economic activity, population growth, and environmental needs, innovative mechanisms are needed 
to facilitate a reallocation of existing water resources from current to new users. Failing to achieve 
this objective in a manner that reflects shared social and environmental values and is acceptable to 
existing water users and the wider community will have significant economic, social and 
environmental consequences for future generations of Albertans. In some cases, it has become 
urgent to reallocate existing water resources from current to new users. Some irrigation districts 
have license to some water allocation that historically has not been used, partly as a result of 
improved water use efficiency by irrigators. Some fear that this “surplus” water could be confiscated 
by government and then given to new water users.  
 
The purpose of this study was to explore irrigators’ perspectives of a 2007 water transfer agreement 
between the County of Rocky View and the Western Irrigation District. Although the terms of the 
agreement seemed to heavily favour the WID, a plebiscite among farmer members of the irrigation 
district just narrowly accepted the water transfer. In this study, we developed and tested campaign 
ideas based on social marketing principles that would allow campaign managers to convince 
stakeholders of the benefit of transferring water rights from farmers to city governments for urban 
use. Semi-structured and open-ended interviews were conducted with irrigators to determine why 
the sales message was apparently so ineffective. On the basis of the interviews, farmers were sorted 
into four groups: power savers, water savers, efficiency savers and product disbelievers. Each of the 
groups was evaluated in terms of the sales message considered, resultant claims, and the way they 
voted. It was found that to effect constructive change, campaigns are required that are tailored 
uniquely for each group. For the farmer community, it would be useful to include the following 
components in the campaign: a) appreciate their current behavior to efficiently use water for 
irrigation purposes, b) create awareness about the rational use of water by urban residents coupled 
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with increased need for water in the urban areas due to increased population in urban Alberta, and 
c) highlight the benefits of water rights transfer to farmers, that are of both immediate and sustained 
nature. Unless the campaign targeting farmers includes all these components, farmers are unlikely to 
develop positive attitudes to water rights transfer. 
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Abstract 
 
The effects of climate change have continued to intensify over the last decades, placing them within 
the scope of interest of governments and the international community. Regulations are being 
introduced and adaptive action taken on social, economic, as well as environmental levels. From the 
economic standpoint, climate change is responsible for generating enormous costs, but it can also be 
said to offer certain businesses opportunities. Its actual impact, however, varies between particular 
economy sectors. Its potential impingement will be greater in sectors sensitive to the functional 
stability of ecosystems, the availability of water or the weather conditions (e.g. agriculture, forestry, 
fishery, tourism), as well as in emission-intensive sectors such as the power industry or metallurgy. 
This article discusses the results of a survey of environmental reports reviewed in the context of 
climate change. In particular, the analysis focuses on legal and physical risks, the general perception 
of climate change, and the availability of low-emission products.  
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Introduction 
 
The ever more evident concern of political decision makers and the proliferation of scientific papers 
pertaining to the increase of global temperatures and its effects, result in ever more widespread, 
worldwide interest in the issues of climate change and global warming. The objective is not only to 
reach an international consensus with respect to limiting GHG emissions, but also to ensure its later 
ratification by the greatest possible number of signatory states. While 15th Conference of the Parties 
in Copenhagen failed to reach a new binding agreement, 55 countries have filed papers with the 
United Nations climate secretariat describing plans to reduce emissions between now and 2020. For 
the first time since climate negotiations began, some of the larger emitters among developing 
nations were among them.  
 
Emissions reduction is particularly strongly advocated in the EU. These efforts are reflected in the 
Union's respective policies, directives and regulations. From the perspective of particular businesses, 
the most significant restrictions are those which, when transposed to the context of national 
legislations, necessitate taking tangible adaptive action. Thus regulations that increase the cost of 
carbon are extremely relevant for companies’ operations. Given the scale of the reductions required 
– and the fact that the relative cost of achieving these reductions externally is often much cheaper 
than achieving them internally – governments in high-income countries start to create carbon 
markets as means to enable them to achieve their targets. Meanwhile, emissions limitations may 
have a direct influence on production. This is particularly evident in the case of industries relying 
heavily on carbon burning (e.g. the power industry). Another problem related to climate change is 
the incidence of extreme weather conditions that can affect businesses in many ways, including 
physical damage to assets, disruption of supply chains, financial health of customers and the costs of 
insurance. Companies that own and operate physical assets, such as manufacturing facilities depend 
on the functioning of physical infrastructure could face significant costs in the event of severe 
weather. Although physical risk to company-owned assets is widespread, it varies across geographies 
as well as time horizons. According to report of KPMG: companies may also be at physical risk from 
the long-term effects of climate change. These include variations in water availability, increased or 
decreased rainfall and rising sea levels. The implications of these physical risks for business are not 
always obvious. This will impact maintenance costs and the value of the asset itself. In effect, certain 
assets may have to be written off or relocated. But climate change will not only impact a company’s 
own assets. It will also impact the public infrastructure upon which the company depends. Energy, 
water, transport and communications infrastructure would all be impacted by extreme events.  
 
The risks mentioned above (legal, physical) are accompanied by the danger of losing the competitive 
advantage. The increased cost of energy and carbon-intensive products due to climate change 
regulations will expose certain industries to decreased competition through reduced operating 
margins and shifts in consumer demand. Changes in regulation pose a risk for companies in low-
income countries as well as an opportunity for those that can respond more quickly than their 
competitors. Companies should also be paying attention to carbon-related product standards in high-
income countries. This changing competitive environment will also result in innovation around new 
products, new means of meeting customers needs. Companies need to not only explore what it 
means to become best-in-class, but also to question whether there will be a market for their 
products in future. While some products, such as wind power and energy-efficient appliances, 
contribute to climate change mitigation and environmental impact reduction, others, such as climate 
change consulting, facilitate adaptation to a low-carbon future. Either way, these products and 
services help to meet crucial needs to operate successfully in a low-carbon business climate. As 
increasing attention is paid to the embedded carbon in products, the next generation of carbon 
policies in high-income countries could have significant implications for companies in low-income 
countries. In a world where emissions have a price and reductions have value, the competitiveness of 
organizations that offer carbon-efficient products will improve. First-mover on addressing a certain 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

170 
 

climate-related issue may be able to create long-term competitive advantage. The methodologies to 
enable companies to calculate the carbon footprints of their products are still in their infancy, but the 
desire to understand the carbon emitted throughout the whole life of a product. Even that this will 
be determined on the basis of embedded carbon, it means that competitiveness will not only be 
determined by operational efficiency but also by factors such as: 1) the carbon content of electricity 
sourced, 2) the emissions associated with the production and transportation of input materials, 3) 
the means of getting product to market.  
 
To recap, climate change generates a new type of corporate challenges whose extent depends on the 
particular business's location (country, region) and the sector in which it operates. In literature, the 
problem of climatic risks is usually discussed in reference to the physical threats faced by agricultural 
production - the sector's susceptibility to climate change and assessment of its effects. Studies 
conducted by the US Department of Commerce with the view of determining the percentage of the 
overall American economy directly vulnerable to climate risks indicated that not all sectors are 
susceptible to this sort of changes. However, the total value of sectors exposed to physical risk 
amounted to 40% of GDP (Dutton, 2002). Currently, also the growing severity of restrictions in terms 
of GHG emissions affects a growing number of companies (e.g. in metallurgy, power and aviation 
industries), although the extent of the legislation's impact varies between particular sectors and 
businesses. Given the above, the article will discuss the impact that certain selected climate risks 
have on particular industries.  
 
 
Research Method 
 
Studies were conducted with the use of the documentation method. Environmental reports or 
sustainable reports were analyzed. The study focused on four categories, developed to reflect a 
range of climate risk disclosure strength (table 1). The research process for this study involved 
keyword searches in documents. 
 
Table 1. Research statements  
 

Regulatory risk Environmental 
Climate 
Emissions 
Cap and trade 

Physical risk Weather 
Flood 
Storm 
Drought 
Natural disaster 

Climate change Climate change 
Global warming 
GHG 
CO2 

Climate friendly product Product 
Low-emission 
Cleaner technologies 
Friendly 

 
The research included reports published by 54 companies operating within the EU, which included 
internationals (global corporations - 17) and large Polish companies, leaders in their respective 
markets (37). 
 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

171 
 

 
General Results 
 
The three sectors that generally have the greatest impact on the environment and climate change – 
utilities, energy, industrials. In their reports, they most commonly related in one way or another to 
the issues of climate change or the problem of emissions.  
 
Regulatory risk is one of the most frequently reported types of climate risk disclosures. 70% of 
companies researched disclosed some type of environmental regulatory risk. In all sectors except for 
IT and financials, more than half of the companies mentioned regulatory risk (figure 1). 100% of the 
companies researched in the utilities and 90% in industrial and energy sector disclosed some 
regulatory risk. This indicator doesn’t include only risks from climate change regulation, but is 
broader, including all environmental regulation. Some companies disclose the risk of future climate 
or environmental protection regulations whereas others are more likely to disclose the more 
imminent risks of non-compliance with current regulations.  
 
The obtained results indicate that companies introduce product-based innovations to ensure 
continued operational viability in the low-carbon future. Some companies in the utilities sector 
provided consumers low-carbon energy sources i.e. renewable alternatives to fossil fuels. The 
industrials sector stands out for its high rate of climate-friendly products and services. Products 
include air quality control filters and air pollution monitoring equipment. Many of these products 
also support rising standards of energy efficiency. One company manufactures components for the 
wind farms. Another declares that produce the materials climate-friendly. 
 
Figure 1. General results 
 

 
 
 
Results by Industry Sector 
 
Utilities 
All companies in utilities reported environmental regulatory risk and physical risk. 70% recognized 
the existence of climate change, a rate significantly higher than any other sector. Because utilities will 
increasingly need to adapt their operations and business strategy to new regulations, such as GHG 
emissions restrictions and renewable portfolio standards, as well as increasing demand for 
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renewable energy and energy efficiency, the high level of disclosure is appropriate for the 
sector.Several of the utilities researched stand to benefit in a low-carbon future that emphasizes 
development and use of alternative energy sources. Many utilities have established energy efficiency 
programs to help their customers reduce their electricity use. Utility decoupling breaks the direct link 
between profits and amount of energy sold.  
 
Production (customer staples) 
In customer staples sector 50% of companies recognize climate change, in particular as a regulatory 
risk. They citing the various mechanisms: regulations limiting GHG emissions, future emissions 
standards and climate control initiatives, proposals to reduce or cap the emissions of carbon dioxide, 
climate change regulations. Through innovative product offerings, materials companies can play an 
important role in achieving a low-carbon future. For example out of 3 chemical companies 
researched 2 are members of Responsible Care,a global voluntary management system established 
to improve the chemical industry’s environmental, health and safety performance.  
 
Production sector is highly exposed to fluctuating commodity costs and weather events affecting 
agricultural operations within supply chains. Many companies use forward purchase agreements. 
Because it is particularly consumer-facing and tied to a brand and reputation, the consumer staples 
sector is also characterized by the opportunity for companies to differentiate themselves from 
competitors by creating a climate-friendly brand name and marketing climate-friendly products.  
 
Energy  
Almost all companies in energy sector disclosed regulatory risk and weather risk. Not one reported 
greenhouse gas emissions, despite the sector’s high impact on the environment and climate change. 
The oil and natural gas exploration and production is a direct source of GHG emissions, and future 
restrictions on the combustion of fossil fuels or the venting of natural gas could impact operations. 
Companies from this sector recognized climate change. It is not clear from most of the disclosures 
that companies recognize that climate change is directly related to their business. The sector is also 
susceptible to significant physical risks. Polish power systems engineering relies heavily on overhead 
networks which, unlike cable networks, run the risk of failures due to strong winds or excessive icing. 
Incidence of extreme weather conditions such as hurricanes, intensive storms, etc. may threaten to 
damage transmission and distribution lines, and consequently hinder the end users' access to 
electricity.  
 
New regulations aimed at addressing climate change are likely to benefit green energy. In a low-
carbon future, the growth and success of alternative energy will generate additional benefits. Price 
and availability of alternative fuel sources can impact the prices of crude oil and natural gas as well as 
the demand. 
 
Industrial  
Almost 90% of the companies researched in this sector disclosed environmental regulatory risk. 19% 
companies recognize climate change in their reporting. The transportation industry group scored on 
the most indicators within the industrials sectors. With the increasing focus on regulating the energy 
industry, companies with operations that depend on transportation could face higher costs in a low-
carbon future. Transportation companies are also vulnerable to severe weather events. Meanwhile, 
in the construction sector, more frequent precipitation extends the duration of the construction 
cycle. This has a negative impact in terms of the number of flats finished, but can also positively 
impact construction in progress (prolongation of the construction cycle). Measures may also be taken 
to counter the effects of excessive precipitation, however, these tend to be rather cost-intensive. The 
industrial sector has the second highest rate of products offerings for a low-carbon future. 
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Communications 
Because most companies in the telecommunications sector maintain extensive physical 
infrastructure in the form of networks, the sector as a whole faces significant physical risks. 31% 
companies disclosed the physical risk to their telecommunications infrastructure, usually due to 
severe weather events. One company discloses the risk of uninsured catastrophic loss of physical 
assets. Only 40% companies disclosed regulatory risk and it is unlikely that the sector will be targeted 
by new GHG emission restrictions. The telecommunications sector has significant opportunities to 
succeed in a low-carbon business climate, in particular by creating products that may help reduce the 
need for transportation and travel. Telecomenabled software systems, such as distributed call 
centers and virtual work queues, can help organizations address the challenge of rising travel and 
commuting costs by creating a workplace with highly distributed workers.  
 
IT 
The information technology sector provided the lower level of climate risk disclosure and low rate of 
regulatory risk disclosure. While future climate change regulations targeting the carbon emissions of 
IT sector specifically are unlikely, many IT industries risk through operation of energy are still subject 
to regulatory intensive data centers. The IT sector had 68% rate of physical risk disclosure. This sector 
is characterized by a number of industry-specific opportunities related to energy efficiency. 
Operating information technology can be energy intensive. Outsourcing applications, storage and 
other computing functions can help business reduce costs through energy efficiency.  
 
Financial sector 
Many organizations in the financial sector are highly exposed to climate risks through their 
investments. Climate related risks and opportunities are increasingly seen by the financial 
community as having material impact on the performance. The sector will have a lot of opportunities 
to succeed in a low-carbon future: provide analysis for investors, innovative financial mechanisms, 
new funds. Beyond new product offerings the insurance industry can invest in new businesses with 
low-carbon technologies.  
 
Healthcare industry 
The healthcare industry provides the least climate risk disclosure among all the sectors. The sector 
has medium rate of regulatory risk, a majority of the specific environmental regulations mentioned 
are related to hazardous waste use and disposal. Since none of the healthcare companies researched 
recognized climate change, all of the indicators were achieved in climate-friendly product. Changes in 
the physical health environment will be the main drivers of climate risks and opportunities in the 
healthcare sector. For example increased risk or perceived risk of disease could drive demand for 
vaccination or therapies in temperate regions that previously had little exposure to diseases. Climate 
change is also not without an impact on the general population as a whole, although particular risk 
groups such as the elderly, the homeless, the poor or the very young, are more susceptible to climate 
related illnesses and disorders. In the general context of healthcare, climate change is most palpably 
evidenced in the growing incidence of skin cancer and the mortality rate related to melanomas as 
well as respiratory and circulatory disorders.  
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Table 2. Examples of threats, opportunities connected with climate change 
 

Sector Threats Opportunity 
Farming, 
agribusiness 

Increased competition for access to water 
Damage to transportation infrastructure 
Changes in temperature range and 
increased extreme weather events may 
change productivity or viability of crops 
Reduced summer rainfall will lead to 
increased droughts and water shortages, 
damaging both agricultural commodities 
and forestry 
Increased refrigeration requirements 

Increased consumer awareness of carbon 
footprints for products may create brand 
value for products, which can be 
positioned as low-carbon 
Increased CO2 in atmosphere will have 
positive impact on yield for certain 
products 
Higher temperatures will enable new 
crops to be grown in certain areas and 
provide longer growing periods 
Farming will form a significant part of the 
global approach to mitigating climate 
change 

Cleaner 
technologies 

 Increased access to market in face of 
positive legal or regulatory action in favour 
of low-carbon technologies 
Cleaner technologies will form a significant 
part of the global approach to mitigating 
climate change 

Consumer 
staples 

Disruption to transportation and supply 
chains from flooding 
Increased refrigeration requirements due to 
increased average temperatures 
Increased heat stress for outdoor workers 
requires additional health and safety 
considerations 
Increased competition for access to water 
Reduced operations due to damaged 
facilities or infrastructure 
Increased incidence of food poisoning 
related to prolonged periods of higher 
temperatures 
Physical climate change impacts to natural 
environment that draw people to visit 
Introduction of regulation in the form of 
government initiatives to make transport 
more expensive for users 
Targeted regulations to improve automotive 
efficiency and reduce emissions per mile 
Changes in consumers behaviours away 
from holiday destinations 

Increased consumer awareness of carbon 
footprints for products may create brand 
value for products, which can be 
positioned as low-carbon 
Understanding supply chain exposure and 
early action to manage these risks will 
enable organization to better withstand 
climate shocks 
New market creation for products that 
assist consumer in reducing their carbon 
footprint 
Consumer and legislative pressure to 
reduce power consumption of consumer 
durables 
New tourism opportunities may be more 
attractive 

Industrial Regulations imposing a cost of carbon on 
high carbon-intensity materials 
Regulations to reduced emissions may 
require significant changes in manufacturing 
Disruption to transportation and supply 
chains 
High regulatory standard for handling, 
production and storage 
Increased competition for access to water 
Reduced operations due to damaged 
facilities or infrastructure from occurrence 
of extreme events 

Understanding exposure and early action 
to manage these risks will enable 
organization to better withstand climate 
shocks 
Increased regulations requiring higher 
energy performance standards 
Opportunities available to businesses 
which can adapt to climate change faster 
than their customers 
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Additional cooling requirements 
Introduction of regulation in the form of 
government initiatives to make transport 
more expensive 
Regulation and consumer preference driving 
changing in packaging material 

Financial 
institutions 

Insurance provision may change as climate 
impacts are understood 
Reputational risk for financial institutions as 
consumer pressure 
Institutions that don’t integrate the impact 
of climate change into their funding 
decisions will be less able than competitors 
to handle climate shocks 

Microfinance are often less reliant on 
physical infrastructure than traditional 
banking 
Microfinance institution are able to help 
customers to improve their resilience 
Offer differentiated financial services 
which address climate risk or 
opportunities 

Energy, utilities Energy sector is reliant on marine transport, 
port facilities, which will be disrupted 
Reduced access to water 
Increased peak electricity demand to 
warmer days 
Increased damage to facilities and 
infrastructure from weather events 
Reduced transmission capacity 
Consumer and legislative pressure to reduce 
emissions 

Reduced emissions from energy 
generation 
Renewable energy production  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Healthcare A number of drugs require temperature-
controlled environments to ensure efficacy 
Increased risk to human health due to 
prolonged exposure to hot weather 
Increased potential for damage to 
production and storage facilities from 
weather events 
High regulatory standards for handling, 
production, storage within pharmaceutical 
industry 

New markets for healthcare products and 
services may be create for products which 
address climate-related health issues 
Industrial biotechnology can contribute to 
reducing climate emissions in a number of 
ways f.e. use of biofuels 

ICT, 
communication 

Infrastructure damage Increased consumer awareness of carbon 
intensity may create positive brand value 
for companies that are seen as being low-
carbon sectors 

 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
One of the effects of climate change is the growing incidence of extreme weather conditions and 
disasters, which is bound to significantly affect sensitive areas and national economies. Particular 
importance must be attributed to the possibility of heavy rainfall which may result in flooding, 
inundation and landslides. Gale-force winds, tornadoes and accompanying atmospheric discharges 
are also becoming more common, all of which may have a significantly detrimental effect on e.g. the 
construction industry, the power industry or the transport infrastructure. The results of the survey of 
environmental reports presented in the article indicate that companies take the legal and physical 
risks into due account. While physical risks are not specifically correlated with particular industries, 
the legal risks affect mainly businesses active in sectors where specific emissions limitations apply. 
Companies in these sectors are also more aware of climate change as such. The phenomenon is of 
particular interest to entities active in the energy, industrial, production or utilities industries. In 
terms of climate-friendly products, there are two general paths which businesses may chose to 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

176 
 

follow. The first involves marketing low-emission products (e.g. energy-saving vehicles, hydrogen 
powered solutions), the second - improved adaptation to climate change (e.g. solar thermal 
collectors).  
 
To sum up, the analyzed corporate reports make note of issues related to climate change, which 
indicates the companies' awareness of the fact that functional changes are possible; certain adaptive 
action is being taken.  
 
The performed analysis is not without limitations. In the course of the study, only a selected group of 
climate change problems was taken into account. It seems justified to extend the scope of research 
by including aspects such as: the impact of the changes on competitiveness, the flight of highly 
emissive sectors, and the costs of adaptation. The study was also significantly hindered by the 
scarcity o reports available in certain industries. The results pertaining to e.g. the IT sector, where a 
total of 2 environmental reports were analyzed, can hardly be said to be entirely representative. 
Moreover, certain sectors were not included in the study at all (administration, agriculture, forestry).  
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Abstract 
 
Statistically more than 50% of all mergers do not achieve synergies. Why do most mergers and 
acquisitions fail to achieve planned objectives? In majority of cases the reason is the failure in post-
merger integration. In this paper we have developed further how the SUN Cube framework can be 
used in capturing synergies during the post-merger integration process. The SUN Cube is a new 
stakeholder management system that can be used in M&A deals and can be defined from four 
perspectives. One of the main achievements is the quantitative methodology proposition regarding 
how the top management and shareholders can assess the readiness and possible effects on 
synergies in specific figures. The SUN Cube framework helps to focus on the KPI of specific 
stakeholders. 
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Introduction 
 
The importance of stakeholder relationship management for successful post-merger integration is 
not doubted, and although the interest in stakeholders has grown substantially since Freeman (1984) 
published his work, we find a lack of papers that address stakeholder relationship management in 
M&A deals. There is especially a great need for a management system that can be used by 
practitioners.  
 
Usually integration is treated as a project, and metrics are established to evaluate PMI (post-merger 
integration) performance, but there is a critical need for metrics that can trace the interests of all 
stakeholders. Donaldson and Preston (1995) notice that the stakeholder theory establishes a 
framework for examining the connections, if any, between the practice of stakeholder management 
and the achievement of various corporate performance goals. Madhavan (2005), in his paper, 
mentions that “the M&A manager needs to manage seven sets of stakeholder expectations well.” He 
states that all the stakeholders are equally important, and up to 10% of customers can be lost during 
the integration period and due to poor stakeholder relationship management. 
 
In our previous paper (Martirosyan & Vashakmadze, 2013) we presented a conceptual framework of 
a stakeholder management system for M&A deals, called the SUN Cube. The SUN Cube framework 
helps focus on the KPIs of specific stakeholders. In this paper we want to develop further how the 
SUN Cube framework can be used to capture synergies during the post-merger integration process. 
In this paper we will describe each perspective of the SUN Cube and present an algorithm for 
stakeholder management in M&A deals. 
 
 
Mapping Stakeholders 
 
To be able to engage and manage stakeholders using the SUN Cube framework before an M&A deal 
it is critical to map the stakeholders. Our literature review shows that scholars have proposed many 
models for mapping stakeholders. 
 
Up to fifteen stakeholder mapping and analysis approaches can be identified, which fall into four 
categories (Bryson, 2004): 

 organizing participation or involvement; 
 creating ideas for strategic interventions; 
 building a winning coalition; 
 implementing, monitoring and evaluating strategic interventions.  

 
Regarding the methods for organizing the involvement or participation of stakeholders in a process 
or a project, there are five main identification and analysis techniques. A process for choosing 
stakeholder analysis participants (Eden & Ackermann, 1998; Friend & Hickling, 1997) and the basic 
stakeholder analysis technique (Bryson, 1995) are multistage decision-making procedures. Power 
versus interest grids, stakeholder influence diagrams and the participation planning matrix are the 
visualization tools for the impact and influence of stakeholders (Bryson, 2004). 
 
Mendelow’s matrix (Mendelow, 1991) suggests a method for mapping stakeholders building on the 
notions of interest and power. Stakeholders’ power refers to their actual ability to affect the firm, 
while the interest refers to their desire to influence. Mendelow (1991) adds the behavioral 
predictability of a stakeholder as a criterion that can influence the stakeholder management strategy 
(figure 1). 
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Figure 1. Power versus interest and predictability matrix (adaptation of Mendelow, 1991) 

 
 
One of the suggested modifications of the matrix is the power versus interest grid by Eden and 
Ackermann (Eden & Ackermann, 1998), which arrays stakeholders on a two-by-two matrix according 
to four categories: players who have both a direct interest and high power; subjects who have an 
interest but low power; context setters who have significant power but little interest; and the crowd, 
which consists of stakeholders with low interest and power.  
 
A theoretical framework dealing with the importance of stakeholders, their influence on a project or 
a company (Harrison & John, 1996; Grimble & Wellard, 1997; Cleland, 1999) and their potential for 
collabouration and treatment (Savage et al, 1991) are undergoing further investigation in the 
economic literature. 
 
To map stakeholders in an M&A deal we propose a modified approach to Mendelow’s power versus 
interest matrix. We have transformed it in order to identify the stakeholders with a greater influence 
on an M&A deal; additionally we have added an axis that will show the stakeholder to M&A deal 
relationship (table 1 and figure 2). 
 
Table 1. Power versus interest and predictability matrix (adaptation of Mendelow, 1991) 
 

Stakeholder 

Power of the 
stakeholder (the 
influence of the 

stakeholder on the 
organization) 

Interest of the 
stakeholder to 

influence the M&A 
deal 

Influence of the 
stakeholder on the 

M&A deal 
(power*interest) 

Relationship of the 
stakeholder to the 
M&A deal (positive 

or negative) 

Stakeholder 1     
Stakeholder 2     
…     
Stakeholder n     

 
Based on the table above we can create the following matrix, which will help us to assign priorities. 
The matrix will help us to focus on the “right stakeholders,” who are important for capturing synergy. 
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Figure 2. Synergy destroyers and creators matrix 
 

Re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

of
 

st
ak

eh
ol

de
r t

o 
M

&
A 

de
al

 Po
sit

iv
e Comfortable stakeholders Synergy creators 

 
Priority stakeholders 

N
eg

at
iv

e Dangerous stakeholders 
 

Need to be monitored in order to avoid 
transformation into synergy destroyers 

Synergy destroyers 
 

Priority stakeholders 

  Min. Max. 

  Influence of stakeholder on M&A deal 

 
 
SUN Cube Framework 
 
Much research has been dedicated to strategies for managing stakeholders from the focal 
organization’s point of view (Savage et al, 1991; Jawahar & McLaughlin, 2001) and to the ways in 
which stakeholders can affect the decisions of a firm (Frooman, 1999). 
 
The SUN Cube is a new stakeholder management system that can be used in M&A deals and can be 
defined from four perspectives.  
 
Figure 3. The SUN Cube model 
 

 
Each perspective is assessed from the angle of different levels of stakeholder. The stakeholder levels 
are: 

 First-level stakeholders (SH1) – shareholders, top management and personnel 
 Second-level stakeholders (SH2) – clients, suppliers and banks 
 Third-level stakeholders (SH3) – all other stakeholders 

 
The SUN Cube scorecard is presented below. It shows the target and actual values for each 
perspective, and the perspectives are decomposed into the stakeholder levels. Then the deviation in 
percentage is calculated, and an action to be taken to improve each perspective is provided. The 
maximum target value for all the perspectives is 30 and the minimum is 0. We believe that the higher 
the actual value is, the more controllable and manageable the synergy effects are. 
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Table 2. SUN Cube scorecard 
 

Stakeholder Target value Actual value % Comment Actions 
Run rate 9     
SH1 3     
SH2 3     
SH3 3     
Transparency rate 9     
SH1 3     
SH2 3     
SH3 3     
Multiplication rate 3     
SH1 1     
SH2 1     
SH3 1     
Transmission rate 9     
Shareholders 3     
Top managers 3     
Personnel 3     
Total by perspectives 30     

 
The target and the actual values can be visualized for each perspective as shown below. 
 
Figure 4. The target and actual values for each perspective of the SUN Cube 
 

 
 
 
Description of the SUN Cube Perspectives 
 
The run rate is the ability of the stakeholder to take part in corporate constructive development and 
integration processes. This KPI should mainly exist to test stakeholders’ ability and readiness to 
cooperate constructively in M&A deal execution and integration development. It is well known that 
the majority of M&A deals suffer from the so-called “corporate allergy,” which occurs when, during 
the integration processes, two or more business structures cannot successfully merge and generate 
synergies from united operations due to their failure to meet the interests of stakeholders.  
 
The target and actual values are numbered using the following scale, indicating the degree of 
stakeholder involvement: 

0 – Not involved; 
1 – Stakeholder is informed; 
2 – Stakeholder is actively involved in the PMI team or consulting PMI team; 
3 – Decision-making role.  
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In order to be able to set for each stakeholder a target value for the run rate and to understand the 
actual value of each stakeholder, Mendelow’s matrix can be used. Following this analytical approach 
we analyze each stakeholder from two perspectives: interest in the deal and synergy and power 
(influence) on the organization. 
 
If Mendelow’s matrix suggests partnering with the stakeholder then the target value for the run rate 
will be 3, in the case of involvement or consulting with the stakeholder the target value will be 2 and 
if suggesting the engagement of the stakeholder will be just to keep him informed the target value 
will be 1 (Figure 5). 
 
Figure 5. Modified Mendelow’s matrix 
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The transparency rate is the possibility to create a future map for each stakeholder after integration. 
Nevertheless, regardless of the target values set for each stakeholder from the run rate perspective, 
it is highly important to achieve the maximum target values for each stakeholder from the 
transparency rate perspective. This is an essential KPI for the CEO to measure and understand the 
transparency and clarity of the future after the M&A deal for each stakeholder. The reason for 
mentioning this is that without a clear vision of what will happen with the stakeholder, his position 
and his controlling stake in the business after the M&A, it is impossible to move on and accomplish 
successful M&A deals and post-merger integration. Before an M&A deal, it is highly recommended to 
create a future map for the stakeholder, which indicates the following information: 

 Stake size after integration. This is the definition of the stakeholder’s business scale revenue 
that should be proven after consolidation and integration. When we introduce an M&A deal 
and choose it as the right opportunity for future business growth, it should be as beneficial 
for each stakeholder as without the M&A. 

 Strategic and operational plan for a period of three to five years with financial and social 
KPIs. 

 
We recommend two instruments for diagnosing and assessing these KPIs: 

 A specially devised questionnaire disclosing the transparency rate. This is a special form 
devised for the key stakeholders to be completed with a later analysis of their answers 
showing whether or not they see the future and their role in the business clearly after 
integration.  

 Personal interviews with stakeholder representatives. 
 
The target and actual values are numbered using the following scale for the degree of transparency: 

0 – not transparent 
1 – transparent in the short term (up to 6 months) 
2 – transparent in the medium term (from 6 months up to 1 year) 
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 Second level stakeholders 

 

First level stakeholders 

3 – transparent in the long term (more than 1 year) 
 
The multiplication rate is the rate of possible value maximization for the stakeholder in the 
neighboring industry after an M&A deal in the considered industry. This new specific KPI should help 
the CEO conducting the M&A activity and integration to measure the stakeholders’ personal 
capitalization rate in neighboring industries after the deal.  
 
It is true that while working in one industry in which we have core competences, we influence 
adjacent and neighboring industries that service our business model or invest in us. Therefore, in our 
case, when carrying out an M&A, we should understand how this deal with future integration will 
increase the value of our stakeholders in neighboring markets by giving them extra benefits. This can 
be pre-look and out-of-the-box thinking. When increasing the value of our stakeholders, we need to 
be concerned about their value increase in related and neighboring businesses, in which they can 
also benefit. The existence of multiplication effects can be helpful in developing a communication 
strategy. 
 
The target and actual values are numbered using the following scale for the multiplication effect: 

0 – no or negligible multiplication effect; 
1 – existence of a multiplication effect. 

 
While interacting and working on the basis of interdependence, the stakeholders of a particular 
business form a network that is a unique multi-organizational structure. Within the network 
approach to stakeholder analysis (Burt, 1992; Uzzi, 1997) there is always room for multiplication 
effects for stakeholders to some extent. However, the volume and direction of multiplication effects 
vary depending on the stakeholder and network characteristics, such as the centrality (Freeman, 
1979; Best et al, 2007) and information richness of a particular stakeholder and the density and 
fragmentation of the network. 
 
Figure 6. Stakeholders’ network  
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Assuming that the overall level of connectedness among the stakeholders in the network is 
appropriate, i.e. the network is not fragmented, does not have any significant restrictions and in 
general enables multiplication effects, in order to describe the potential for multiplication effects of 
each stakeholder the following matrix can be considered (Figure 7). The degrees of centralization and 
multiplexity reflect the number of direct links and sustainable connections maintained by 
stakeholders. Information diversity (Koka & Prescott, 2002) is a measure of the variety and quantity 
of information flows that stakeholders can access through their relationships.  
 
Figure 7. Multiplication rate matrix 
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As far as multiplication effects imply the creation of value for stakeholders within and across 
networks, the target value for all the stakeholders would be 1. 
 
The transmission rate. This is a rate that fixes the stakeholder’s ability to pass to the new 
development stage in corporate business development. By understanding the evolution of business 
values, we can propose four stages of corporate management philosophy (Figure 8). 
 
Figure 8. Evolution of business management philosophy 
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The last stage (focusing on environmental, social and governance (ESG) requires a completely 
different managerial philosophy of business development. By providing this specific KPI for CEOs, we 
help them to understand the type of stakeholder and the main drivers that bring motivation to 
possible M&A deals. For the success of future integration, stakeholders should be at the same or a 
similar stage in terms of business development approaches, which are essential to creating common 
value and a communication base. This indicator enables a CEO to understand the total stakeholder 
approach to business and avoid problems in integration. This rate should be measured using the 
360C method of analysis, by which we can determine the main stakeholder’s focus at the present 
moment. This KPI can present an M&A deal for reconsideration. The more the stakeholders are at 
the same level of business focus and development stage, the better the possibility for future 
successful integration. It is difficult to carry out successful integration if one stakeholder is at the ESG 
level of development and another is at the first – cash flow. Common understanding and a 
philosophical approach to developing business facilitate successful results for integration. 
 
The transmission rate is the only perspective that is analyzed only for first-level stakeholders. The 
target and actual values are numbered using the following scale for the transmission effect: 

0 – Positive cash-flow orientation 
1 – EBITDA orientation 
2 – Market capitalization orientation 
3 – ESG orientation (shareholder wealth maximization through stakeholder wealth 
maximization) 

 
We suppose that shareholders and the majority of top managers focus on shareholder value creation 
or ESG, i.e. benefiting all the groups of stakeholders. The reasoning is the following. As far as mergers 
and acquisitions are used as a value creating tool, an acquirer must have already been aiming at 
value maximization. As a result, the target value for the transmission rate is always 2 or 3. Thus, the 
target transmission rate for all the levels of stakeholders is based on the maximum actual figure for 
each stakeholder. In other words, if the shareholders of an acquirer focus on maximizing the value of 
the company, then for all the stakeholders, of both the acquirer and the acquired company, the 
target value for the transmission rate should be at level 2. 
 
An actual figure for the transmission rate can be estimated not only on the basis of interviews, but 
also on the basis of the following express diagnostics: 

 Is the strategy of a target company focused on generating profits or on value creation? 
 Are the financial statements of a target company prepared under IFRS or GAAP? 
 Are the strategy and strategic goals communicated to the personnel of the acquirer and the 

target company? 
 Is an incentive and bonus system developed for the top management and personnel in a 

target company? 
 
 
Algorithm for Stakeholder Management in M&A Deals 
 
Below is a ten-step guide to using the above-described methodology: 

1. List the stakeholders, both internal and external, who could have an influence on synergy 
effects; 

2. Identify areas for potential synergy using the ertsgamma framework;1 

                                                             
1 Ertsgamma is a visual representation of 12 factorial ROE decomposition of the acquirer and target companies. It helps to 
identify the areas in which synergy can be reached and to perform a synergy valuation for the combined company 
(Vshakmadze, 2012). 
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3. Define the stakeholders who have a direct impact on each of the 12 factors from the 
ertsgamma framework; 

4. Map the stakeholders to identify the “destroyers” and “creators” of synergy effects that are 
the priority for the deal; 

5. Define the “destroyers” and “creators” of synergy effects for each level of stakeholders;  
6. Estimate the target and actual values for the run rate (stakeholder involvement) for the 

stakeholders by levels; 
7. Estimate the target and actual values for the transparency rate (certainty perspective) for the 

stakeholders by levels; 
8. Estimate the target and actual values for the multiplication rate for stakeholders by levels; 
9. Estimate the target and actual values for the transmission rate (evolution of business values) 

for stakeholders by levels; 
10. Develop a stakeholder relationship strategy on the basis of an analysis of the target and 

actual values. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
In this paper we have developed further how the SUN Cube framework can be used to capture 
synergies during the post-merger integration process. We propose a ten-step algorithm for the 
proposed methodology. One of the main achievements is the quantitative methodology proposition 
regarding how the top management and shareholders can assess the readiness and possible effects 
on synergies in specific figures. For our next piece of research we will introduce the case-based 
method, with which we will prove the working mechanism and practice orientation of all the 
proposed instruments using real cases. 
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Abstract 
 
In the conditions of today’s competition the skill of the tourism enterprises to provide the needs of 
the consumers to the utmost and to enable their satisfaction is topical. The quality of the tourism 
product, the knowledge of customers’ needs and desires can be named as the main criterions of the 
satisfaction of the needs. The analysis of the factors of the satisfaction of the needs gives the 
opportunity to identify the condition of satisfaction in the tourism market. 
 
The conditions of the global economic recession reinforced the growing consuming behaviour trend 
demonstrated by tourists – to choose the tourism sites and services which can satisfy the consumer 
both in terms of the product quality as well as, particularly, in terms of the “price/product quality” 
relation.  
 
The aim of the article is to investigate the satisfaction of the segments of the foreign tourism 
consumers in the context of tourism trademarks of Latvia. 
 
The results of research show that the consumer behaviour and satisfaction levels in various segments 
of the tourism market of Latvia are not homogeneous.  
 
Keywords 
 
Marketing, tourism, product, satisfaction, destination 
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1. Introduction 
 
Tourism is one of the leading and most rapidly growing industries globally and in Europe. Tourism is 
considered strategic economic development and employment priority because it represents the 
biggest source of income, a significant provider of jobs as well as important factor of regional and 
social development. However, only competitive tourism sites and enterprises can develop 
successfully which, in its turn, can be provided by the quality of tourism products, knowledge of 
customer needs and wishes catering for a high level of customer satisfaction. 
 
After the restoration of Latvia’s independence in 1991 tourism has developed with various success in 
the country, however since year 2000 the flow of tourism to Latvia has been steadily growing and its 
growth rate has been fluctuating from 5% in 2008 to 24.4% in 2005. Over recent twenty years (1993–
2012) the annual flow of foreign tourists to Latvia has increased more than twice. However, the 
annual growth rates have significantly shrunk over recent five years, in 2009 even being negative (–
14%, for overnight visitors even –21%). This trend can be explained both by the declining of the initial 
interest in “the new EU member state” as well as the growth of the product and service price 
observed in Latvia over recent years. The negative results of year 2009 were certainly the effect of 
the global economic recession which has had a similar effect on the number of tourism trips in 
Europe (–5%) and in the world as a whole (–4%). At the same time the average time overnight 
visitors stay has decreased from 8.3 nights in 1996 to 4 nights in 2012 as almost 2/3 of foreign 
travelers do not spend nights in Latvia, i.e., they arrive for less than 24 hours. This fact requires a 
negative assessment as it does not facilitate the growth of the income from selling tourism services. 
These indicators are not favourable for the tourism product of Latvia which obviously cannot attract 
tourists for a longer period of time. 
 
 
2. Significance of Tourist Satisfaction in Attracting Tourists 
 
Tourist satisfaction is significant for successful destination marketing as it affects the choice of 
destination, consumption of tourism product and service as well as the decision on returning to the 
destination. Social psychology, marketing and customer behaviour researchers have carried out 
comprehensive studies of customer satisfaction and dissatisfaction over the last decades. As a result 
of research a lot of definitions of the concept of satisfaction have been put forward based on during 
purchase (Oliver & Swan, 1989), post-purchase (Fornell, 1992; Westbrook & Reilly, 1983; Churchill & 
Suprenant, 1982), during consumption (Oliver, 1992, 1997; Cadotte, Woodruff & Jenkins, 1987; 
Westbrook, 1987; Swan, Trawick & Carroll, 1982) or post-consumption (Tse & Wilton 1988; Swan, 
Trawick & Caroll, 1982) evaluations that express positive, neutral or negative attitude towards a 
particular product or service. 
 
Although there are a lot of nuances, they all basically focus on one main aspect: customer 
satisfaction shows the correspondence between the subjectively perceived and practically 
experienced satisfaction of needs and desires offered by products or services. 
 
Significant research has also been carried out to determine the influence of level of customer 
satisfaction on further customer behaviour. The most researched expression of customer satisfaction 
is loyalty that comprises three areas: repeat purchases made by customers concerning a particular 
product, additional purchases made concerning other products offered by the same supplier and 
recommendation of the product to other potential customers (“word of mouth” advertising). The 
mutual positive influence of customer satisfaction and loyalty is irrefutably proven by empirical 
research studies carried out in different economic fields and industries (Oliver, 1989; Woodruff, 
Cadotte & Jenkins, 1983), including the tourism industry (Braun, 1993; Kozak & Rimington, 2000). 
Tourists tend to return to places where services received or impressions gathered have given them a 
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sense of satisfaction (repeat purchases). They repeatedly choose other products offered by the same 
tour operator if their tour was successful (additional purchases). Tourists upon returning from a tour 
often share their impressions with their relatives, friends and acquaintances – positive travel 
experience and satisfaction with services used very often serve as motivation to visit destinations 
about which one has heard positive travel reviews (further recommendation). Thereby a satisfied 
tourism customer also becomes a loyal free advertisement tool for destinations, countries, regions as 
well as tourism service providers. 
 
 
3. The characterization of the research framework of the tourism consumers’ satisfaction 
 
In studying tourist satisfaction frequent use is made of the three-factor module of consumer 
satisfaction, wider known as Kano model, stating that consumer satisfaction/dissatisfaction develops 
from the interaction of various factors that can be divided into three groups: the first group contains 
the basic factors forming the minimal product/service requirement provision the lack of which causes 
dissatisfaction, however meeting of which does not create a higher level of satisfaction. A negative 
assessment of these factors has a bigger influence on the overall level of satisfaction than a positive 
assessment. 
 
The second factor group – the so-called excitement factors, can increase the customer satisfaction 
level if they belong to the product attributes, however they do not decrease the satisfaction if they 
do not belong to the product attributes. The excitement factors surprise the customer and create joy. 
The third factor group – the product/ service performance or desirable service factors create 
satisfaction if they are performed at a high quality and create dissatisfaction if performed at a low 
quality. The mutual relation between the performance quality and satisfaction is linear and 
symmetrical.  
 
Literature provides two methods that can be applied in the empirical research of the three-factor 
structure of satisfaction: one of the methods is offered by T.G. Vavra (1997). The method is based on 
consumer/customer satisfaction hygiene or basic service and excitement factor identification, 
comparing the explicit assessment of the importance of various service or tourism site attributes 
with the implicit or derived assessment. Thus the hypothesis is assumed that consumers/customers 
(tourists) can differentiate the explicit and implicit importance dimensions of a product/service which 
can further help identify the three factors determining satisfaction: the ones causing dissatisfaction, 
the ones causing satisfaction and the excitement factors. 
 
The second is the so-called Penalty/ Reward factor analysis method, which was developed by Brandt 
(1987; 1988). It also belongs to the multi-factor analysis methods and is based on the hypothesis that 
the structure of a product/service is formed by two kinds of product/service attributes or factors: 
routine factors and exception factors. The “penalty” factors of a product/service are the 
elements/attributes the lack or a bad performance (low quality) of which cause customer 
dissatisfaction. The “reward” factors are the product/service elements which cause increased 
customer satisfaction; however, the satisfaction does not decline if these factors are absent.  
 
The main goal of the method is the identification of the “penalty” and “reward” factors. To apply the 
method it is necessary to find out the overall level of satisfaction as well as satisfaction with specific 
product/service elements. The method is implemented by carrying out the regression analysis by 
using the so-called dummy variables, which replace the actual satisfaction assessments. The ratios 
gained as a result of the regression may also comprise several statistically insignificant ratios the 
corresponding product/service factors of which are excluded from further analysis. (Matzler & 
Sauerwein, 2002; Matzler, Pechlaner & Siller, 2001; Fuchs & Weiermair, 2004). 
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A significant aspect in the tourist satisfaction research is the finding out of the tourist value scale to 
provide for objective interpretation of the acquired results and choosing the right strategies for the 
satisfaction management after determining the satisfaction level as various tourism supply/product 
elements may have various importance or value as perceived by the customer. For this purpose 
Schneider (Schneider 2000; Schneider & Kornmeier 2006) offers using the so-called customer 
satisfaction portfolio or matrix. The customer satisfaction matrix uses two dimensions:  

 the relative significance or importance of individual supply/product attributes in the 
customer’s value scale, 

 customer satisfaction level in relation to the same service attributes. 
 
After studying the theoretical aspects and practical advantages of the three methods the authors 
concludes that they are the most appropriate for tourist satisfaction research and recommends using 
the methods for studying tourist satisfaction and analyzing consumer behaviour in Latvia. 
 
 
4. The interpretation of the results of the research about the tourism consumers’ satisfaction 
 
The research is based on the analysis of the data acquired from foreign tourist survey made by the 
author in cooperation with the Latvian Tourism Development Agency. 
 
The foreign tourist survey was made between July and December, 2010. The designing of the survey 
questionnaire took place in the Latvian Tourism Development Agency with the participation of the 
author of this paper, however its implementation was carried out by SIA “Factum” Research Studio, 
which addressed the potential respondents and offered them to complete the questionnaires 
electronically. Sample: accidental quote sample, with intended 4000 respondents (foreign tourists 
aged from 15 years who have visited Latvia). The size of the achieved sample: more than 12 200 
contacts (sent e-mail invitations) providing for 952 fully completed interviews. The survey was made 
by using questionnaires in the English, German and Russian languages which comprised 31 questions, 
20 of them being multiple choice questions, 7 open questions and 4 questions with the Likert scale. 
The target group of the survey was foreign tourists from the high priority tourism target markets of 
Latvia – Estonia, Russia, Lithuania, Finland, Germany and Sweden. 
 
In processing and analysis of the questionnaire data the electronic spreadsheets of MS Excel and 
statistics software application SPSS were used. 
 
The data acquired in the survey of 2010 allowed for conducting the Penalty/ Reward analysis which 
represents an important instrument for establishing the trip elements or factors the absence or poor 
performance of which (low quality) causes customer dissatisfaction (decreases the overall level of 
satisfaction) and the factors which cause increased customer satisfaction (raise the overall 
satisfaction level). As a result of using dummy variables and conducting regression analysis 9 trip 
elements or satisfaction factors were acquired for which the corresponding dummy variable ratios 
turned out to have sufficient statistical significance. 
 
To identify the so-called basic factors which account for the minimal required provision for a trip and 
the lack of which causes dissatisfaction, however existence of which does not create a higher level of 
satisfaction the factors must be selected the low satisfaction dummy variable ratios of which are 
bigger than the high satisfaction dummy variable ratios. In this case the following trip elements fall 
under the basic factors: “Tourist accommodations”, Catering services”, “City tours” and “Enjoyment 
of culture heritage” (see fig.1). 
 
Reward or excitement factors, which can increase the tourist level of satisfaction if they are included 
in the supply, but do not decrease it, if not included in the supply, are the ones the low satisfaction 
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dummy variable ratios of which are not sufficiently significant, but high satisfaction dummy variable 
ratios of which are sufficiently significant. In the case of Latvia they are as follows: “Holidays with 
children”, “Tasting of the local cuisine”, “Enjoyment of nature” and “Contacting local population”. 
These factors surprise the customer, create joy and increased satisfaction which may lead to 
returning to Latvia in the next trip or further recommendation of Latvia as a travel destination, i.e., 
attraction of tourists without additional marketing activities.  
 
The last, ninth factor “Night life and entertainment” is unanimously identifiable as a penalty factor, 
as it has no significant high satisfaction dummy variable value. Thus the absence of entertainment 
and night life supply or its poor quality cause increased dissatisfaction from tourists which may 
express itself as a negative word-of-mouth communication and decision not to return to Latvia. 
 
Figure 1. Analysis of penalty /reward factors 
 

 
 
 
The correlation analysis was made to find out whether and how the intentions to recommend Latvia 
as a travel destination are influenced by the average and overall satisfaction indicators. 
 
As the correlation ratios show, the satisfaction level with the trip as a whole (0.432595) and the 
average calculated satisfaction level with individual trip elements (0.427384) have the strongest 
correlation with the likelihood of recommending Latvia as a travel destination. The correlation 
between the satisfaction with the level of the trip expenses as well as satisfaction with the value for 
money in the trip and the likelihood of recommending Latvia as a travel destination is significantly 
lower (respectively 0.264303 and 0.269303). 
 
For the analysis of the tourist market segments one of the high priority target markets of Latvia – 
German tourists was chosen the role of which in the incoming tourism of Latvia was and remains 
high disregarding the decline in the absolute number and proportion of the German tourists as 
German tourists account for the fourth biggest contribution to the Latvian tourism export in 2009 – 
23.2 mln.LVL following Russia, Sweden and Finland, however in 2010 – only the fifth biggest 
contribution – 18 mln. LVL. Such a negative German tourism market development trend might be 
explained by the decrease of the satisfaction level of German tourists. 
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To find out the differences observed among individual tourism target markets important for Latvia 
the indicators of German tourists have been analyzed by comparing them to the other tourists. 
 
From the analysis of the satisfaction indicators of German tourists and other tourists it can be found 
that German tourists have a slightly lower average calculated satisfaction level with the trip elements 
(4.15 for German tourists to 4.17 of the tourists from other countries), however the satisfaction with 
individual elements of the trip varies depending on the trip element, for example, German tourists 
indicate higher satisfaction with such trip elements as “Enjoyment of nature”, “Learning local 
traditions”, “Medical services”, but lower with the trip elements like “Cycling trips”, “Holidays with 
children”, “Well-being/SPA services”, “Shopping”. 
 
From the comparison of the directly found overall satisfaction indicators of German tourists and 
tourists from other countries it can be concluded that in the satisfaction indicator cross-section the 
German tourist awarded assessment to their trip to Latvia is significantly lower than that of the 
tourists from other countries. The most obvious difference lies in the satisfaction with the value for 
money of the trip which the German tourists assess with 3.63 points, but tourists from other 
countries with 4.13 points, indicating the difference of 0.5 points or 13%. 
 
By using dummy variables and conducting the regression analysis 4 trip elements or satisfaction 
factors were acquired for the German tourists and 12 trip elements or satisfaction factors for tourists 
from other countries, the corresponding dummy variable ratios for which turned out to have 
sufficient statistical significance. 
 
In this case the basic factors for German tourists were “Enjoyment of nature”, however for the 
tourists from other countries they were as follows: “Tourist accommodations”, “Catering services”, 
“Enjoyment of local cuisine”, “City tours”, “Enjoyment of culture heritage” and “Contacting local 
population” (see fig.2 and 3). 
 
Figure 2. Analysis of penalty/reward factors – German tourists 
 

 
 
 
Reward or excitement factors for German tourists were: “Hiking trips and walks in nature” and “Sport 
events”, but for the tourists from other countries: “Hiking trips and walks in nature”, “Hunting”, 
“Holidays with children” and “Sport events”. The factor “Enjoyment of peace and quiet” is 
unanimously identified as penalty factor for German tourists, but “Night life and entertainment” and 
“Fishing” for other tourists.  
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Figure 3. Analysis of penalty/reward factors – tourists from other countries 
 

 
 
The correlation analysis to find out whether and how the intentions to recommend Latvia as a travel 
destination is influenced by the average and overall satisfaction indicators showed that the average 
calculated satisfaction level with individual trip elements (0.892) and the overall satisfaction level 
with the trip (0.847) have the strongest correlation with the likelihood of recommending Latvia as a 
travel destination for German tourists. The correlation between the satisfaction with the level of the 
trip costs as well as its value for money and the likelihood of recommending Latvia as a travel 
destination is slightly weaker, however strong (respectively 0.808 and 0.819). 
 
 
5. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
The conducted analysis of various foreign tourist group segments definitely indicated that in terms of 
consumer behaviour and satisfaction assessment there are larger or smaller differences which 
suggest that the consumer behaviour and satisfaction levels of various segments in the tourism 
market of Latvia are not homogeneous. It is important to identify these differences for better 
understanding of the needs and wishes of each tourist segment as well as the value and priorities of 
various trip elements. This will allow offering corresponding trip elements to each tourist segment 
thus raising their level of satisfaction and achieving a higher recommendation likelihood of Latvia as a 
travel destination. 
 
The implemented trip element or attribute importance and penalty/reward factor analysis shows 
that along with service factors, which mostly serve as basic factors, a decisive role in the formation of 
the overall satisfaction belongs to non-service factors. 
 
The method most commonly applied for studying customer satisfaction in empirical research is the 
customer survey (for the acquisition of primary data). For the assessment of tourist satisfaction the 
questions must be included in the questionnaires necessary for the application of various methods 
for measuring tourist priority trip elements and level of satisfaction: 
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 importance of trip elements and service attributes,  
 satisfaction with individual trip elements and service attributes,  
 overall satisfaction, 
 tourist return intentions, 
 intentions for recommending Latvia as a tourism destination. 
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Abstract 
 
The major aim of this research is to examine the influence of religiosity, cosmopolitanism, 
ethnocentrism and national identity on Kuwaiti consumers’ attitudes towards adapted versions of 
advertisements for global perfume brands. This study uses hierarchical regression to formally test 
research hypotheses based on a sample of 359 respondents. The results indicate that religiosity, 
cosmopolitanism and ethnocentrism have a significant influence on Kuwaiti consumers’ attitudes 
towards adapted versions of advertisements for global perfume brands. .  
 
From a practical perspective, this study highlights the importance of taking into consideration factors 
such as religiosity, cosmopolitanism and ethnocentrism when designing global ads directed to the 
Middle East consumer. At the theoretical level, the study empirically confirms the important 
influence of religiosity and other factors such as cosmopolitanism, ethnocentrism on consumers’ 
attitudes formation. 
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Abstract 
 
The paper describes small and medium-sized enterprises and the need for ICT governance in small 
and medium-sized to contribute to their competitiveness and faster growth. The E-SWOT, balanced 
scorecards, AHP and COBIT methods are described, which, linked into a methodological framework, 
should enable the transition to a higher maturity level of ICT in SMEs. An overview of existing results 
of methods to be linked and their individual application in small and medium-sized enterprises is 
provided. These methods represent the theoretical basis for the development of a methodological 
framework metamodel (linking methods in a single methodology model) for the transition of ICT to a 
higher maturity level in small and medium-sized enterprises. 
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1. Introduction 
 
Small businesses are the fundamental pillar of European economy. In Lisbon, the European Union has 
set a goal of becoming the most competitive and dynamic economy in the world - a knowledge-
based economy, capable of sustainable economic growth and more jobs and greater social cohesion 
(Penić, Dobrović & Repač, 2005). 
 
As for large enterprises, information has become essential in the business operation of small 
enterprises as well, and small and medium-sized enterprises1 have recognized the need to invest in IT 
capital. SMEs owners/managers have realized that information has the power to transform the 
economy, sectors, markets and business models, and since SMEs usually compete in niches, 
information is sometimes the only thing that assists them in stepping out of the existing business 
model. Information (ISACA, 2012) is a key resource for all organizations, and during their entire 
lifecycle, information are heavily dependent on technology. 
 
This paper, therefore, provides an overview and a description of methods which, linked into a 
methodological framework metamodel, can help SMEs improve ICT governance. It aims to provide 
better support to business processes for the purpose of improving business operations and growth. 
In addition to the overview and description of methods, an overview of application of individual 
methods in SMEs is provided.  
 
 
2. Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises in the EU and Croatia  
 
Research and literature emphasize the problem of defining SMEs, which vary in size, location, 
operations, financial performance, maturity and governance style (Devos, Landeghem & 
Deschoolmeester, 2007). Therefore, the definition used to define SMEs in this article is the legal 
definition in Croatia (compliant with the EU) of categorizing SMEs into several categories: micro2 
enterprises, small3 enterprises and medium-sized4 enterprises (HGK, 2011). 
 
In the EU, 99% of all entrepreneurs are SMEs and 90% of them are micro-enterprises, employing 
fewer than 10 persons and having 5 employees on average. These micro enterprises generate 53% of 
all jobs in Europe and are therefore extremely important for European society and economy 
(Packalén, 2010). In Croatia, the situation is similar - in 2009, 98% of the total number of enterprises 
are small enterprises employing 47.52% of the total number of employees (HGK, 2011). These data 
demonstrate the significance of keeping SMEs on the market and of their growth, where the 
harmonization of ICT with business processes plays a major role. 
 
 
2.1. ICT in small and medium-sized enterprises in the EU and Croatia 
 
It is understood that the use of ICT can improve business processes across all businesses, and the 
same applies to SMEs (CEN, 2012). As awareness grows of the role of SMEs in a country's economy, 
according to available sources, in recent years a lot of research on the application (Batenburg & 

                                                             
1 Small and medium-sized enterprises - abbrev. SME 
2 MICRO enterprises are legal and natural entities which on average employ fewer than 10 persons annually and whose 
annual turnover does not exceed HRK 14 million, i.e. whose value of fixed assets does not exceed HRK 7 million. 
3 SMALL enterprises are legal and natural entities which on average employ fewer than 50 persons annually and whose 
annual turnover does not exceed HRK 54 million, i.e. whose value of fixed assets does not exceed HRK 27 million. 
4 MEDIUM-SIZED enterprises are legal and natural entities which on average employ fewer than 250 persons annually and 
whose annual turnover does not exceed HRK 216 million, i.e. whose value of fixed assets does not exceed HRK 108 million. 
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Constantiou, 2009; Devos Landeghem & Deschoolmeester, 2012; Devos et al., 2007; Gray, 2010) of 
ICT in SMEs has been carried out.  
 
Batenburg and Constantiou (2009)Error! Reference source not found. conduct a comparative 
analysis of perceptions of European enterprises on the benefits and impact of ICT and the maturity of 
enterprises for e-business. Empirical data from the e-Business W@tch project were used, and the 
survey was conducted on 7,000 companies from 10 different EU countries. The results of the study 
have showed a positive relationship between the e-business maturity and the perceived benefits of 
adopting ICT.  
 
A significant cause for improving productivity in industrialized economies is directly linked to the 
effective application of ICT (Gray, 2010). Local, national and European governments are therefore 
investing a lot of money and effort into helping SMEs adopt ICT and e-business, all for the purpose of 
assisting their economic growth (Devos, et al. 2007). The authors believe that studies on the 
application of ICT in SMEs still lack a theory that could explain the social and organizational effects of 
ICT and how they influence business operations. 
 
The research confirms that a vast majority of SMEs, regardless of their motivation and business 
expectations, is a part of a wider ICT revolution, which requires further knowledge of ICT governance 
(Gray, 2010).  
 
When considering the creation of a methodological framework, limitations in the adoption of ICT 
must be kept in mind. Both in the EU and Croatia, SMEs are faced with a number of obstacles 
(Kersan-Škrabić & Banković, 2008).  
 
The OECD report (2004) highlights some of the obstacles to SMEs in the application of ICT and e-
business. The use of and investment in ICT require additional investments in skills, organization and 
change, which entails risks and costs, but also brings potential benefits. The biggest reason why SMEs 
lag behind large enterprises in implementing ICT is not so much a lack of funding or lack of access to 
technology (they already have it), but rather a lack of knowledge and skills of employees in SMEs 
(Arendt, 2008). The costs of software, uncertainty due to ICT legislation and implementation of ICT 
equipment and network are often emphasized as obstacles to the implementation of ICT in SMEs 
(Tan, Chong, Lin & Eze, 2010). 
 
According to available sources, only a few studies on the adoption of ICT in SMEs and their readiness 
for e-business were conducted in Croatia. 
 
A part of the results of a research conducted in Croatia in 2011 (of 150 companies, 60 sent the 
questionnaire back) on a sample of 60 SMEs indicated that (Bublić, 2011):  

 all small companies are equipped with computers and have Internet connection, in 80% of 
the companies all computers are connected to the Internet;  

 the benefits of the application of ICT in business operations have been recognized and, on 
average, these are bigger than the obstacles to implementation.  

 
From the above data it can be concluded that a significant percentage of the adoption of ICT and the 
understanding of the benefits of adopting new technologies is present in SMEs in Croatia. However, 
no studies on the ICT governance in SMEs have been found in the available sources. 
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2.2. ICT Governance in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises  
 
ICT governance is important for all companies today and different standards and frameworks are 
used to transition to a higher level of maturity (Ayat, Mastom & Sahibuddin, 2011). According to 
research (Devos et al., 2007)Error! Reference source not found., the adoption of ICT in SMEs is 
slower than in large enterprises. The methodology used in successful ICT implementations in large 
enterprises cannot be applied in SMEs, given that a completely different economic, cultural and 
governing environment is to be faced. The existing ICT governance mechanisms do not work in SMEs 
(as in large enterprises), where the decision-making process is centralized in one person. Regardless 
of the efforts to develop specific derivatives of ICT governance methods in SMEs, such as the COBIT 
QuickStart framework, as reported by the IT Governance Institute in 2003, the results of the 
implementation are disappointing.  
 
With regard to ICT governance, Pham (2010) points out that the rapid growth of technology enables 
SMEs to become a significant factor in the economy. The author emphasizes that in the growing 
globalization the right tool for measuring the maturity of ICT is becoming more and more important. 
Only in knowing the current situation, integrating appropriate ICT applications with business 
processes, can SMEs improve their competitiveness. 
 
From the above facts and from the experience of the authors of this paper, it can be concluded that 
it is necessary to create an effective methodological framework for ICT governance in SMEs. The 
authors suggests the adaptation of existing and known methods (applied individually in SMEs), and 
their linking into a methodological framework to create effective ICT governance, and the 
formulation of a methodological framework metamodel. Below is an overview of theoretical 
foundations of methods and their application in SMEs from avaiable sources.  
 
 
3. E-SWOT 
 
The origin of SWOT analysis is in the SOFT analysis -Satisfactory (present), Opportunity (future), Fault 
(present), Threat (future) - which is derived from research on corporate planning conducted at the 
Stanford Research Institute (between 1960 and 1970). After a presentation of the SOFT analysis in 
Zurich in 1964, it changes the name to SWOT analysis and takes the form of a matrix (Koo & Koo, 
2007). 
 
"It was developed with the aim of assessing the maturity of an organization in adopting changes 
which occur due to changes in the environment. Although today it is necessary to conduct a SWOT 
analysis, it is not sufficient for making quality decisions." (Dobrović, 2001). 
 
The application of SWOT analysis does not make links between external and internal factors visible, 
so extended SWOT method should be used in cases where it is necessary to develop strategies and 
associated goals. The E-SWOT has four stages (Tomičić & Dobrović, 2006): 1. determining the initial 
SWOT analysis elements (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats); 2. determining the strength 
of influence on the achievement of goals (ranking within the group of elements), 3. determining how 
internal strengths (S) and external opportunities (O) can be used in undoing internal weakness (W) 
and external threats (T); 4. at this stage, three steps take place: a) for defined strategies, specific 
activities for their implementation are determined, b) for each of the activities a measurable 
objective is determined, c) determining the influence of certain activities on goals. 
 
Results of the described method are a prerequisite for the creation of a balanced scorecard, and thus 
of a strategy map. 
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4. Balanced Scorecards (BSC) 
 
According to method authors Kaplan and Norton (1996), a balanced scorecard is a strategic 
management system. The method is described in their book The Balanced Scorecard, which serves as 
a guide for current and future implementation by monitoring measures in four categories: 1) 
financial implementation, 2) customers, 3) internal business processes, 4) learning and growth. 
 
The balanced scorecard method allows enterprises to face and successfully deal with the 
globalization challenges, unstable business environments, by structuring and expanding the 
traditional strategic planning and management, as follows: 

 by acing the entire enterprise with a clear, shared vision, associated with operations and with 
a structured approach to defining actions needed to achieve the vision; 

 by updating relevant information from the entire organization and its efficient use for 
progress and evaluation of strategic objectives; 

 by strategic management of "intangible" and "traditional" assets by introducing new 
management parameters, with the usual financial criteria. 

 
In 2008, out of the top 25 most popular management tools, balanced scorecards were ranked sixth 
with regard to use. Out of 1430 enterprises, 53% use balanced scorecards as a tool for monitoring 
organization performance (Rigby & Bileodeau, 2009). 
 
Available sources (Andersen, Cobbold & Lawrie, 2001; Da Conceição da Costa Marques, 2012; Penić, 
et al., 2005; Rickards, 2007; Šehić & Dizdarević, 2011) which describe the application of balanced 
scorecards in SMEs highlight the value of this tool (for strategic management) in governance, and it 
can be concluded that balanced scorecards have been recognized as a simple tool which helps the 
management in SMEs define key indicators and monitor organization performance. 
 
According to Rompho (2011), balanced scorecard has been successfully implemented in small 
enterprises. It has been recognized that the use of balanced scorecards in small enterprises is 
significantly different than in large organizations; although steps in the implementation are the same, 
The duration of each step is shorter. In large organizations the benefit of implementation lies in 
effective strategy communication, while for SMEs the benefit lies in defining goals and alignment 
with priorities and encouraging a more efficient process of strategic management. 
 
 
5. AHP 
 
Analytic Hierarchy Process. AHP is one of the famous methods of scientific scenario analysis and 
decision-making through consistent evaluation of hierarchy of goals, criteria, sub-criteria and 
alternatives, which together make a system for supporting the decision-making process. The 
conceptual and mathematical basis of AHP method was developed by Thomas Saaty.  
 
It enables interactive formation of problem hierarchy as a preparation of decision-making scenarios, 
followed by a top-down evaluation in pairs of hierarchy elements (objectives, criteria and 
alternatives). Finally, a synthesis of all evaluations is performed, and weight coefficients of each 
hierarchy element is determined in line with a strict mathematical model.  
 
Methodologically speaking, the AHP is a multi-criteria technique based on breaking down a complex 
problem into a hierarchy. The goal is at the top of the hierarchy, while the criteria, sub-criteria and 
alternatives are located at lower levels (figure 1). It is a methodology that allows the evaluation of 
alternatives in the light of the conflict of principles and deals with issues which are emotional for 
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stakeholders in the decision-making process (Saaty & Begicevic, 2010). An important quality in the 
application of this method is an examination of evaluation consistency for decision makers.  
 
Figure 1. Example of a hierarchy in AHP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
6. COBIT Framework 
 
According to professor Devos (Devos, COBIT 5 for SMEs?, 2012), SMEs are overwhelmed by 
consultants preaching all possible methods and frameworks borrowed from the environment which 
does not understand SMEs, such as ITIL, Prince 2, PMBOK, ISO, CMMI. But SMEs need a single 
integrated framework, broad and flexible enough, where possible with a theoretical foundation 
rooted in the business of SMEs. Professor Devos believes that there is no better framework than 
COBIT, which covers ICT, information and functions in an organization, even for SMEs.  
 
The first version of COBIT (Control Objectives for Information and related Technology) framework was 
created in 1996 (the creator was ISACA - Information Systems Audit and Control Foundation) (IT 
Governance Institute, 2006). In 1998, the second version followed, followed by 4.1 version in 2008, 
and in (April) 2012 the 5.0 version was published. COBIT 5 is the successor to COBIT 4.1 process 
model. The new framework built on the previous knowledge of various areas of management in 
organizations which existed in independent frameworks, for example Val IT, Risk IT (ISACA, 2012). 
 
COBIT 5 brings together the five principles (meeting stakeholder needs, covering the enterprise end-
to-end, applying a single integrated framework, enabling a holistic approach, separating governance 
from management) that allow the enterprise to build an effective governance and management 
framework based on a holistic set of seven enablers (processes, principles and policies, 
organizational structure, skills and competencies, culture and behaviour, services, information) that 
optimizes information and technology investment. Goals cascade translates stakeholder needs into 
tangible (measurable) goals which can consistently be managed, defines priorities for 
implementation, improvement and assurance of enterprise governance of IT, based on strategic 
objectives of the enterprise (ISACA, 2012).  
 
According to the results of analysis (Ridley, Young & Carroll) of printed sources content for the period 
between 2003 and 2006, only a few academic evaluations of COBIT implementation have been 
found, despite significant global application of COBIT in organizations. In 2003, 83 articles were found 
and in 2006 there were already 342 articles. The largest number of articles (265 articles in 2006) 
focuses on practical implementations of COBIT, which confirms the popularity of the method in 
practice, while the authors believe that the method is not as popular in academic circles. 
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As for the application in SMEs, according to the authors of the article "Rethinking IT governance in 
SMEs" (Devos et al., 2012), although there are efforts in bringing the COBIT framework closer to 
SMEs (such as COBIT Quickstart), the application is still disappointing, primarily due to scientists and 
practitioners ignoring one fact - SMEs are not a scaled-down version of large enterprises. 
 
However, the need to introduce SMEs to methods of ICT governance has been recognized, and the 
INNOTRAIN IT project (Innotrain IT, 2012), funded by the European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF), has been launched. In this project, COBIT is one of the frameworks which, in conjunction with 
ITIL-TV (IT Service Management), is considered to be able to assist SMEs in ensuring the best business 
performance underpinned by cost-effective, measurable and reliable ICT. 
 
 
7. Metamodeling 
 
A metamodel is an explicit specification of a group of concepts and relations used in defining a model 
(Papazoglou & Ribbers, 2011). If the subjects of research are models rather than the real world, we 
create models of models. A model of model, a higher level of abstraction, is usually called a 
metamodel (Goeken & Alter, 2009). 
 
According to Karaginis, Fill, Hoffner and Nemetz (2009), when analyzing the term "metamodeling" it 
is evident that it consists of two parts, "meta" and "modeling". Modeling indicates the process of 
creating a model. Models, in computer science, represent either reality or a vision. This 
representation cannot include all aspects of the original, but focuses on some of them, and the 
model always has a specific purpose. Models are classified according to the language used for their 
creation. Nonlinguistic or icons models use signs and symbols with apparent/obvious similarity to the 
real world concept which is being modeled. Linguistic models, on the other hand, use signs, 
characters, numbers - which do not have a clear/obvious relation with the part of reality being 
modeled. Almost all models used in computer science are linguistic models. The second part - "meta" 
comes from the Greek word "between", "to", "after", a metamodel is often defined as a "model of a 
model". Graphical representation is commonly used to explain the metamodel in more detail. 
 
To model a part of the environment/world (which can be a model), language is needed, as well as a 
method with procedures which support the identification and representation of relevant objects. 
Language is considered to be a "modeling way", and procedures are considered to be a 
"mode/action." In the field of researching information systems, the emphasis is usually on the way of 
modeling, the language / notation, and the problem that needs to "fill" the models is not given too 
much attention. It complements the "mindset" and refers to instructions, rules, principles and 
guidelines used in the modeling process. Seeing that a metamodel represents a deeply structured 
model, the language (modeling way) used in the formulation of the model must be able to represent 
model concepts appropriately (Goeken et al., 2009)Error! Reference source not found.. 
 
Modeling methods consist of two components: modeling techniques which are divided into modeling 
languages and modeling procedures, and mechanisms & algorithms (short mechanisms) of working 
on the model described by the modeling language. Modeling language contains elements which are 
used to describe the model. Syntax, semantics and notation describe the modeling language. 
Modeling procedures describe steps by applying modeling language in the creation of results, i.e. the 
model. Syntax describes the element and the rules for creating a model, and is described by 
grammar. There are two (main) approaches in describing syntax for modeling languages: graph 
grammar or metamodels. UML class diagrams are usually used to describe the syntax metamodel. 
Semantics describes the meaning of the modeling language- It consists of a semantic domain and 
semantic mapping. Semantic domain describes the meaning using ontologies, mathematical 
expressions, etc. Semantic mapping links syntactic structures with their meanings as defined in the 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

205 
 

semantic domain (semantic schema). To formulate an approach to semantic definition denotational 
semantics, operational semantics, axiomatic semantics and algebraic semantics are used. 
Occasionally an (informal) textual description is used to define semantics, eg. in UML definitions. 
Notation describes the visualization of the modeling language. Static approach defines symbols for 
the visualization of syntactic structures. Dynamic approach implies a model that splits the notation 
into a presentation/representation part and control part. The presentation part maps the static 
approach. The control part defines rules for model inquiries and influences the presentation 
depending on the model status (Karagiannis & Kühn, 2002). 
 
Business Process Definition Metamodel (BPDM) is a defined standard of concepts used to represent 
business process models, adopted by the OMG (Object Management Group). The primary goal of the 
BPDM (Business Process Definition Metamodel) is to enable business analysis with technologically 
independent presentation of business processes (OMG, 2006).  
 
"The latest and now almost universally used standard is called BPMN (Business Process Modeling and 
Notation). The title Business Process Modeling has been adopted for the process of its application in 
the business and IT sphere name." (Brumec, 2011).  
 
The BPMN standard has been developed out of the need to consolidate different notations into a 
single standard for modeling and notations for business processes. The standard states that its main 
goal is to ensure notation which is easily understandable to all business users, from business analysts 
creating initial drafts of the process to development technicians responsible for the introduction of 
technology that will run the processes, and ultimately to the businessmen who will manage the 
processes and monitor them. The BPMN thus creates a standard bypass for the gap between 
business process design and process implementation (OMG, 2011).  
 
 
8. Conclusion 
 
ICT, an essential element of everyday business, on the one hand is the driver of success of an 
organization, but on the other hand represents a source of many threats (Küller, Vogt, Hertweck & 
Grabowski, 2012). This implies the need for effective and efficient governance of ICT functions within 
organizations. 
 
This paper gives a brief description of SMEs, the application of ICT in SMEs and a review of the 
proposed methods and their applications. 
 
Available sources (articles and official documents) allow for the definition of SMEs as enterprises 
with certain specific characteristics, such as informal culture, rapid communication and response, 
flexibility and reliance on individuals. At the same time they have limited resources - the number of 
employees and financial resources needed for investments. With regard to ICT governance, it can be 
concluded that efficient governance is necessary for SMEs as well. However, the majority of methods 
used is designed for large enterprises and SMEs are not a scaled-down version of a large enterprise, 
so the same rules cannot apply. This was the motive for proposing a methodological framework 
adapted to SMEs business operations. 
 
This paper describes individual methods, provides a review of fundamental theories and an overview 
of practical application in organizations. When describing methods, the authors have tried to find 
information specific to the application in SMEs from available sources. The methods are considered 
acceptable to SMEs and can be linked, using metamodeling, into a methodological framework 
acceptable to SMEs. 
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For effective ICT governance, small enterprises do not need methodological frameworks which only 
lead to additional bureaucracy in their organizations and can turn them away from the main goal. 
The best solution is therefore to reduce, combine and adapt methods into a single methodological 
framework using metamodeling and to investigate whether the transition to a higher level of ICT 
maturity, i.e. application of the methodological framework in SMEs would be effective. 
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Abstract 
 
The 2006/2009 economic crisis motivated hotel industry as well to find solutions for environment-
friendly operation (Kapiki, 2010; Kang et al, 2012), that is emphasized specially in hotels that work 
with significant energy costs (like 4-5 star wellness hotels). On the other hand, the pressure on these 
hotels comes from the consumers’ side as well: as tourists’ environment-consciousness is a growing 
need, going green is a raising habit in everyday life and even in case of holidays (Bohdanowicz, 2006). 
Unfortunately no common data is available on global energy-consumption of the hotel sector, but 
according to scientific estimations, hotels used 97,5 TWh energy about a decade ago (Hotel Energy 
Solutions, 2011). Considering the solidly increasing number of hotels, hotel rooms, services and 
guests, the energy costs are always the most significant part of a hotel (Clarke et al. 2010). 
 
The area of green practices is more broaden than energy-efficient lighting or waste management.  
According to Smith (2009), physical features determine its greenly operation. While Kapiki (2010) 
emphasizes energy – (cost) saving methods, like energy efficient tools and using renewable energy 
sources, Timothy and Teye (2009) describe other common green practices, among others using 
biodegradable items and sell locally-made crafts (in Kucukusta et al. 2013). 
 
The Hungarian Hotel and Restaurant Association established the “Green Hotel” Award about 20 
years ago, with the aim to raise the awareness of hotel employees to environment-friendly operation 
(www.hah.hu). According to the data of the Association, wellness hotels are represented in 
significant number year by year.  
 
This research is a comparative analysis about environment saving strategies of Hungarian Green 
Hotel awarded wellness hotels. Results are based firstly on deep-interviews with CEOs of hotels (I-III 
prize) and document analysis.  
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Green practices, wellness hotels, CSR  
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Abstract 
 
The article examines the importance of volunteering, as well as Lithuanian higher education students' 
experience, motivation and benefits gained from involvement in volunteering. Volunteering in 
Lithuania began to be developed after regaining independence (1990), yet is still in a development 
stage although public involvement is increasing. Besides that, there is a lack of systematic and 
comparative studies done on higher education students' involvement in volunteering.  
 
Aim of the research – to empirically assess volunteering as a prerequisite that strengthens Lithuanian 
higher education students' chances of employment. 
 
The research of Lithuanian higher education students' involvement in volunteering revealed that only 
a small part of students are aware of the importance of volunteering and are involved in long-term 
volunteering activities. Students are motivated to volunteer by the thought of meaningfully spending 
leisure and the desire to help others. By participating in various volunteering activities, the 
respondents emphasize gaining of professional knowledge, skills and experience, as well as personal 
satisfaction as major benefits. 
 
Keywords 
 
Higher education students, volunteering activities, motivation, benefits, Lithuania 
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Introduction 
 
When discussing the integration of the higher education institutions’ students into the labour market 
and employment, one fundamental aspect is emphasized – their complicated situation both, in 
international and in the national labour markets, if compared to other age groups. The transition 
period of the higher educational institutions’ students from the educational system to the labour 
market is a complex process, caused by various obstacles (i.e. insufficient qualifications for the labour 
market, lack of professional capabilities and experience). Latest global tendencies suggest that fewer 
recent higher education institutions’ graduates integrate into the labour market, and the transition 
period from the educational system to the labour market became longer: graduates spend more time 
looking for occupation in general, and in case of a failure, they continue studying; a search for long 
term and highly rewarding job takes even longer and is more complex (Walther & Plug, 2006; 
Walther, 2006; Quintini, Martin & Martin, 2007; International Labour Organization, 2012; Braziene & 
Mikutaviciene, 2013). It is caused by interconnected subjective (individual) and structural 
(macroeconomic, social, demographical, geographical, political) factors (Fyfe, 1978; Ingham, 1989; 
Fuller, Beck & Unwin, 2005; Tome, 2008; Choudhry, Marelli & Signorelli, 2012). 
 
In order to achieve self-realization and qualitative employment, students from higher education 
institutions participate in the voluntary activities of non-profit organizations (NPOs). As mentioned by 
Okuneviciute-Neverauskiene and Slekiene (2008), NPOs, together with participation of various 
partners, directly or indirectly contributes for the integration of the youth into the labour market. 
Being one of the non-formal education activities, volunteering serves as a good platform for the 
students to gain new knowledge, communication, team working, organizing, leadership and other 
skills, conflict solving experience, which is needed for the integration into the labour market 
(Butkuviene, 2005; Okuneviciute-Neverauskiene & Slekiene, 2008). As a study in Lithuania in 2006-
2007 revealed, the higher education institutions‘students were not fully acquainted with the 
existence and activities of NPOs, and only a small fraction used their services for employment 
purposes (Okuneviciute-Neverauskiene & Slekiene, 2008). It might have been affected by the 
activities of the NPOs, as they are not oriented in the recruitment, employment, incrementation of 
qualification of the students. Most of the NPOs operate in the leisure, entertainment and cultural 
activities. 
 
Volunteering is an activity, which is done without an interest of remuneration; it‘s an activity that is 
selected by individual‘s free will and which serves the society and its member. Anyone who wants to 
contribute for the society can be a volunteer. In both, international and national context, 
volunteering is considered differently – as a help for another person, a tool for social behaviour, tool 
for solidarity and sociability and a tool for the development of individual‘s social capital. In 
volunteering, person‘s skills and capabilities acquisition, development, socialization, informal 
education opportunities are revealed. In addition, benefits for the government are revealed, which 
can be either economic, social or environmental etc. (Non-governmental organizations information 
and donation centre [NIPC], 2011). 
 
The motives for volunteering have been explicitly studied on national, sector and organization levels. 
After analyzing various studies and tests, scientists found that volunteering is driven by 
interconnected altruistic and self-interested motives that are oriented into the volunteering person 
himself (Cnaan & Goldberg-Glen, 1991; Wilson, 2000; Briggs, Peterson & Gregory, 2010). Most of the 
scholars argue that individuals volunteer due to utilitarian motives, i.e. motives of investing into the 
skills and experience that are included into their resumes signal their attractiveness in the labour 
market (Katz & Rosenberg, 2005; Prooteau & Wolff, 2006). Another group of motives, as mentioned 
by the authors (Cappellar & Turati, 2004) is the social motives that initiate the extending of individual 
social networks, based on a social pressure i.e. volunteering because one’s friends are volunteering 
etc. 
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It has been noticed that particular demographical factors, for instance, age, has an impact of 
individual’s motives to participate in volunteering activities. Young volunteers, as one of the most 
vital motives emphasize the ability to learn and gain new skills that help to get employed, while the 
older volunteers mention altruistic motives to help others (Hustinx, Handy, Cnaan, Brudney, Pessi & 
Yamauchi, 2010). However, students-women participate in volunteering activities more frequently 
than students-men and it is especially applicable for Finish and Canadian universities (Hustinx et al., 
2010). Students from American colleges mention altruism, but self-realization and other benefits are 
not less important. It has to be mentioned that the number of studies that analyze the effect of 
culture on the motives for volunteering is low (Hwang, Grabb, Curtis, 2005; Ziemek, 2006; Hustinx et 
al,. 2010; Handy, Hustinx, Kang, Cnaan, Brudney, Haski-Leventhal, Holmes, Meijs, Pessi, Ranade, 
Yamauchi, Zrinscak, 2010). Despite that, the authors (Handy et al., 2010) suggest that in countries 
with positive signalling value of volunteering, the level of volunteering rates are significantly higher, 
however the intensity of volunteering of students who are motivated by resume building motivations 
is low. 
 
Though volunteering as an activity is oriented in helping others (without remuneration), achieve 
benefits for the society, promote the civil spirit, by involving students from higher education 
institutions it contributes to their self-realization, value enhancement, guarantees for future’s 
employment. By devoting their time and energy for not remunerating activity, students themselves 
get benefits, i.e. they learn to solve social problems, have an ability to improve and develop their 
personal, social and professional competences, gain practical experience and new skills. Hence, 
volunteering as a non-formal education form helps students to improve and develop their skills and 
capabilities that improve their chances to get employed (Handy et al., 2010). It means that 
volunteering could become a tool to decrease the gap between the educational system and the 
labour market. 
 
Volunteering in Lithuania started after the regain of independence (1990). Even though the 
involvement of the society constantly grows, volunteering is still in the development phase. One of 
the main reasons for that – lack of volunteering traditions, infrastructure and information (NIPC, 
2011). Taking into account that 2011 was the official year of volunteering in the European Union and 
in order to find the perception of Lithuanian citizens about volunteering, a study was conducted by 
the department of European Commission in Lithuania, which showed that most of the people know 
the concept of volunteering (78 %, N=1002), and 34 % of all respondents have themselves 
participated in volunteering activities (Vilmorus, 2011). The respondents also mentioned the 
altruistic benefit of volunteering: willingness to help others (64 %) and opportunity to be beneficial 
for the society (54 %). The research ordered by a private telecommunication services provider TEO 
and performed by SIC in November, 2010 revealed that the perception about volunteering changed if 
compared to the results retrieved in 2008: from neutral (2008) it improved to voluntary help (2010). 
However people mostly participate in environment cleaning events occasionally, irregularly. 
 
By comparing the Eurobarometer results of the last few years, in Lithuania twice more people were 
involved in volunteering in 2011 (24 %) than in 2010 (12 %) or 2007 (11 %) (GHK, 2010; Special 
Eurobarometer, 2011). The results of the study also suggest that the volunteering rate in Lithuania 
corresponds the average of the European Union (24 %), however the rate was lower in 2010 than the 
average of the European Union (30 %). Nevertheless, in 2010 Lithuania was one of the least active 
countries by volunteering involvement (less than 10 percent – Bulgaria, Greece, Italy), as compared 
to the Baltic states (20-29 % – Estonia and Latvia) and the EU (Angermann & Sittermann, 2010). By 
observing the participation rate of students in the European Union it was noticed that only 26 % of 
them regularly participate in voluntary activities. Also, 38 % of the students provide solidarity and 
humanitarian aid, while 27 % provide health care services; accordingly 26 % participate in 
environment preservation activities as well as in education and training activities. As much as 33 % of 
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the students mentioned that one of the main benefits of volunteering is maintaining and reinforcing 
social cohesion. However, students’ participation in voluntary activities is driven by altruistic motives. 
To summarize we can claim that the number of systematic and comparative studies on Lithuanian 
citizens’ and especially students’ perception and participation in voluntary activities is remarkably 
low. Therefore, research questions are raised in this paper: Are Lithuanian higher education students 
participating in voluntary activities? What are the motives for their participation? What are the 
benefits that the students can gain from participating in the voluntary activities? Does the 
participation in the voluntary activities help to enter the labour market? 
 
Object of the research – voluntary activities of students. 
Aim of the research – to empirically assess volunteering as a prerequisite that strengthens Lithuanian 
higher education students' chances of employment. 
Methods of the research – scientific literature analysis, survey. 
 
 
Research Methods 
 
For the purpose of examining Lithuanian higher education students' involvement in volunteering, a 
methodology for evaluating higher education students' experience in participating in volunteering 
was prepared and a data collection method – questionnaire – was selected.  
 
The empirical research consists of two sets of questions: experience in participating in volunteering 
activities and socio-demographic characteristics. The research on students' experience in 
volunteering involved not only questions on the forms (short-term volunteering, long-term 
volunteering and voluntary service) and areas of volunteering (helping elderly, sick, environmental 
protection, public education, etc.), but also on the motivations for such participation and benefits 
gained by the students (personal, educational, professional). The research of respondents' socio-
demographic characteristics sought to find out about their marital status, sex, age, personal and 
work-related income, educational institution type, study stage, employment status. 
 
Such probabilistic method for choosing research groups was selected when the probability of each 
research population element to fall within the sample is known. Probabilistic study group selection 
method is random selection, when each person (or group) has equal chances of falling within it, 
regardless of individual attributes or differences. Research target group is Lithuanian higher 
education final year students. A calculated sample size 1014 with an estimated ± 3 % error suggests 
that the sample size meets the characteristics of a general set (Dattalo, 2008). 
 
An instrument – a questionnaire was prepared to research Lithuanian higher education students, 
constructed based on previous researches of the authors as well as other researchers' findings. 
 
Research participants' profile The research was conducted during 2013 March – May. It involved 
1014 students from 12 Lithuanian higher schools. It was determined that the research consisted of 
69.3 % university students and 30.7 % college students. The majority of students were studying for 
Bachelor's (88.6 %) and were 21-24 years old. Only 12.1 % of the students studying in higher schools 
are married, while 72.5 % are single. Most of the students are, however, women (64.2 %) rather than 
men (35.8 %). It was found during the research that 36.6 % respondents were employed, 28.1 % had 
previous work experience but were currently unemployed for various reasons. Nevertheless, a third 
of the students had never been involved in the labour market. It should also be noted that 35.7 % of 
respondents received minimum salaries (up to 850 LTL – equals 245 €). 
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In analyzing the results from the quantitative research, the following methods of statistical analysis 
were applied: descriptive statistics, factor analysis. Descriptive statistics were applied to calculate 
percentages of the forms and areas of respondents' participation in volunteering. 
 
When researching higher education students' motivations for participating in volunteering and 
benefits gained, exploratory factor analysis was used to divide the observable variables into groups 
(from several similar variables), joined together by an indirect factor. Principal component method 
and Varimax rotation with Kaiser normalization were used for factor extraction. The number of 
factors was determined based on the Kaiser criterion, i.e. factors with initial eigenvalues of 1 or more 
were analyzed (Hayton, Allen & Scarpello, 2004). Adequacy of the data for a factor analysis was 
based on Bartlett's test sphericity criteria (p) value, where p = 0.000 < 0.05, and Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin 
(KMO) measure, where KMO > 0.6 (Vaus, 2004). It was found that factor analysis was applicable for 
the research data.  
 
To evaluate scale's internal consistency, Cronbach's alpha () coefficient was used. Internal 
consistency of the questionnaire can be evidenced by high Cronbach's values approaching one (0.6  
  1). Within the questionnaire, Cronbach's  for higher education students' participation in 
volunteering activities was 0.775. Thus, the questionnaire is homogeneous, while the data obtained 
is suitable for statistical analysis.  
 
Statistical data analysis was performed using "SPSS 21.0" package. 
 
 
Research Results 
 
When analyzing the historical context of volunteering activities in Lithuania, it should be emphasized 
that the beginning of these activities is linked to the regaining of independence and the first 
members of the restored national army called Lithuanian volunteers, as well as the activities of 
Sajudis – a voluntary citizen movement (1989) that later became a political power (NIPC, 2011). 
Although many foreign countries assisted Lithuania in building civil society and strengthening 
voluntary organizations in Lithuania, their expansion is still in the developmental stage, albeit 
growing. The main reasons for poor involvement in volunteering activities named by the citizens 
were the fact that they did not receive invitation or did not have (do not have) time, could not 
participate due to health issues or old age, or did not see the importance of volunteering as a social 
phenomenon (Januskeviciene, 2011; Vilmorus, 2011). Another reason, specific to older people, was 
the soviet perception of volunteering as compulsory participation in public assistance, pioneer circles 
/ camps and similar. The absence of volunteering traditions in a family leads to passivity of family 
members in participating in volunteering. Although the lack of information about volunteering 
activities and the absence of volunteering traditions are recognized as the main obstacles preventing 
volunteering development, volunteering ideas are spreading amongst the young, especially higher 
education students.  
 
Forms and areas of volunteering. Participation in volunteering, as shown by many studies, is 
determined by various factors (social inclusion, population density, social interaction and economic 
hardship), nevertheless, sex, age, education, satisfaction with life, involvement in religious activities, 
country are usually indicated as the most important ones (Second European Quality of Life Survey, 
2011).  
 
In analyzing Lithuanian higher education students' volunteering experience, it was found that 18.4 % 
of them – 14.5 % university and 3.9 % college students – were involved in volunteering activities. 
Besides that, most of the involved were first stage (15.4 %), i.e. bachelor's students; participation of 
higher stage (second, third) students was very low (2.5 % and 0.4 % respectively) Female students 
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(11.1 %) were more active when it comes to volunteering than their male counterparts (7.3 %). It is 
known that any conscious person who is able to take legal responsibility can be a volunteer, 
regardless of their sex, age, social status. The research has shown that volunteering is most popular 
amongst young 21-24 year old students (15 %). In addition, not only respondents with minimum 
salaries (up to 850 LTL – equivalent to 245 €), but also middle income (851--2000 LTL – equivalent 
246 – 578 €) students and students with their own businesses (3.2 %) are involved in volunteering. 
Hence, research participants' economic status allows them to satisfy basic needs and seek for the 
fulfillment of higher needs by participating in public activities.  
 
It was found that higher education students volunteer both for short term (42.4 %) and long term 
(50.6 %). Only 7 % of higher education students participate in voluntary service by working several 
hours a day.  
 
In terms of volunteering activities of up to 3 months (results-oriented) and longer than 3 months 
(formal, process-oriented), university students (34.3 and 38.4 % respectively) surpass their college 
counterparts (8.1 and 12.2 % respectively). Moreover, women are more involved in both short-term 
(men – 14 %, women – 28.5 %) and long-term volunteering activities (men –21.5 %, women – 29.1 
%). Long-term volunteering is more popular amongst relationship and community-oriented 21-24 
year old students committed for longer durations and working in a formal organization (40.1 %).  
 
When volunteering, students do valuable (necessary) work for the community or a specific group in 
various areas. Volunteering areas can vary greatly, for example, helping the elderly, humanitarian 
assistance, work in child day care centers, animal care, organizing manifests, environmental 
protection campaigns or environmental resource management, public education and raising of 
awareness in a broad sense, assisting in organizing sports, cultural, art events, participation in 
charitable and social support organizations and other NPOs activities (GHK 2010; SIC, 2010; NIPC, 
2011; Special Eurobarometer, 2011). The research showed that Lithuanian higher education students 
usually participate in several volunteering activities. First of all, the main area of voluntary assistance 
chosen by the respondents is support for children and the youth (29.2 %), organizing of cultural (32.7 
%) and sports (43.9 %) events. Both men and women are equally involved in organizing sports events 
(22.2 and 21.6 % respectively). Active involvement can be a win-win situation: on one hand, students 
contribute to the organization and promotion of events, as well as get to see all the subtleties of 
organization; on the other, they can attend the event for free.  
 
Secondly, less popular volunteering areas amongst students is environmental resources management 
(24 %), working in organizations involved in blood and organ donations (22.2 %); thirdly, least active 
areas amongst students are animal care (17 %) and help for the sick and the disabled (13.5 %), as well 
as retirement homes (8.8 %). Such a wide selection of volunteering areas shows that students choose 
those areas which are easier to access, are more discussed in the society, and communicate more 
messages towards target groups (youth, students). Furthermore, as the research has shown, more 
involved in volunteering are those young higher education students who want to challenge 
themselves in certain areas, find out their interests, their place in the society, as well as gain 
knowledge and skills and find employment through volunteering. 
 
Motivations to volunteer. By analyzing students' motivations to volunteer, a wide range of 
motivations come up, thus, it is quite difficult to pinpoint major motivations. Besides that, 
motivations are interconnected and overlapping. This explains the discussions amongst scientists and 
practitioners about volunteering as an altruistic or pragmatic activity. Scientific literature usually 
emphasizes altruistic, selfish (egoistic), human capital investment motives, needs for self-realization, 
values, personal development, social motives (Clary & Snyder, 1991;Turniansky, 1996; Morris, 2000; 
Hustinx et al., 2010). 
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In analyzing Lithuanian higher education students' motivations to take part in volunteering activities, 
factor analysis method was selected in order to single out groups of motivations for volunteering. It 
was found that Lithuanian higher education students are encouraged to volunteer by two groups of 
factors: first – self-centred motivations – consists of two variables, and second – other-centred 
motivations – consists of three variables (Table 1). The value of Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure (KMO = 
0.615) and Bartlett's test sphericity criteria result (88.408; df = 10, p = 0.000) confirm that the 
variables are suitable for a factor analysis. It was found that two factors explain 58.999 % of 
cumulative distribution. The first factor explained 30.387 % of cumulative distribution, the second 
one – 28.612 %. Factor loading after using the orthogonal Varimax rotation are presented in Table 1.  
 
Table 1. Student motivations to volunteer (N 1014) 
 

Structural Component Component 
1 2 

1. Self-centred motivation 
Desire to meaningfully spend weekend 0.863  
Desire to change oneself 0.619  
2. Other (society)-centred motivations 
Desire to help others  0.854 
Desire to socialize  0.628 
Desire to gain new experience  0.542 
Note: KMO  0,615. 

 
The strongest motivation to volunteer is students' desire to meaningfully spend their leisure (factor 
loading L  0,863) and the desire to help others (L  0,854). Thus, at the same time students are 
driven to volunteer by both altruistic and egoistic reasons. As noted by L. Hustinx et al. (2010), such 
combination or motivations is characteristic to foreign volunteers as well. Volunteers driven by 
altruistic incentives are more active and more involved in volunteering than those volunteers who do 
irregular, short-term work. The latter are characterized by selfish, i.e. self-centred motivations (e.g. 
to implement one's skills, need for employment, need for practical skills, giving a meaning to one's 
existence, etc.). 
 
As shown by the research, most of Lithuanian higher education students (50.6 %) do long-term 
volunteering work, which means that they are driven by altruistic, values-related motives (Table 2). 
 
Only emphatic and open people can dedicate their time, efforts and skills to others. On hand, they 
believe that they can "give something" and do not expect to gain tangible (as in paid work) material 
benefits. As noted by Wilson & Musick (1999), volunteers are nevertheless rewarded for their 
volunteering. The most important – intrinsic – reward is obtained by a volunteer by seeing his work 
results and feeling satisfaction with his work – positive emotions, feelings, happiness, meaningful life. 
Extrinsic reward for helping others, based on social exchange theory, is received by volunteers in a 
social form, i.e. as an approval, respect, self-esteem.  
 
On the other hand, the decision to participate in volunteering is made by an individual by considering 
the significance and benefit of the activity for him as a person, i.e. by following the principle of 
rationality. Thus, the volunteer and the receiver create conscious exchange, based on mutual benefit 
("I give you", "you give me").  
 
Benefits of volunteering. In analyzing benefits gained by Lithuanian higher education students from 
volunteering, the results of the factor analysis showed that this variable criterion was divided into 
two factor groups (Table 2). The value of Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure (KMO = 0.842) and Bartlett's 
test sphericity criteria result (514.044; df = 45, p = 0.000) confirm that the variables are suitable for a 
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factor analysis. Hence, the first factor is made up of 6 variables: the ability to gain professional 
knowledge, skills and experience, to learn informally, to build up professional contacts, to use one's 
knowledge, skills and experience, to find employment. This factor can be described as personal 
benefit. The second factor, consisting of 4 variables (personal satisfaction, I feel valued and 
recognized, I show solidarity and public spirit, I spend my weekend meaningfully), is linked together 
by positive volunteering-related feelings, i.e. social benefit (Table 2). It was found that after 
performing factor rotation two factors explain 52.675 % of cumulative distribution. The first factor 
explained 29.702 % of cumulative distribution, the second one – 22.973 %. Factor loading after using 
the orthogonal Varimax rotation are presented in Table 2. 
 
Based on the opinions of research participants, it can be said that the benefits gained by the 
volunteering student are not heterogeneous, encompassing two different groups. By participating in 
volunteering of various forms and areas, higher education students distinguish gaining of 
professional knowledge, skills and experience as a benefit for themselves (L  0,815). As the research 
has shown, benefits gained by volunteering students are related to their future projection to 
integrate successfully in the labour market; therefore, human capital development is a must for 
them. By performing voluntary work research participants can learn informally (and thus learn new 
competencies), use their knowledge, skills and experience in solving problems and making decisions, 
making new acquaintances with other volunteers or organizational managers coordinating their work 
which can be useful when looking for a job in the future, etc. Although volunteers do not get paid, by 
dedicating their time and efforts to various voluntary activities, in a way, they incur expenses, 
described by economists as investment in human capital. It is exactly the latter that is lacking not 
only amongst Lithuanian higher education students, but also amongst youth as well. 
 
The study found that student involvement in volunteering activities does not improve their chances 
of involvement in the labour market (L  0.481). Despite the fact that employers make a growing 
contribution to the development of social responsibility and participate in volunteering activities, 
their input into facilitating student's transition from the educational system to the labour market is 
still insufficient. 
 
Table 2. Benefits gained by students from volunteering (N  1014) 
 

Structural Component Component
1 2 

1. Personal benefit 
Gained professional knowledge, skills and experience0.815  
Can learn informally 0.745  
Build up professional contacts 0.742  
Use my knowledge, skills and experience 0.700  
Gain new knowledge, skills and experience 0.615  
Found employment 0.481  
2. Social benefit 
I feel personal satisfaction  0.784 
I feel valued, recognized  0.728 
I show solidarity and public spirit  0.616 
I spend my weekends meaningfully  0.581 
Note: KMO  0,842. 

 
As a major social benefit the students named personal satisfaction (L  0,784) and the importance of 
being valued and recognized (L  0,728). By taking part in various voluntary activities and creating 
public good, the respondents share their kindness, help and support members of society and receive 
feedback from them which motivates them to continue volunteering. By feeling needed, volunteers 
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derive satisfaction from their work, thus, receiving social reward, i.e. being valued, respected and 
recognized in the society.  
 
One has to notice that the contribution of Lithuanian higher education students to building a 
democratic and civil society is still small (L  0.616; Table 2). It can be assumed that only a small part 
of socially conscious students (18.4 %) understand the fact that volunteering is one of the quickest 
ways of solving societal problems. Participation in volunteering activities allows students to build 
social ties which help to strengthen social solidarity, sense of community and improve the quality of 
life. Besides, by working voluntarily students can promote national economic growth. Although 
volunteering makes up only up to 1% of Lithuanian GDP (Denmark, Finland, Great Britain – more than 
2%, Sweden, Netherlands – more than 3%) (GHK, 2010; Special Euro barometer, 2011), it helps to 
establish volunteering traditions and encourage a good civic society. 
 
 
Conclusions 
 
The study of Lithuanian higher education students' involvement in volunteering revealed that only a 
small part of students are aware of the importance of volunteering in solving social issues and issues 
related to societal needs. Having in mind that volunteering creates opportunities for non-formal 
learning; by participating in it students can gain personal, social and professional skills, as well as 
hands-on experience, both of which are necessary to set foot in the labour market. Therefore, higher 
education institutions can contribute to the development of volunteering in Lithuania more 
effectively by collabourating with NPOs and volunteering organizations, especially since the majority 
of volunteers are made up of students. 
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Abstract 
 
The main purpose of this paper is to explain the requirements of international standard IAS1 
Presentation of Financial Statements. The current version of this standard was issued in September 
2007 and has effect for accounting periods beginning on or after January 2009. 
 
The objective of IAS1 is to specify the overall structure and content of general purpose financial 
statements and so ensure that an entity’s financial statements are comparable with those of 
previous periods and with those of other entities. The standard sets out (Melville, 2009): 

(a) The general features of financial statements 
(b)  Guidelines with regard to their structure, and 
(c) Minimum requirements for their content. 

 
IAS1 is of general application and does not deal with specific transactions or events. These are dealt 
with in order international standards. 
 
This paper also outlines the main requirements of international standard IAS34 Interim Financial 
reporting. 
 
Keywords 
 
Financial statements, international standard IAS1 
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1. Introduction 
 
The requirements of IAS1 apply to all general purpose financial statements prepared and presented 
in accordance with international standards. General purpose financial statements and those 
intended for users who are not in position to demand reports that are tailored for their own 
particular information needs. 
 
According to IAS1, the objective of such financial statements is to provide information about the 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a wide range of 
users in making economic decisions. Apart from a slight difference in wording, this definition is of 
course the same as the one given in the IASB Framework. In order to meet this objective, general 
purpose financial statements should provide information about an entity’s: 

(a) Assets. Liabilities and equity 
(b) Income and expense, including gains and losses 
(c) Contributions by and distributions to owners in their capacity as owners 
(d) Cash flows 

 
The information is given in four primary financial statements. Further information is given in the 
notes which accompany these statements. 
 
 
2. Components of Financial Statements 
 
IAS1 states that a complete set of financial statements comprises (Badal & Dvorak, 2006): 

(a)  A statement of financial position as at the end of the accounting period 
(b) A statement of comprehensive income for the period 
(c) A statement of changes in the equity for the period 
(d) A statement of cash flows for the period 
(e) A set of notes, which provide a summary of the entity’s significant accounting policies 

together with other explanatory information 
(f) A statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earlier comparative period 

presented, if the entity has applied an accounting policy retrospectively or has made a 
retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements. 

 
This titles have replaced the more traditional titles used in the previous version of IAS1 (balance 
sheet, cash flow statement) and are trough by the IASB to reflect more closely the function of each 
statement. However entities are allowed to use titles for the financial statements other than those 
used in the standard if they so wish. 
 
The structure and content of most of the statements is specified in IAS1. But the statement of cash 
flows is dealt with by IAS7 Statement of cash flows. It is important to appreciate that the notes which 
accompany the four primary statements are in integral part of the financial statements and so fall 
within the scope of IAS1 and of the other international standards. 
 
In addition to the items listed above, IAS1 recognizes that an entity’s annual report might contain 
other statement such as environmental report or value added statement. These other statements 
are not part of the financial statements and are therefore outside the scope of international 
standards. 
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3. General Features 
 
Under the heading general features IAS1 sets out a number of general rules which relate in the 
presentation of financial statements. Some of these are very obviously based upon principles 
established in the IASB Framework. The main areas dealt with in this part of IAS1 are: 

(a) Fair presentation and compliance with international standards 
(b) Going concern basis and accrual basis 
(c) Materiality and aggregation 
(d) Offsetting 
(e) Frequency of reporting 
(f) Comparative information 
(g) Consistency of presentation. 

 
Each of these is considered below. 
 
Fair presentation and compliance with international standards 
Financial statements must present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flows 
of the entity concerned. This requires that the effects of transactions and other events should be 
faithfuly represented in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses set out in the IASB Framework. It may be assumed that the application of 
international standards will result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation. An entity 
which produces financial statements that comply with international standards must make an explicit 
and unreserved statement to that effect in the notes. A fair presentation also requires the entity to 
(Gibson & Schoeder, 2008): 

(a) Select and apply appropriate accounting policies in accordance with the requirements of 
international standard IAS8 

(b) Provide information that is relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 
(c) Provide further disclosures if compliance with international standards is insufficient to 

enable users to understand the impact of transactions and other events. 
 
On very rare occasions, compliance with requirement in an international standard may produce 
misleading information and so conflict with the objective of financial statements. In these 
circumstances, the entity should depart from that requirement and the notes should disclose that 
the entity has complied with international standards except that it has departed from a particular 
requirement in order to achieve a fair presentation. The notes should identify the title of the 
standard concerned, the nature of the departure, the reason for the departure, the accounting 
treatment that the standard would have required, the accounting treatment actually adopted and 
the financial impact of the departure. 
 
Going concern basis and accrual basis 
 Financial statements should be prepared on the going concern basis unless the entity inteds to cease 
trading or has no realistic alternative but to do so. If there are significant doubts concerning the 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the uncertainties which give rise to these doubts 
should be disclosed. If financial statements are not prepared on going concern basis, that fact should 
be disclosed, together with the basis on which the financial statements are prepared and the reasons 
for which the entity is not regarded as a going concern. 
 
Financial statements other than the statement of cash flows should also be prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting. The statement of cash flows is an obvious exception to this rule since, by 
definition, it is prepared on a cash basis. 
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Materiality and aggregation 
IAS1 defines materiality by stating that emissions or miss statements of items are material if they 
could individually or collectively influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the 
financial statements. IAS1 further states that materiality should be judged in context and that either 
the size or nature of an item, or combination of both could determine whether or not the item is 
material. 
 
In general, financial statements are prepared by analyzing transactions and other events into classes 
and the aggregating each of these classes to produce line items which appear in the statements. For 
instance, all sales transactions are aggregated into a single revenue figure shown in the statement of 
comprehensive income. IAS1 requires that each material class of similar items should be presented 
separately in the financial statements. If an item is not individually material, it may be aggregated 
with other line items (May, 2008). 
 
IAS1 explicitly states that there is no need to satisfy the disclosure requirements of an compliance 
with the standards can be achieved without having to disclose immaterial items, whether in the 
primary financial statements or in the accompanying notes. 
 
Offsetting 
In general assets and liabilities should be reported separately in the statement of financial position 
and should not be offset against one another. Similarly, income and expenses should be reported 
separately in the statement of comprehensive income. IAS1 takes the view that offsetting should not 
be allowed, since this would normally detract from users ability to understand transactions and other 
events. However, this general rule does not apply in a specific instance if another international 
standard permits or requires offsetting in that instance. 
 
Frequency of reporting 
Financial statements should normally be presented at least annually. If an entity changes its 
accounting date and so presents a set of financial statements for a period which is longer or shorter 
than one year, the entity should disclose: 

(a)  The reason for using a period that is longer or shorter than one year 
(b) The fact that the comparative amounts given for the previous period are not directly 

comparable with those given for the current period 
 
Comparative information 
Unless another international standard permits or requires otherwise, IAS1 requires that entities 
should present comparative information is respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in 
the financial statements. Comparatives should also be given for narrative information if this would be 
relevant to an understanding of the current period’s financial statements. 
 
Consistency of presentation 
In order to maintain comparability the way in which items are presented and classified in the 
financial statements should generally be consistent from on accounting period to the next. However, 
this rule does not apply if (New York Times, 2008): 

(a) It is apparent that a different presentation or classification would be more appropriate, 
following either a significant change in the nature of the entity’s operations or a review of its 
financial statements 

(b) A different presentation or classification is required by an international standard 
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4. Structure and Content of Financial Statements 
 
The majority of IAS1 is concerned with the structure and content of an entity’s financial statements. 
The standard requires that certain items should be shown in the statement of financial position, the 
statement of comprehensive income and the statement of changes in equity. Other items should be 
shown either in these statements or in the notes. IAS1 does not deal with the statement of cash 
flows, since this is the subject of IAS7 Statement of cash flows. The main headings in this part of IAS1 
are: 

(a) Identification of the financial statements 
(b) The statement of financial position 
(c) The statement of comprehensive income 
(d) The statement of changes in equity 
(e) The notes 

 
Identification of the financial statements 
The first point made in this part of IAS1 is that the financial statements should be clearly identified as 
such and distinguished from any other information which may be given in the same published 
document. Since international standards apply only to the financial statements, it is important that 
users can distinguish information that has been prepared in accordance with standards from 
information that has not. 
 
Furthermore, each component of the financial statements should be clearly identified and the 
following information should be displayed prominently and repeated where necessary for a proper 
understanding of the information presented (Ernst Young Settles Negligence Charge, Business 
Insurance, 2008): 

(a)  The name of the reporting entity 
(b) Whether the financial statements are for a single entity or a group 
(c) The date of the end of the reporting period or the period covered by the set of financial 

statements or notes 
(d) The presentation currency used 
(e) The level of rounding used 

 
 
5. THE Statement of Financial Position 
 
An important requirement of IAS1 with regard to the statement of financial position formerly known 
as the balance sheet is that current and noncurrent assets should be presented separately and that 
current and non -current liabilities should also be presented separately. For an entity which supplies 
goods or services within a clearly identifiable operating cycle, this separation provides useful 
information by: 

(a) Distinguishing the net assets that are continuously circulating as working capital from those 
used in the long term and 

(b)  Highlighting the assets that are expected to be realized within the current operating cycle 
and the liabilities that are due for settlement within the same period. 

 
IAS1 established as set of criteria which should be used to distinguish between current and non -
current assets and another set of criteria which should be used to distinguish between current and 
non -current liabilities. 
 
Current and non - current assets 
An asset is classified as a current asset if it is satisfies any of the following criteria: 
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(a) It is expected to be realized, or is intended for sale or consumption within the entity’s normal 
operating cycle 

(b) It is held primarily for the purpose of being traded 
(c) It is expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period 
(d) It is cash or a cash equivalent as defined by international standard IAS7 unless it is restricted 

from being used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
 
An asset that satisfies none of these criteria is a non -current asset. The operating cycle of an entity is 
defined as the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash and 
cash equivalents. If an entity’s normal operating cycle cannot be clearly identified, it is assumed to be 
12 moths. Note that current assets include items such as inventories and trade receivables that are 
expected to be realized during the normal operating cycle, even if they are not expected to be 
realized within 12 months. 

 
IAS1 does not require the use of the terms current and non -current and other descriptions could be 
used so long as their meaning is clear. However, these terms are used extensively in practice. 
 
Current and non - current liabilities 
A liability is classified as a current liability if it is satisfies any of the following criteria: 

a) It is expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle 
b) It is held primarily for the purpose of being traded 
c) It is dued to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period 
d) The entity does not have unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the reporting period 
 
A liability that satisfies none of these criteria is a non - current liability. Current liabilities include 
items such as trade payables and accrued expenses that are expected to be settled during the normal 
operating cycle, even if they are not expected to be settled within 12 months. Current liabilities also 
include items such as bank overdrafts, dividends payable and taxes which are not settled as part of 
the normal operating cycle but which are dued to be settled within 12 months (Grover, 2008). 
 
Information to be presented in the statement of financial position 
 IAS1 does not require any particular format for the statement of financial position. Nor does it 
prescribe the order in which items should be shown. But the standard does provide a minimum list of 
line items that should be presented separately in the statement if their size or nature is such that 
separate presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position. Additional 
line items, headings and subtotals should also be presented where relevant. The main line items 
listed by IAS1 are as follows (Peavey & Webster, 2008): 

(a) Property, plant and equipment 
(b) Investment property 
(c) Financial assets 
(d) Investments accounted for by the equity method 
(e) Inventories 
(f) Trade an other receivables 
(g) Cash and cash equivalents 
(h) Assets classified as held for sale 
(i) Trade and other payables 
(j) Provisions 
(k) Financial liabilities 
(l) Current tax assets and liabilities 
(m) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
(n) Liabilities included in disposal groups held for sale 
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(o) Non contolling interests 
(p) Issued equity capital and reserves 

 
The order of the items and the descriptions used may be amended in accordance with the nature of 
the entity and its transactions, so as to provide relevant information.  
 
Format of the statement of financial position 
 Although IAS1 does not prescribe a format for the statement of financial position, the 
implementation guidance that accompanies the standard includes an illustration which shows one 
way in which the statement may be presented. A slightly simplified version of this illustration is 
shown in the next figure. This illustrative format is not prescriptive and other formats may be used if 
appropriate. 
 
Statement of financial position 
 

ASSETS 
Non - current assets 
 Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Investments 
Current assets 
Inventories 
Trade receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Total assets 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Share capital 
Retained earnings 
Other reserves 
Total equity 
Non - current liabilities 
Long term borrowings 
Deffered tax 
Long term provisions 
Total non - current liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Short term borrowings 
Current tax payable 
Short term provisions 
Total current liabilities 
Total liabilities 
Total equity and liabilities 

 
 
Information in the statement of financial position or in the notes 
IAS1 requires that the line items presented in the statement of financial position should be sub 
classified, either in the statement itself or in the notes. These sub classifications should be 
appropriate to the entity’s operations but also depend to some extent on the requirements of other 
international standards. Examples given in IAS1 include the following (Hagarty, 2008): 

(a) Property, plant and equipment is sub classified in accordance with IAS16 property, Plant and 
Equipment 
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(b) Receivables are analyzed into trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables etc. 
(c) Inventories are sub classified in accordance with IAS2 Inventories 
(d) Provisions are analyzed into those relating to employee benefits and other provisions 
(e) Share capital and reserves are analyzed into their various classes. 

 
IAS1 also requires further disclosures with regard to share capital and reserves. These disclosures 
may be given in the statement of financial position or the statement of changes in equity, or in the 
notes. The disclosures include for each class of share capital: 

(1) The number of shares authorized 
(2)  The number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid 
(3)  The par value per share 
(4) The reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the 

accounting period 
(5) The rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class of shares 

 
 
6. THE Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
IAS1 requires that all items of income or expense that are recognized in an accounting period should 
be presented either: 

(a)In a single statement of comprehensive income, or 
(b) In two separate statements comprising: 

(1) an income statement which shows components of the entity’s profit or loss and 
(2) a statement of comprehensive income which begins with the profit or loss for the period 
and shows components of the entity’s other comprehensive income. 

 
International standards which require certain items of income or expense to be shown in other 
comprehensive income include (Beresfors, 2008): 

(a) IAS16 Property, Plant and Equipment with regard to surpluses arising on revulation of 
tangible non -current assets 

(b)  IAS38 Intangible Assets, with regard to surpluses arising on revulation of intangible assets 
(c) IAS39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with regard to gains or losses on 

the re – measurement of available for sale investments 
 
Information presented in the statement of comprehensive income 
As with the statement of financial position IAS1 does not require any specific format for the 
statement of comprehensive income. Instead, the standard provides a minimum list of line items that 
should be presented separately in this statement. Additional line items, headings and subtotals 
should be presented where relevant. The main items listed IAS1 are as follows (Melville, 2009): 

(a) Revenue 
(b) Finance costs 
(c) Profits or losses accounted for by the equity method 
(d) Tax expense 
(e) Profit or loss after tax relating to discounted operations 
(f) Profit or loss for the period 
(g) Each component of other comprehensive income 
(h) Total comprehensive income for the period 

 
Items (a) to (f) may be presented separate income statement. The order of the items and the 
descriptions used may be amended where this is necessary to explain the entity’s financial 
performance. 
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An important further requirement of IAS1 is that an entity should not present any items of income or 
expense as extraordinary items, either in the statement of comprehensive income or in a separate 
income statement or in the notes. 
 
Groups of companies 
If the financial statements are for a group of companies, the statement of comprehensive income 
must also be disclose (Mueller, Gernan & Meek, 2008): 

(a) The amount of the profit or loss for the period which is attributable to non controlling 
interests and the amount which is attributable to the owners of the parent company 

(b) The amount of the total comprehensive income for the period which is attributable to non 
controlling interests and the amount which is attributable to the owners of the parent 
company. 
 

Information in the statement of comprehensive income or in the notes 
In addition to the items which must be presented in the statement of comprehensive income, further 
items of income and expense should be disclosed separately if material. The entity must also present 
an analyzing of expenses using a classification based on either: 

(a) The nature of the expense, or 
(b) The function of the expenses within the entity. 

 
Entities are encouraged to present this analysis in the statement of comprehensive income but it 
may be presented instead in the notes which accompany the financial statements. An analysis which 
is based on the nature of the expenses might include headings such as depreciation, employee 
benefits, motor expenses etc. An analysis based on function would normally classify expenses into 
cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses. An entity which analyses expenses by 
function must also provide additional information on the nature of expenses including depreciation 
and employee benefits. 
 
Format of the statement of comprehensive income 
The implementation guidance which accompanies IAS1 provides two illustrations of the statement of 
comprehensive income. One of these shows a single statement with expenses analyzed by function 
and other shows two separate statements with expenses analyzed by nature. Simplified versions of 
these illustrations are shown in the next figures. As with the statement of financial position IAS1 
makes it clear that these formats are only illustrations and that other formats may be used if 
appropriate. 
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 
Other income 
Distribution costs 
Administrative expenses 
Other expenses 
Finance costs 
Profit before tax 
Tax expense 
Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year 
Gains on property revaulation 
Avaliable for sale financial assets 
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Tax relating to other comprehensive income 
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 
TOTAL COMPREHESIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

Note: (Single statement of comprehensive income expenses analyses by function) 
 
 
Income statement for year 
 

Revenue 
Other income 
Changes in inventories of finished goods and WIP 
Raw material and consumables used 
Employee benefits expense 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
Other expenses 
Finance costs 
Profit before tax 
Tax expense 
Profit for the year 

Note: (Separate income statement expenses analyzed by nature) 
 
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
 

Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year 
 Gains on property revulation 
Available for sale financial assets 
Tax relating to other comprehesive income 
Other comprehesive income for the year net of tax 
TOTAL COMPREHESIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

Note: (Separate statement of comprehensive income) 
 
 
7. The Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
A statement of changes in equity shows how each component of equity has changed during an 
accounting period. In the case of a company, the components of equity will be share capital and each 
of the company’s reserves. IAS1 requires that the following items are presented in the statement of 
changes in equity (Peavey and Webster Is GAAP the gap to international markets, p. 34): 

a) (a)Total comprehensive income for the period 
b) For each component of equity, the effects of any retrospective application of an accounting 

policy or retrospective restatement of items, in accordance with international standard IAS8 
c) For each component of equity a reconciliation of the opening and closing balance of that 

component, separately disclosing changes resulting from: 
1. Profit or loss 
2.  Each item of other comprehensive income 
3. Transactions with the owners of the entity, separately showing distributions to owners 

and contributions by owners. 
 
The amount of dividends per share must also be shown either in the statement of changes in equity 
or in the notes. The implementation guidance to IAS1 provides an illustration of the statement of 
changes in equity and a simplified version of this illustration is shown in the next figure. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
 

 Share capital Retained earnings Revaluation surplus Total equity 
Balance at 1 january 2008 
Changes in accounting policy 
Restated balance 
Changes in equity for 2008 
Dividends 
Total comprehesive income 
Balance at 31 december 2008 
Changes in equity for 2009 
Issue of share capital 
Diviends 
Total comprehesive income 
Balance at 31 december 2009 

 
 
8. The Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
A mentioned earlier, the notes which accompany the statement of financial position, the statement 
of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity are an 
integral part of the financial statements and so fall within the scope of international standards. IAS1 
states that the notes should: 

(a) Present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and the 
accounting policies which have been used, including: 
- The measurement bases used in preparing the financial statements 
- Other accounting policies relevant to an understanding of the financial statements 

(b) Disclose information required by international standards, to the extent that this is not 
presented elsewhere in the financial statements 

(c) Provide any additional information which is relevant to an understanding of any of the 
financial statements. 

 
The notes should be presented in a systematic manner and should be cross referenced to the four 
primary financial statements. The notes normally begin with a statement of compliance with 
international standards. There should then be a summary of significant accounting policies, followed 
by supporting information for line items presented in the four primary statements and further 
disclosures as necessary. 
 
 
9. Conclusion 
 
IAS1 defines a complete set of financial statements as consisting of a statement of financial position, 
a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows 
and a set of notes. The effects of transactions and other items should be faithfully represented in the 
financial statements. The application of international standards will normally ensure that this is in the 
case. Financial statements should be prepared on the going concern basis and on the accrual basis. 
 
The way in which items are presented and classified in the financial statements should generally be 
consistent from one accounting period to the next. Comparative information should normally be 
disclosed in respect of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements. 
Financial statements should be clearly identified as such and each statement should be clearly 
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labeled. Financial statements should normally be presented at least annually. In general, current and 
non -current assets and current and non -current liabilities should be shown separately in the 
statement of financial position. IAS1 defines the term current and noncurrent in each case. 
 
IAS1 lists the main line items that should be presented in the statement of financial position. The 
standard also lists further disclosures that should be made in the statement of financial position or in 
the notes. IAS1 also lists the main line items that should be presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income and requires an analysis of expenses to be shown in the statement itself or in 
the notes. 
 
The statement of changes in equity shows the changes in each component of equity during an 
accounting period. The statement shows total comprehensive income for the period and discloses 
transactions between the entity and its owners. IAS1 does not require any particular format for the 
financial statements but does provide some illustrative examples. 
 
The notes to the financial statements are within the scope of international standards. They provide 
information about measurement bases and accounting policies, together with supporting 
information for line items in the main financial statements and further information which is required 
by international standards or which is relevant to an understanding of the financial statements. 
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Abstract 
 
In this paper, we examine the link between the determinants of a perceived strategic value construct 
and an adoption construct for e-commerce in Slovakian small and medium-sized enterprises. The 
constructs are determined by conducting factor analysis on 230 questionnaire surveys that were 
collected on the premises of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs) in Slovakia. Baseline 
demographic characteristics will be presented as well as the factors derived for the perceived 
strategic value and adoption constructs for e-commerce. We will show that three factors comprised 
the perceived strategic value construct: Managerial Productivity. And, for the adoption construct four 
factors were discovered: External Pressure, Ease of Use, Readiness & Compatibility, and Perceived 
Usefulness. The suitability of conducting the factor analyses will be discussed as well as the 
convergent and discriminant validity of the derived factors. In addition, the reliability of the factors 
will be presented. As time permits, canonical correlation analysis results will also be presented. 
Finally, study limitations and areas of future research will be offered. This study enhances the 
understanding of the perceived strategic value and of the adoption of e-commerce for Slovakian 
small and medium-sized enterprises. 
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Abstract 
 
The paper discusses costs and benefits of funding bank's business activities primarily with deposits or 
with an additional contribution of equity. Recent financial crisis has shown that increased uncertainty 
can make deposits excessively fragile and one of the main lessons learned from the financial turmoil 
was that a level of capital of the banks was not sufficient to cover losses arising from the problematic 
loan portfolios. Setting the level of the required capital is one of the top financial issues today. 
Therefore, the reform of bank regulation and supervision, known as Basel III, was done with the 
intention of setting new capital standards. One of the reasons of requiring higher level of capital 
could be the fear of systematic risk appearance due to the fact that, opposite to other companies, it 
is extremely important for banks to have an immediate access to short-term liquidity and to be 
continuously prepared to meet all of its obligations. Increased capital requirements, in order to 
maintain the ratio above the prescribed minimum, are in close relation to the degree of use of the 
financial leverage. Moderate shareholders’ costs of higher capital requirements can result, through 
improvement of soundness of a banking system, with substantial social benefits. Finally, in the 
context of measuring its optimal level, the capital should be high enough to cover all the bank’s risks 
and, consequently, it should be high enough to prevent an appearance of a new financial crisis which 
could have serious impact on the economy in general. Regarding the Croatian banking system, capital 
adequacy ratio on overall bank level maintained well above the prescribed minimum so it can be 
concluded that the banks are well capitalized. However, on the individual level, it has been shown 
that some banks still need additional capital to maintain the minimum capital adequacy ratio. 
Generally speaking, the most effective way to control risks and avoid future crisis is reducing the 
dependence on borrowing thereby relying more on own funds. 
 
Keywords 
 
Bank equity, financial leverage, capital adequacy, financial soundness 
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1. Introduction 
 
Before the occurrence of the financial crisis, when the economy was in expansion, there was a 
widespread opinion that everyone knows almost everything about the economic principles. It was 
not so long ago when people optimistically and generously invested their money in different types of 
investment opportunities that were offered on the market. Parallel with that, bank experts felt 
confident enough to invest the capital in some more or less sophisticated types of investments. 
Maybe the most important difference between these two groups of investors was that professionals 
invested other people's money while individuals were "gambling" with their own money. This 
process itself was very successful until the greed started to influence the decisions of investors and 
suddenly the investments started to collapse like a house of cards. In those moments when financial 
crisis was beginning, some fundamental economic principles became apparent and it was clear that 
the lack of expertise combined with excessive risk taking was very harmful for the whole economy. 
 
In that sense, this paper is dealing with the role of capital for financial institutions, trying to 
emphasize that banks are dealing with other people's money so their behavior must be adequately 
adjusted. Regarding the fact that the intensity of use of the financial leverage by banks is much 
higher compared to the other companies, positive impacts of using more capital, which would result 
in benefits to the whole economy, were emphasized. Considering the effects of the recent financial 
crisis, regulators established new capital standards which will require banks to hold more capital in 
their balance sheets. This paper and other papers on this topic primarily have an intention to 
emphasize the significant role of own capital in the banks' balance sheets in order to prevent a 
recurrence of the crisis that still have enormous impacts on the global economy. 
 
 
2. The Role of Own Capital in Business Activities 
 
As a good starting point for defining the role of capital, it is useful to explain the position of capital in 
bank's financial statements. The simplest version how to define its main activities says that 
traditional bank is focused on deposit taking and, on the other side, on granting loans. Besides these 
broad categories, payment service activities and investment banking activities could be added. The 
balance sheet shows that on the liabilities side the most important form of funding are deposits, 
while on the asset side the most important form are loans. Besides these two categories, the 
category of shareholders equity should be added as another basic category of sources for financing 
the bank's business activities. This paper is dealing with the costs and benefits of funding the bank's 
business activities either with the deposits or primarily with the sources of equity. 
 
The role of banking institution as an intermediary in channeling money for successful functioning of 
the economy is not doubtful, but the issue for discussion is how to structure bank's assets and 
liabilities in order to achieve its optimal performance in the economic cycle. In fact, recent financial 
crisis has shown that increased uncertainty can make deposits excessively fragile (Diamond & Rajan, 
2000), in which case there is an important role of bank capital. Financial crisis that occurred several 
years ago revealed that the weaknesses in the financial system were fairly quickly transmitted to the 
rest of the economy resulting with the negative consequences for the economic growth. Probably, 
one of the main lessons from this turmoil was that banking system held insufficient capital support to 
cover losses arising from the problematic loan portfolios. Considering the lost confidence in solvency 
and liquidity of banks, it can be concluded that higher level of capital in the past could create 
significant benefits for the economy and would probably prevent the occurrence of the financial 
crisis. 
 
Setting the level of required capital is today one of the top issues, especially when the consequences 
of the recent crisis are still present. While regulatory consensus has viewed capital as an essential 
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tool to limit risk in banking, there has been less agreement among economic theorists (Demirgüç-
Kunt, Detragiache & Merrouche, 2010). Besides regulators and theorists, widespread opinion which 
does not support higher level of capital because of the higher funding costs is mainly proclaimed by 
the bankers. The consequences of the global financial crisis motivated the reform of bank regulation 
and supervision with the aim of setting new capital standards known as Basel III (Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision, 2011). In fact, improvement of the regulation was done because the Basel 
Committee observed that banks entered the crisis with too little capital respectively that the bank 
capital was insufficient and it played an important role in the crisis (Hellwig, 2010). Consequently, 
Basel III standards will require banks to hold primarily more and additionally higher-quality capital. 
Tighter standards for capital requirements and for liquidity rules as well, are primarily introduced 
with the objective to improve the resiliency of the banking industry (Horváth, Seidler & Weill, 2012). 
 
The benefits of higher capital requirements will certainly have positive impact on bank's solvency 
and, consequently, on stability of the banking system that could be measured by the hypothetical 
savings if the financial crisis did not appear. One of the important reasons for requiring higher capital 
can be explained with the fear of appearance of systemic risk. Namely, the failure of some 
systemically important banks can be a trigger for the occurrence of instability in the financial system 
which usually leads to high social costs. The fact that tight interconnections between the banks 
increase the probability of the appearance of systemic risk is another reason why the requirements 
for the capital should be set high enough. 
 
 
2.1. The structure of bank's capital 
 
With the insight on the role of capital, it is important to give clear definition of the capital due to the 
fact that there are many misleading understanding of the term “capital”. Equity simply represents an 
ownership claim in the form of common shares of stocks, such as those traded on stock markets 
(Admati, DeMarzo, Hellwig & Pfleiderer, 2010). Opposed to other sources of financing, equity does 
not have insured return and it depends on the final earnings from the bank's business activity. In 
contrast to other companies, it is extremely important for banks to have access to immediate short-
term liquidity. In that manner, since it is not possible to delay payment requests, bank's capital 
serves to reassure clients that the bank is continuously prepared to meet its obligations. 
 
Besides the initial capital that is used to start a business, which in the case of banks shall not be less 
than HRK 40 million (Credit Institutions Act, 2008), the regulator has prescribed by law a credit 
institution's own funds. It is defined as the amount of own funds that the credit institution is required 
to maintain in order to ensure safe and sound operations and to be able to meet obligations to its 
creditors (Decision on Own Funds of Credit Institutions, 2009). It shall be equal to the sum of original 
own funds and additional own funds, reduced by deduction items. With regard to the characteristics 
of the own funds, it is obvious that bank capital serves as a buffer against some unexpected losses 
from business activities. Besides the own funds, it is sometimes helpful to use so called contingent 
capital (Admati et al., 2010) as additional own funds, that appears as a form of hybrid capital and is 
easily converted into equity. Certainly, it can be concluded that the increased use of capital in various 
forms will decrease the probability of occurrence of systemic risk. 
 
Historical data shows that banks tend to operate above minimum regulatory capital adequacy ratio 
with intention to avoid unexpected circumstances that could reduce the capital below the regulatory 
minimum. It is in theory considered as so called additional capital buffer which, together with the 
regulatory capital, forms bank's own internal capital target (Maurin & Toivanen, 2012). Described 
behavior creates an extra buffer in urgent needs comparing with highly leveraged banks that have 
little or even no room for mistakes in maintaining capital adequacy ratio above the regulatory 
minimum. 
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Capital requirements from the aspect of the regulator are just one form of requirements the bank is 
dealing with. In theory, besides regulatory capital requirements, there still exist: rating agency capital 
requirements, investor-determined capital requirements and probabilistic economic capital 
requirements (Elliot, 2010). While regulatory capital requirements are legally required and thus are 
the most binding requirements, other three capital requirements depend on the target group. These 
capital requirements may vary depending on the different views, but they surely reflect some sort of 
trade-off between the desire for profits and adequate degree of bank safety. 
 
Looking back at the history of regulating capital in banks, it seems that until the appearance of Basel 
Accord of 1988, capital requirements were not key topic. Since then capital requirements regarding 
credit risk were introduced and later supplemented by the capital requirements for market risk and 
so on. After several years of use of Basel II (Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, 2004), in 
response to the recent financial crisis, Basel III was developed with the aim to strengthen bank 
capital requirements. It is noted that these proposals are not based on the notion that capital is a 
buffer that protects the safety and soundness of the individual bank, but with the aim of enhancing 
the safety of the financial system as a whole (Hellwig, 2010). Due to the national discretion which 
allows the Member States of the EU to prescribe a rate of capital adequacy of over 8%, Croatia has 
prescribed the minimum capital adequacy ratio of 12% with the application starting on 31 March 
2010. Prior to 2010, capital adequacy calculation was adjusted to the prescribed minimum of 10%. 
 
 
2.2. Differentiation from the aspect of using the financial leverage 
 
Increased capital requirements in order to maintain the ratio above the prescribed minimum are in 
close relation to the degree of use of the financial leverage. As previously mentioned, sources of 
financing of business activities can be divided into broad categories: own funds as shareholders 
equity and deposits as an external source of funding. Accordingly, companies and banks as well differ 
in the level of use of the financial leverage. Corporations in Europe generally borrow more than U.S. 
corporations and rely more on banks as source of funding (Admati & Hellwig, 2013). Much larger 
difference is observed when comparing banks and other companies. While corporations in real 
economy borrow at smaller extent or do not borrow at all, banks, on the other side, rely significantly 
on debt and commonly use the effect of financial leverage. Taking into account the consequences of 
the recent financial crisis, the aim of regulating the financial system shall be directed to the banks 
and their dependence on borrowing in order to fund their business activities. 
 
With the purpose of decreasing the use of financial leverage, banks can either increase their own 
funds or reduce their exposures. However, raising new capital during the financial crisis was very 
limited and due to multiple attempts of banks to improve the structure of their balance sheets, a 
source of systemic risk appeared (Hellwig, 2010). As previously mentioned, the characteristic of 
bank's business is reflected in its ability to meet its obligations immediately while the other 
companies have a privileged position to temporarily delay the settlement of their obligations. Due to 
everything mentioned, it is extremely important for banks to have enough capital to be able to 
absorb the potential losses with their own resources.  
 
 
2.3. Positive impacts of using more capital 
 
Focusing on positive impacts of using more capital is done with the intention to move away from the 
widespread opinion that "equity is scarce and expensive" (Miles, Yang & Marcheggiano, 2011). Those 
fallacies are result of observance of the facts from only one point of view. Increased use of equity will 
actually affect the risk premium which will consequently be transferred to the lower interest rate 
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and, finally, to cheaper source of finance. Even when the required return on equity is higher than the 
required return on debt, higher impact of equity will lower risk premium and consequently is seen as 
obvious benefit. However, the real cost and benefit analysis of using more capital is complete when 
the enormous social costs that appeared in the recent financial crisis are included in calculation. 
Finally, the social cost of higher capital requirements are likely to be small, while the social benefit of 
having higher capital requirements is likely to be substantial (Miles, Yang & Marcheggiano, 2011). 
 
 
2.4. Optimal level of capital adequacy ratio 
 
Defining the optimal level of capital is very difficult to existence of many factors that are affecting it. 
Nevertheless, measuring the adequate capital is surely adequate when it reduces risk of future 
insolvency to some predetermined level (Maisel, 1981). According to that approach, the first step is 
to find and estimate the risk in each activity in which the bank is involved. Only with the proper risk 
assessment, the need for capital could be defined. 
 
It should be considered that the required rate of return on equity contains a risk premium reflecting 
the fact that the returns on equity are more risky than the returns on debt (Hellwig, 2010). More 
frequent use of financial leverage increases the rate of risk and, consequently, the expected rate of 
return is higher. Altogether, despite of frequent estimation that equity is expensive, recent events 
have shown that need for higher amount of capital is inevitable. Even new restrictions, imposed by 
the regulator, seem to be fairly mild considering the recurrence of the possible consequences that 
appeared several years ago. It should not be forgotten that in the worst-case scenario, when the 
bank goes bankrupt, social costs to the broader economy are fairly high and shareholders' equity is 
not protected at all, while in the scenario when bank continuously operates, there still exist an 
opportunity for making profits. There are several papers dealing with the calculation of optimal 
capital. In many of them, theorists advocate the theory that banks should be better capitalized, even 
beyond current regulatory requirements. In general, it is difficult to determine what would be the 
optimal level of capital, but surely it should be high enough to cover the risks that the bank is dealing 
with and consequently it should be high enough to avoid the appearance of a new financial crisis 
which would have the impact on the broader economy. 
 
Regarding the situation in the Croatian banking system, it was previously explained that due to the 
national discretion, capital adequacy ratio was set above the minimum prescribed by Basel II 
standards. Even with this provision, averaged capital ratio was above the prescribed minimum and 
this will be further discussed in the following section. 
 
 
3. The Practical Importance of Own Funds Used by Credit Institutions in Croatia 
 
3.1. Capital adequacy ratio 
 
Since the introduction of new regulations, which started to apply on 31 March 2010, the capital 
adequacy ratio on overall bank level maintained well above the prescribed minimum of 12%. In fact, 
the calculation of capital adequacy is generally prescribed by the document of Basel II which was 
consequently incorporated in the Croatian legislation in the process of legislative alignment of 
Croatian prudential regulations with EU directives. 
 
In general, new regulation (Decision on the Capital Adequacy of Credit Institutions and Decision on 
Own Funds of Credit Institutions) provided a new approach to capital adequacy calculation in the 
part that relates to the calculation of regulatory capital and in the calculation of capital requirements 
as well. In addition, new regulation provided the possibility of use of internal models for the 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

238 
 

calculation of capital requirements not only for market risks, but for the credit and operational risks 
as well. Before new regulations, capital adequacy ratio was calculated as the ratio of total regulatory 
capital and total risk exposure (sum of credit risk-weighted assets increased by total foreign 
exchange position exposure to currency risk, capital requirement for position risks, capital 
requirement for settlement risk and capital requirement for counterparty risk and capital 
requirement for exceeding the permissible exposure limits which were all multiplied by 10). 
According to the new regulations which started to apply on 31 March 2010, the capital adequacy 
ratio is calculated as the ratio of regulatory capital to the overall amount of risk-weighted exposure 
amounts for credit risk and initial capital requirements for market risk and operational risk multiplied 
by 12.5. While the prescribed minimum of capital adequacy ratio before the new regulations was at 
10%, from the beginning of 2010 each credit institutions must maintain a minimum capital adequacy 
ratio of 12%. 
 
Even though the regulatory minimum of capital adequacy ratio was set at 12%, performance 
indicators of credit institutions suggest that on overall bank level, observed ratio moved within a 
range from the lowest 18.67% at the end of the third quarter 2010 to the highest 20.89% at the end 
of December 2012. It should be mentioned that there is evidence of growth of the observed indicator 
on annual basis which is suggesting high capitalization of banks in the Croatian banking system. 
 
Figure 1. Capital adequacy ratio on the overall level 
 

 
 
Source: Croatian National Bank 
 
Although the historical data of capital adequacy ratio suggest that the banks are well capitalized, the 
performance of individual credit institutions shows that some of them still needed additional capital 
to meet the minimum capital adequacy ratio. Nevertheless, it is interesting to analyze the reasons of 
overall growth of capital adequacy ratio in the past three and half years. As it was previously 
explained, capital adequacy ratio consists of the regulatory capital as the numerator and overall 
amount of risk-weighted exposure as the denominator.  
 
The data presented in the following figure show that the changes of capital adequacy ratio were 
mainly influenced by the developments of denominator which stands for the changes of risk-
weighted exposure. Slow growth of capital adequacy ratio in the first half of 2010 can mainly be 
attributed to the application of a new methodology according to the Basel II regulation which 
reduced capital requirements for credit risk. The biggest growth of the regulatory capital was a result 
of distribution of that year's profit in reserves and retained earnings and of recapitalization of several 
banks in the period of second half of 2010. Despite of notable regulatory capital growth, the increase 
in the total capital requirements, as a result of the introduced capital requirements for operational 
risk, resulted in a slight fall of capital adequacy ratio in the second part of 2010. In the first six 
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months of 2011 capital adequacy ratio rose slightly although numerator and denominator had 
negative trends. Beginning with the third quarter of 2011, capital adequacy ratio was growing 
continuously until the end of year 2012. In general, this increase was due to a simultaneous growth 
in the level of regulatory capital and a reduction of total capital requirements. However, the figure 
shows that the significance of the regulatory capital growth remained lower in comparison with the 
much dynamic decrease of total capital requirements. For example, total capital requirements in 
third quarter of 2011 fell by 2.42% and in third and fourth part of 2012 by 1.69% and 1.71%. The fall 
in total capital requirements was mainly due to a fall in capital requirements for credit risk which 
represents the most important component (89% of total capital requirements). While the decrease in 
2011 was dominantly influenced by increased use of credit risk mitigation techniques, obvious 
negative trend in credit risk capital requirements is primarily a result of a slowdown in the business 
activities of banks which consequently led to the fall in exposure that is weighted by credit risk. 
 
In the last two observed periods in 2013, capital adequacy ratio recorded firstly a slight decrease 
because of the effects of the decreased level of regulatory capital and then was again rising due to 
the negative changes in capital requirements. 
 
Figure 2. Relative changes of the numerator and denominator of the capital adequacy ratio 
 

 
Source: Croatian National Bank 
 
Finally, the fact that banks are well capitalized should be observed from the perspective of variables 
which mostly influenced the level of capitalization. Considering the previous analysis, it is obvious 
that the increase of capital adequacy ratio was simultaneously influenced by the activities in the level 
of regulatory capital and in the level of total capital requirements as well. However, historical data 
show that despite of the significant recapitalization in some banks, the overall capital adequacy ratio 
was primarily influenced by the new regulatory framework and by the slowdown in business 
activities which enabled banks to have enough capital, even above the regulatory minimum. 
 
 
3.2. Reasons for recapitalization on an individual basis 
 
Although, according to the previous chapter, banking system can be characterized as highly 
capitalized, more detailed analysis of capital adequacy ratio on an individual basis show that some of 
the banks had continuous problems with maintaining this important ratio above the prescribed 
minimum. Due to the fact that some banks did not fulfill regulatory provisions on the minimum 
capital adequacy ratio, the regulator was obliged to undertake supervisory measures against these 
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banks. The objective of the supervisory measures shall be to take actions at an early stage to improve 
the safety and stability of credit institutions' operation and to eliminate illegalities (Credit Institutions 
Act, 2008). One of the measures which could be imposed to credit institution that has problems of 
reaching minimum capital adequacy ratio is ordering to adopt a decision on recapitalization. 
 
More detailed insight into the Croatian banking system provides interesting information that, despite 
good capitalization of banking system, five banks in the previous three and half years had problems 
with maintaining capital adequacy ratio constantly above the prescribed level of 12%. Considering 
the severity of the problems, the regulator has taken appropriate supervisory measures until the 
improvement of the situation in bank. Except the measure of immediate recapitalization, the 
regulator could exercise supervision by more detailed ongoing monitoring of bank's operations or in 
the worst case, when the continuous operation of the credit institution is uncertain, the regulator 
may withdraw the authorization, initiate the compulsory winding-up of the bank and finally submit a 
request to initiate bankruptcy proceedings. Unfortunately, historical practice has shown that in some 
urgent cases, the regulator was forced to take the most serious steps with the aim to maintain the 
stability of the banking system. 
 
In the next figure is shown the example of inappropriate capitalization of one of these five banks that 
had problems of maintaining minimum capital adequacy ratio. Due to negative business results in 
2010, losses were covered from the bank capital, which consequently influenced on the level of the 
regulatory capital at the end of the year 2010. In other words, sharp fall of the regulatory capital (-
44.88%) caused the problems concerning the capital adequacy ratio which was at that moment on 
the level of 7.58%. Immediately taken supervisory measures in the first half of 2011 have improved 
the situation in addition to the new hybrid instruments which supported additional own funds of the 
bank. Altogether, capital adequacy ratio at the end of June 2011 was above regulatory minimum of 
12%. However, due to additional value adjustments of the credit portfolio, the amount of regulatory 
capital deteriorated further and in the next three reported periods, capital adequacy ratio was again 
inappropriate. Finally, in June 2012 was undertaken real recapitalization by means of ordinary shares 
and partially by hybrid instruments which significantly influenced the level of the regulatory capital 
as well as the capital adequacy ratio. However, problems in loan portfolio and consequently required 
impairments have caused additional losses and reduction of regulatory capital at the end of 2012 and 
in the first half of 2013. Since the capital adequacy ratio is again under the regulatory minimum, the 
regulator has taken new supervisory measures with the aim of improvement of current situation. 
 
Figure 3. An example of inadequate capitalization of bank and further recapitalization 
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Source: Croatian National Bank 
 
Besides the recapitalization that was forced by the regulator in order to fulfill the obligatory 
minimum of 12%, there were also several examples of recapitalization initiated by banks itself with 
the aim of improvement of their regulatory capital amount and enhancing capacity for active 
business operations. Apart from the mentioned banks, in the period of the last three and half years 
11 banks were recapitalized by their shareholders. Direct recapitalization can be defined as the 
procedure of increase of capital items with increase of number of ordinary or preferential shares. 
Wider definition of recapitalization also includes subscription of hybrid instruments. 
 
Apart from the capital restructuring through conversion of retained earnings into share capital that 
happened in one of the large banks and recapitalization that took place in one of the medium-sized 
banks, other boost of capital was done in small banks (whose market share is less than 1%). This 
increase of capital was probably partially done as a buffer for banks to obtain capital which would be 
sufficient to cover prescribed minimum of capital adequacy ratio. On the other side, recapitalization 
was primarily done to improve the position of banks regarding their capacity for granting new loans 
and other business activities. Besides regulatory obligation of respecting the minimum level of capital 
adequacy ratio, banks are also obliged to obey legally defined limits regarding exposures to individual 
client or the group of clients. This research has shown that recapitalization of banks is primarily done 
with the aim of fulfilling the criteria of capital adequacy ratio and by purpose of expanding the 
capacity of credit institutions for granting new loans. Other purposes, like minimizing the level of 
financial leverage (which are usually met by the companies in real economy), are in the cases of 
banking business not applied. In the next chapter is shown the level of using the financial leverage in 
comparison with the reference of using the same indicator by other companies in different sectors of 
the economy. 
 
 
3.3. The practical use of financial leverage by banks 
 
As it was previously mentioned, the use of financial leverage in the banking industry remarkably 
deviates from the averaged use of the same ratio in other sectors in the economy. Namely, banks 
tend to use relatively small amount of own capital to finance their active business activities in 
contrast to other companies that are much more own funded or even entirely financed by the 
resources of their owners. 
 
In the case of Croatia, the use of financial leverage is on the averaged level of 14% in last five years, 
but there could be observed some kind of differences regarding the size of banks. While large banks 
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have a share of capital even more than 14%, medium sized and small banks more often use the 
advantages of financial leverage (11.8% respectively 12.2%). It could be explained that credit 
institutions with higher market shares are already well capitalized while the other institutions are 
more likely to use the other sources of financing with the aim of providing enough funds for their 
active business activities. Such a distinction between banks and other companies in terms of use the 
financial leverage is not only specific for Croatian economy, but it is often noticed in other countries 
as well. 
 
Figure 4. The use of financial leverage by credit institutions in Croatia 
 

 
Source: Croatian National Bank 
 
According to the historical data, it is obvious that previous mentioned recapitalizations of banks were 
mostly done by banks whose level of financial leverage was quite high. Logically, the influence of 
capital in total funds was higher after the recapitalization, but from the other side it was noticed that 
banks with the need for recapitalization were mostly using high percentage of financial leverage in 
their previous activities. Overall, it can be concluded positive correlation with the need of 
recapitalization for the banks with higher use of financial leverage. 
 
 
4. Conclusions 

 
Writing about the role of own capital in banks' activities after reviewing the effects of the recent 
financial crisis, seems to be quite easy. Though, the role of capital is still not enough emphasized and 
the requirements for capital are probably not set at a level that would guarantee adequate safety. 
The use of financial leverage by banks is fairly high and it is significantly different from other 
companies. While some world famous corporations operate almost completely without debt, banks 
are highly dependent on borrowing and using of the financial leverage. Regarding the optimal level of 
capital, it is difficult to quantify the optimum, but certainly it should strive to cover all the risks the 
bank is dealing with. Proper risk assessment will define the need for capital. Historical data shows 
that reduction of dependence on borrowing and higher stake of own funds are the most effective 
tools of risk controlling and avoiding future crisis. 
 
Available set of data on the extent of use of capital among Croatian banks show that the use of 
financial leverage is on the averaged level of 14% in last five years, but there could be observed some 
kind of differences regarding the size of banks. Taking into account the fact that capital adequacy 
ratio on overall bank level maintained well above the prescribed minimum, in principle it can be 
concluded that banks are well capitalized. Nevertheless, the performance of individual credit 
institutions shows that some of them still need additional capital to maintain the minimum capital 
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adequacy ratio. In general, historical data show that despite of the significant recapitalization of 
some banks, the overall capital adequacy ratio was primarily influenced by the new regulatory 
framework and by the slowdown in business activities which enabled banks to have enough capital, 
even above the regulatory minimum. However, the injection of additional capital would be beneficial 
in preventing potential unexpected events in the future. 
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Abstract 
 
Background: The ubiquitous nature of smartphones and their expendability through mobile 
applications provide a vast amount of opportunities for businesses. Location Based Services (LBS), 
which provide consumers with location specific information, are widely spread and allow a range of 
applications from navigation services to systems enabling mobile marketing strategies. Retail is one 
of the fields, which can benefit from the use of LBS apps. However, the drivers for consumer 
adoption of those systems have not been paid much attention to in the literature.  
 
Objectives: The purpose of this paper is to assess the importance of usability within the context of 
consumer acceptance of LBS apps in the retail environment. Furthermore, some possible usability 
issues related to those systems are to be determined.  
 
Methods/Approach: An automated remote usability test of the LBS app aisle411 was conducted. The 
app provides users with two functionalities: First, to create shopping lists and, second, to navigate to 
the items of the shopping list inside a store.  
 
Results and Findings: In total seven usability issues were reported by the test participants. The most 
critical problem concerned the icon representing the barcode scanner, which troubled more than a 
third of the test participants.  
 
Conclusions: The usage of icons that are difficult to recognize or confusing functions present a great 
hindrance for users to achieve a specific task. Hence, usability plays a major role in enhancing user 
acceptance of LBS apps in the retail environment.  
 
Keywords 
 
Location based services, usability testing, retail, mobile application 
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1. Introduction 
 
Location Based Services (LBS) take the user’s position into account in order to provide him or her 
with relevant information according to the device’s location. LBS comprise, for example, the widely 
used navigation services using GPS. In combination with the pervasive nature of smartphones and 
their functional expandability through mobile applications, LBS provide advantages for customers 
and hold great opportunities for businesses. As for right now, a Swiss retailer is determined to use 
the potential that LBS are offering by commissioning an LBS app featuring indoor navigation for the 
end customer inside their stores. The question which arises from that project is what factors drive 
customer acceptance regarding LBS in the retail environment. Even though many studies have been 
conducted to find drivers for customer acceptance of technological innovations such as the 
Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) by DAVIS (1985) or the consumer Technology Acceptance 
Model by BRUNER and KUMAR (2005) as an extension to TAM, there is only little literature on the 
specific usability factors of mobile LBS applications in retail. SHANKUR et al. (2010) were able to 
identify several factors which enable the mobile usage in regard to mobile marketing strategies 
including location based information. One of these factors is the ease of use, which is consistent with 
the TAM, and driving the adoption of mobile applications, including LBS applications. To determine 
what kind of usability problems arise for a LBS app in the retail environment, a study was to be 
conducted on an already existing mobile application which has similar functionalities as the one 
being developed.  
 
There are already several LBS apps which deal with indoor navigation in the retail environment. One 
of them is an intelligent mobile assistant called Ma$$iv€ and introduced by BHATTACHARYA et al. 
(2012). This app as well as the web application are designed to assist customers in their grocery 
shopping. The system provides the user with the opportunity to create a shopping list and an indoor 
navigation within the store that leads the customer to the items of that list. The app which was 
finally chosen as the test object for the usability test was the app aisle411 (http://aisle411.com/). 
Aisle411 is a LBS app intended to facilitate shopping. It allows the creation of a shopping list and 
furthermore enables the users to check into specific stores to locate the items of the list within this 
store. The app was analyzed to find specific usability issues which may emerge from LBS in the retail 
environment.  
 
 
2. Theory 
 
The term Location Based Services covers services which take the device’s geographical position into 
account to provide the user with relevant information. Those services can be classified, for example, 
in regard to their application. DHAR and VARSHNEY (2011) identify four categories: 

 Information/Directory Services  
 Tracking/Navigation Services 
 Emergency Services 
 Location Based Advertising 

 
Another way to categorize LBS according to HILTY et al. (2012) would be considering whether the 
user requested a certain service, called Pull-based LBS, or whether the information was sent to the 
consumer without a prior service demand, called Push-based LBS.  
 
There are several technologies to determine the location of mobile devices according to KRAMMER 
et al. (2012). One of those technologies is the positioning via satellites. The Global Positioning System 
(GPS) is nowadays a widely-used satellite-based locating system that determines a device’s position 
by triangulating the signals of several satellites. However, SMITTLE et al. (2010) give reasons to 
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consider other methods of locating devices, since the positioning using GPS is not feasible for indoor 
positioning. This is due to the inadequate accuracy as well as the poor signal coverage within 
buildings. Therefore, alternative methods are used for indoor navigation. There are essentially two 
approaches on how indoor positioning can be achieved. The first one depends on a signal 
infrastructure which allows determining a device’s position within the infrastructure. CURRAN et al. 
(2011), for example, describe how Received Signal Strengths (RSS) of WLAN Access Points can be 
used for trilateration and hence determine the position of a device. An improvement of this 
technique uses the creation of a radio-map, which maps all the RSS within the infrastructure. This 
allows for a more precise positioning. The second approach is Dead Reckoning. This method relies on 
inertial sensors, which are used to calculate a device’s location by measuring the acceleration and 
direction from the device’s previous position. The quality of the positioning depends on the accuracy 
of the sensors. Sensor errors lead to subsequent positioning faults. Therefore, KRAMMER et al. 
(2012) advise the use of further sensors to correct those errors. Modern smartphones are already 
equipped with all necessary sensors and therefore make an inertial system feasible.  
 
 
3. Method 
 
An automated remote usability test was conducted for the smartphone application aisle411. The app 
allows users to create shopping lists and provides an interactive map of a store. This enables the 
customers to navigate to specific items located within the store and it provides the possibility to 
place context specific advertisement.aisle411 was chosen due to its indoor navigation feature. 
Another advantage is the coverage of the drug store chain Walgreens within the United States of 
America and Puerto Rico. Therefore, a large amount of potential test sites were available where 
retail costumers could test an indoor navigation using their smartphones. A screenshot of the app is 
provided in Figure 1. 
 
Figure 1. Screenshot of the interactive map of a Walgreens’ branch in aisle411 
 

 
 
Source: aisle411 
 
Since the application was not available in Europe at the time of the study, a basic automated remote 
usability test was designed. This enabled the testers to perform the tasks in the USA without the test 
moderator’s supervision. To ensure that the intended tasks were feasible and understandable, a 
pretest with one test user was conducted. Afterwards, participants were approached through various 
social networks. As the tests were neither moderated nor recorded in any way, the data was solely 
collected through an online survey. This online survey was filled out by the participants after the test 
was completed. 
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The usability test consisted of five tasks, which were presented to the participants on a website. An 
explanation of the study, its purpose as well as a short description of the application preceded the 
task list given in Table 1.  
 
Table 1. Usability Test Tasks 
 

Task ID Title Description 
1 Installation of aisle411 The user installs the app aisle411 from Apple’s App Store or 

Google’s Play Store onto the smartphone. 
2 Create a new shopping list Using aisle411 the user creates a new shopping list and adds  

Aspirin,  
Water,  
Sugar and  
afourth arbitrary item. 

3 Find a Walgreen’s store The user locates a Walgreen store using aisle411. 
4 Navigate to Aspirin Using the interactive map the user navigates to the Aspirin from 

the shopping list within the store and checks it off the list. 
5 Scan a Barcode The user scans an arbitrary item’s barcode using the aisle411 

barcode scanner and adds the item to the created shopping list. 
 
After the test was completed by the participant he or she was asked to fill out an online survey. The 
survey was created using Google Drive and was divided into three sections. The first part asked the 
participant about general personal information. The second section dealt with the tasks themselves. 
For each task the users were asked to state if the task was completed, if it was understandable and if 
any problems occurred. In addition, task specific questions were asked to determine possible 
usability problems. For task 5, for example, the participants were asked: “Did the app aisle411 list 
you the item which you scanned using the barcode scanner?” Moreover, the users could write 
comments on each task to further describe problems and errors they came across completing a task. 
 
In the last part of the survey the subjects were asked to fill out the System Usability Scale (SUS) by 
BROOKE (1996)to collect data on the general opinion of the participants on aisle411.The SUS is a ten-
item Likert-Scale between 1 (Strongly Agree) and 5 (Strongly Disagree) and is used to determine the 
systems overall usability. 
 
 
4. Results 
 
28 participants filled out the online survey after the usability test. Ten (35.71%) of the test subjects 
were female and 18 (64.29%) were male. The average age was 24.4 years and 78.57% of the 
participants were pursuing a college degree at the time of the usability test or had already earned 
some kind of college or university degree. In total, usability issues of the app aisle411 were derived 
from the participants’’ answers to the survey questions. Figure 2 shows the demographics. 
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Figure 2. Summary of the Number of Participants 
 

 
 
Even though a high completion rate (see Table 2) was achieved for each task, the participants found 
seven usability issues. For Task 1, i.e. downloading the application, no problems were reported by 
the users. However, three usability problems were detected by the participants while they 
performed the second task. Two users found the process of creating a shopping list was 
unnecessarily confusing. A minor problem which was identified by the participants was that some of 
the brand names were not recognized by the app. Furthermore, one participant mentioned in the 
comments that while performing this task some buttons within the app were unresponsive. In regard 
to the third task, one of the participants reported that the store on the map inside the app was not at 
the location shown by aisle411.  
 
Table 2. Task Completion 
 

Task ID Completed # Completed % 
1 28 100 
2 28 100 
3 27 96 
4 27 96 
5 26 93 

 
Task 4 was a problem for two of the test users since they were not able to complete the task. Two 
issues were mentioned. Firstly, two of the participants reported that the Aspirin was not at the 
shown location within the store. Secondly, two users were confused by the fact that several location 
of Aspirin were shown within the store. 
 
The fifth task, however, seemed to have been the most difficult one. Even though only two 
participants were not able to complete the task, only 33% of the users thought that the application 
was intuitive in regard to this task (see Figure 3). This is the lowest rate in comparison to the other 
tasks. The usability issue which caused the fifth task to be problematic lies in the barcode scanner 
icon. Ten participants commented that they had difficulties recognizing the barcode scanner. A 
screenshot of the app and the barcode scanner are provided in Figure 4. 
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Figure 3. This Figure shows the answers of the testers as to whether the app was intuitive concerning 
each task. The first task was omitted since the downloading of the app is not part of the app itself.  
 

 
 
Figure 4. Screenshot Barcode Scanner Icon 
 

 
Source: aisle411 
 
Table 3 shows the seven usability issues identified by the participants. The criticality was determined 
by adding the severity of the issue (1 – “no problem” to 4 – “task failure”) to the estimated frequency 
of occurrence ( 1 – “will occur ≤ 10% of the time” to 4 – “will occur ≥ 90% of the time”). 
 
Table 3. Usability Issues 
 
ID Task Description Criticality 
1 2 The process of creating a shopping list caused confusion, since first the list has to 

be named and only after that items can be added to the created list. 
5 

2 2 The app does not recognize some of the brand names of products. 3 
3 2 Some buttons are unresponsive. 4 
4 3 The location of the store was not displayed correctly. 4 
5 4 The Aspirin was not at the location provided by the app within the store. 5 
6 4 Several locations of one product are shown within the store which caused 

confusion for some of the testers.  
3 

7 5 The barcode scanner icon was difficult to find. 6 

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Strongly Agree 
- 1

2 3 4 Strongly 
Disagree - 5

Task 2

Task 3

Task 4

Task 5



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

250 
 

According to the SUS given in Figure 5, the app aisle411 was in general not rated as being difficult to 
use. However, one of the participants declared that the app was very complicated and that she 
would still need to learn a lot before she could use the application. 
 
Figure 5. Results SUS  
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Some of the participants made use of the possibility to comment on certain tasks or the app in 
general. A few of those comments as well as parts of the response of the pre-tester are given here: 

 “Creating a shopping list and then adding items was confusing. I believe users must be more 
involved with adding items rather than creating and naming the list. (A wizard would help a 
lot).”  

 “The asprin was in the correct location in the pain relievers aisle, but we checked the travel 
aisle first and couldn't find it there. Also, there were a lot of medications in the pain reliever 
aisle. It would have been nice to have it tell us how high/low on the shelves it was (e.g. 3rd 
shelf from the top). But it did what it was supposed to do in the end, and was easy enough to 
navigate around.“ 

 “Also, it took us forever to find the barcode scanner button. I wish it was easier to find.“ 
 “The map and navigation is really not what it is described as. The map just rotated around 

keeping it in the north direction. I'm assuming all they did was Geo located the floor plan and 
then just marked north. You were not really navigating through the store there was no blue 
dot saying <<you are here>>. So I really didn't know where I was.“ 

 
 
5. Discussion and Conclusion 
 
The purpose of the study was to test the app aisle411 in regard to possible usability issues. Overall, 
the app was considered easy to use by the test subjects. However, parts of the system caused 
usability issues with several test subjects. According to SHANKAR et al. as well as other researchers, 
the ease of use, hence the usability, of a system such as a mobile application, has great influence on 
the users’ willingness to adopt a system. This study was able to confirm this in regard to aisle411. 
 
The test users were not fully convinced about the benefits of the app. The polarity profile shows that 
in comparison to the other questions of the SUS, the value for the frequent use differs the most from 
the desired answers (being 2.22). One tester, for example, stated to prefer asking an employee for 
help since it seems easier than actually using the system.  
 
One of the core functionalities of the app is the creation of shopping lists, since they are the basis for 
the items shown in the interactive maps of the stores. Some of the test subjects reported that they 
were confused by the process of generating a list or perceived it as complicated. Hence the usability 
of this part of the app especially needs improvement.  
 
Another core functionality is the navigation to products within a store. However, the pre-tester 
reported that the device’s location was not visible on the interactive map. Therefore, the user is not 
told when he or she has arrived at the location of the product and does not necessarily know his 
position on the map. Furthermore, even though the aisle in which the product is located is displayed, 
users still had difficulties finding items. In the case of Aspirin this might be due to the small package 
of the product and the large amount of products available in the medication aisles. The users 
suggested either specifying the location to the shelf exactly or at least showing a picture of the 
product to make it easier to find.  
 
In addition, confusion arose with some of the participants due to the fact that several locations of 
one item were shown on the interactive map. A better approach might be to only show the location 
of the product closest to other products on the shopping list. The most critical usability issue 
reported during the usability test was the barcode scanner icon. The symbol does not represent the 
function itself well enough and test users were frustrated trying to find it to complete the last task. 
The usage of an icon should assure usability; in this instance, however, it created the inverted effect.  
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In conclusion, the usability of any system determines to a large amount whether the system is 
actually used or not. The current usability issues of aisle411 hinder the users from fully using the 
potential of the app. The main objective of an LBS app in the retail environment hence is to ensure 
ease of use for every offered functionality. Nevertheless, the core functions should be prioritized.  
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Extended Abstract 
 
1. Introduction 

 
Modern-day manufacturers realize that product quality is only partially determined by the quality of 
the manufacturing process. In fact, many capital goods, such as copiers, X-ray scanners, and 
automated warehousing solutions need after-sales maintenance and repair services. Besides 
restoring product functionality and keeping customers satisfied, such services also allow the firm to 
enhance its relationships with customers. First, service interactions are an important touchpoint with 
customers and allow firms to learn about customers’ thoughts on how products and services may be 
improved. Second, services interactions may emotionally engage customers if frontline service 
employees (FSEs) promote their firm in personal conversations (Van Vaerenbergh et al., 2012). By 
continuously improving their market offerings and communicating a desirable image, manufacturers 
address the evaluative and affective components that determine customer commitment (Gustafsson 
et al., 2005).  
 
Despite the fact that FSEs are the primary actors in delivering after-sales services, and thus are a key 
communication channel for manufacturers, little is known about their role in committing customers. 
Most studies in the marketing field focus on how FSEs create satisfactory encounters (e.g., Maxham 
& Netemeyer, 2002), but forgo the fact that FSEs have a boundary spanning position through which 
they can strengthen long-term business relationships. The aim of this study is to examine the key 
behaviors that FSEs need to display to build customer commitment, their payoff, and how FSEs can 
be motivated to perform them. We offer three important contributions to literature.  
 
First, we identify two commitment building behaviors (CBBs) that we derive from boundary spanning 
theory (Adams, 1976). This theory holds that FSEs have two roles that clearly resonate with the 
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evaluative and affective components of customer commitment: an information processing role and a 
representation role. The former includes the key FSE behavior of feedback seeking, referring to 
activities to collect customer experiences with and suggestions about the firm’s service or product 
offerings (Ashford et al., 2003). Integrating this feedback with existing knowledge leads FSEs to 
develop ideas on how products or services may be improved. The representation role requires 
representation behavior: activities to promote the firm’s image and offerings towards customers 
(Bettencourt & Brown, 2003). While previously researched frontline behaviors, such as courtesy or 
rapport building, aim to satisfy individual consumers (e.g., Gremler & Gwinner, 2008), CBBs 
transcend the encounter itself by improving the manufacturer’s market offer and enhancing affective 
connections. We examine both the antecedents and consequences of CBBs, and employ multi-source 
data to empirically substantiate the hypothesized effects.  
 
Second, we provide evidence that the effectiveness of CBBs is highly dependent on employees’ 
creative processes. Specifically, we focus on FSEs’ ideas for improvement: novel responses that 
comprise improved solutions to their service demands and tasks (West, 2002). Operating at the firm 
boundary FSEs are especially likely to generate ideas for product and service improvement, because 
they continuously confront new customer insights that are unaffected by dominant organizational 
paradigms. Ideas for improvement benefit both the information processing and representation role. 
To begin with, while feedback seeking may harm the FSE’s service performance because it takes time 
and effort, translating it into ideas may benefit service performance through the implementation of 
improved routines. In addition, customers appreciate business with innovative companies (Henard & 
Dacin, 2010) and may find evidence in FSEs who actively communicate their ideas for improvement 
during their visits. Ideas for improvement therefore has a mediating and a moderating role, as Figure 
1 depicts. 
 
Third, we investigate organizational identification (OI) as an important driver of CBBs and highlight its 
previously unexplored downside. While OI may stimulate employees to assist their organization, it 
can also make frontliners conform to organizational paradigms and constrains them to think “outside 
the box”. Our results show that OI inhibits idea development and restrains employees to take full 
advantage of their CBBs.  
 
 
2. Theory and Framework 

 
Many manufacturers recently jumped on the bandwagon of creating and delivering combined 
products and services. For instance, healthcare manufacturers add remote monitoring and on-site 
troubleshooting services to MRI or CT scanners to make sure doctors base their decisions on reliable 
scans. Using performance-based service contracts, B2B manufacturers and their customers agree on 
expected product quality and the performance standards to which the manufacturer must adhere. 
Providing constant and high-quality service is of paramount importance to tie customers to the firm. 
 
Because customers take into account the manufacturer’s reputation and future vision when making 
contractual decisions, manufacturers develop and use affective strategies to create customer value 
too. Recent studies have linked corporate branding activities to increased market performance, 
return on sales and repurchasing intentions (e.g., Homburg et al., 2010). Especially customer contact 
personnel has been recognized as an important brand-building tool to help firms develop, maintain 
and expand their corporate brand image.  
 
This study posits that CBBs play a crucial role in realizing manufacturers’ evaluative and affective 
commitment building strategies. CBBs stem from boundary spanning theory (Adams, 1976), which 
states that frontliners to a large extend determine the in and outbound information that passes the 
organization’s boundaries. FSEs have an information processing role in which they translate sticky 
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customer knowledge into improved performance, and a representation role in which they manage 
the firm’s public image (Stock, 2006). Purchasing managers within the customer firm are likely to 
include both these evaluative and affective relationship investments when deciding to extend or 
renew a service contract (Gilliland & Bello, 2002). The conceptual framework in Figure 1 places CBBs 
in their respective information processing and representation roles, and relates them to customer 
commitment as the final outcome. The figure also depicts our hypotheses. 

 
 
3. Method and Results 
 
To test our model we collected empirical data from the service division of a global manufacturer of 
printers and copiers. FSEs are specialized in delivering on-site repair and maintenance services, for 
which they physically visit multiple customers per week and have regular face-to-face interactions. 
The data for the research were collected from four separate sources: (a) paper-and-pencil survey 
data from FSEs; (b) FSE service performance data from company records; (c) customer satisfaction 
data from online surveys; and (d) paper-and-pencil survey data from FSEs’ managers. Of the 184 FSEs 
involved, we received 133 usable responses, resulting in a response rate of 72.3%.  
 
All survey constructs were assessed with previously validated multi-item scales. FSE service 
performance was based on longitudinal archival data obtained from company records. Customer 
satisfaction was collected from the customer organizations’ workfloor employees. On average there 
were 4 responses per FSE. To assess customers’ commitment to the firm, we asked the FSEs’ 
managers to rate the extent of commitment of customers in the customer portfolio of each FSE. The 
main motivation for this approach that customers’ commitment decisions are made by purchasing 
managers, who are responsible for acquisition and prolongation of long-term service contracts. In 
contrast to the customer satisfaction data from workfloor employees, we did not have data from all 
purchasing managers. The FSEs’ managers are familiar with the customer portfolios of their FSEs and 
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can provide reliable predictions of commitment due to their regular face-to-face contact with 
purchasing managers.  
 
We analyzed our data using SPSS 15 and SmartPLS 2.0 (Ringle et al., 2005). Several tests yielding 
evidence for convergent and discriminant validity respectively. We also tested for the possibility of 
nested data structures. To test the statistical significance of the hypothesized relationships, we 
applied a bootstrapping procedure with 500 samples. The results are displayed in Table 1. As can be 
seen, only H3 and H6b are not confirmed. 

 
 
4. Discussion, Implications and Future Research 

 
Our study offers useful insights and recommendations for service managers. First, we encourage 
managers to stimulate creativity in the frontline. Gathering customer information gives FSEs a 
foundation from which they explore new directions and come up with creative ideas. Idea generation 
and implementation involves a continuous and day-to-day process that improves products and 
people. Second, managers trying to enhance customer commitment to the firm should look beyond 
the confounds of their organization’s service contracts. Assigning frontline staff an information 
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processing and representation role requires few resources (i.e., training costs at best), yet may have 
a tremendous impact as business customers are willing to pay a 4-6% price premium to 
manufacturers whose service performance is superior to other suppliers (Mudambi 2002). Regarding 
future research more is yet to be discovered about CBBs as a new form of frontline behavior. To 
begin with, research should further look into the drivers of CBBs to show how managers can 
stimulate FSE feedback seeking and representation. Second, our study is based on a sample of FSEs 
from a single firm. Replicating this study using multiple firms and markets other than the capital 
goods industry would be an interesting avenue of research.  
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Extended Abstract 
 
Background 
In recent years, organisations and the business community have realised that they have 
responsibilities towards the environment and the communities they operate in, and that their 
responsibilities go beyond just making profits for their shareholders. This growing awareness 
amongst them has caused the concept of corporate social responsibility (CSR) to grow in importance 
and significance (Carroll & Shabana, 2010). “The organisations’ social responsibilities encompass 
more than just philanthropic activities in that the social responsibility of business encompasses the 
economic, legal, ethical, and discretionary (voluntary) expectations that society has on of 
organisations at a given point in time” (p. 89). Apart from being a powerful and positive force for 
social change, organisations can also reap multi-faceted business returns from their CSR endeavours. 
Large organisations with specific positions or departments that coordinate the various components 
of their CSR initiatives need CSR leaders who can act as champions and drive CSR initiatives in the 
organisation. 
 
Businesses in South Africa can play, and more importantly should play, a large role in confronting the 
challenges facing societies. They can align their CSR initiatives to achieve the country’s stated goals of 
reducing poverty, accelerating and sustaining economic growth, and providing better goods and 
services for their citizens (National Development Plan Vision 2030). CSR initiatives can also play a role 
in bridging the skills and education gap and overcoming critical socioeconomic, health and 
educational challenges threatening the growth and well-being of the nation. 
 
Research objective 
The overarching objective of this study is to develop a CSR leadership questionnaire (CSR-LQ) that 
would serve as basis for developing a CSR leadership competency model in future. Specific objectives 
are firstlyto derive CSR leadership behaviours/competencies from available literature on leadership 
and CSR, and secondly to develop a CSR leadership measure that could be used to obtain 360° 
assessments of the CSR leadership competencies. 
 
Methodology 
A three-phase scale development process based on the work of Netemeyer, Bearden and Sharma 
(2003) was followed for the scope of the current research project.  
 
 
 



2013 Global Business Conference 
 

259 
 

Phase 1: Construct definition and domain specification.  
This phase entailed a literature review, the identification of CSR leadership behaviours and 
competencies as well as expert judging. Based on the outcome of the literature review, the 
Leadership Behaviour Inventory (LBI-2) (Spangenberg&Theron, 2010; 2011) was identified to form 
the basis of the CSR-LQ. In-depth interviews with five CSR leaders were held. Through the process of 
expert judging, they evaluated the relevance and applicability of the LBI-2 dimensions for CSR 
leadership. The Critical Incident Techniquewas used to identify CSR leadership behaviours that were 
not included in the original 20 dimensions of the LBI-2.  
 
Phase 2: Generation and judging of measurement items 
This phase included a process of item generation and expert judgement. The revised LBI-2 items 
(120), together with 32new items were combined in an electronic questionnaire. A sample of 35 CSR 
leaders and academics were invited to judge the importance of the CSR leader behaviours (items) on 
a 5-point Likert-type scale (1=not at all important to 5=absolutely critical).  
 
Phase 3 is the finalisation of the measurement instrument prior to empirical testing. 
 
Results 
The literature review resulted in the identification of competencies and behaviours of CSR leaders. 
These competencies showed comparisons with the 20 dimensions of the LBI-2(Spangeberg & Theron, 
2011)resulting in the use of this instrument as a starting point for the development of the CSR-
LQ.The CSR expert panel could not identify any additional dimensions to add, suggesting that the LBI-
2 leadership dimensions could have universal applicability as a leadership measurement instrument. 
Table 1 indicates the adaptation of the LBI-2 dimensions for CSR leadership with three CSR 
Leadership stages, nine CSR leadership roles and 20 CSR leadership dimensions. 
 
Table 1. Leadership dimensions measured by the LBI-2 and adapted for use in the CSR-LQ 
 

CREATING CSR VISION AND STRATEGY 

Analysing and interpreting the CSR environment 

1. Monitoring the external CSR environment 
2. Monitoring the internal CSR environment 
Formulating the CSR vision and strategy 
3. Developing a challenging CSR vision 
4. Conceptualising CSR strategy 
5. Developing CSR performance plans 
PREPARING THE ORGANISATION FOR IMPLEMENTING THE CSR VISION AND STRATEGY 
Preparing the leader and followers 
6. Leader self-discovery, reflection and self-awareness 
7. Leader personal growth and development 
8. Empowering organisation members 
Preparing the organisation 
9. Optimising CSR processes and structures 
IMPLEMENTING THE CSR VISION AND STRATEGY 
Sharing the CSR vision and inspiring organisation members 
10. Articulating the CSR vision 
11. Inspiring and motivating organisation members 
Leading with integrity and courage 
12. Building trust and demonstrating integrity 
13. Demonstrating decisiveness and hardiness 
14. Acting entrepreneurial 
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Leading with compassion 
15. Showing concern for others 
16 Displaying sound interpersonal skills 
Leading across boundaries 
17. Facilitating inter-departmental co-ordination 
18. Influencing across external boundaries 
Reviewing and rewarding performance 
19. Reviewing performance 
20. Acknowledging and celebrating performance 

Source: adapted from Spangenberg & Theron, 2011, p. 4-6 
 
The study is currently in phase 3 and the results will be ready for presentation in October 2013. 
 
The contribution of this study lies in the development of corporate social responsibility leadership 
questionnaire based on the psychometrically sound LBI-2 and subsequent data gathering. The next 
step will be to test the instrument empirically and to refine the questionnaire even further. A valid 
and reliable CSR-LQ will be the outcome of this research endeavour. The CSR-LQ will serve as basis 
for the development of CSR leaders that will contribute to the overall performance of companies and 
the development of CSR initiatives in South Africa. 
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Abstract 
 
After Asian financial crisis in year 1997-1998 OECD reported that “governments cannot stand back 
while their tax bases are eroded through the actions of countries which offer taxpayers ways to 
exploit tax havens to reduce the tax that would otherwise be payable to them”. But a slow progress 
was observed since then. The financial crisis of 2008 again raised interest in tax havens, as part of 
efforts to strengthen the financial system. Tax transparency was a key feature of the G20 Summits of 
year 2008 and 2009. In 2009 the G20 leaders stated that they “agree to take action against non-
cooperative jurisdictions, including tax havens”, that they “stand ready to deploy sanctions to protect 
our public finances and financial systems” and that “the era of banking secrecy is over.” The Lough 
Erne Declaration of G8 Summit issued on 18 June, 2013 continued the theme by putting stress on tax 
havens secrecy, on disclosing the ownership of shadowy companies (The British Prime Minister at his 
closing press conference at the G8 Summit, Lough Erne on 18 June 2013 expressed „that tax 
authorities across the world automatically share information, that companies should know who owns 
them, tax collectors and law enforcers should be able to get this information easily and pointed that 
„tax authorities across the world should automatically share information to fight the scourge of tax 
evasion“).  
 
In this paper we analyze the legal and economic preconditions for taxing of operations of offshore 
companies in the European Union. We develop a framework (methodology) for controlling of the 
operations of offshore companies in order to improve taxation of operations of companies which are 
registered in offshore jurisdictions, so called tax havens. 
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Introduction 
 
While analyzing the work of offshore companies’ researchers must not only realize peculiarities of 
work of offshore companies but study available information from the database of tax executives. 
Only when a researcher realize the whole then positive results are possible. So, in our opinion, 
assessing of typical taxing features of offshore companies should be an initial stage. The work of 
offshore companies is grounded on friendly juridical base supporting such type of companies and 
their future work depends not only on economical processes but also on favorable political 
atmosphere. So if it is possible to maintain that the greatest states are interested in work of offshore 
companies then let us ask what the purpose of fighting against the domains which are called 
„paradise of taxes“ is if the greatest states are interested in existence of offshore centers But 
economical situation is also important and dictates its terms. As the group of welfare recipients is 
growing in developed countries efficient collecting of taxes is becoming more topical for the most of 
countries with strong economic system. Nowadays the most of old leading countries in the European 
Union have not fulfilled some of articles of Maastricht criteria, for example, the level of national debt 
from GDP. Therefore the attitude of these states towards companies working in offshore centers and 
even the offshore centers established in their territories was tolerant some years ago. At present, 
when economy of many countries of the EU is in danger more and more countries support the idea 
of limiting of activity of the companies working in offshore centers. Other countries of the EU tax any 
economic relations with the companies which are registered in offshore centers according to a 
certain tariff (for example, the tariff in Lithuania is 29%). Although in this case there are two 
problems. The first one is that not all the offshore centers were taxed so the business started 
working throughout those centers which had not been taxed. The second problem is that, as it was 
noticed, if all the offshore centers were taxed the capital would likely flight to other countries where 
taxing is more friendly. Too high taxing tariffs is one more erroneous factor of taxing of offshore 
centers, because they make any performance throughout the companies, which are registered in 
offshore centers absolutely unattractive. 
 
With regard to the present situation connected with offshore companies working in offshore centers 
the general aim of the work is the potentialities of taxing of offshore companies working in offshore 
centers in the context of the European Union. 
 
The methods of the research are systematic comparative and structural analysis of academic 
economic literature, logical analysis, qualitative and quantitative analysis. 
 
 
1. The Status of Offshore Centers in the Modern Context of the European Union 
 
As for the status of offshore centers in the EU it is necessary to remark that in the situation when 
economical depressions become common phenomena not only in the EU but also all over the world 
the most countries face a budget deficit also a deepening slough of debts. Besides, growing number 
of welfare recipients require great financial resources from national budgets. The most countries of 
the EU find that the only recourse is increasing of taxes and eliminating of any possibilities to escape 
a higher tax rate. So in this situation the general attention is turned to offshore centers, which are 
also called “paradise of taxes.” Taxing of offshore centers becomes more relevant task for the most 
of countries. 
 
Although there is another side i.e. the sphere of business, where tough policy towards requirements 
and taxing disrupts small and mean business. Possibility to use the services, which are offered by 
offshore centers is supposed to be an alternative to the system of taxing which disrupts business. But 
other authors maintain that taxes are the main part of national budget in the countries of market 
economy (Rimas & Staciokas, 1998). Therefore it seems to be purposefully to analyze the systems of 
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taxes of some Western countries. The other authors express the opinion that any steps in business 
are assessed on the grounds of “fundamental economic conception”. The idea of the conception is as 
follows: “as business aims at getting profit but not at paying taxes the contract of any business 
organization should include such a goal as getting extra income. If such goal does not take place it 
means that the contract is false“ (Каbir, 2002). Making contracts, which are unprofitable for 
economy, is one of indications of “money-laundering”. If taxes increase and possibilities to plan 
taxing grow down prices of services and goods inevitably rise and that induce inflation. 
 
The other authors express the opinion that as Western countries exist in the situation of competitive 
economics, which dominates, efficient working of the system of taxes is oriented to completing of 
the most important tasks. According to such authors as Rimas and Staciokas (1998) the most 
important tasks, which are completed by the system of taxes are as follows: 

 First of all, the system of taxes must realize successfully a function of fiscal redistribution i.e. 
to find financial resources for incoming part of national budget by redistribution of 
businessmen’s and residents’ incoming.  

 The system of taxes must help to form and strengthen motivation of economic activity. 
 The system of taxing is organically connected with ideas of social right.  
 In order to form the system of taxing in various countries it is necessary to pay attention to 

the following factors which play an important role: how simple the estimations of taxes are; 
what effectiveness of collecting taxes is achieved; what potentials for keeping stability of 
taxing are.   

 
The other authors maintain that as business usually accounts investments to ten years then in case a 
business situation changed during the longer period of time and therefore tariffs of taxes it might 
cause bankruptcy of separate objects of business. It is possible to maintain that the more stable 
business situation and tariffs of taxing in national economy are the more attractive business 
atmosphere in the country is. 
 
Another issue, which is especially topical for economy of the countries – new members of the EU, is 
connected with realization of the tasks and requirements set by the EU for those subjects of 
economy, which use financial support of structural funds of the EU. Due to changing business 
situation in members’ countries realization of the conditions of sponsorship contracts becomes more 
difficult task for business subjects. In that case subjects of business find themselves in “crossfire” 
between the institutions, which control the use of funds coming from the EU and a real economic 
situation. It usually includes some sectors, for example, increasing of redundancy, aiming at a rate of 
profit, increasing of amount of export and so on. To restate, the business is not capable of realizing 
the task which were set. In that case use of the companies, which are registered in offshore centers 
while performing in international commerce, becomes the main and the only tool for the subjects of 
economy if the area of their commercial activity is out of the EU. 
 
Having assessed historical changes, which has been taken place not only in the states of the 
European Union but and in others countries representatives of different types of business define the 
situation of offshore business, within which it performs (i.e. external factors, which influence the 
business) differently (Каbir, 2002). 
 
After the collected information had been analyzed some components of external surroundings, 
which influence (directly or indirectly) the development or organization of offshore business, were 
accentuated (the figure No. 1). 
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Figure 1. The system of the components of external surroundings of offshore business 
 

 
 

The other authors maintain that fast growing interests of financial groups had a strong influence on 
the changes of political structure in former socialistic countries and in some Western countries also 
on development of world economics on the whole. Such changes influenced the development of 
offshore centers as well. Economic, political and social processes, which take place in offshore 
centers and in the countries, where offshore centers were not established, enable to forecast, that 
offshore economics might disappear eventually (Palan, 1998). Some offshore centers might stop 
existing due to some influential persons, such as Anatolij Askakov, who takes the position of a 
chairman in the committee of economical politics and business in Russian Duma. In his interview for 
the Press he said that “in 2002 the offshore centers performing in Russia will stop existing because 
we are not in need of the zones of preference taxing. (Russkijfokus, 2001). It is remarkable that in 
1996 Ingushetia offshore center was established due to President’s of the Republic of Ingushetia R.S. 
Aushev initiative (Guceriyev, 2001). But recently Russian state institutions using various measures 
have been making the attempts at limiting business cooperation with offshore companies. The 
Central Bank of Russia included the banks working in Latvia in the list of the banks having features of 
offshore banking. The same opinion is expressed by some member countries of the EU. It is 
necessary to remark, that internal surroundings of offshore business play an important role in the 
general context as well (the figure No.2). 

 
Figure2. Internal surroundings of offshore business 
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The other authors express the opinion that OECD (Organization for economic cooperation and 
development) generally supports the idea of limiting work of offshore centers. In their broadcasts 
and media they negatively sound about the spread of offshore centers all over the world and the 
processes which take place in them (Palan, 1998). Although, according to other authors, in Great 
Britain “Foreign Office” especially recommended Turks and Caicos isles to found “paradise of taxes” 
in their territories in order to attract foreign capital aiming at fast and assured economic growth. 
(G.S.L. Law & Consulting, 2001). The similar actions are observed in New Zealand, where great 
investments of multinational corporations were attracted in 1998 due to the changes, which were 
made in the national juridical base (Sinclair-Ngatiprrov, 1998). According to Kabir, the level of 
development and the technologies of business development are mostly identified by the level of 
industrial development, the level of development of financial system and development of facilities 
(Kabir, 2002). The same author maintains that the level of development and technologies of business 
expansion depends whether more complicated procedures of administration will be accepted. In that 
case specialists of higher qualification must be trained and often used for creating of the schemas of 
work for offshore companies later on. 
 
So, after having analyzed the present situation the following conclusion can be made: international 
organizations and unions of states have the greatest influence on taxing (the figure Nr. 3). 
 
Figure 3. The possible structure of influence on offshore business 
 

 
 
 
After having summerized the analyzed information and having performed the empirical analysis of 
collected information it is possible to maintain that in order to get positive financial and economic 
effects of taxing of offshore centers all the levels should be in touch and look for decisions which are 
acceptable for all the interested parties.  
 
 
2. The Potentialities of Taxing of Offshore Centers in the Countries of the European Union 
 
In the situation when the EU experiences the period of deep crisis most of countries members are 
searching for possibilities to fill the gaps in their budgets and diminish the budget deficit. Taxing of 
the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, is considered to be one of such possibilities. 
In our opinion, complete prohibition of the work throughout the companies, which are registered in 
offshore centers, is irrational with regard to tax return. Complete prohibition or taxing of any 
economical contacts with the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, would give a 
negative effect referring to collecting taxes, because the business would adapt and transfer the 
capital to those countries, where such ultimate measures are not used. On the other hand if 
economical contacts with the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, were taxed 
reasonably (for example, if a standard tariff of corporation tax is 15%, reasonable tariff of taxing of 
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offshore companies could be 5%), business subjects would be interested in working throughout the 
companies, which are registered in offshore centers and the countries members in the EU would 
collect big sums for their budgets. In that case the funds wouldn’t be interested in changing of 
business schemas and transferring the business to the countries with more friendly tariffs of taxing. 
The other issue is how to identify and tax the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, if 
the last-mentioned ones usually perform as moderators. 
With reference to running juridical acts every company, which is registered in offshore centers, has 
to point the company’s limited responsibility in its name. Limited responsibilities of the company, 
which is registered in offshore centers, have such abbreviations (forms): 
 
Table 1. Theformsofoffshorecompaniesaccording to responsibility 
 

 The forms of offshore companies 
1. LP (Limited Partnership) – mixed associations 
2. IBC (International Business Company) – the company of international business 
3. EC (Exempt Certificate) – open company. 
4. NRC (Non-Resident Company) – non-resident company 
5. QC (Qualified Company) – the company of special status 
6. PLC (Public Limited Company) – the public institution of limited responsibility 
7. Ltd. (Limited) - the institution of limited responsibility  
8. LLC (Limited Liability Company) – the company of limited responsibility (the USA) 
9. Inc (Incorporated) – the institution of limited responsibility, which is popular in the USA and other places 
10. Corp. (Corporation) – the same corporation as Ltd. 
11. LDC (Limited Duration Company) – the company of limited duration of work 
12. SA (SocieteAnonyme) –stock company ( in France, Belgium, Switzerland) 
13. SARL (Societe a Responsibilite Limited) – the company of limited responsibility (in France) 
14. BV (Vennootshap Met BeperkteAansparkelijkheid) – the company of limited responsibility (in Holland) 
15. NV (NaamlozeVennootschap) – stock company ( in Holland) 
16. AV (Arubua) – BV copy 
17. GmbH (GesellschaftmitbeschrankterHaftung) - the company of limited responsibility in Germany and Austria 
18. AG (Aktiengesellschaft) – stock company (in Germany and Austria) 
19. IC (International Company) –international company [Gaidelys, 2001]. 

 
Such authors as Stungys, Galdikas, Venslovas and Sakalauskas maintain that there are a lot of mixed 
organizations in offshore business having the features of several different traditional types. Usually 
they are the companies of limited responsibility (hereafter Limited Liability Company, LLC). In 
October 1992 the USA accepted the law, which is considered to be an origin and foundation of LLC 
type of companies. The companies of such type are allowed to be registered in the most of states in 
the USA also in some other offshore jurisdictions. Despite the fact that such corporations can be 
registered in the most jurisdictions the LLC type companies, which are registered in the USA, are 
appreciated by offshore business best. The same authors maintain that from the most points of view 
this form is analogous to partnership and also it has a lot of advantages comparing with offshore 
companies of other types (Stungys et al., 2001). The other authors maintain that LLC type of 
companies is a hybrid of association and corporation (Pepper, 1999). Like corporations the 
companies of LLC type are responsible for debts only with their property and their work is based on a 
written contract with the holder (or holders) of the limited liability company, who is not identified 
(Тrocenko & Karmanova, 1995). Recently companies of LLC type have got the right to establish 
corporations. They had not been allowed to do it before and only some years ago such companies 
could be registered in several states in the USA, such as Delaware, Wyoming, California, New-York. It 
is remarkable that such companies became especially popular in 1996. 
 
The other authors express the opinion that the conditions of working and registration for LLC type of 
companies in the USA are different. For example, in the state Delaware (the USA) they are allowed to 
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unite existing corporations or consolidate them with the companies of LLC type, which are registered 
in the state Delaware (Тrocenko & Karmanova, 1995). The same authors state that after the most 
states in the USA have changed the bases of juridical acts the companies of LLC type are allowed to 
be registered in almost all states of the USA. Such companies are labeled by American Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) as the forms of collective economic work, which have taxing duty like 
associations have. Non-residents in the USA also can be members of limited liability companies. If the 
schemas of regulation of taxing are used the profit, which these companies get, is not taxed in case 
the source of the profit is outside the USA and the company itself is run by non-residents (Тrocenko 
& Karmanova, 1995). 
 
According to other authors the companies of LLC type work on the ground of the contract of united 
activity, which regulates all proprietary and juridical aspects of the company’s work. Statute and 
directors are not needed for such a company. As one or several members or professional manager, 
who can be a real owner of the company, is authorized to manage such a company, administration 
expenses decrease. In contradistinction to associations, limited liability of LLC members’ remains 
without reference to how much the person contributes into the company’s business (Stungys et al., 
2001). 
 
It was found that the concept of offshore company, its status are defined by special law or another 
juridical act and, according to general rules, offshore company has to be non-resident, what is its 
main peculiarity. Later on this peculiarity is realized by complete or partial immunity from taxes 
(Gaidelys & Buciunas, 2011). 
 
The countries of the EU does not have united juridical system, consequently from juridical point of 
view the structure of offshore business is based on the principles and internecine differences of two 
general juridical systems - case-law (Anglo-Saxon and continental (Franco-German). Continental and 
case –law systems present the following popular types of companies (Stungys et al., 2001) (the other 
authors additionally accentuate the juridical systems of isles (offshore centers) (Apel et al., 2002). 

 
Table 2. Theformsofcompaniesaccording to juridicalform 
 

The national juridical sytem 
(Apelet al.., 2002) Case-law Continental law 

Individual company (Apel et al., 
2002) 

Individual company (Apel et al., 
2002) Individual company (Apel et al., 2002) 

General Partnership (Apel et al. 
2002) 

General Partnership (Apel et al. 
2002) 

Complete partnership (Apel et al., 
2002), effective association (Stungys et 
al., 2001) 

Limited liability partnership 
(limited partnership) (Apel et al., 
2002) 

Limited liability partnership 
(limited partnership) (Apel et al., 
2002) 

Team association (Apel et al., 2002), 
association (Stungys et al., 2001) 

Private company (Apel et al., 
2002) 

Private (closed) corporation 
(Apel et al., 2002), own company 

 Stock company of closed type (Apel et 
al., 2002), closed stock company 
(Stungys et al., 2001) 

Public company (corporation) 
(Apel et al., 2002) 

Public company (Apel et al., 
2002) 

Stock company of open type (Apel et 
al., 2002), stock company (Stungys et 
al., 2001) 

The company of international 
business (Apel et al., 2002) 

Limited liability company (Apel et 
al., 2002) 

The company of international business 
(Apel et al., 2002) 

 
According to other authors, subject to national juridical base the most common limited liability 
companies are possibly accentuated. They are Ltd – limited liability institution (Limited company) and 
LLC type of companies – Limited Liability Company (Gaidelys, 2003). 
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The companies of all types are united by one feature – all the companies, which are registered in 
offshore centers, are exempted from taxation if they operate outside the zone or territory, where 
they are registered. That is why the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, usually 
perform as moderators. The case of reduction of corporation tax is usually used in order to conceal 
the origin of the capital. So, to assess the potentials of taxing of the companies, which are registered 
in offshore centers, first of all it is necessary to assess the information about realization of 
transactions, which tax executives or other institutions have. Here the abbreviation of the reference 
words would help accentuate the offshore companies and decide how to tax them (Tint et al., 2010). 
With the reference to the information given above it is possible to make the representative model of 
effectiveness of taxing of the companies, which are registered in offshore centers (Figure 4). 
 
Figure 4.The representative model of effectiveness of taxing of the companies, which are registered 
in offshore centers 
 

 
 
 
 
It is remarkable that the presented model will work only in case the tax executive’s attitude towards 
the status and work of the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, is changed. In our 
opinion, categorical treatment of working throughout offshore companies as a crime is incorrect in 
regard to business, because in the most cases offshore companies operate only as a tool for planning 
taxes but not as a tool for escaping from taxes. Therefore the country of the EU, which aims at 
complete banning of collaboration of business with the companies, which are registered in offshore 
centers, not only uses the country’s financial sources to fight against offshore companies, but also 
loses the possibility to collect extra income for national budget, which could be used to sponsor 
social projects. Besides, such actions of the government can cause running’ of the capital away. 
 
With reference to the performed analysis aiming at taxing of economic contacts with the companies, 
which are registered in offshore centers, it is possible to make the model of the analysis of the 
sequence of the processes. 
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Figure 4. The model of the analysis of the sequence of the processes (created by the author) 
 

 
 
The aim of the presented model is to tax economic contacts economic subjects might have with the 
companies, which are registered in offshore centers. Collecting of taxes for national budgets will be 
the next stage. 
 
 
Conclusions 
 
With reference to presented analysis of information it is possible to make the following conclusions: 
1. The activity of offshore companies is based on a juridical base, which is friendly towards the 

companies of such type, and their further work depends on economic processes and favorable 
political atmosphere as well; 

2. Using of the companies, which are registered in offshore centers, while performing international 
commerce becomes the main tool for planning taxes for the most of subjects of economy, which 
trade outside the European Union; 

3. International organizations and unions of states have the strongest influence on working 
offshore centers concerning their taxing and status; 

4. In order to achieve financial and economical effects in the sphere of taxing of offshore centers all 
the levels should be in touch and take the decisions, which satisefy all the interested parties; 

5. Efficient results might be achieved by reasonable taxing of the companies, which are registered 
in offshore centers, but not by complete banning of work throughout the companies, which are 
registered in offshore centers; 

6. All the companies, which are registered in offshore centers are exempted from taxation in case 
they operate outside the zone or territory, where they are registered; 

7. The companies, which are registered in offshore centers, are usually used in order to diminish 
the corporation tax or escape from paying it; 

8. The categorical treatment of work throughout offshore companies as a crime is incorrect 
towards business, because in the most cases offshore companies operate only as a tool for 
planning taxes but not as a tool for escaping from taxes; 

9. The countries of the EU, which aim at complete banning of collaboration of business with the 
companies, which are registered in offshore centers, not only use the country’s financial sources 
to fight against offshore companies, but also lose the possibility to collect extra income for 

1
•Tax executive

2
•The information, which is available in database (if it is necessary)
•Additionally needed information (if demanded)

3
•Identification of economic contacts the subjects of economy have with the 
companies, which are registered in offshore centers

4
•Defining of the order and tariffs of taxes

5
•Collecting of taxes for national budgets
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national budget, which could be used to finance public demand.. Besides, such actions of the 
government can cause “running’ of the capital away. 
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Abstract 
 
With the development of economic globalization, international expansion becomes the inevitable 
choice for maturingenterprises. However, it is critical for international enterprises to understand 
dynamic and complex international market environmentalvariables whenconsidering how to acquire 
competitive advantages. The study finds that the marketing capabilities constructed and fostered by 
Chinese international enterprises can positively affect international performance. In addition, 
managers’ perceived risks and experiential knowledge of the international markets have a positive 
influence on the formation of the enterprise’s marketing capabilities. At the same time, managers’ 
experiential knowledge positively influences the firm’s international performance. 
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